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COMPANY PROFILE 

Tenaris is a leading supplier of tubes and related services for the world's energy industry and certain other 
industrial applications. Our mission is to deliver value to our customers through product development, 
manufacturing excellence and supply chain management. We seek to minimize risk for our customers and help 
them reduce costs, increase flexibility and improve time-to-market. Our employees around the world are 
committed to continuous improvement by sharing knowledge across a single global organization. 
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

Dear Shareholders, 

2018 has been a year when Tenaris has demonstrated with its results the strength of its global and competitive 
positioning. In a market, where the increase in global oil and gas rig count has been a relatively modest 9%, 
largely concentrated in the U.S. shales, Tenaris has increased sales by 45% over the year. All our regions, as 
well as our non-tubular businesses, have contributed to this achievement. Our margins have also increased with 
our EBITDA margin consolidating around 20%, and our net income margin rising to 11 % of sales. 

Our financial position is solid with a net cash position at year end of $485 million and our Board of Directors is 
proposing to maintain our annual dividend payment at the same level as last year. 

This performance compares favorably against any of our competitors and, in the past years, we have established 
a clear leadership in our sector, reflecting the efforts we have made over many years: in industrial excellence, 
product development, in our Rig Direct® service and in our global reach and financial strength. 

Central to our performance this year has been the extraordinary achievement of completing the delivery of pipes 
with highly complex specifications for three offshore gas pipelines in the Eastern Mediterranean, which will 
change the balance of gas supply and demand in the region. 

During the year, around 60% of our OCTG sales by volume was supplied under Rig Direct® conditions. We 
have fully consolidated the service in the U.S. and Canadian markets and are working to increase differentiation 
through improving service quality and extending integration with customer operations. Elsewhere, we have 
successfully introduced the service in Indonesia, United Arab Emirates, Guyana and Brazil. No other company 
in our sector is capable of deploying on a global scale such a strategy of deep integration with customers, with 
its benefits for reducing costs and simplifying operations. 

We also positioned ourselves favorably for major gas development projects around the world. In Argentina, 
Tenaris supported the rapid development of gas production in the Vaca Muerta shale, while we also won awards 
for the supply to major gas developments in Australia, Qatar, Indonesia, Mozambique and, most recently, India. 

In a year when Section 232 tariffs and quotas were introduced in the United States, we expanded our production 
in all of our plants in the country. In particular, we have been focusing on the ramp up of our new greenfield 
mill at Bay City and, in 2019, we will continue working to bring the mill to its full potential. 

During the years, we have been researching the application of digital, automation and machine learning 
technologies in our industrial processes and we incorporated many of these new developments into our Bay City 
mill. Now, we are beginning to introduce these new technologies and transform the rest of our industrial system. 
This work will be strengthened in the years ahead. 

Sustainability principles are deeply embedded in our values and management processes, as we position Tenaris 
to grow and prosper over the long-term. First and foremost is an absolute commitment to the safety of our 
employees, contractors and users of our products and services. While we are encouraged to be making progress 
on improving our safety indicators, we realize that further cultural change is still needed to achieve our safety 
objectives. We have decided to change the role of shift leaders in our industrial system to give them more 
responsibility to lead the change. 

The ramp up in production at our modern Bay City mill is having an impact on our environment indicators, 
which are showing a gradual improvement. At the same time, we are investing in our older facilities to improve 
air quality and material recycling performance indicators. Over 10% of our capital expenditure budget during 
2018 was dedicated to projects whose primary aim is to improve our safety and environmental performance. 

We continue to work on transforming our human relations processes to strengthen the role and opportunity for 
employees to control their own development and career choices and encourage flexible working programs. We 
are pleased to note that, in our internal surveys, employee engagement has been improving. We are now 
extending the use of these surveys to our factory-floor employees, which is providing us additional insight into 
opportunities for improving working conditions. 

The cornerstone of our programs to strengthen the communities where we operate is our investment in technical 
education and providing opportunities for promising young students from all backgrounds. As our Roberto 
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Rocca Technical School in Campana completed its fifth anniversary, PISA and College Board tests show that its 
pupils are performing appreciably better in mathematics and language than their peers within Argentina and the 
OECD average. 

Over the past decade, we have focused our expansion strategy on organic growth with the construction of new 
rolling mills at Tamsa and Bay City and the expansion of heat treatment, threading and service facilities around 
the world. Now, with the acquisition of a welded pipe mill in Saudi Arabia, the launch of the Tenaris Severstal 
joint venture project in Russia and our prospective acquisition ofIPSCO Tubulars in the U.S., we are starting a 
new phase of industrial expansion in key markets for the oil and gas industry. 

We have completed an important year of expansion in sales and results but if I should look ahead let me stress 
that we are faced with high levels of uncertainty in the political and economic environment of many of the 
countries where we operate. I feel, however, that Tenaris, with its global positioning, its diverse and highly 
motivated team of professionals and its financial flexibility remains better placed than any of its competitors to 
take advantage of new opportunities and respond to the different scenarios that could unfold. 

I would like to thank our employees for their efforts and achievements over the past year. I would also like to 
thank our customers, suppliers and shareholders for their continuing support and confidence in our company. 

April 1,2019 

Paolo Rocca 
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT 

CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS 

Unless otherwise specified or if the context so requires: 

References in this annual report to "the Company" are exclusively to Tenaris S.A., a Luxembourg societe 

anonyme. 

References in this annual report to "Tenaris", "we", "us" or "our" are to Tenaris S.A. and its consolidated 
subsidiaries. See "II. Accounting Policies A. Basis of presentation" and "II. Accounting Policies B. 
Group accounting" to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. 

References in this annual report to "San Faustin" are to San Faustin S.A., a Luxembourg societe anonyme 

and the Company's controlling shareholder. 

"shares" refers to ordinary shares, par value $1.00, of the Company. 

"ADSs" refers to the American Depositary Shares, which are evidenced by American Depositary 
Receipts, and represent two shares each. 

"OCTG'' refers to oil country tubular goods. See "Information on Tenaris - Business Overview - Our 
Products". 

"tons" refers to metric tons; one metric ton is equal to 1,000 kilograms, 2,204.62 pounds, or 1.102 U.S. 
(short) tons. 

"billion" refers to one thousand million, or I ,000,000,000. 

"U.S. dollars", "US$", "USD" or "$" each refers to the United States dollar. 

"EUR" refers to the Euro. 

"SAR" refers to the Saudi Arabian riyal. 

"BRL" refers to the Brazilian real. 

"MXN" refers to the Mexican peso. 

"ARS" refers to the Argentine peso. 

PRESENTATION OF CERTAIN FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 

Accounting Principles 

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"), and in accordance 
with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union. Additionally, this annual report includes non-IFRS alternative 
performance measures such as EBITDA, Net cash/debt position and Free Cash Flow. See Exhibit I for more 
details on these alternative performance measures. 

Following the sale in January 2017 of our steel electric conduit business in North America, known as Republic 
Conduit, the results of Republic Conduit are presented as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5, 
"Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations". Consequently, all amounts related to 
discontinued operations within each line item of the consolidated income statement are reclassified into 
discontinued operations. The consolidated statement of cash flows includes the cash flows for continuing and 
discontinued operations; cash flows and earnings per share from discontinued operations are disclosed 
separately in note 27 "Discontinued Operations" to our audited consolidated financial statements included in 
this annual report, as well as additional information detailing net assets of disposal group classified as held for 
sale and discontinued operations. 
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We publish consolidated financial statements presented in increments of a thousand U.S. dollars. This annual 
report includes our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016. 

Rounding 

Certain monetary amounts, percentages and other figures included in this annual report have been subject to 
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the arithmetic 
aggregation of the figures that precede them, and figures expressed as percentages in the text may not total 
I 00% or, as applicable, when aggregated may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the percentages that precede 
them. 

Our Internet Website is Not Part of this Annual Report 

We maintain an Internet website at www.tenaris.com. Information contained in or otherwise accessible through 
our Internet website is not part of this annual report. All references in this annual report to this Internet site are 
inactive textual references to these URLs, or "uniform resource locators" and are for informational reference 
only. We assume no responsibility for the information contained on our Internet website. 

Industry Data 

Unless otherwise indicated, industry data and statistics (including historical information, estimates or forecasts) 

in this annual report are contained in or derived from internal or industry sources believed by Tenaris to be 
reliable. Industry data and statistics are inherently predictive and are not necessarily reflective of actual industry 
conditions. Such statistics are based on market research, which itself is based on sampling and subjective 
judgments by both the researchers and the respondents, including judgments about what types of products and 
transactions should be included in the relevant market. In addition, the value of comparisons of statistics for 
different markets is limited by many factors, including that (i) the markets are defined differently, (ii) the 
underlying information was gathered by different methods and (iii) different assumptions were applied in 
compiling the data. Such data and statistics have not been independently verified, and the Company makes no 
representation as to the accuracy or completeness of such data or any assumptions relied upon therein. 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This annual report and any other oral or written statements made by us to the public may contain "forward­
looking statements" under applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statements are based on management's 
current views and assumptions and are provided to allow potential investors the opportunity to understand 
management's beliefs and opinions in respect of the future so that they may use such beliefs and opinions as one 
factor in evaluating an investment. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks that could 
cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by those 
statements. 

We use words and terms such as "aim", "will likely result", "will continue", "contemplate", "seek to", "future", 
"objective", "goal", "should", "will pursue", "anticipate", "estimate", "expect", "project", "intend", "plan", 
"believe" and words and terms of similar substance to identify forward-looking statements, but they are not the 
only way we identify such statements. This annual report contains forward-looking statements, including with 
respect to certain of our plans and current goals and expectations relating to Tenaris's future financial condition 
and performance. Sections of this annual report that by their nature contain forward-looking statements include, 
but are not limited to, "Business Overview", "Principal Risks and Uncertainties", and "Operating and Financial 
Review and Prospects". In addition to the risks related to our business discussed under "Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties", other factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward­

looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to: 

• our ability to implement our business strategy or to grow through acquisitions, joint ventures and other
investments;

• the competitive environment in our business and our industry;

• our ability to price our products and services in accordance with our strategy;
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• our ability to absorb cost increases and to secure supplies of essential raw materials and energy;

• our ability to adjust fixed and semi-fixed costs to fluctuations in product demand;

• trends in the levels of investment in oil and gas exploration and drilling worldwide;

• general macroeconomic and political conditions in the countries in which we operate or distribute pipes;

and

• changes to applicable law and regulations, including the imposition of tariffs or quotas or other trade
barriers.

By their nature, certain disclosures relating to these and other risks are only estimates and could be materially 
different from what actually occurs in the future. As a result, actual future gains or losses that may affect our 
financial condition and results of operations could differ materially from those that have been estimated. You 
should not place undue reliance on the fonvard-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this 
annual report. Except as required by law, we are not under any obligation, and expressly disclaim any obligation 
to update or alter any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of changes of circumstances or 
management's estimates or opinions, new information, future events or otherwise. 
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Leading Indicators 

2018 2017 2016 

(!) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

TUBES SALES VOLUMES (thousands of tons) 

Seamless 

Welded 

Total 

TUBES PRODUCTION VOLUMES (thousands of tons) 

Seamless 

Welded 

Total 

FINANCIAL INDICATORS (millions of$) 

Net sales 

Operating income (loss) 

EBITDA <1>

Net income 

Cash flow from operations 

Capital expenditures 

BALANCE SHEET (millions of$) 

Total assets 

Total borrowings 

Net cash position <2> 

Total liabilities 

Shareholders' equity including non-controlling interests 

PER SHARE / ADS DAT A ($ PER SHARE/ PER ADS) 
(3) 

2,694 

877 

3,571 

2,798 

799 

3,597 

7,659 

872 

1,536 

874 

61 I 

349 

14,251 

539 

485 

2,376 

11,875 

2,157 

461 

2,618 

2,347 

544 

2,890 

5,289 

335 

943 

536 

(22) 

558 

14,398 

966 

647 

2,817 

11,581 

1,635 

355 

1,990 

1,735 

305 

2,040 

4,294 

(59) 

598 

59 

864 

787 

14,003 

840 

1,406 

2,590 

I 1,413 

Number of shares outstanding <4) (thousands of shares)

Earnings per share 

1,180,537 1,180,537 1,180,537 

0.74 0.46 

Earnings per ADS 1.48 0.92 

Dividends per share <5J 0.41 0.41 

Dividends per ADS <5> 0.82 0.82 

ADS Stock price at year-end 21.32 31.86 

Number of employees <4> 23,472 21,605 

Defined as operating income plus depreciation, amortization and impairment charges/(reversals). See Exhibit I. 
EBITDA includes severance charges of$74 million in 2016. If these charges were not included, EBITDA would have been $672 
million in 2016. 

Defined as Cash and cash equivalents+ Other investments (Current and Non-Current)+/- Derivatives hedging borrowings and 
investments-Borrowings (Current and Non-Current). See Exhibit I. 

Each ADS represents two shares. 

As of December 31. 

Proposed or paid in respect of the year. 
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Information on Tenaris 

The Company 

Our holding company's legal and commercial name is Tenaris S.A. The Company was established as a societe 

anonyme organized under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg on December 17, 2001. The Company's 
registered office is located at 29 A venue de la Porte-Neuve, 3rd Floor, L-2227, Luxembourg, telephone 

(352) 2647-8978.

The Company holds, either directly or indirectly, controlling interests in various subsidiaries in the steel pipe 

manufacturing and distribution businesses and other related businesses. For information on the Company's 
subsidiaries, see note 29 "Principal subsidiaries" to our audited consolidated financial statements included in 
this annual report. 

Our shares are traded on the Buenos Aires Stock Exchange, the Italian Stock Exchange and the Mexican Stock 
Exchange; the Company's American Depositary Shares ("ADS") trade on the New York Stock Exchange 
("NYSE"). 

Overview 

We are a leading global manufacturer and supplier of steel pipe products and related services for the world's 
energy industry and for other industrial applications. Our customers include most of the world's leading oil and 
gas companies as well as engineering companies engaged in constructing oil and gas gathering, transportation, 

processing and power generation facilities. Our principal products include casing, tubing, line pipe, and 
mechanical and structural pipes. 

We operate an integrated worldwide network of steel pipe manufacturing, research, finishing and service 
facilities with industrial operations in the Americas, Europe, Asia and Africa and a direct presence in most 
major oil and gas markets. 

Our mission is to deliver value to our customers through product development, manufacturing excellence, and 
supply chain management. We seek to minimize risk for our customers and help them reduce costs, increase 
flexibility and improve time-to-market. Our employees around the world are committed to continuous 
improvement by sharing knowledge across a single global organization. 

A. History and Development of Tenaris

Tenaris began with the formation of Siderca S.A.I.C. ("Siderca"), the sole Argentine producer of seamless steel 
pipe products, by San Faustin's predecessor in Argentina in 1948. We acquired Siat S.A., an Argentine welded 

steel pipe manufacturer, in 1986. We grew organically in Argentina and then, in the early 1990s, began to 
evolve beyond this initial base into a global business through a series of strategic investments. As of the date of 
this annual report, our investments include controlling or strategic interests in: 

Tubos de Acero de Mexico S.A. ("Tamsa"), the sole Mexican producer of seamless steel pipe products; 

Dalmine S.p.A. ("Dalmine"), a leading Italian producer of seamless steel pipe products; 

Confab Industrial S.A. ("Confab"), the leading Brazilian producer of welded steel pipe products; 

NKKTubes K.K. ("NKKTubes"), a leading Japanese producer of seamless steel pipe products; 

Algoma Tubes Inc. ("Algoma Tubes"), the sole Canadian producer of seamless steel pipe products; 

S.C. Silcotub S.A. ("Silcotub''), a leading Romanian producer of seamless steel pipe products;

Maverick Tube Corporation ("Maverick"), a U.S. producer of welded steel pipe products; 

Prudential Steel Ltd. ("Prudential"), a welded pipe mill producing OCTG, and line pipe products in 
Canada; 
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Tenaris Tubocaribe Ltda. ("Tubocaribe"), a welded mill producing OCTG products including finishing 
of welded and seamless pipes, line pipe products and a couplings facility in Colombia; 

Hydril Company ("Hydril"), a North American manufacturer of premium connection products for oil and 
gas drilling production; 

PT Seamless Pipe Indonesia Jaya ("SPIJ''), an Indonesian OCTG processing business with heat treatment 
and premium connection threading facilities; 

Tenaris Qingdao Steel Pipes Ltd. ("Tenaris Qingdao"), a Chinese producer of premium joints and 
couplings; 

Pipe Coaters Nigeria Ltd. ("Pipe Coaters") the leading company in the Nigerian coating industry; 

Ternium S.A. ("Ternium"), one of the leading flat steel producers of the Americas with operating facilities 
in Mexico, Brazil, Argentina, Colombia, the southern United States and Central America; 

Usinas Siderurgicas de Minas Gerais S.A. ("Usiminas"), a Brazilian producer of high quality flat steel 
products used in the energy, automotive and other industries; 

Techgen S.A. de C.V. ("Techgen"), an electric power plant in Mexico; 

sucker rod businesses, in various countries; and

Tenaris Bay City Inc. ("Tenaris Bay City"), a state-of-the-art seamless pipe mill in Bay City, Texas. 

In addition, we have established a global network of pipe finishing, distribution and service facilities with a 
direct presence in most major oil and gas markets and a global network of research and development centers. 

B. Business Overview

Our business strategy is to consolidate our position as a leading global supplier of integrated product and service 
solutions to the energy and other industries by: 

pursuing strategic investment opportunities in order to further strengthen our presence in local and global 
markets; 

expanding our comprehensive range of products and developing new products designed to meet the 
needs of customers operating in challenging environments; 

enhancing our Rig Direct® offer of technical and pipe management services designed to enable 
customers to optimize their selection and use of our products and reduce their overall operating costs; 
and 

securing an adequate supply of production inputs and reducing the manufacturing costs of our core 
products. 

Pursuing strategic investment opportunities and alliances 

We have a solid record of growth through strategic investments and acquisitions. We pursue selective strategic 
investments and acquisitions as a means to expand our operations and presence in select markets, enhance our 
global competitive position and capitalize on potential operational synergies. Our track record on companies' 
acquisitions is described above (see "History and Development of Tenaris"). In addition: 

• On January 21, 2019 we acquired 47.79% of the shares of Saudi Steel Pipe Company ("SSP"), a
welded steel pipes producer located in the Eastern Province of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that has a
manufacturing capacity of 360,000 tons per year. The investment amounted to $141 million. Through
this acquisition, we have significantly expanded our industrial presence in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia and the range of products we supply to the Saudi Arabian Oil Company ("Saudi Aramco").
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• On February 5, 2019 we entered into an agreement with Public Joint Stock Company "Severstal"

("PAO Severstal") to build during the coming two years, a welded pipe plant to produce OCTG

products in the Surgut area, West Siberia, Russian Federation. The estimated annual production

capacity of the plant will be 300,000 tons, with an estimated cost of approximately $240 million, in

which we will hold a 49% interest. Through this agreement, togheter with PAO Severstal we aim to

serve the growing market for welded OCTG pipe products in Russia and neighboring countries,

combining our know-how in OCTG pipe manufacturing and sales with PAO Severstal's expertise in

producing high quality steel products.
• On March 22, 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire 100% of the shares oflPSCO

Tubulars, Inc. ("IPSCO"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of PAO TMK ("TMK") and a U.S. producer of

seamless and welded OCTG and line pipe products, for $1,209 million.The transaction is subject to

regulatory approvals, including approval by the U.S. antitrust authorities, and other customary

conditions. IPSCO has an annual production capacity of 450,000 metric tons of steel bars, 400,000

metric tons of seamless pipes and 1,000,000 metric tons of welded pipes, and production facilities

spread throughout the country.

Expanding our range of products 

We have developed an extensive range of high-value products suitable for most of our customers' operations 
using our network of specialized research and testing facilities and by investing in our manufacturing facilities. 
As our customers expand their operations, we seek to supply high-value products that reduce costs and enable 
them to operate safely in challenging environments, including for complex offshore and unconventional 
operations. 

Enhancing our offer of technical and pipe management services- Rig Direct®- and extending their global 
deployment 

We continue to enhance our offer of technical and pipe management services, Rig Direct® services, and extend 
their deployment worldwide. For many years, we have provided these services, providing technical advice and 
assistance on the selection of materials and their use in the field, managing customer inventories and directly 
supplying pipes to their rigs on a just-in-time basis in markets like Mexico and Argentina. In response to 
changes in market conditions and the increased focus of customers on reducing costs and improving the 
efficiency of their operations, the deployment of our Rig Direct® services was extended throughout North 
America and in other markets around the world (e.g. North Sea, Romania and Thailand). Through the provision 
of Rig Direct® services, we seek to enable our customers, to optimize their operations, reduce costs and to 
concentrate on their core businesses, providing an integrated product and service value proposition, increasing 
supply chain efficiency. They are also intended to differentiate us from our competitors and further strengthen 
our relationships with our customers worldwide through long-term agreements. 

Securing inputs for our manufacturing operations 

We seek to secure our existing sources of raw material and energy inputs, and to gain access to new sources of 
low-cost inputs which can help us maintain or reduce the cost of manufacturing our core products over the long 
term. We aim to achieve a vertically integrated value chain for our production. To this end, we purchase most of 
our supplies through Exiros, a specialized procurement company whose ownership we share with Ternium. 
Exiros offers us integral procurement solutions, supplier sourcing activities; category organized purchasing; 
suppliers' performance administration; and inventory management. Moreover, in February 2014, we entered 
into an agreement with our affiliates Ternium and Tecpetrol International S.A. ("Tecpetrol") (a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of San Faustin, the controlling shareholder of both Tenaris and Ternium) to build a natural gas-fired 
combined cycle electric power plant in Mexico for the supply of Tenaris's and Ternium 's respective Mexican 
industrial facilities. For more information on the power plant, see note I 1 c) "Investments in non-consolidated 
companies- Techgen S.A. de C.V." to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual 

report. For more information on the Company's commitments under the power plant, see Quantitative and 
Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk - Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements". 
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Our Competitive Strengths 

We believe our main competitive strengths include: 

our global production, commercial and distribution capabilities, offering a full product range with 

flexible supply options backed up by local service capabilities in important oil and gas producing and 
industrial regions around the world; 

our ability to develop, design and manufacture technologically advanced products; 

our solid and diversified customer base and historic relationships with major international oil and gas 
companies around the world, and our strong and stable market shares in most of the countries in which 
we have manufacturing operations; 

our proximity to our customers; 

our human resources around the world with their diverse knowledge and skills; 

our low-cost operations, primarily at state-of-the-art, strategically located production facilities with 
favorable access to raw materials, energy and labor, and more than 60 years of operating experience; and 

our strong financial condition. 

Business Segments 

Tenaris has one major business segment, "Tubes", which is also the reportable operating segment. 

The Tubes segment includes the production and sale of both seamless and welded steel tubular products and 
related services mainly for the oil and gas industry, particularly OCTG used in drilling operations, and for other 
industrial applications with production processes that consist in the transformation of steel into tubular products. 
Business activities included in this segment are mainly dependent on the oil and gas industry worldwide, as this 
industry is a major consumer of steel pipe products, particularly OCTG used in drilling activities. Demand for 
steel pipe products from the oil and gas industry has historically been volatile and depends primarily upon the 

number of oil and natural gas wells being drilled, completed and reworked, and the depth and drilling conditions 
of these wells. Sales are generally made to end users, with exports being done through a centrally managed 
global distribution network and domestic sales made through local subsidiaries. Corporate general and 

administrative expenses have been allocated to the Tubes segment. 

The "Others" segment include all other business activities and operating segments that are not required to be 

separately reported, including the production and selling of sucker rods, industrial equipment, coiled tubing, 
utility conduits for buildings, and the sale of energy and raw materials that exceed internal requirements. 

For more information on our business segments, see "II C. Accounting Policies - Segment information" to our 

audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. 

Our Products 

Our principal finished products are seamless and welded steel casing and tubing, line pipe and various other 
mechanical and structural steel pipes for different uses. Casing and tubing are also known as oil country tubular 
goods ("OCTG"). We manufacture our steel pipe products in a wide range of specifications, which vary in 
diameter, length, thickness, finishing, steel grades, coating, threading and coupling. For more complex 
applications, including high pressure and high temperature applications, seamless steel pipes are usually 
specified and, for some standard applications, welded steel pipes can also be used. 

Casing. Steel casing is used to sustain the walls of oil and gas wells during and after drilling. 

Tubing. Steel tubing is used to conduct crude oil and natural gas to the surface after drilling has been completed. 

Line pipe. Steel line pipe is used to transport crude oil and natural gas from wells to refineries, storage tanks and 
loading and distribution centers. 
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Mechanical and structural pipes. Mechanical and structural pipes are used by general industry for various 
applications, including the transportation of other forms of gas and liquids under high pressure. 

Cold-drawn pipe. The cold-drawing process permits the production of pipes with the diameter and wall 
thickness required for use in boilers, superheaters, condensers, heat exchangers, automobile production and 
several other industrial applications. 

Premium joints and couplings. Premium joints and couplings are specially designed connections used to join 
lengths of steel casing and tubing for use in high temperature or high pressure environments. A significant 
portion of our steel casing and tubing products are supplied with premium joints and couplings. We own an 
extensive range of premium connections, and following the integration of the premium connections business of 
Hydril, we have marketed our premium connection products under the "TenarisHydril" brand name. In addition, 
we hold licensing rights to manufacture and sell the Atlas Bradford range of premium connections outside the 
United States. 

Coiled tubing. Coiled tubing is used for oil and gas drilling and well workovers and for subsea pipelines. 

Other products. We also manufacture sucker rods used in oil extraction activities and industrial equipment of 
various specifications and diverse applications, including liquid and gas storage equipment. In addition, we sell 
energy and raw materials that exceed our internal requirements. 

Production Process and Facilities 

We operate relatively low-cost production facilities, which we believe is the result of: 

state-of-the-art, strategically located plants; 

favorable access to high quality raw materials, energy and labor at competitive costs; 

operating history of more than 60 years, which translates into solid industrial know-how; 

constant benchmarking and best-practices sharing among the different facilities; 

increasing specialization of each of our facilities in specific product ranges; and 

extensive use of information technology in our production processes. 

Our seamless pipes production facilities are located in North and South America, Europe and Asia and our 
welded pipes production facilities are located in North and South America and from January 2019 in Saudi 
Arabia. In addition, we have tubular accessories facilities, such as sucker rods, in Argentina, Brazil, Mexico, 
Romania, and the United States. We produce couplings in Argentina, China, Colombia, Indonesia, Mexico and 
Romania, and pipe fittings in Mexico. In addition to our pipe threading and finishing facilities at our integrated 
pipe production facilities, we also have pipe threading facilities for steel pipes manufactured in accordance with 
the specifications of the American Petroleum Institute ("API"), and premium joints in the United States, 
Canada, China, Denmark, Ecuador, Kazakhstan, Indonesia, Nigeria, the United Kingdom and Saudi Arabia. 

The following table shows our aggregate installed production capacity of seamless and welded steel pipes and 
steel bars at the dates indicated as well as the aggregate actual production volumes for the periods indicated. The 
figures for effective annual capacity are based on our estimates of effective annual production capacity under 
present conditions. 

Capacity of seamless tubes in 2018 increased in respect to 2017 due to the completion of Tenaris Bay City, our 
state-of-the-art pipe mill in Bay City, Texas. 

Thousands of tons 
Steel Bars 

Effective Capacity (annual) (I) 
Actual Production 

Tubes - Seamless 
Effective Capacity (annual) ( 1) 

At or for the year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

3,935 
3,167 

4,300 
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Actual Production 
Tubes- Welded 

Effective Capacity ( annual) ( 1) 
Actual Production 

2,798 

2,620 
799 

2,347 

2,620 
544 

1,735 

2,620 
305 

<1l Effective annual production capacity is calculated based on standard productivity of production lines, theoretical product mix 
allocations, the maximum number of possible working shifts and a continued flow of supplies to the production process. 

Competition 

The global market for steel pipe products is highly competitive. Seamless steel pipe products, which are used 
extensively in the oil and gas industry particularly for offshore, high pressure, high stress and other complex 
applications, are produced in specialized mills using round steel billets and specially produced ingots. Welded 
steel pipe products are produced in mills which process steel coils and plates into steel pipes. Steel companies 
that manufacture steel coils and other steel products but do not operate specialized seamless steel mills are 
generally not competitors in the market for seamless steel pipe products, although they often produce welded 
steel pipes or sell steel coils and plates used to produce welded steel pipes. 

The production of steel pipe products following the stringent requirements of major oil and gas companies 
operating in offshore and other complex operations requires the development of specific skills and significant 
investments in manufacturing facilities. By contrast, steel pipe products for standard applications can be 
produced in most seamless pipe mills worldwide and sometimes compete with welded pipe products for such 
applications including OCTG applications. Welded pipe, however, is not generally considered a satisfactory 
substitute for seamless steel pipe in high-pressure or high-stress applications. 

Over the past decade, substantial investments have been made, especially in China but also in other regions 
around the world, to increase production capacity of seamless steel pipe products. Production capacity for more 
specialized product grades has also increased. With the downturn between 2014 and 2016 in the price of oil and 
demand for tubes for oil and gas drilling, the overcapacity in steel pipe and seamless steel pipe production 
worldwide has become acute, and now extends beyond commodity grades. The competitive environment has, as 
a result, become more intense, and we expect that this will continue for some time. Effective competitive 
differentiation will be a key factor for Tenaris. 

Our principal competitors in steel pipe markets worldwide are described below. 

Vallourec S.A. ("Vallourec"), a French company, has mills in Brazil, China, Germany and the United 
States. Vallourec has a strong presence in the European market for seamless pipes for industrial use and a 
significant market share in the international market with customers primarily in Europe, the United 
States, Brazil, China, the Middle East and Africa. Vallourec is an important competitor in the 
international OCTG market, particularly for high-value premium joint products, where it operates a 
technology partnership for V AM® premium connections with Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal 
Corporation ("NSSMC"). Prior to the collapse in oil prices in 2014 to 2016, Vallourec increased its 
production capacity by building a new mill in Brazil jointly with NSSMC, which is aimed primarily at 
export markets and was commissioned in 2011, and a second seamless pipe rolling mill at its existing 
facility in Youngstown, Ohio, which began commercial production at the end of 2012. In addition to the 
construction of the new Youngstown mill, Vallourec reinforced its positioning in the United States 
through the acquisition of three tubular businesses from Grant Prideco Inc.: Atlas Bradford® Premium 
Threading & Services, TCA® and Tube-Alloy. Vallourec also strengthened its position in the Middle 
East through the acquisition of heat treatment and threading facilities in Saudi Arabia in 2011 and, in 
20 I 0, it concluded an agreement with a Chinese seamless steel producer, Tianda Oil Pipe Company 
("Tianda"), under which it began to distribute products from Tianda in markets outside China. In early 
2016, in response to accumulating losses, Vallourec announced a $1 billion capital increase, more than 
half of which was provided by a French government fund and NSSMC, who each agreed to increase their 
equity participation to 15%. At the same time, an industrial restructuring program was announced under 
which Vallourec reduced capacity in Europe, closing its rolling mills in France, combined its operations 
in Brazil with that of the new mill held with NSSMC, acquired a majority position in Tianda and bought 
out the remaining minority interest, and strengthened its cooperation with NSSMC for the development 
and testing of premium connection products and technology. Despite this restructuring program, 
Vallourec's losses have continued through 2018. 
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Japanese players NS SMC and JFE Holdings Inc. ("JFE") together enjoy a significant share of the 
international market, having established strong positions in markets in the Far East and the Middle East. 
They are internationally recognized for their supply of high-alloy grade pipe products. In recent years, 
NSSMC has increased its capacity to serve international markets through the construction with Vallourec 
of a new seamless pipe mill in Brazil, and has further strengthened its ties with Vallourec through 
participating in Vallourec's capital increase and combining their respective Brazilian operations. 

In recent years, PAO TMK ("TMK"), a Russian company, has led consolidation of the Russian steel pipe 
industry, invested to modernize and expand its production capacity in Russia and expanded 
internationally through acquisitions into Eastern Europe and the United States where it acquired a 
significant position in the U.S. market through its acquisition of IPSCO Tubulars Inc. 's ("IPSCO") 
tubular operations comprising both seamless and welded pipe mills and the Ultra family of connections. 
In 2012, TMK opened a research and development center in Houston and has been expanding its capacity 
to produce premium connection products. TMK also expanded in the Middle East through the acquisition 
of a controlling interest in Gulf International Pipe Industry LLC ("Gulf International Pipe"), a welded 
pipe producer in Oman. More recently, TMK adopted a strategy of monetizing its international assets by 
reducing its participation in Gulf International Pipe and agreeing to sell its U.S. IPSCO Tu bu Jars 
subsidiary to Tenaris. 

Over the past two decades, Chinese producers increased production capacity substantially and strongly 
increased their exports of steel pipe products around the world. Due to unfair trading practices, many 
countries, including the United States, the European Union, Canada, Mexico and Colombia, have 
imposed anti-dumping restrictions on Chinese imports to those regions. The largest Chinese producer of 
seamless steel pipes, Tianjin Pipe (Group) Corporation Limited ("TPCO"), announced a plan in 2009 to 
build a new seamless pipe facility in the United States; heat treatment and pipe finishing facilities have 
been constructed and steelmaking and hot rolling facilities are currently under construction in Corpus 
Christi, Texas. Although producers from China compete primarily in the "commodity" sector of the 
market, some of these producers, including TPCO, have been upgrading their facilities and processes 
with the intention of entering into the market for more specialized products. 

The tubes and pipes business in the United States and Canada experienced a significant consolidation 
process several years ago. Following the acquisitions of Maverick and Hydril by Tenaris and the earlier 
acquisition of North Star Steel by Vallourec, U.S. Steel Corporation acquired Lone Star Steel 
Technologies. In 2008, Evraz Group S.A. ("Evraz") and TMK, two Russian companies, acquired 
IPSCO's Tubular division which has both seamless and welded mills in the United States and Canada. 
Evraz retained IPSCO's operations in Canada while TMK acquired IPSCO's operations in the United 
States, as mentioned above. More recently, however, many new players have built, or announced plans to 
build, pipe mills in the United States. These include, in addition to TPCO, Boomerang LLC, a company 
formed by a former Maverick executive that opened a welded pipe mill in Liberty, Texas, in 2010; 
Benteler International A.G. ("Benteler"), a European seamless pipe producer that built a new seamless 
pipe mill in Louisiana, which opened in September 2015; and OCT Pipe, LLC, a company building a 
seamless pipe mill with heat treatment and OCTG threading facilities in Norfolk, Nebraska. North 
American pipe producers are largely focused on supplying the U.S. and Canadian markets, where they 
have their production facilities. In March 2019, TMK announced that it had agreed to sell its U.S. IPSCO 
subsidiary to Tenaris, a transaction which remains subject to anti-trust clearance from the U.S. authorities 
and other customary closing conditions. 

Korean welded pipe producers, who have a limited domestic market, have expanded capacity in recent 
years and targeted the U.S. market for standard applications. They have gained a relevant market 
position, despite the application of anti-dumping duties for unfair trading practices. 

Tubos Reunidos S.A. ("Tubos Reunidos") of Spain, Benteler International A.G. of Germany and Yoest 
Alpine A.G. of Austria each have a significant presence in the European market for seamless steel pipes 
for industrial applications, while the latter also has a relevant presence in the U.S. and international 
OCTG markets, and in 2016, Tubos Reunidos opened an OCTG threading facility targeting international 
markets. In 2006, ArcelorMittal S.A. ("ArcelorMittal") created a tubes division through several 
acquisitions and has mills in North America, Eastern Europe, Venezuela, Algeria and South Africa and 
has built a seamless pipe mill in Saudi Arabia. 

In the Middle East, particularly in Saudi Arabia, which has implemented policies to encourage local 
production for its oil and gas industry, a number of pipe mills have been established including a seamless 
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pipe mill built by Jubail Energy Services Company ("JESCO"), a company established with majority 
participation from a state-backed industrial development company, and the seamless pipe mill built by 
ArcelorMittal. These local players have been strengthening their capabilities and are taking an increasing 
share of the pipes supplied to Saudi Aramco as well as exporting to other countries in the Middle East 
and the rest of the world. In January 2019, Tenaris acquired a controlling 47.79% participation in SSP, a 
local welded pipe producer. 

Producers of steel pipe products can maintain strong competitive positions in markets where they have their pipe 
manufacturing facilities due to logistical and other advantages that permit them to offer value-added services 
and maintain strong relationships with domestic customers, particularly in the oil and gas sectors. Our 
subsidiaries have established strong ties with major consumers of steel pipe products in their home markets, 
reinforced by Rig Direct® services, as discussed above. 

Capital Expenditure Program 

During 2018, our capital expenditures, including investments at our plants and investments in information 
systems, amounted to $349 million, compared to $558 million in 2017 and $787 million in 2016. Of these 
capital expenditures, investment at our plants amounted to $318 million in 2018, compared to $525 million in 
2017 and $757 million in 2016. 

In 2018, we have fully consolidated the Rig Direct® service in the United States and Canadian markets and are 
working to increase differentiation through improving service quality and extending integration with customer 
operations. In addition, we focused on enhancing automation at our industrial process, product differentiation 
and competitiveness, increasing local finishing capabilities, as well as enhancing safety and minimizing 
environmental impact of our plants. 

The major highlights of our capital spending program during 2018 included: investments in automation at our 
industrial system worldwide, increase in the capacity of automotive components, investments at the steel shop 
and laboratory in Mexico, completion of the expansion of heat treatment capacity at our mill in Italy, completion 
of construction and start-up investments at Bay City, USA, and installation of a new waste water treatment plant 
in our mill in Campana, Argentina. 

Capital expenditures in 2019 are expected to remain in line with the level of 2018, including the completion of 
some of the projects started in 2018 and maintenance interventions mainly at our facilities in Argentina, Mexico 
and Romania. 

In addition to capital expenditures at our plants, we have invested in information systems for the integration of 
our production, commercial and managerial activities, together with investments in cybersecurity for the 
protection of our information technology and our industrial systems. These investments are intended to promote 
the further integration of our operating facilities and enhance our ability to provide value-added services to 
customers worldwide. Investments in information systems totaled $32 million in 2018, compared to $28 million 
in 2017 and $29 million in 2016. 

Research and Development 

Research and development, or R&D, of new products and processes to meet the increasingly stringent 
requirements of our customers is an important aspect of our business. 

R&D activities are carried out primarily at our global R&D network with main office at Amsterdam in the 
Netherlands and specialized research and testing facilities located at Campana in Argentina, at Veracruz in 
Mexico, at Dalmine in Italy, and at the product testing facilities ofNKKTubes in Japan. Additionally we have a 
Wedge Technology Center in Houston, Texas, USA We strive to engage some of the world's leading industrial 
research institutions to solve the problems posed by the complexities of oil and gas projects with innovative 
applications. In addition, our global technical sales team is made up of experienced engineers who work with 
our customers to identify solutions for each particular oil and gas drilling environment. 

Product R&D currently being undertaken are focused on the increasingly challenging energy markets and 
include: 

proprietary premium joint products including Dope less® technology; 
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heavy-wall deepwater line pipe, risers and welding technology; 

proprietary steels; 

tubes and components for the car industry and mechanical applications; 

tubes for boilers; 

welded pipes for oil and gas and other applications; 

sucker rods; 

coiled tubing; and

coatings. 

In addition to R&D aimed at new or improved products, we continuously study opportunities to optimize our 
manufacturing processes. Recent projects in this area include modeling of rolling and finishing process and the 

development of different process controls, with the goal of improving product quality and productivity at our 
facilities. 

We seek to protect our innovation, through the use of patents, trade secrets, trademarks and other intellectual 
property tools that allow us to differentiate ourselves from our competitors. 

We spent $63 million in R&D in 2018, compared to $64 million in 2017 and $69 million in 2016. 

Environmental Regulation 

We are subject to a wide range of local, provincial and national laws, regulations, permit requirements and 
decrees relating to the protection of human health and the environment, including laws and regulations relating 
to hazardous materials and radioactive materials and environmental protection governing air emissions, water 
discharges and waste management. Laws and regulations protecting the environment have become increasingly 
complex and more stringent and expensive to implement in recent years. International environmental 
requirements vary from one jurisdiction to another. 

The ultimate impact of complying with existing laws and regulations is not always clearly known or 
determinable since regulations under some of these laws are not yet effective or are undergoing revision. The 
expenditures necessary to remain in compliance with these laws and regulations, including site or other 
remediation costs, or costs incurred from potential environmental liabilities, could have a material adverse effect 
on our financial condition and profitability. While we incur and will continue to incur, in expenditures to 
comply with applicable laws and regulations, there always remains a risk that environmental incidents or 
accidents may occur that may negatively affect our reputation or our operations. 

Compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations is a significant factor in our business. We have 
not been subject to any material penalty for any material environmental violation in the last five years, and we 
are not aware of any current material legal or administrative proceedings pending against us with respect to 
environmental matters which could have an adverse material impact on our financial condition or results of 
operations. 

Insurance 

We carry property damage, general liability and certain other insurance coverage in line with industry practice. 
Our current general liability coverage includes third party, employers, sudden and accidental seepage and 
pollution and product liability, up to a limit of $300 million. Our current property insurance has indemnification 

caps up to $250 million for direct damage, depending on the different plants; and a deductible of $100 million. 

C. Organizational Structure and Subsidiaries

We conduct all our operations through subsidiaries. The following table shows the principal subsidiaries of the 
Company and its direct and indirect ownership in each subsidiary as of December 3 I, 2018, 2017 and 2016. 
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Percentage of ownership at 
Country of December 31, (*) 

Company Incorporation Main activity 2018 2017 

ALGOMA TUBES INC. Canada 
Manufacturing of seamless steel 

100% 100% 
pipes 

CONFAB INDUSTRIAL S.A. and 
Brazil 

Manufacturing of welded steel pipes 
100% 100% 

subsidiaries and capital goods 

KAZAKHSTAN PIPE THREADERS 
LIMITED LIABILITY Kazakhstan Threading of premium products 100% 100% 
PARTNERSHIP 
HYDRIL COMPANY and 

USA 
Manufacture and marketing of 

100% 100% 
subsidiaries (except detailed) (a) premium connections 

DALMINE S.p.A. Italy 
Manufacturing of seamless steel 

100% 100% 
pipes 

MA VERJCK TUBE CORPORATION 
USA Manufacturing of welded steel pipes 100% 100% 

and subsidiaries 

S.C. SILCOTUB S.A. Romania 
Manufacturing of seamless steel 

100% 100% 
pipes 

NKKTUBES Japan 
Manufacturing of seamless steel 

51% 51% 
pipes 

SIAT SOCIEDAD ANONIMA Argentina 
Manufacturing of welded and 

100% 100% 
seamless steel pipes 

PRUDENTIAL STEEL LTD. Canada Manufacturing of welded steel pipes 100% 100% 
SIDERCA SOCIEDAD ANONIMA 

Manufacturing of seamless steel 
INDUSTRIAL Y COMERCIAL and Argentina 100% 100% 
subsidiaries 

pipes 

P.T. SEAMLESS PIPE INDONESIA 
Indonesia 

Manufacturing of seamless steel 
89% 89% 

JAYA products 
TUBOS DE ACERO DE MEXJCO, 

Mexico 
Manufacturing of seamless steel 

100% 100% 
S.A. pipes 

TENARJS GLOBAL SERVICES 
USA Marketing of steel products 100% 100% 

(U.S.A.) CORPORATION 

TENARIS BAY CITY, INC. USA 
Manufacturing of seamless steel 

100% 100% 
pipes 

TENARIS GLOBAL SERVICES United Holding company and marketing of 
100% 100% 

(UK) LTD Kingdom steel products 
TENARIS INVESTMENTS 

Switzerland Holding company 100% 100% 
SWITZERLAND AG and subsidiaries 
TENARIS FINANCIAL SERVICES 

Uruguay Financial company 100% 100% 
S.A. 
TENARIS GLOBAL SERVICES 

Canada Marketing of steel products 100% 100% 
(CANADA) INC. 
TENARIS INVESTMENTS S.ar.1. Luxembourg Holding company 100% 100% 

TENARIS CONNECTIONS BY Netherlands 
Development, management and 

100% 100% 
licensing of intellectual property 

TENARIS GLOBAL SERVICES S.A. 
Uruguay 

Holding company and marketing of 
100% 100% 

and subsidiaries (except detailed) (b) steel products 

TALTA -TRADING E 
MARKETING SOCIEDADE Portugal Holding Company 100% 100% 
UNIPESSOAL LOA. 

( *) All percentages rounded. 
(a) Tenaris Investments S.a.r.l. holds I 00% ofHydril's subsidiaries shares except for Technical Drilling & Production Services Nigeria. Ltd

where it holds 80%. 
(b) Tenaris holds 97,5% of Tenaris Supply Chain S.A, 60% ofGepnaris S.A. and 40% of Tubular Technical Services and Pipe Coaters, and 
49% of Amaja Tubular Services Limited and Tubular Services Angola Ltd. 

Other Investments 

Ternium 

We have a significant investment in Ternium, a Luxembourg company controlled by San Faustin, whose 
securities are listed on the NYSE. As of December 31, 2018, the Company held 11.46% of Ternium's share 

capital (including treasury shares). 
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100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

51% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

77% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 

100% 
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The Company is a party to a shareholders' agreement with Techint Holdings S.a.r.I. ("Techint Holdings"), a 
wholly owned subsidiary of San Faustin and Ternium 's main shareholder, dated January 9, 2006, pursuant to 

which Techint Holdings is required to take actions within its power to cause one of the members of Ternium's 
board of directors to be nominated by the Company and any directors nominated by the Company only to be 
removed pursuant to previous written instructions by the Company. The Company and Techint Holdings also 
agreed to cause any vacancies on Ternium's board of directors to be filled with new directors nominated by 
either the Company or Techint Holdings, as applicable. The shareholders' agreement will remain in effect so 
long as each of the parties holds at least 5% of the shares of Ternium or until it is terminated by either the 
Company or Techint Holdings pursuant to its terms. Carlos Condorelli was nominated by the Company as a 
director of Ternium pursuant to this shareholders' agreement. 

Usiminas 

On January 16, 2012, Confab, acquired 5.0% of the shares with voting rights and 2.5% of the total share capital 
in Usiminas, a leading Brazilian producer of high quality flat steel products used in the energy, automotive and 
other industries. The acquisition was part of a larger transaction pursuant to which Confab and Ternium 's 
subsidiaries Ternium Investments S.a.r.l., Ternium Argentina and Prosid Investments S.A. (jointly, the 
"Ternium Entities") formed the so-called TIT Group and joined Usiminas' existing control group through the 
acquisition of ordinary shares representing 27.7% of Usiminas' total voting capital and 13.8% of Usiminas' total 
share capital. In addition, the TIT Group entered into a shareholders' agreement with the NSSMC Group 
(formed by NSSMC, Mitsubishi Corporation do Brasil S.A. and Metal One Corporation) and Previdencia 
Usiminas, an Usiminas employee fund, governing the parties' rights within the Usiminas control group. 

Following the subscription in 2016 of 1.3 million Usiminas preferred shares and 11.5 million Usiminas ordinary 
shares by Confab, as of December 31, 2018, Confab owned 36.5 million ordinary shares and 1.3 million 

preferred shares of Usiminas, representing 5.2% of Usiminas' total voting capital and 3.1% of Usiminas' total 
share capital. 

In 2014, a conflict arose within the TIT Group and NSSMC with respect to the governance of Usiminas, 
including with respect to the rules applicable to the appointment of senior managers, the application of the 
shareholders' agreement in matters involving fiduciary duties, and generally with respect to Usiminas' business 
strategy. 

On February 8, 2018, the dispute with NS SMC was resolved, and on April 10, 2018, the TIT Group entities 
(including Confab), the NSSMC Group entities and Previdencia Usiminas entered into a new shareholders' 
agreement for Usiminas, amending and restating the previously existing shareholders' agreement ("the New 
SHA"). Usiminas' control group now holds, in the aggregate, 483.6 million ordinary shares bound to the New 
SHA, representing approximately 68.6% of Usiminas' voting capital, with the TIT Group holding approximately 
4 7.1 % of the total shares held by the control group (39.5% corresponding to the Ternium Entities and the other 
7.6% corresponding to Confab); the NSSMC Group holding approximately 45.9% of the total shares held by the 
control group; and Previdencia Usiminas holding the remaining 7% of the total shares held by the control group. 

The New SHA reflects the agreed-upon corporate governance rules for Usiminas, including, among others, an 
alternation mechanism for the nomination of each of the chief executive officer and the chairman of the board of 
directors, as well as a mechanism for the nomination of other members of Usiminas' executive board. The New 
SHA also incorporates an exit mechanism consisting of a buy-and-sell procedure, exercisable at any time during 
the term of the New SHA after the fourth-and-a-half-year anniversary from the coming election of Usiminas' 
executive board in May 2018. Such exit mechanism shall apply with respect to shares held by the NSSMC 
Group and the TIT Group, and would allow either Ternium (on behalf of the TIT Group) or NS SMC to purchase 
all or a majority of the Usiminas shares held by the other shareholder group. 

In connection with the execution of the New SHA, the Ternium Entities and Confab amended and restated their 
separate shareholders' agreement governing their respective rights and obligations as members of the TIT Group 
to include provisions relating to the exit mechanism and generally to conform such separate shareholders' 
agreement to the other provisions of the New SHA. 

Techgen 

Techgen is a Mexican joint venture company owned 48% by Ternium, 30% by Tecpetrol and 22% by Tenaris. 
Techgen operates a natural gas-fired combined cycle electric power plant in the Pesqueria area of the State of 
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Nuevo Le6n, Mexico. Tenaris, Ternium and Tecpetrol are parties to a shareholder's agreement relating to the 
governance of Techgen. 
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TENARIS IN NUMBERS 

Trend information 
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all other information 
contained in this annual report, before making any investment decision. Any of these risks and uncertainties 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, revenues, financial condition and results of operations, 
which could in turn affect the price of shares and ADSs. 

Risks Relating to Our Industry 

Sales and profitability may fall as a result of downturns in the international price of oil and gas and other 

circumstances affecting the oil and gas industry. 

We are a global steel pipe manufacturer with a strong focus on manufacturing products and related services for 
the oil and gas industry. The oil and gas industry is a major consumer of steel pipe products worldwide, 
particularly for products manufactured under high quality standards and demanding specifications. Demand for 
steel pipe products from the oil and gas industry has historically been volatile and depends primarily upon the 
number of oil and natural gas wells being drilled, completed and reworked, and the depth and drilling conditions 
of these wells. The level of exploration, development and production activities of, and the corresponding capital 
spending by, oil and gas companies, including national oil companies, depends primarily on current and 
expected future prices of oil and natural gas and is sensitive to the industry's view of future economic growth 
and the resulting impact on demand for oil and natural gas. Several factors, such as the supply and demand for 
oil and gas, and political and global economic conditions, affect these prices. When the price of oil and gas falls, 
oil and gas companies generally reduce spending on production and exploration activities and, accordingly, 
make fewer purchases of steel pipe products. Major oil-and gas-producing nations and companies have 
frequently collaborated to balance the supply (and thus the price) of oil in the international markets. A major 
vehicle for this collaboration has been the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries ("OPEC"). Many of 
our customers are state-owned companies in member countries of OPEC. A more recent factor affecting oil and 
gas prices has been the ability of producers in the United States and Canada to rapidly increase production from 
their reserves of tight oil and shale gas in response to changes in market conditions. Other circumstances - such 
as geopolitical events and hostilities in the Middle East and elsewhere - may also affect drilling activity and, as 
a result, cause steel pipe consumption to decline, and thus have a material impact on our revenues, profitability 
and financial condition. Several factors, such as the supply and demand for oil and gas, and political and global 
economic conditions, affect, and may continue to affect, these prices; accordingly, oil and gas companies may 
cut their investment plans and consequently, demand for our products could decline. 

Climate change legislation or regulations could curtail demand for fossil fuels and therefore demand for our 

products and services could be reduced. 

There is an increased attention on greenhouse gas emissions and climate change from different sectors of 
society. Existing or future legislation and regulations related to greenhouse gas emissions and climate change, as 
well as government initiatives to promote the use of alternative energy sources (with many jurisdictions 
implementing tax advantages and other subsidies to promote the development of renewable energy sources, or 
even requiring minimum thresholds for power generation from renewable sources), may significantly curtail 
demand for and production of fossil fuels such as oil and natural gas. These initiatives, together with the 
growing social awareness regarding climate change and other environmental matters, have resulted in increased 
investor and consumer demand for renewable energy and additional compliance requirements for fossil energy 
projects, which are likely to become more stringent over time and to result in substantial increases in costs for 
the oil and natural gas industry. Furthermore, ongoing technological developments in the renewable energy 
industry are making renewable energy increasingly competitive against fossil-fuels. If this trend continues, 
energy demand could shift increasingly towards "cleaner" sources such as hydroelectrical, solar, wind and other 
renewable energies, which would, in tum, reduce demand for oil and natural gas, thus negatively affecting 
demand for our products and services and, ultimately, our future results of operations. 

Competition in the global market for steel pipe products may cause us to lose market share and hurt our sales 

and profitability. 

The global market for steel pipe products is highly competitive, with the primary competitive factors being 
price, quality, service and technology. In recent years, substantial investments have been made, especially but 
not only in China, to increase production capacity of seamless steel pipe products. New production capacity 
continues to be installed and there is significant excess production capacity, particularly for "commodity'' or 
standard product grades. Capacity for the production of more specialized product grades has also increased. At 
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the same time, the high cost and long lead times required to develop the most complex projects, particularly 
deepwater and oil sands projects, has led to a slowdown in the sanctioning of new developments in a context of 

low and more volatile oil prices. Despite our efforts to develop products and services that differentiate us from 
our competitors, reduced demand for steel pipe products from these complex projects means that the 
competitive environment is expected to remain intense in the coming years and effective competitive 
differentiation will be a key success factor for Tenaris. In addition, there is a risk of unfairly traded steel pipe 

imports in markets in which Tenaris produces and sells its products and, despite the application of antidumping 
duties and tariffs, we can give no assurance with respect to the effectiveness of these actions. Therefore, we may 
not continue to compete effectively against existing or potential producers and preserve our current shares of 

geographic or product markets, and increased competition may have a material impact on the pricing of our 

products and services, which could in tum adversely affect our revenues, profitability and financial condition. 

Increases in the cost of raw materials, energy and other costs, limitations or disruptions to the supply of raw 
materials and energy, and price mismatches between raw materials and our products may hurt our 

profitability. 

The manufacture of seamless steel pipe products requires substantial amounts of steelmaking raw materials and 
energy; welded steel pipe products, in tum, are processed from steel coils and plates. The availability and 

pricing of a significant portion of the raw materials and energy we require are subject to supply and demand 
conditions, which can be volatile, and to tariffs and other government regulations, which can affect continuity of 
supply and prices. In addition, disruptions, restrictions or limited availability of energy resources in markets 

where we have significant operations could lead to higher costs of production and eventually to production 
cutbacks at our facilities in such markets. For example, in Mexico, the decrease in the national production of 
natural gas and constraints in natural gas transportation capacity have led to increased imports of natural gas 

which have resulted in increased natural gas transportation costs and, thus, higher steel pipe production costs. 
See "Risks Relating to Our Business - Adverse economic or political conditions in the countries where we 
operate or sell our products and services may decrease our sales or disrupt our manufacturing operations, 

thereby adversely affecting our revenues, profitability and financial condition". At any given time, we may be 
unable to obtain an adequate supply of critical raw materials with price and other terms acceptable to us. The 

availability and prices of raw materials may also be negatively affected by new laws and regulations, including 
import controls, allocation by suppliers, interruptions in production, accidents or natural disasters, changes in 
exchange rates, worldwide price fluctuations, and the availability and cost of transportation. 

We may not be able to recover, partially or fully, increased costs of raw materials and energy through increased 
selling prices on our products, or it may take an extended period of time to do so, and limited availability could 
force us to curtail production, which could adversely affect our sales and profitability. 

Our results of operations and financial conditions could be adversely affected by low levels of capacity 

utilization. 

Like other manufacturers of steel-related products, we have fixed and semi-fixed costs (e.g., labor and other 
operating and maintenance costs) that cannot adjust rapidly to fluctuations in product demand. If demand for our 
products falls significantly, these costs may adversely affect our profitability and financial condition. In 

response to a downturn of the oil and gas industry, we may be required to implement temporary suspensions of 
our operations. Temporary suspensions of operations generally lead to layoffs of employees which may in tum 
give rise to labor conflicts and impact operations. Moreover, temporary suspensions may also affect profitability 
and result in charges for asset impairments. 

Risks Relating to Our Business 

Adverse economic or political conditions in the countries where we operate or sell our products and services 
may decrease our sales or disrupt our manufacturing operations, thereby adversely affecting our revenues, 

profitability and financial condition. 

We have significant operations in various countries, including Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Indonesia, 
Italy, Japan, Mexico, Nigeria, Romania, Saudi Arabia and the United States, and we sell our products and 
services throughout the world. Additionally, we recently announced plans to form a joint venture with PAO 
Severstal, or Severstal, to build a welded pipe plant in Russia. Therefore, like other companies with worldwide 

operations, our business and operations have been, and could in the future be, affected from time to time to 
varying degrees by political, economic and social developments and changes in laws and regulations. These 
developments and changes may include, among others, nationalization, expropriation or forced divestiture of 
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assets; restrictions on production, imports and exports; interruptions in the supply of essential energy inputs; 
exchange and/or transfer restrictions, inability or increasing difficulties to repatriate income or capital or to 
make contract payments; inflation; devaluation; war or other international conflicts; civil unrest and local 
security concerns, including high incidences of crime and violence involving drug trafficking organizations that 
threaten the safe operation of our facilities and operations; direct and indirect price controls; tax increases and 
changes in the interpretation, application or enforcement of tax laws and other retroactive tax claims or 
challenges; cancellation of contract rights; and delays or denials of governmental approvals. Both the likelihood 
of such occurrences and their overall impact upon us vary greatly from country to country and are not 
predictable. Realization of these risks could have an adverse impact on the results of operations and financial 
condition of our subsidiaries located in the affected country. 

For example, our business and operations in Argentina may be materially and adversely affected by economic, 
political, social, fiscal and regulatory developments. Argentina is subject to high inflation rates and our business 
and operations in Argentina may be adversely affected by increases in services and labor costs inflation or by 
the measures that may be adopted by the government to address inflation. In addition, an increased level of labor 
demands prompted by a growing inflation rate could trigger higher levels of labor conflicts, and eventually 
result in strikes or work stoppages. Any such disruption of operations could have an adverse effect on our 
operations and financial results. Other developments that may have an adverse effect on our operations and 
financial results include increased taxes, exchange controls, restrictions on capital flows, and export and import 
taxes or restrictions. In addition, in recent years, our operations in Argentina experienced constraints in their 
electricity and natural gas supply requirements on many occasions. Shortages of energy and natural gas in 
Argentina have lead in the past (and could lead in the future) to production cutbacks negatively affecting our 
revenues and profitability; we could also face increased costs when using alternative sources of energy. 

In Mexico, our business could be materially and adversely affected by economic, political, social, fiscal and 
regulatory developments. The Mexican government exercises significant influence over the Mexican economy 
and, therefore, governmental actions concerning the economy and state-owned enterprises could have a 
significant impact on Mexico's private sector and on our Mexican-related operations. In addition, changes to the 
United States-Mexico-Canada Agreement, commonly referred to as USMCA, which has been signed but is 
pending to be ratified by each country's legislature, could adversely affect the investment climate and economic 
activity in Mexico, Canada and/or in the United States and impact our results of operations and net results. 
Similarly, our Mexican operations could be affected by criminal violence, primarily due to the activities of drug 
cartels and related organized crime that Mexico has experienced and may continue to experience. The city of 
Veracruz, where our facility is located, has experienced several incidents of violence. Although the Mexican 
government has implemented various security measures and has strengthened its military and police forces, 
drug-related crime continues to exist in Mexico. Our business may be materially and adversely affected by these 
activities, their possible escalation and the violence associated with them. 

In the Middle East and Africa, our business could be adversely affected by political and other events in the 
region, such as armed conflicts, terrorist attacks and social unrest, which could materially impact the operations 
of companies active in the region's oil and gas industry. 

I/we do not successfully implement our business strategy, our ability to grow, our competitive position and 
our sales and profitability may suffer. 

We plan to continue implementing our business strategy of developing integrated product and service solutions 
designed to differentiate our offering from those of our competitors and meet the needs of our customers for 
lower operational costs and reliable performance even in the most demanding environments, as well as 
continuing to pursue strategic investment opportunities. Any of the components of our overall business strategy 
could cost more than anticipated, may not be successfully implemented or could be delayed or abandoned. For 
example, we may fail to create sufficient differentiation in our Rig Direct® services to compensate the added 
costs of providing such services, or fail to find suitable investment opportunities, including acquisition targets 
that enable us to continue to grow and improve our competitive position. Even if we successfully implement our 
business strategy, it may not yield the expected results. 

We could be subject to regulatory risks associated with our international operations. 

The shipment of goods and services across international borders subjects us to extensive trade laws and 
regulations. Our import and export activities are governed by customs laws and regulations in each of the 
countries where we operate. Moreover, the European Union, the United States and other countries control the 
import and export of certain goods and services and impose related import and export recordkeeping and 

26 

NON-CONFIDENTIAL

00172



Tenaris S.A. Annual Report 2018 

reporting obligations. Those governments have also imposed economic sanctions against certain countries, 
persons and other entities, such as sanctions involving sales to Iran and Venezuela, that restrict or prohibit 
transactions involving such countries, persons and entities. Similarly, we are subject to the U.S. anti-boycott 
laws. These laws and regulations are complex and frequently changing, and they may be enacted, amended, 
enforced or interpreted in a manner that could materially impact our operations. For example, on March 8, 2018, 
under Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of I 962, the U.S. imposed a 25% tariff on steel articles imported 
from all countries. However, imports of steel tubes from Australia, Argentina, Brazil and South Korea were 
exempted from the 25% tariff; the latter three with specific quotas per product. During March 2019, the U.S. 
government granted the exemption for imports of specific types of cast steel billets requested from Romania, 
Mexico, and Italy, for an aggregate amount of 410,000 tons that are used in our Bay City mill, to be consumed 
until March 2020. 

Finally, failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory obligations could also result in criminal and civil 
penalties and sanctions. 

Changes in applicable tax regulations and resolutions of tax disputes could negatively affect our financial 

results. 

We are subject to tax laws in numerous foreign jurisdictions where we operate. However, the integrated nature 
of our worldwide operations can produce conflicting claims from revenue authorities in different countries as to 
the profits to be taxed in the individual countries, including disputes relating to transfer pricing. The majority of 
the jurisdictions in which we operate have double tax treaties with other foreign jurisdictions, which provide a 
framework for mitigating the impact of double taxation on our results. However, mechanisms developed to 
resolve such conflicting claims are largely untried, and can be expected to be very lengthy. 

In recent years, tax authorities around the world have increased their scrutiny of company tax filings and have 
become more rigid in exercising any discretion they may have. As part of this, the Organization for Economic 
Co-operation and Development (OECD) has proposed a number of tax law changes under its Base Erosion and 
Profit Shifting (BEPS) Action Plans to address issues of transparency, coherence and substance. At the EU 
level, the European Commission has adopted its Anti Tax Avoidance Directive, which seeks to prevent tax 
avoidance by companies and to ensure that companies pay appropriate taxes in the markets where profits are 
effectively made and business is effectively performed. 

Changes to tax laws and regulations in the countries where we operate require us to continually assess our 
organizational structure and could lead to increased risk of international tax disputes. Our interpretations and 
application of the tax laws could differ from that of the relevant governmental taxing authority, which could 
result in the payment of additional taxes, penalties or interest, negatively affecting our profitability and financial 
condition. 

Future acquisitions, strategic partnerships and capital investments may not perform in accordance with 

expectations or may disrupt our operations and hurt our profits. 

One element of our business strategy is to identify and pursue growth-enhancing strategic opportunities. As part 
of that strategy, we regularly make significant capital investments and acquire interests in, or businesses of, 
various companies. For example, on January 21, 2019 we completed the acquisition of 47. 79% of the shares of 
SSP, a welded steel pipes producer listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange, for a total purchase price of 
approximately $141 million. Additionally, on February 5, 2019 we entered into an agreement with PAO 
Severstal to build during the coming two years, a welded pipe plant to produce OCTG products in the Surgut 
area, West Siberia, Russian Federation, with an estimated cost of $240 million, in which Tenaris will hold a 
49% interest. Furthermore, on March 22, 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire 100% of the 
shares of IPSCO, a wholly owned subsidiary of TMK and a U.S. producer of seamless and welded OCTG and 
line pipe products, for $1,209 million. The transaction is subject to regulatory approvals, including approval by 
the U.S. antitrust authorities, and other customary conditions. We will continue to consider strategic 
acquisitions, investments and partnerships from time to time. We must necessarily base any assessment of 
potential acquisitions, joint ventures and capital investments on assumptions with respect to operations, 
profitability and other matters that may subsequently prove to be incorrect. Our past or future acquisitions, 
significant investments and alliances may not perform in accordance with our expectations and could adversely 
affect our operations and profitability. In addition, new demands on our existing organization and personnel 
resulting from the integration of new acquisitions could disrupt our operations and adversely affect our 
operations and profitability. Moreover, as part of future acquisitions, we may acquire assets that are unrelated to 
our business, and we may not be able to integrate these assets or sell them under favorable terms and conditions. 
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Disruptions to our manufacturing processes could adversely affect our operations, customer service levels 

and financial results. 

Our steel pipe manufacturing processes depend on the operation of critical steelmaking equipment, such as 

electric arc furnaces, continuous casters, rolling mills, heat treatment and various operations that support them, 

such as our power generation facilities. Despite the investments we make to maintain critical production 

equipment, such equipment may incur downtime as a result of unanticipated failures or other events, such as 

fires, explosions, floods, accidents and severe weather conditions. 

Similarly, natural disasters or severe weather conditions could significantly damage our production facilities and 

general infrastructure or affect the normal course of business. For example, our Mexican production facility 

located in Veracruz is located in or close to regions prone to earthquakes, and our Bay City facility in Texas, 

United States is located in an area prone to strong winds and hurricanes, and occasional floods. More generally, 

changing weather patterns and climatic conditions in recent years have added to the unpredictability and 

frequency of natural disasters. 

Our operations may also be adversely affected as a result of stoppages or other labor conflicts. In 20 I 7 and 

2018, our operations in Mexico experienced a few days of union-led stoppages due to an internal dispute within 

the local union; such internal dispute is ongoing and we cannot assure it will not cause further disruptions in 

Mexico. In addition, in some of the countries in which we have significant production facilities (e.g., Argentina 

and Brazil), significant fluctuations in exchange rates, together with inflationary pressures, affect our costs, 

increase labor demands and could eventually generate higher levels of labor conflicts. 

Some of the previously described events could result in death or injury to persons. They could also result in 

damage to property, delays in production and liability for Tenaris. To the extent that lost production as a result 

of such events cannot be compensated for by unaffected facilities, such events could have an adverse effect on 

our profitability and financial condition. Additionally, the insurance we maintain for property damage and 

general liability may not be adequate or available to protect us under such events, its coverage may be limited, 

or the amount of our insurance may be less than the related loss. For more information on our insurance 

coverage "Information on Tenaris - B. Business overview - Insurance". 

We may be required to record a significant charge to earnings ifwe must reassess our goodwill or other 

assets as a result of changes in assumptions underlying the carrying value of certain assets, particularly as a 

consequence of deteriorating market conditions. 

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
life, including goodwill, are subject to at least an annual impairment test. At December 31, 2018 we had $1,288 
million in goodwill corresponding mainly to the acquisition of Hydril in 2007 ($920 million) and Maverick in 
2006 ($229 million). If our management was to determine in the future that the goodwill or other assets were 
impaired, particularly as a consequence of deteriorating market conditions, we would be required to recognize a 
non-cash charge to reduce the value of these assets, which would adversely affect our results of operations. 

Our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected by movements in exchange 
rates. 

As a global company we manufacture and sell products in a number of countries throughout the world and a 
portion of our business is carried out in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, which is the Company's functional 
and presentation currency. As a result, we are exposed to foreign exchange rate risk. Changes in currency values 
and foreign exchange regulations could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. For 
information on our foreign exchange rate risk, please see "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About 
Market Risk- Foreign Exchange Rate Risk". 

lf we do not comply with laws and regulations designed to combat corruption in countries in which we sell 
our products, we could become subject to governmental investigations, fines, penalties or other sanctions and 
to private lawsuits and our sales and profitability could suffer. 

We operate globally and conduct business in certain countries known to experience corruption. Although we are 
committed to conducting business in a legal and ethical manner in compliance with local and international 
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statutory requirements and standards applicable to our business, there is a risk that our employees, 
representatives, affiliates, or other persons may take actions that violate applicable laws and regulations that 

generally prohibit the making of improper payments, including to foreign government officials, for the purpose 
of obtaining or keeping business, including laws relating to the 1997 OECD Convention on Combating Bribery 

of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices 

Act ("FCPA"). Investigations by government authorities may occupy considerable management time and 
attention and result in significant expenditures, fines, penalties or other sanctions, as well as private lawsuits. 

For more information, including with respect to matters related to corruption investigations in Brazil and 
Argentina, please refer to "Outstanding Legal Proceedings". 

The cost of complying with environmental regulations and potential environmental and product liabilities 

may increase our operating costs and negatively impact our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and prospects. 

We are subject to a wide range of local, provincial and national laws, regulations, permit requirements and 
decrees relating to the protection of human health and the environment, including laws and regulations relating 

to hazardous materials and radioactive materials and environmental protection governing air emissions, water 
discharges and waste management. Laws and regulations protecting the environment have become increasingly 
complex and more stringent and expensive to implement in recent years. Additionally, international 
environmental requirements vary. While standards in the European Union, Canada, and Japan are generally 
comparable to U.S. standards, other nations, particularly developing nations, including China, have substantially 
lesser requirements that may give competitors in such nations a competitive advantage. It is possible that any 
international agreement to regulate emissions may provide exemptions and lesser standards for developing 
nations. In such case, we may be at a competitive disadvantage relative to competitors having more or all of 
their production in such developing nations. 

Environmental laws and regulations may, in some cases, impose strict liability rendering a person liable for 
damages to natural resources or threats to public health and safety without regard to negligence or fault. Some 
environmental laws provide for joint and several strict liability for remediation of spills and releases of 
hazardous substances. These laws and regulations may expose us to liability for the conduct of or conditions 
caused by others or for acts that were in compliance with all applicable laws at the time they were performed. 

Compliance with applicable requirements and the adoption of new requirements could have a material adverse 
effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. The costs and ultimate impact 
of complying with environmental laws and regulations are not always clearly known or determinable since 
regulations under some of these laws have not yet been promulgated or are undergoing revision. The 
expenditures necessary to remain in compliance with these laws and regulations, including site or other 
remediation costs, or costs incurred as a result of potential violations of environmental laws could have a 
material adverse effect on our financial condition and profitability. While we incur and will continue to incur 
expenditures to comply with applicable laws and regulations, there always remains a risk that environmental 
incidents or accidents may occur that may negatively affect our reputation or our operations. 

Our oil and gas casing, tubing and line pipe products are sold primarily for use in oil and gas drilling, gathering, 
transportation, processing and power generation facilities, which are subject to inherent risks, including well 
failures, line pipe leaks, blowouts, bursts and fires, that could result in death, personal injury, property damage, 
environmental pollution or loss of production. Any of these hazards and risks can result in environmental 

liabilities, personal injury claims and property damage from the release of hydrocarbons. 

Defects in specialty tubing products could result in death, personal injury, property damage, environmental 
pollution, damage to equipment and facilities or loss of production. 

We normally warrant the oilfield products and specialty tubing products we sell or distribute in accordance with 
customer specifications, but as we pursue our business strategy of providing customers with additional services, 
such as Rig Direct®, we may be required to warrant that the goods we sell and services we provide are fit for 
their intended purpose. Actual or claimed defects in our products may give rise to claims against us for losses 
suffered by our customers and expose us to claims for damages. The insurance we maintain will not be available 

in cases of gross negligence or willful misconduct, in other cases may not be adequate or available to protect us 
in the event of a claim, its coverage may be limited, canceled or otherwise terminated, or the amount of our 
insurance may be less than the related impact on enterprise value after a loss. Similarly, our sales of tubes and 
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components for the automotive industry subject us to potential product liability risks that could extend to being 
held liable for the costs of the recall of automobiles sold by car manufacturers and their distributors. 

Limitations on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights, including our trade secrets, could cause 
a loss in revenue and any competitive advantage we hold. 

Some of our products or services, and the processes we use to produce or provide them, have been granted 

patent protection, have patent applications pending, or are trade secrets. Our business may be adversely affected 
if our patents are unenforceable, the claims allowed under our patents are not sufficient to protect our 

technology, our patent applications are denied or our trade secrets are not adequately protected. Our competitors 
may be able to develop technology independently that is similar to ours without infringing on our patents or 
gaining access to our trade secrets, which could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations 

and cash flows. 

Cyberattacks could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operation. 

We rely heavily on information systems to conduct our business. Although we devote significant resources to 
protect our systems and data, we have experienced and will continue to experience varying degrees of cyber 
incidents in the normal conduct of our business, which may occasionally include sophisticated cybersecurity 
threats such as unauthorized access to data and systems, loss or destruction of data, computer viruses or other 
malicious code, phishing and/or cyberattacks. These threats often arise from numerous sources, not all of which 
are within our control, such as fraud or malice from third parties, failures of computer servers or other accidental 
technological failures, electrical or telecommunication outages or other damage to our property or assets. Given 

the rapidly evolving nature of cyber threats, there can be no assurance that the systems we have designed to 
prevent or limit the effects of cyber incidents or attacks will be sufficient to prevent or detect such incidents or 
attacks, or to avoid a material adverse impact on our systems when such incidents or attacks do occur. While we 
attempt to mitigate these risks, we remain vulnerable to additional known or unknown threats, including theft, 

misplacement or loss of data, programming errors, employee errors and/or dishonest behavior that could 
potentially lead to the compromising of sensitive information, improper use of our systems or networks, as well 
as unauthorized access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction of such information, systems and/or 

networks. If our systems for protecting against cybersecurity risks are circumvented or breached, this could also 
result in disruptions to our business operations (including but not limited to, defective products or production 
downtimes), access to our financial reporting systems, the loss of access to critical data or systems, misuse or 
corruption of critical data and proprietary information (including our intellectual property and customer data), as 
well as damage to our reputation with our customers and the market, failure to meet customer requirements, 
customer dissatisfaction and/or other financial costs and losses. In addition, given that cybersecurity threats 
continue to evolve, we may be required to devote additional resources in the future to enhance our protective 
measures or to investigate and/or remediate any cybersecurity vulnerabilities. Moreover, any investigation of a 

cyberattack would take time before completion, during which we would not necessarily know the extent of the 
actual or potential harm or how best to remediate it, and certain errors or actions could be repeated or 

compounded before duly discovered and remediated (all or any of which could further increase the costs and 
consequences arising out of such cyberattack). Tenaris does not maintain any specific insurance coverage to 

protect against cybersecurity risks. 

Risks Relating to the Structure of the Company 

As a holding company, the Company's ability to pay cash dividends depends on the results of operations and 

financial condition of its subsidiaries and could be restricted by legal, contractual or other limitations. 

The Company conducts its operations through subsidiaries. Dividends or other intercompany transfers of funds 

from those subsidiaries are the Company's primary source of funds to pay its expenses, debt service and 
dividends and to repurchase shares or ADSs. 

The ability of the Company's subsidiaries to pay dividends and make other payments to us will depend on the 

results of operations and financial condition and could be restricted by applicable corporate and other laws and 
regulations, including those imposing foreign exchange controls or restrictions on the repatriation of capital or 
the making of dividend payments and agreements and commitments of such subsidiaries. If earnings and cash 
flows of the Company's operating subsidiaries are substantially reduced, the Company may not be in a position 

to meet its operational needs or to pay dividends. For information concerning limitations on payments of 
dividends, see "Risks Relating to Our Business - Adverse economic or political conditions in the countries 
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where we operate or sell our products and services may decrease our sales or disrupt our manufacturing 
operations, thereby adversely affecting our revenues, profitability and financial condition". 

In addition, the Company's ability to pay dividends to shareholders is subject to legal and other requirements 
and restrictions in effect at the holding company level. For example, the Company may only pay dividends out 
of net profits, retained earnings and distributable reserves and premiums, each as defined and calculated in 
accordance with Luxembourg law and regulations. 

The Company's controlling shareholder may be able to take actions that do not reflect the will or best 
interests of other shareholders. 

As of the date of this annual report, San Faustin beneficially owned 60.45% of our shares. Rocca & Partners 
Stichting Administratiekantoor Aandelen San Faustin ("RP ST AK"), controls a significant portion of the voting 
power of San Faustin. As a result, RP STAK is indirectly able to elect a substantial majority of the members of 
the Company's board of directors and has the power to determine the outcome of most actions requiring 
shareholder approval, including, subject to the requirements of Luxembourg law, the payment of dividends. The 
decisions of the controlling shareholder may not reflect the will of other shareholders. In addition, the 
Company's articles of association permit the Company's board of directors to waive, limit or suppress 
preemptive rights in certain cases. Accordingly, the Company's controlling shareholder may cause its board of 
directors to approve in certain cases an issuance of shares for consideration without preemptive rights, thereby 
diluting the minority interest in the Company. 

Risks Relating to shares and ADSs 

It may be difficult to enforce judgments against us outside Luxembourg. 

The Company is a societe anonyme organized under the laws of Luxembourg, and most of its assets are located 
in other jurisdictions. Furthermore, most of the Company's directors and officers named in this annual report 
reside in different jurisdictions. As a result, investors may not be able to effect service of process upon us or our 
directors or officers. Investors may also not be able to enforce against us or our directors or officers in the 
investors' domestic courts, judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the domestic laws of the 
investors' home countries. Likewise, it may be difficult for investors not domiciled in Luxembourg to bring an 
original action in a Luxembourg court predicated upon the civil liability provisions of other securities laws, 
including U.S. federal securities laws, against the Company, its directors and officers. There is also uncertainty 
with regard to the enforceability of original actions of civil liabilities predicated upon the civil liability 
provisions of securities laws, including U.S. federal securities laws, outside the jurisdiction where such 
judgments have been rendered; and enforceability will be subject to compliance with procedural requirements 
under applicable local law, including the condition that the judgment does not violate the public policy of the 
applicable jurisdiction. 

Operating and Financial Review and Prospects 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on, and 
should be read in conjunction with, our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes included 
elsewhere in this annual report. This discussion and analysis presents our financial condition and results of 
operations on a consolidated basis. We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS, 
as issued by the IASB and in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union. 

Certain information contained in this discussion and analysis and presented elsewhere in this annual report, 
including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking 
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See "Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking 
Statements". In evaluating this discussion and analysis, you should specifically consider the various risk factors 
identified in "Principal Risks and Uncertainties", other risk factors identified elsewhere in this annual report and 
other factors that could cause results to differ materially from those expressed in such forward-looking 
statements. 

Overview 

We are a leading global manufacturer and supplier of steel pipe products and related services for the energy 
industry and other industries. 
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We are a leading global manufacturer and supplier of steel pipe products and related services for the world's 
energy industry as well as for other industrial applications. Our customers include most of the world's leading 
oil and gas companies as well as engineering companies engaged in constructing oil and gas gathering and 
processing and power facilities. We operate an integrated worldwide network of steel pipe manufacturing, 
research, finishing and service facilities with industrial operations in the Americas, Europe, Asia and Africa and 
a direct presence in most major oil and gas markets. 

Our main source of revenue is the sale of products and services to the oil and gas industry, and the level of such 
sales is sensitive to international oil and gas prices and their impact on drilling activities. 

Demand for our products and services from the global oil and gas industry, particularly for tubular products and 
services used in drilling operations, represents a substantial majority of our total sales. Our sales, therefore, 
depend on the condition of the oil and gas industry and our customers' willingness to invest capital in oil and 
gas exploration and development as well as in associated downstream processing activities. The level of these 
expenditures is sensitive to oil and gas prices as well as the oil and gas industry's view of such prices in the 
future. Crude oil prices fell from over $100 per barrel in June 2014 to less than $30 per barrel in February 2016, 
before recovering to around $80 per barrel in the third quarter of 2018, but subsequently fell 40% in the fourth 
quarter before partially recovering in the beginning of 2019. North American natural gas prices (Henry Hub), 
which were around $4 per million BTU in 2014, also briefly fell below $2 per million BTU at the beginning of 
2016, before recovering to average levels of $3 per million BTU during 2017 and 2018. 

In 20 I 8, worldwide drilling activity, as represented in the number of active drilling rigs published by Baker 
Hughes, a GE company, increased 9% compared to the level of 2017, with the increase concentrated in the U.S. 
shale plays, and a gradual increase in international rigs starting in the second half of 2018. In the United States 
the rig count in 2018 increased by 18%, with an average of 1,032 active rigs. Drilling activity in the United 
States rose steadily through the year but has subsequently declined slightly in the beginning of 2019. In Canada, 
the rig count in 20 I 8 declined by 7% compared with 2017, with the decline concentrated in the final quarter, 
while in the rest of the world, it rose 4%. 

Prior to the most recent downturn in oil prices, a growing proportion of exploration and production spending by 
oil and gas companies had been directed at offshore, deep drilling and non-conventional drilling operations in 
which high-value tubular products, including special steel grades and premium connections, are usually 
specified. The success, however, of shale drilling operators, with their inherently short investment cycles, in 
adapting to lower oil and gas costs and increasing production, has led to a slowdown in new developments of 
complex offshore projects with long investment lead times in a context of low and more volatile oil prices, 
consequently affecting the level of product differentiation. 

Our business is highly competitive. 

The global market for steel pipes is highly competitive, with the primary competitive factors being price, 
quality, service and technology. We sell our products in a large number of countries worldwide and compete 
primarily against European and Japanese producers in most markets outside North America. In the United States 
and Canada, we compete against a wide range of local and foreign producers. Over the past decade, substantial 
investments have been made, especially in China but also in other regions around the world, to increase 
production capacity of seamless steel pipe products. Production capacity for more specialized product grades 
has also increased. With the downturn between 2014 and 2016 in the price of oil and demand for tubes for oil 
and gas drilling, the overcapacity in steel pipe and seamless steel pipe production worldwide has become acute, 
and now extends beyond commodity grades. The competitive environment has, as a result, become more 
intense, and we expect that this will continue for some time. Effective competitive differentiation will be a key 
factor for Tenaris. 

In addition, there is an increased risk of unfairly traded steel pipe imports in markets in which we produce and 
sell our products. In September 2014, the United States imposed anti-dumping duties on OCTG imports from 
various countries, including South Korea. Despite the duties imposed, imports from South Korea continued at a 
very high level. As a result, U.S. domestic producers have requested successive reviews of South Korea's 
exports, which are ongoing. At the same time South Korean producers have appealed the duties imposed. 
Similarly, in Canada, the Canada Border Services Agency introduced anti-dumping duties on OCTG imports 
from South Korea and other countries in April 2015. 

During 2018, in addition to anti-dumping duties, the U.S. administration introduced tariffs and quotas under 
Section 232 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962 on the imports of steel products, including steel pipes, with the 
objective of strengthening domestic production capacity utilization and investment. Quotas were imposed on the 
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imports of steel products from South Korea, Brazil and Argentina, while 25% tariffs were imposed on imports 
from most other countries, except Australia. As a result of the fixed quota imposed on the imports of steel pipes 

from South Korea, their imports halved during 2018 compared to 2017. 

Our production costs are sensitive to prices of steelmaking raw materials and other steel products. 

We purchase substantial quantities of steel making raw materials, including ferrous steel scrap, direct reduced 
iron (DRI), pig iron, iron ore and ferroalloys, for use in the production of our seamless pipe products. In 
addition, we purchase substantial quantities of steel coils and plates for use in the production of our welded pipe 
products. Our production costs, therefore, are sensitive to prices of steelmaking raw materials and certain steel 
products, which reflect supply and demand factors in the global steel industry and in the countries where we 
have our manufacturing facilities. 

The costs of steelmaking raw materials and of steel coils and plates increased during 2018. As a reference, 
prices for hot rolled coils, HRC Midwest USA Mill, published by CRU, averaged $915 per ton in 2018 
compared to $680 per ton in 2017. The prices for 2018 showed downward trend in the last 5 months of the year 
reaching $835 per ton in December 2018. 

Summary of results 

In 2018, our financial results recovered strongly at all levels. Our sales rose 45% year on year, increasing in all 
regions and also in our non-Tubes profit centers. Highlights of the year include the consolidation of our 
positioning and Rig Direct® service in the U.S. and Canada, the fast track delivery of the pipes for three East 
Mediterranean offshore gas pipelines, and our successful positioning for major gas developments in Argentina, 
Qatar, Indonesia, Mozambique and Australia. EBITDA rose 63% year on year to $1.5 billion, with margins 
recovering to the level of 20%. Shareholders net income rose strongly to $876 million, benefitting from 
substantially higher operating income, and an excellent contribution from our investment in Ternium. 

Despite a buildup in working capital to support our growth in sales, we were able to generate free cash flow of 
$261 million. After payment of dividends, our net cash position declined during the year to $485 million at 
December 31, 2018, compared to $647 million at December 31, 2017. 

Outlook 

Drilling activity in the U.S. shales continued to grow in 2018, following the previous year's strong recovery, 
while drilling activity in Canada was affected at the end of the year by the drop in regional oil prices. For 2019, 
following the recent reset of oil prices, drilling activity in the USA is expected to be stable while, in Canada, it 
is expected to be lower than last year. 

In Latin America, a recovery in drilling activity in Mexico is expected as the new government makes more 
funds available for Petr6leos Mexicanos S.A. de C.V. ("Pemex") and private operators begin implementing their 
energy reform commitments. In the rest of the regions drilling activity is expected to be relatively stable, with 
shale drilling activity in Argentina likely to switch from gas to oil. 

In the Eastern Hemisphere, drilling activity is expected to continue a gradual recovery with a focus on gas 
developments. 

After our strong performance in 2018, we expect to consolidate our sales and margins through 20 I 9, in line with 
those of the second half of 2018. We should benefit from growing sales of premium connection products for 
offshore projects around the world, and the inclusion of consolidated revenues from our new operation in Saudi 
Arabia, but we will not repeat the exceptional level of offshore line pipe shipments to the Eastern Mediterranean 
and will have lower sales in Canada. With a stable level of sales, and limited capital investment requirements, 
we should be able to reduce working capital and generate a stronger free cash flow during the year. 

Functional and presentation currency 

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The U.S. dollar is the currency that 
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to Tenaris's global 
operations. 
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Except for the Brazilian and Italian subsidiaries whose functional currencies are their local currencies, Tenaris 
determined that the functional currency of its other subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar, based on the following 

principal considerations: 

Sales are mainly negotiated, denominated and settled in U.S. dollars. If priced in a currency other than 

the U.S. dollar, the sales price may consider exposure to fluctuation in the exchange rate versus the U.S. 
dollar; 

Prices of their critical raw materials and inputs are priced and settled in U.S. dollars; 

Transaction and operational environment and the cash flow of these operations have the U.S. dollars as 
reference currency; 

Significant level of integration of local operations within Tenaris's international global distribution 
network; 

Net financial assets and liabilities are mainly received and maintained in U.S. dollars; and

The exchange rate of certain legal currencies has long been affected by recurring and severe economic 
crises. 

Critical Accounting Estimates 

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our audited 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with JFRS. 

The preparation of our audited consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with 
IFRS requires us to make estimates and assumptions that might affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses. 
Management evaluates its accounting estimates and assumptions, including those related to: impairment of long­
lived tangible and intangible assets; assets useful lives; deferred income tax; obsolescence of inventory; doubtful 

accounts and loss contingencies, and revises them when appropriate. Management bases its estimates on 
historical experience and on various other assumptions it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Although management believes that these estimates and assumptions 

are reasonable, they are based upon information available at the time they are made. Actual results may differ 
significantly from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

Our most critical accounting estimates are those that are most important to the portrayal of our financial 
condition and results of operations, and which require us to make our most difficult and subjective judgments, 
often as a result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. Our most critical 
accounting estimates and judgments are the following: 

Accounting for business combinations 

To account for our business combinations we use the acquisition method, which requires the acquired assets and 
assumed liabilities to be recorded at their respective fair value as of the acquisition date. The determination of 
fair values of assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed and determination of useful lives, 
requires us to make estimates and use valuation techniques, including the use of independent valuators, when 
market value is not readily available. The excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired 

is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognized directly in the income statement. 

Impairment and recoverability of goodwill and other assets 

Long-lived assets including identifiable intangible assets are reviewed for impairment at the lowest level for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units, or "CGU"). Most of Tenaris's principal 
subsidiaries that constitute a CGU have a single main production facility and, accordingly, each of such 
subsidiary represents the lowest level of asset aggregation that generates largely independent cash inflows. 
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Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
life, including goodwill, are subject to at least an annual impairment test. 

In assessing whether there is any indication that a CGU may be impaired, external and internal sources of 
information are analyzed. Material facts and circumstances specifically considered in the analysis usually 
include the discount rate used in Tenaris's cash flow projections and the business condition in terms of 

competitive and economic factors, such as the cost of raw materials, oil and gas prices, capital expenditure 
programs for Tenaris's customers and the evolution of the rig count. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher between the asset's value in use and fair value less costs of 

disposal. Any impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the CGU in the 
following order: 

a) first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU; and

b) then, to the other assets of the unit (group of units) pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (group of units), considering not to reduce the carrying amount of the asset below the
highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use or zero.

The value in use of each CGU is determined on the basis of the present value of net future cash flows which 
would be generated by such CGU. Tenaris uses cash flow projections for a five-year period with a terminal 

value calculated based on perpetuity and appropriate discount rates. 

For purposes of calculating the fair value less costs of disposal Tenaris uses the estimated value of future cash 
flows that a market participant could generate from the corresponding CGU. 

Management judgment is required to estimate discounted future cash flows. Actual cash flows and values could 
vary significantly from the forecasted future cash flows and related values derived using discounting techniques. 

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal at each 
reporting date. 

No impairment charge was recorded in 2018, 2017, or 2016. For more information on Impairment and 
recoverability of goodwill and other assets, see "II. Accounting Policies G. Impairment of non-financial assets" 
to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. 

Reassessment of Property, Plant and Equipment Assets Useful Lives 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at directly attributable historical acquisition or construction cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Property, plant and equipment acquired through 
acquisitions accounted for as business combinations are valued initially at fair market value of the assets 
acquired. Depreciation of the cost of the asset (apart from land, which is not depreciated) to its residual value 
over its estimated useful life, is done using the straight line method. The depreciation method is reviewed at 
each year end. Estimating useful lives for depreciation is particularly difficult as the service lives of assets are 
also impacted by maintenance and changes in technology, and our ability to adapt technological innovation to 
the existing asset base. In accordance with IAS 16, "Property, Plant and Equipment", the depreciation method, 
the residual value and the useful life of an asset must be reviewed at least at each financial year-end, and, if 
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change must be treated as a change in an accounting estimate. 
Management's re-estimation of asset useful lives performed in accordance with IAS 16 did not materially affect 
depreciation expense for 2018. However, if management's estimates prove incorrect, the carrying value of plant 
and equipment and its useful lives may be required to be reduced from amounts currently recorded. Any such 
reductions may materially affect asset values and results of operations. 

Reassessment of Useful Lives of Customer Relationships 

In accordance with JFRS 3, "Business Combinations" and IAS 38, "Intangible Assets", Tenaris has recognized the 
value of customer relationships separately from goodwill attributable to the acquisition of Maverick and Hydril 
groups. 
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Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date, have 
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated using the 

straight line method over the initial expected useful life of approximately 14 years for Maverick and 10 years for 
Hydril. 

Maverick's Tubes business has experienced a significant change in its customers portfolio. While initially 
Maverick was selling OCTG products mostly to distributors, today it is selling mostly through Rig Direct® to end 
users. By the end of 2018, Maverick supplied the majority of its customers of OCTG products with Rig Direct® 
services. Additionally, line pipe products while still being sold largely to distributors due to the different nature of 
this market, are now focused on large pipeline projects through a completely different set of distributors. Based on 
these circumstances, the Company has reviewed the useful life of Maverick's Tubes customer relationships and 
decided to reduce the remaining useful life from two years to zero, consequently a higher amortization charge of 
approximately $109 million was recorded in the consolidated income statement under selling, general and 
administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

As of December 31, 2018 the residual value of Maverick's coiled tubing customer relationships amounts to $19.9 
million and the residual useful life is 2 years, while Hydril's customer relationships is fully amortized. 

Allowance for Obsolescence of Supplies and Spare Parts and Slow-Moving Inventory 

Inventories are stated at the lower between cost and net realizable value. The cost of finished goods and goods 
in process is comprised of raw materials, direct labor, utilities, freights and other direct costs and related 

production overhead costs, and it excludes borrowing costs. The allocation of fixed production costs is based on 
the normal level of production capacity. Supplies and raw material cost is mainly based on the FIFO method 
while goods in progress and finished goods cost are mainly based on specific historical production costs for each 
production order. Tenaris estimates net realizable value of inventories by grouping, where applicable, similar or 
related items. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. Goods in transit as of year-end are valued based on the 
supplier's invoice cost. 

Tenaris establishes an allowance for obsolete or slow-moving inventories related to finished goods, goods in 
process, supplies and spare parts. For slow moving or obsolete finished products, an allowance is established 
based on management's analysis of product aging. An allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory of 
supplies and spare parts is established based on management's analysis of such items to be used as intended and 
the consideration of potential obsolescence due to technological changes, aging and consumption patterns. 

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts 

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value that corresponds to the amount of consideration 
that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components. The Company holds trade 
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Due to the short-term nature, their carrying amount is 
considered to be the same as their fair value. 

Tenaris applies the IFRS 9, "Financial instruments" simplified approach to measure expected credit losses, 
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, 
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The 
expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of three years and the corresponding 
historical credit losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the 

receivables. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred income tax is recognized applying the liability method on temporary differences arising between the 

tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. The principal temporary 
differences arise from fair value adjustments of assets acquired in business combinations, the effect of currency 
translation on depreciable fixed assets and inventories, depreciation on property, plant and equipment, valuation 
of inventories and provisions for pension plans. Deferred tax assets are also recognized for net operating loss 

carry-forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
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time period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period, Tenaris reassesses 
unrecognized deferred tax assets. Tenaris recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent 

that it has become probable that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax basis of investments in foreign operations where the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 

and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax 

liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are re-measured if tax rates change. These amounts are charged or credited to 

the Consolidated Income Statement or to the item other comprehensive income for the year in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, depending on the account to which the original amount was charged or 

credited. 

Contingencies 

We are from time to time subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings, including customer 
employee, tax and environmental-related claims, in which third parties are seeking payment for alleged damages, 

reimbursement for losses, or indemnity. Management with the assistance of legal counsel periodically reviews 
the status of each significant matter and assesses potential financial exposure. Our potential liability with respect 

to such claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings cannot be estimated with certainty. 

Some of these claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings involve highly complex issues, and often these 
issues are subject to substantial uncertainties and, therefore, the probability of loss and an estimation of damages 
are difficult to ascertain. Accordingly, with respect to a large portion of such claims, lawsuits and other legal 

proceedings Tenaris is unable to make a reliable estimate of the expected financial effect that will result from 
ultimate resolution of the proceeding. In those cases, Tenaris has not accrued a provision for the potential 

outcome of these cases. If a potential loss from a claim, lawsuit or other proceeding is considered probable and 
the amount can be reasonably estimated, a provision is recorded. Accruals for loss contingencies reflect a 

reasonable estimate of the losses to be incurred based on information available to management as of the date of 
preparation of the financial statements, and take into consideration litigation and settlement strategies. In a 

limited number of ongoing cases, Tenaris was able to make a reliable estimate of the expected loss or range of 
probable loss and has accrued a provision for such loss, but believes that publication of this information on a 

case-by-case basis would seriously prejudice Tenaris's position in the ongoing legal proceedings or in any 
related settlement discussions. Accordingly, in these cases, the Company has disclosed information with respect 
to the nature of the contingency, but has not disclosed its estimate of the range of potential loss. 

These estimates are primarily constructed with the assistance of legal counsel, and management believes that the 

aggregate provisions recorded for potential losses in the consolidated financial statements are adequate based 
upon currently available information. However, if management's estimates prove incorrect, current reserves 
could be inadequate and we could incur a charge to earnings which could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations, financial condition, net worth and cash flows. As the scope of liabilities becomes better 

defined, there may be changes in the estimates of future costs which could have a material adverse effect on our 
results of operations, financial condition, net worth and cash flows. 

Internal control over financial reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. 

Our internal control over financial reporting was designed by management to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of its financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. 
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In addition, under the Company's articles of association, as supplemented by the audit committee's charter, the 
audit committee assists the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to the 

effectiveness of the Company's systems of internal control, risk management and internal audit over financial 
reporting. In particular, the audit committee is required to review the scope and results of the activities of the 
Company's external auditors and the internal audit function relating to the Company's internal control over 
financial reporting, and obtain reports on significant findings and recommendations; and is also required to 
assess, at least annually at the time the annual accounts are approved, the effectiveness of the Company's 
systems of internal control and risk management over financial reporting. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements or omissions. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are 

subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

On a yearly basis, management conducts its assessment of the effectiveness of Tenaris' s internal control over 
financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

On February 19, 2019, management reported to the audit committee of the Company's board of directors that 
management had conducted its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal controls over financial 
reporting for the year ended December 31, 2018, and that, based on management's evaluation and considering 
the inherent limitations to the effectiveness of any internal control system, management had concluded that the 
Company's internal controls over financial reporting were effective as of December 31, 2018. 
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Results of Operations 

Thousands of US dollars (except number of shares and per 
share amounts) 

For the year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

Selected consolidated income statement data 

Continuing operations 
Net sales 
Cost of sales 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 
Other operating income (expenses), net 

Operating income (loss) 
Finance income 

Finance cost 
Other financial results 

Income (loss) before equity in earnings of non-consolidated 
companies and income tax 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 

Income before income tax 
Income tax 

Income for the year for continuing operations 

Discontinued operations 
Result for discontinued operations 

Income for the year O) 

Income (loss) attributable to (1): 
Owners of the parent 
Non-controlling interests 

Income for the year <2>

Depreciation and amortization for continuing operations 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
Basic and diluted earnings per share for continuing operations 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 
Dividends per share <2> 

7,658,588 5,288,504 

(5,279,300) (3,685,057) 

2,379,288 1,603,447 
(1,509,976) (1,270,016) 

2,501 1,157 

871,813 334,588 
39,856 47,605 

(36,942) (27,072) 

34,386 (43,550) 

909,113 311,571 
193,994 116,140 

1,103,107 427,711 
(229,207) 17,136 

873,900 444,847 

91,542 

873,900 536,389 

876,063 544,737 

(2,163) (8,348) 

873,900 536,389 

(664,357) (608,640) 

1,180,536,830 1, 180,536,830 

0.74 0.38 

0.74 0.46 

0.41 0.41 

<1l lAS I (revised), requires that income for the year as shown on the income statement does not exclude non-controlling interests. 
Earnings per share, however, continue to be calculated on the basis of income attributable solely to the owners of the parent. 

<2l Dividends per share correspond to the dividends proposed or paid in respect of the year. 

39 

4,293,592 

(3,165,684) 

1,127,908 
(1,196,929) 

9,964 

(59,057) 
66,204 

(22,329) 

(21,921) 

(37,103) 
71,533 

34,430 
(17,102) 

17,328 

41,411 

58,739 

55,298 

3,441 

58,739 

(657,109) 

I, 180,536,830 

0.01 

0.05 

0.41 
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Thousands of U.S. dollars (except number of shares) 

Selected consolidated financial position data 

Current assets 
Property, plant and equipment, net 
Other non-current assets 
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 
Total assets 

Current liabilities 
Non-current borrowings 
Deferred tax liabilities 
Other non-current liabilities 
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale 
Total liabilities 

Capital and reserves attributable to the owners of the parent 
Non-controlling interests 
Total equity 

Total liabilities and equity 

Share capital 

Number of shares outstanding 

2018 

5,464,192 
6,063,908 
2,723,199 

14,251,299 

1,718,363 
29,187 

379,039 
249,218 

2,375,807 

11,782,882 
92,610 

11,875,492 

14,251,299 

1,180,537 

1,180,536,830 

At December 31, 
2017 2016 

5,381,154 4,817,154 
6,229,143 6,001,939 
2,787,921 3,032,765 

151,417 
14,398,218 14,003,275 

2,070,899 1,713,036 
34,645 31,542 

457,970 550,657 
253,734 276,874 

18,094 
2,817,248 2,590,203 

11,482,185 11,287,417 
98,785 125,655 

11,580,970 I 1,413,072 

14,398,218 14,003,275 

1,180,537 1,180,537 

1,180,536,830 1,180,536,830 

The following table sets forth our operating and other costs and expenses as a percentage of net sales for the 
periods indicated. 

Percentage of net sales 

Continuing Operations 
Net sales 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 
Other operating income (expenses), net 
Operating income (loss) 
Finance income 
Finance cost 
Other financial results 
Income (loss) before equity in earnings of non-consolidated 
companies and income tax 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 
Income before income tax 
Income tax 
Income for the year for continuing operations 

Discontinued operations 
Result for discontinued operations 
Income for the year 

Income (loss) attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 
Non-control I ing interests 
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For the year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 2016 

100.0 100.0 100.0 
(68.9) (69.7) (73.7) 

31.l
(19.7) 

0.0 
11.4 
0.5 

(0.5) 
0.4 

11.9 
2.5 

14.4 
(3.0) 
11.4 

11.4 

11.4 
(0.0) 

30.3 
(24.0) 

0.0 
6.3 
0.9 

(0.5) 
(0.8) 

5.9 
2.2 
8.1 
0.3 
8.4 

1.7 
10.l

10.3 
(0.2) 

26.3 
(27.9) 

0.2 
(1.4) 

1.5 
(0.5) 
(0.5) 

(0.9) 
1.7 
0.8 

(0.4) 
0.4 

1.0 
1.4 

1.3 
0.1 
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Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2018, Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017 

The following table shows our net sales by business segment for the periods indicated below: 

Millions of U.S. dollars 

Tubes 

Others 

Total 

Tubes 

For the year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

7,233 94% 4,966 94% 

426 6% 323 6% 

7,659 100% 5,289 100% 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

46% 

32% 

45% 

The following table indicates, for our Tubes business segment, sales volumes of seamless and welded pipes for 
the periods indicated below: 

Thousands of tons For the year ended December 31, Increase/ 
2018 2017 (Decrease) 

Seamless 2,694 2,157 

Welded 877 461 

Total 3,571 2,618 

The following table indicates, for our Tubes business segment, net sales by geographic region, operating income 
and operating income as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated below: 

25% 

90% 

36% 

Millions of U.S. dollars For the year ended December 31, Increase/ 
2018 2017 (Decrease) 

Net sales 

- North America 3,488 2,362 

- South America 1,284 982 

- Europe 628 497 

- Middle East & Africa 1,541 921 

- Asia Pacific 292 204 

Total net sales 7,233 4,966 

Operating income 777 292 

Operating income(% of sales) 10.7% 5.9% 

Net sales of tubular products and services increased 46% to $7,233 million in 2018, compared to $4,966 million 
in 2017, reflecting a 36% increase in volumes and a 7% increase in average selling prices. Sales increased 
mainly due to a strong increase in demand in the United States and Canada and higher sales of line pipe for 
complex projects, including shipments for the second Zohr offshore welded pipeline in Egypt. In North America 
sales increased mainly due to higher demand of OCTG and line pipe and the consolidation of our market 
position throughout the region. In South America, sales increased mainly due to higher demand of OCTG and 
line pipe in Argentina, associated with increased investments in Vaca Muerta shale and higher demand for 
OCTG in the Andean region, including sales to the Liza development in Guyana, partially offset by lower sales 
of OCTG in Brazil, reflecting transition to new contracts with Petr6leo Brasileiro S.A. ("Petrobras"). In Europe, 
sales increased reflecting higher demand for industrial products and for OCTG products in the North Sea and 
continental Europe. In the Middle East and Africa sales increased significantly, thanks to an exceptional level of 
sales for offshore line pipe for East Mediterranean gas development projects and higher sales of OCTG in the 
Middle East and Caspian areas. In Asia Pacific sales increased following a recovery in Indonesia and China 
from very low levels in 2017. 

Operating income from tubular products and services, amounted to $777 million in 2018, compared to $292 
million in 2017. Operating income during 2018 was negatively affected by a higher customer relationships 
amortization charge of$109 million, after the full amortization of the residual value of Maverick's Tubes 
segment customer relationships. Excluding this one off effect operating income would amount to $886 million, 
12% of sales. The significant improvement in Tubes operating income reflects a better operating environment, 

41 

48% 
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26% 

67% 

43% 

46% 
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where a 46% increase in sales improved the utilization of production capacity and therefore the absorption of 
fixed costs. 

Others 

The following table indicates, for our Others business segment, net sales, operating income and operating 
income as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated below: 

Millions of U.S. dollars For the year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 
Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

Net sales 

Operating income 

Operating income(% of sales) 

426 

95 

22.2% 

323 

43 

13.2% 

Net sales of other products and services increased 32% to $426 million in 2018, compared to $323 million in 
2017, mainly due to higher sales of energy related products e.g., sucker rods and coiled tubing 

32% 

122% 

Operating income from other products and services, increased from $43 million in 2017 to $95 million in 2018, 
while all the profit centers improved their results, the main contributors were the energy related businesses, 
mainly sucker rods and coiled tubing. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses or SG&A, increased by $240 million (19%) in 2018 from $1,270 
million in 2017 to $1,510 million in 2018. SG&A during 2018 includes a higher amortization charge of $109 
million, after the full amortization of the residual value of Maverick's Tubes segment customer relationships. 
Excluding this one off effect, SG&A amounted to $1,401 million (18% of sales), compared to $1,270 million 

(24%) in 2017. The decline of SG&A as a percentage of net sales reflects the containment of fixed and semi­
fixed expenses in a higher volumes environment. 

Financial results amounted to a gain of $37 million in 2018, compared to a loss of $23 million in 2017.The 
2018 gain corresponds mainly to an FX gain of $29 million; $24 million related to the Argentine peso 
devaluation on Peso denominated financial, trade, social and fiscal payables at Argentine subsidiaries which 
functional currency is the U.S. dollar, $17 million related to the Euro depreciation on Euro denominated 
intercompany liabilities ( offset in the currency translation reserve in equity), partially offset by a loss of $8 
million due to the devaluation of the Canadian dollar. Additionally, we gained $7 million on derivatives, mainly 
covering net receivables in Canadian dollar and $3 million net interest on our net cash position. 

Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies generated a gain of $194 million in 2018, compared to 
$116 million in 2017. These results were mainly derived from our equity investment in Ternium (NYSE:TX). 

Income tax charge amounted to $229 million in 2018 (25% over income before tax), compared to a gain of $17 
million in 2017. In 2017 we recorded a gain of $63 million due to the reduction in income tax rates in Argentina, 
the United States and Colombia over deferred tax liabilities. Additionally, during 2017 we recorded an income 
tax charge of $29 million corresponding to a settlement agreement between Dal mine, our Italian subsidiary, and 
the Italian tax authorities in connection with all withholding tax claims on 2007 and 2008 dividend payments. 
Under such settlement agreement, Dalmine paid to the Italian tax administration an aggregate amount of 
EUR42.9 million (approximately $51 million), net of EUR3.2 million (approximately $4 million) corresponding 
to the amount previously paid during the litigation proceeding. 

Net income for continuing operations amounted to $874 million in 2018, compared with $536 million in 
2017. The improvement in results reflects a better operating environment, where a 45% increase in sales 
improved the utilization of production capacity and therefore the absorption of fixed costs, better financial 
results and better results from our investment in Ternium. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The following table provides certain information related to our cash generation and changes in our cash and cash 
equivalents position for each of the last three years: 

Millions of U.S. dollars For the year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 2016 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 
Net cash used in financing activities 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year (excluding overdrafts) 
Effect of exchange rate changes 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 
(excluding overdrafts) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year (excluding overdrafts) 
Bank overdrafts 
Other current investments 
Non-current investments 
Derivatives hedging borrowings and investments 
Current and non current borrowings 

Net cash at the end of the year 

611 
399 

(900) 

109 

330 
(13) 
109 

427 

427 
2 

488 
114 
(6) 

(539) 

485 

(22) 
349 

(401) 

(74) 

399 
6 

(74) 

330 

330 
0 

1,192 
123 
(33) 

(966) 

647 

Our financing strategy aims to maintain adequate financial resources and access to additional liquidity. During 
2018 cash flow provided by operating activities amounted to $611 million (including an increase in working 
capital of $738 million), our capital expenditures amounted to $349 million and we paid dividends amounting to 
$484 million. At the end of the year we had a net cash position of $485 million, compared to $647 million at the 
beginning of the year (including the $328 million we collected from the sale of Republic Conduit during 2017). 

We believe that funds from operations, the availability of liquid financial assets and our access to external 
borrowing through the financial markets will be sufficient to satisfy our working capital needs, to finance our 
planned capital spending program, to service our debt in the foreseeable future and to address short-term 
changes in business conditions. 

We have a conservative approach to the management of our I iquidity, which consists of (i) cash and cash 
equivalents (cash in banks, liquidity funds and investments with a maturity of less than three months at the date 
of purchase), and (ii) Other Investments (fixed income securities, time deposits, and fund investments). 

At December 31, 2018, liquid financial assets as a whole (comprising cash and cash equivalents and other 
investments) were 7% of total assets compared to 11 % at the end of 2017. 

We hold investments primarily in liquidity funds and variable or fixed-rate securities from investment grade 
issuers. We hold our cash and cash equivalents primarily in U.S. dollars and in major financial centers. As of 
December 31, 2018, U.S. dollar denominated liquid assets represented 95% of total liquid financial assets 
compared to 93% at the end of 2017. 

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2018, Compared to Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2017 

Operating activities 

Net cash provided by operations during 2018 was $611 million, compared to $22 million of net cash used in 
operations during 2017. This increase was mainly attributable to an increase in results and a smaller increase 
in working capital. In 20 I 8 and 2017 the increase in working capital amounted to $738 million and $853 
million respectively. The main yearly variation was related to an increase of $518 million in trade receivables, 
compared with an increase of $259 million in 2017, while trade payables decreased $57 million in 2018 and 
increased $194 million in 2017. Additionally, during 2018 inventories increased $176 million which 

43 

864 
(98) 

(653) 

113 
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399 

399 
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1,633 
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(35) 
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compares with an increase in inventory of $804 million in 2017. For more information on cash flow 
disclosures and changes to working capital, see note 26 "Cash flow disclosures" to our audited consolidated 
financial statements included in this annual report. 

Investing activities 

Net cash provided by investing activities was $399 million in 2018, compared to $349 million in 2017 
(including the $328 million we collected from the sale of Republic Conduit). Capital expenditures decreased to 
$349 million from $558 million in 2017 declining following the start up of our greenfield seamless facility in 
Bay City, Texas at the end of 2017. Additionally, we reduced our financial investments by $717 million in 2018 
compared to a reduction of$565 million in 2017. 

Financing activities 

Net cash used in financing activities, including dividends paid, proceeds and repayments of borrowings and 
acquisitions of non-controlling interests, was $900 million in 2018, compared to $401 million in 2017. 

During 2018 we had net repayments from borrowings of $413 million, while in 2017 we had net proceeds of 
borrowings of $107 million. 

Dividends paid during 2018 and 2017 amounted to $484 million in each year. 

Our total liabilities to total assets ratio was 0.17: 1 as of December 31, 2018 and 0.20: I as of December 31, 20 I 7. 

Principal Sources of Funding 

During 2018, we funded our operations with operating cash flows, bank financing, proceeds from sales of assets 
and available liquid financial assets. Short-term bank borrowings were used as needed throughout the year. 

Financial liabilities 

During 2018, borrowings decreased by $427 million, to $539 million at December 31, 2018, from $966 million 
at December 31, 2017. 

Borrowings consist mainly of bank loans. As of December 31, 2018, U.S. dollar-denominated borrowings plus 
borrowings denominated in other currencies swapped to the U.S. dollar represented 97% of total borrowings. 

For further information about our financial debt, please see note 18 "Borrowings" to our audited consolidated 
financial statements included in this annual report. 

The following table shows the composition of our financial debt at December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016: 

Millions of U.S. dollars 2018 2017 

Bank borrowings 537 966 

Bank overdrafts 2 0 

Finance lease liabilities 0 0 

Total borrowings 539 966 

2016 

Our weighted average interest rates before tax (considering hedge accounting), amounted to 3.98% at December 
31, 2018 and to 3.73% at December 31, 2017. 

The maturity of our financial debt is as follows: 

Millions of U.S. dollars 

1 year or 1 - 2 2-3 3-4 4-5 Over 5 
At December 31, 2018 less years years years years years Total 

Borrowings 510 4 5 20 539 

Interests to be accrued 8 I 0 11 

Total 518 5 6 20 550 
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Our current borrowings to total borrowings ratio amounted to 0.95:1 as of December 31, 2018, compared with 
0.96: I as of December 31, 2017. Our liquid financial assets exceeded our total borrowings, we had a net cash 
position (cash and cash equivalents, other current and non-current investments, derivatives hedging borrowings 
and investments, less total borrowings) of$485 million at December 31, 2018, compared to $647 million at 
December 31, 20 I 7. 

For information on our derivative financial instruments, please see "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure 
about Market Risk-Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities" and note 23 
"Derivative financial instruments" to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual 
report. 

For information regarding the extent to which borrowings are at fixed rates, please see "Quantitative and 
Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk". 

Significant Borrowings 

Our most significant borrowings as of December 31, 20 I 8 were as follows: 

Millions of U.S. dollars Original & 
Disbursement date Borrower Type Outstanding 

Final 
maturity 

2018 Tamsa Bank loans 347 2019 

2018 Siderca Bank loans 66 2019 

2018 TuboCaribe Bank loan 50 May 2019 

As of December 31, 20 I 8, Tenaris was in compliance with all of its covenants under its significant borrowings, 
including financial covenants on leverage ratio. 
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk 

The multinational nature of our operations and customer base expose us to a variety of risks, including the 
effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. In order to reduce the 
impact related to these exposures, management evaluates exposures on a consolidated basis to take advantage of 
natural exposure netting. For the residual exposures, we may enter into various derivative transactions in order 
to reduce potential adverse effects on our financial performance. Such derivative transactions are executed in 
accordance with internal policies and hedging practices. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments 
for trading or other speculative purposes, other than non-material investments in structured products. 

The following information should be read together with section III, "Financial risk management" to our audited 
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report. 

Debt Structure 

The following tables provide a breakdown of our debt instruments at December 31, 2018 and 2017 which 
included fixed and variable interest rate obligations, detailed by maturity date: 

At December 31, 2018 
2019 2020 

Non-current Debt 
Fixed rate 4 

Floating rate 0 

Current Debt 
Fixed rate 493 
Floating rate 17 

510 4 

At December 31, 2017 
2018 2019 

Non-current Debt 
Fixed rate 5 
Floating rate 0 

Current Debt 
Fixed rate 913 
Floating rate 18 

931 5 

ExQected maturitr date 
2021 2022 2023 

(in millions of U.S. dollars) 

4 20 

0 

5 20 

ExQected maturitr date 
2020 2021 2022 

(in millions of U.S. dollars) 

4 4 20 
0 1 0 

4 5 20 

Thereafter 

Thereafter 

0 

0 

Total <1l 

28 
1 

493 
17 

539 

Total <1l 

33 
2 

913 
18 

966 

<J) As most borrowings are based on short-term fixed rates, or floating rates that approximate market rates, with interest rate resetting every 
3 to 6 months, the fair value of the borrowings approximates its carrying amount and is not disclosed separately. 

Our weighted average interest rates before tax (considering hedge accounting), amounted to 3.98% at December 
31, 2018 and to 3.73% at December 31, 2017. 

Our financial liabilities ( other than trade payables and derivative financial instruments) consist mainly of bank 
loans. As of December 3 I, 2018, U.S. dollar denominated financial debt plus debt denominated in other 
currencies swapped to the U.S. dollar represented 97% of total financial debt. 

For further information about our financial debt, please see note 18 "Borrowings" to our audited consolidated 
financial statements included in this annual report. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Fluctuations in market interest rates create a degree of risk by affecting the amount of our interest payments. At 
December 31, 2018, we had variable interest rate debt of $19 million and fixed rate debt of $520 million ($493 
million of the fixed rate debt are short-term). 
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Foreign Exchange Rate Risk 

We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries throughout the world and consequently we are 
exposed to foreign exchange rate risk. Since the Company's functional currency is the U.S. dollar, the purpose 
of our foreign currency hedging program is mainly to reduce the risk caused by changes in the exchange rates of 
other currencies against the U.S. dollar. 

Most of our revenues are determined or influenced by the U.S. dollar. In addition, a relevant part of our costs 
correspond to steelmaking raw materials and steel coils and plates, also determined or influenced by the U.S. 
dollar. However, outside the United States, a portion of our expenses is incurred in foreign currencies ( e.g. labor 
costs). Therefore, when the U.S. dollar weakens in relation to the foreign currencies of the countries where we 
manufacture our products, the U.S. dollar-reported expenses increase. Had the U.S. dollar average exchange rate 
been weaker by 5% against the currencies of the countries where we have labor costs, operating income would 
have decreased approximately by $50 million in 2018, compared with $51 million in 2017. 

Our consolidated exposure to currency fluctuations is reviewed on a periodic basis. A number of hedging 
transactions are performed in order to achieve an efficient coverage in the absence of operative or natural 
hedges. Almost all of these transactions are forward exchange rate contracts. 

Because certain subsidiaries have functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the results of hedging 
activities as reported in the income statement under IFRS may not reflect entirely management's assessment of 
its foreign exchange risk hedging needs. Also, intercompany balances between our subsidiaries may generate 
exchange rate results to the extent that their functional currencies differ. 

The value of our financial assets and liabilities is subject to changes arising out of the variation of foreign currency 
exchange rates. The following table provides a breakdown of our main financial assets and liabilities (including 
foreign exchange derivative contracts) that impact our profit and loss as of December 31, 2018. 

All amounts in millions of U.S. dollars 

Currency Exposure 

Argentine Peso 
Euro 

Functional currency 

U.S. dollar 
U.S. dollar 

Long/ (Short) Position 

(187) 
(175) 

The main relevant exposures as of December 31, 2018 were to Argentine peso-denominated financial, trade, 
social and fiscal payables at our Argentine subsidiaries, for which the functional currency is the U.S. dollar, and 
Euro-denominated intercompany liabilities at certain subsidiaries for which functional currency is the U.S. 
dollar. 

Foreign Currency Derivative Contracts 

The net fair value of our foreign currency derivative contracts amounted to a liability of $3 million at December 
31, 2018 and $32 million at December 31, 2017. For further detail on our foreign currency derivative contracts, 
please see note 23 "Derivative financial instruments - Foreign exchange derivative contracts and hedge 
accounting" to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. 

Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities 

Derivative financial instruments are classified as financial assets ( or liabilities) at fair value through profit or 
loss. Their fair value is calculated using standard pricing techniques and, as a general rule, we recognize the full 
amount related to the change in its fair value under financial results in the current period. 

We designate for hedge accounting certain derivatives that hedge risks associated with recognized assets, 
liabilities or highly probable forecast transactions. These instruments are classified as cash flow hedges. The 
effective portion of the fair value of such derivatives is accumulated in a reserve account in equity. Amounts 
accumulated in equity are then recognized in the income statement in the same period when the offsetting losses 
and gains on the hedged item are recorded. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized 
immediately in the income statement. The fair value of our derivative financial instruments (assets or liabilities) 
continues to be reflected on the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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At December 31, 2018, the effective portion of designated cash flow hedges, included in other reserves in 
shareholders' equity amounted to a debit of $0.9 million. 

Concentration of credit risk 

There is no significant concentration of credit from customers. No single customer comprised more than 10% of 
our net sales in 2018. 

Our credit policies related to sales of products and services are designed to identify customers with acceptable 
credit history, and to allow us to use credit insurance, letters of credit and other instruments designed to 
minimize credit risk whenever deemed necessary. We maintain allowances for potential credit losses. 

Commodity Price Sensitivity 

We use commodities and raw materials that are subject to price volatility caused by supply conditions, political 
and economic variables and other unpredictable factors. As a consequence, we are exposed to risk resulting 
from fluctuations in the prices of these commodities and raw materials. Although we fix the prices of such raw 
materials and commodities for short-term periods, typically not in excess of one year, in general we do not 
hedge this risk. 

Trend Information 

Principal Factors Affecting Oil and Gas Prices and Demand for Steel Pipes from the Global Oil and Gas 
Industry. 

Sales to the oil and gas industry worldwide represent a high percentage of our total sales, and demand for steel 
pipes from the global oil and gas industry is a significant factor affecting the general level of volumes and prices 
for our products. Downward pressures on oil and gas prices usually result in lower oil and gas drilling activity 
and investment throughout the oil and gas industry with consequently lower demand for our steel pipe products 
and, in some circumstances, upward pressures can result in higher demand from our oil and gas customers. 

Whereas oil prices are similar in most parts of the world because oil is a fully tractable commodity, gas prices 
are influenced by regional factors. In North America, where gas production is extensively developed and there is 
an extensive regional pipeline system, these factors include available gas storage capacity and seasonal weather 
patterns, particularly winter temperatures in the United States. Liquefied natural gas ("LNG"), prices have 
traditionally been established in relation to international oil prices, particularly in the largest LNG markets in 
Asia. However, as the market for LNG becomes more global and the USA becomes a relevant source of LNG, 
LNG prices are now being set increasingly in relation to prices prevailing at regional gas hubs. 

International oil prices depend on diverse factors. On the supply side, major oil- and gas-producing nations and 
companies have frequently collaborated to balance the supply (and thus the price) of oil in the international 
markets. A major vehicle for this collaboration has been OPEC. Many of our customers are state-owned 
companies in member countries of OPEC. Another factor that has affected the international price level of oil is 
the political and socioeconomic conditions of oil-producing countries, such as Libya, Nigeria and Venezuela 
and the persistence of geo-political and armed conflicts affecting the Middle East region, which is home to a 
substantial proportion of the world's known oil reserves. On the demand side, economic conditions and the level 
of oil inventories in the leading industrial nations of the world, and more recently China, which constitute the 
largest oil consuming nations, also play a significant role in oil prices. 

A more recent factor affecting oil and gas prices has been the ability of producers in the United States and 
Canada to rapidly increase production from their reserves of tight oil and shale gas in response to changes in 
market conditions. Production from U.S. tight oil reserves has grown in recent years to represent around 10% of 
global liquids production, and production from shale gas plays is converting the United States into a net exporter 
of natural gas and a significant player in the LNG market. 

Following three years of relatively stable oil prices of around $ 100 per barrel, prices started to decline in the 
middle of 2014 as the rate of U.S. production increase began to exceed the increase in global demand and OPEC 
confirmed at its November 2014 meeting that it would not cut production to balance demand. Prices reached 

levels below $30 per barrel in January 2016. They then recovered to around $80 per barrel during 2018 once 
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OPEC and other producers agreed to cut production levels to accelerate the market rebalancing process. By this 
time, OPEC and other producers had lifted their production cuts and U.S. oil production was increasing at a rate 
greater than the increase in global demand. Oil prices declined 40% in the fourth quarter of 2018 before partially 
recovering in the first two months of 2019. 

The 2014 collapse in oil prices led oil and gas operators to substantially reduce their exploration and production 
investments to a level which is currently around 60% of the average of the 2012-14 period and this, in tum, 
resulted in a severe contraction in demand and pressure on pricing for steel pipes used in oil and gas drilling and 
associated operations. During 2017, however, oil and gas operators in North America, who have been very 
successful in reducing production costs in their shale plays, increased investments in response to more favorable 
market conditions, and U.S. operators continued to do so in 2018. 

Since the development of the prolific Marcellus shale gas play, North American gas prices have remained at low 
levels compared to previous decades. For the past three years, prices have fluctuated in the range of $2.00-3.50 
per million BTU, significantly below prices in many other major gas-consuming regions. For several years, 
production increases, primarily from productive shale gas deposits, have exceeded demand increases, reducing 
the need for imports, to the extent that, in 2017, the U.S. became a net exporter of natural gas. Low prices have 
encouraged investment in gas consuming industrial facilities and LNG export facilities as well as switching 
from coal to gas for electric power production, particularly with the adoption of new regulations which could 
force the retirement of older coal-based generating units. With continuing investments in LNG export facilities, 
the U.S. has become a major global LNG exporter. 

Drilling activity in the United States and Canada, following several years of high activity, fell sharply through 
2015 and the first half of 2016 before beginning a strong recovery which eased during the second half of 2017. 
Rig counts plunged to less than a quarter of their former level as operators cut back on investments for two 
consecutive years as their cash flows declined with low oil and gas prices. At the same time, they reduced 
drilling costs through increased efficiencies, concentrating drilling on the most productive plays, and negotiated 
lower supply and service costs. Despite lower prices, production levels are now higher than before the collapse 
in oi 1 prices but rig counts are at 60% of the levels they reached in 2014, reflecting the strong productivity gains 
made by the U.S. oil and gas drilling industry. In the rest of the world, drilling activity began to decline in the 
second half of 2014 and has continued to decline during 2015, 2016 and 2017 before beginning a gradual 
recovery in the second half of 2018. Although drilling activity in the Middle East has been relatively stable, 
drilling in Latin America and offshore drilling has declined significantly. 

Prior to the most recent downturn in oil prices, a growing proportion of exploration and production spending by 
oil and gas companies had been directed at offshore, deep drilling and non-conventional drilling operations in 
which high-value tubular products, including special steel grades and premium connections, are usually 
specified. The success, however, of shale drilling operators, with their inherently short investment cycles, in 
adapting to lower oil and gas costs and increasing production, has led to a slowdown in new developments of 
complex offshore projects with long investment lead times in a context of low and more volatile oil prices, 
consequently affecting the level of product differentiation. 

In addition, the increasing cost competitiveness and use of alternative renewable sources of energy could limit 
growth in demand for oil and gas and put downward pressure on oil and gas prices in the longer term. This trend 
could accelerate if carbon taxes or carbon pricing instruments resulting in high prices for carbon emissions are 
implemented around the world. 

The tables below show the annual average number of active oil and gas drilling rigs, or rig count, in the United 
States, Canada, International (worldwide other than the United States and Canada and excluding Iran, Sudan, 
onshore China, Russia and Syria) and Worldwide, as published by Baker Hughes ("BHGE"), a General Electric 
company, for the years indicated and the percentage increase or decrease over the previous year. BHGE, a 
leading oil service company, has published its rig counts on a monthly basis since 1975 as a general indicator of 
activity in the oil and gas sector. 
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Rig count 

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 

International <*l 988 948 955 1,167 
Canada 191 207 128 193 
United States 1,032 875 510 977 

Worldwide 2,211 2,029 1,593 2,337 

<'l International rig count excludes Iran, Sudan, onshore China, Russia and Syria (discontinued in February 2013). 

Percentage increase (decrease) over the previous year 

2018 2017 2016 2015 

International <*> 4% (1%) (18%) (13%) 
Canada (7%) 62% (34%) (49%) 
United States 18% 72% (48%) (48%) 

Worldwide 9% 27% (32%) (35%) 

\'l International rig count excludes Iran, Sudan, onshore China, Russia and Syria (discontinued in February 2013). 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company reported the following financial commitments, consisting of guarantees 
in connection to its participation in the non-consolidated company Techgen: 

Tenaris issued a corporate guarantee covering 22% of the obligations of Techgen under a 
syndicated loan agreement between Techgen and several banks, which was used in the 
construction of the facility. The main covenants under the corporate guarantee are Tenaris's 
commitment to maintain its participation in Techgen or the right to purchase at least 22% of 
Techgen's firm energy, and compliance with a maximum permitted leverage ratio. As of 
December 31, 2018, the amount outstanding under the loan agreement was $600 million and, as a 
result, the amount guaranteed by Tenaris was approximately $132 million. For a description of the 
refinancing of the syndicated loan agreement, the release of Tenaris's corporate guarantee and the 
stand-by letters of credit supporting certain covenants under the new facility, see "Recent 
Developments - Techgen refinancing" below. 

Tenaris issued a corporate guarantee covering 22% of the outstanding value of natural gas 
transportation capacity agreements entered into by Techgen with Kinder Morgan Gas Natural de 
Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V., and Kinder Morgan Texas Pipeline LLC for a natural gas purchasing 
capacity of 150,000 million BTU per day starting on August I, 2016 and ending on July 31, 2036. 
As of December 31, 2018, our exposure under the guarantee in connection with these agreements 
amounted to $55. l million. 

In addition, we have various off-balance sheet commitments, as described in note 24 "Contingencies, 
commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits - (ii) Commitments and other purchase orders" to our 
audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report. 
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Outstanding Legal Proceedings 

Tenaris is from time to time subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings, including customer, 
employee, tax and environmental-related claims, in which third parties are seeking payment for alleged 
damages, reimbursement for losses, or indemnity. Management with the assistance of legal counsel periodically 
reviews the status of each significant matter and assesses potential financial exposure. 

Some of these claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings involve highly complex issues, and often these 
issues are subject to substantial uncertainties and, therefore, the probability of loss and an estimation of damages 
are difficult to ascertain. Accordingly, with respect to a large portion of such claims, lawsuits and other legal 
proceedings, Tenaris is unable to make a reliable estimate of the expected financial effect that will result from 

ultimate resolution of the proceeding. In those cases, Tenaris has not accrued a provision for the potential 
outcome of these cases. 

If a potential loss from a claim, lawsuit or other proceeding is considered probable and the amount can be 

reasonably estimated, a provision is recorded. Accruals for loss contingencies reflect a reasonable estimate of 
the losses to be incurred based on information available to management as of the date of preparation of the 
financial statements and take into consideration litigation and settlement strategies. In a limited number of 
ongoing cases, Tenaris was able to make a reliable estimate of the expected loss of range of probable loss and 
has accrued a provision for such loss but believes that publication of this information on a case-by-case basis 
would seriously prejudice Tenaris's position in the ongoing legal proceedings or in any related settlement 
discussions. Accordingly, in these cases, the Company has disclosed information with respect to the nature of 
the contingency but has not disclosed its estimate of the range of potential loss. 

The Company believes that the aggregate provisions recorded for potential losses in its consolidated financial 
statements (see notes 21 "Non-current allowances and provisions" and 22 "Current allowances and provisions" 
to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this annual report) are adequate based upon 
currently available information. However, if management's estimates prove incorrect, current reserves could be 
inadequate and Tenaris could incur a charge to earnings which could have a material adverse effect on Tenaris's 
results of operations, financial condition, net worth and cash flows. 

Material Legal Proceedings 

Below is a summary description of Tenaris's material legal proceedings for the year ended December 31, 2018. 
In addition, Tenaris is subject to other legal proceedings, none of which is believed to be material. 

CSN claims relating to the January 2012 acquisition of Usiminas' shares 

Confab, a Brazilian subsidiary of the Company, is one of the defendants in a lawsuit filed in Brazil by 
Companhia Siderurgica Nacional ("CSN") and various entities affiliated with CSN against Confab and several 
Ternium subsdiaries that acquired a participation in Usiminas' control group in January 2012. 

The CSN lawsuit alleges that, under applicable Brazilian laws and rules, the acquirers were required to launch a 

tag-along tender offer to all non-controlling holders of Usiminas' ordinary shares for a price per share equal to 
80% of the price per share paid in such acquisition, or BRL28.8, and seeks an order to compel the acquirers to 
launch an offer at that price plus interest. If so ordered, the offer would need to be made to 182,609,851 ordinary 
shares of Usiminas not belonging to Usiminas' control group, and Confab would have a 17.9% share in that 

offer. 

On September 23, 2013, the first instance court dismissed the CSN lawsuit, and on February 8, 2017, the court 
of appeals maintained the understanding of the first instance court. On March 6, 2017, CSN filed a motion for 
clarification against the decision of the Court of Appeals of Sao Paulo, which was rejected on July 19, 2017. On 
August 18, 2017, CSN filed an appeal to the Superior Court of Justice seeking the review and reversal of the 
decision issued by the Court of Appeals. On March 5, 2018, the court of appeals ruled that CSN's appeal did not 
meet the requirements for submission to the Superior Court of Justice and rejected the appeal. On May 8, 2018, 
CSN appealed against such ruling and on January 22, 2019, the court of appeals rejected it and ordered that the 
case be submitted to the Superior Court of Justice. The Superior Court of Justice will review admissibility of 
CSN's appeal, and, if declares it admissible, will then render a decision on the merits. The Superior Court of 
Justice is restricted to the analysis of alleged violations to federal laws and cannot assess matters of fact. 
Tenaris continues to believe that all of CSN's claims and allegations are groundless and without merit, as 
confirmed by several opinions of Brazilian legal counsel, two decisions issued by the Brazilian securities 
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regulator (CVM) in February 2012 and December 20 I 6, and the first and second instance court decisions 
referred to above. 

Veracel Celulose Accident Litigation 

On September 21, 2007, an accident occurred in the premises of Veracel Celulose S.A. ("Veracel") in 
connection with a rupture in one of the tanks used in an evaporation system manufactured by Confab. The 
Veracel accident allegedly resulted in material damages to Veracel. Itau Seguros S.A. ("Itau"), Veracel's insurer 
at the time of the Veracel accident and then replaced by Chubb Seguros Brasil SIA ("Chubb"), initiated a 
lawsuit against Confab seeking reimbursement of damages paid to Veracel in connection with the Veracel 
accident. Veracel initiated a second lawsuit against Confab seeking reimbursement of the amount paid as 
insurance deductible with respect to the Veracel accident and other amounts not covered by insurance. ltau and 
Veracel claimed that the Veracel accident was caused by failures and defects attributable to the evaporation 
system manufactured by Confab. Confab believes that the Veracel accident was caused by the improper 
handling by Veracel's personnel of the equipment supplied by Confab in violation of Confab's instructions. The 
two lawsuits were consolidated and are considered by the 6th Civil Court of Sao Caetano do Sul; however, each 
lawsuit will be adjudicated separately. 

On September 28, 2018, Confab and Chubb entered into a settlement agreement pursuant to which on October 
9, 2018, Confab paid an amount of approximately $3.5 million to Chubb, without assuming any liability for the 
accident or the claim. 

On October 10, 2018, Confab was notified that the court had issued rulings for both lawsuits. Both decisions 
were unfavorable to Confab: 

• With respect to Chubb's claim, Confab was ordered to pay an amount of approximately BRL89.8

million (approximately $23.2 million, including interest, fees and expenses). On October 15, 2018,

Confab filed a request for homologation of the settlement agreement mentioned above, as such

settlement agreement remains valid and binding between the parties. On November 8, 2018, the

settlement agreement was homologated by the court.

• With respect to Veracel 's claim, Confab was ordered to pay the insurance deductible and other

concepts not covered by insurance, currently estimated to amount to BRL58.8 million (approximately

$ 15.2 million, including direct damages, lost profits, interest, fees and expenses). Both parties filed

motions for clarification against the court's decision, which were partially granted. Although the

contract between Confab and Veracel expressly provided that Confab would not be liable for damages

arising from lost profits, the court award would appear to include an amount currently estimated in

BRL50.5 million (approximately $13 million) for damages arising therefrom; Confab has additional

defense arguments in respect of a claim for lost profits. On December 18, 2018, Confab filed an appeal

against the first instance court decision. At this stage the Company cannot predict the outcome of the

claim or the amount or range of loss in case of an unfavorable outcome.

Ongoing investigation 

The Company has learned that Italian and Swiss authorities are investigating whether certain payments were 
made from accounts of entities presumably associated with affiliates of the Company to accounts controlled by 
an individual allegedly related with officers of Petr6leo Brasileiro S.A. and whether any such payments were 
intended to benefit Confab. Any such payments could violate certain applicable laws, including the U.S. Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act. The Company had previously reviewed certain of these matters in connection with an 
investigation by the Brazilian authorities related to "Operation Lava Jato" and the audit committee of the 
Company's board of directors has engaged external counsel in connection with a review of the alleged payments 
and related matters. In addition, the Company has voluntarily notified the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice. The Company continues to review these matters and to 
respond to requests from and otherwise cooperate with the appropriate authorities. At this time, the Company 
cannot predict the outcome of these matters or estimate the range of potential loss or extent of risk, if any, to the 
Company's business that may result from resolution of these matters. 

Petroamazonas Penalties 

On January 22, 2016, Petroamazonas (''PAM"), an Ecuadorian state-owned oil company, imposed penalties to 
the Company's Uruguayan subsidiary, TGS, for its alleged failure to comply with delivery terms under a pipe 
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supply agreement. The penalties amount to approximately $22.5 million plus interest thereon which as of the 
date hereof amount to approximately $2.4 million. On June 27, 2018, TGS initiated arbitration proceedings 
against PAM before the Quito Chamber of Commerce Arbitration Center, seeking the annulment of the 
penalties. In September 2018, PAM filed its response to the arbitration claim. The claim is currently in 
evidentiary stage before the arbitration panel. Tenaris believes, based on the advice of counsel, that PAM had no 
legal basis to impose the penalties and that TGS has meritorious defenses against PAM. However, the Company 
cannot predict the outcome of a claim against a state-owned company. 

Contractor's claim for additional costs 

Tenaris Bay City, a U.S. subsidiary of the Company, received claims from a contractor for alleged additional 
costs in the construction of a project located in the Bay City area for an amount initially stated to be in excess of 
$90 million; however, subsequently the contractor amended the amount of the claim to $45 million plus 
attorneys' fees and arbitration costs. On June 30, 2017, the contractor filed a demand for arbitration of these 
claims. An arbitral panel was selected and a scheduling order issued. The parties have already submitted 
statements of claim and responses to the other party's claim. The final trial hearings on this matter have begun 
in February 2019 and an award is expected to be issued by June 2019. At this stage the Company cannot predict 
the outcome of the claim or the amount or range of loss in case of an unfavorable outcome. 

Tax assessment in Mexico regarding tax deductions on purchases of scrap 

In 2017, Tamsa and Servicios General es Tenaris Tamsa S.A ("Segeta"), two Mexican subsidiaries of the 
Company, were informed that the Mexican tax authorities had determined that the tax deductions associated 
with certain purchases of scrap made by the companies during 2013 failed to comply with applicable 
requirements and, accordingly, should be rejected. Tamsa and Segeta filed their respective responses and 
complaints against the determination and provided additional information evidencing compliance with 
applicable requirements for the challenged tax deductions. On August 30, 2018 and January 24, 2019, 
administrative decisions were issued in the proceedings against Segeta and Tamsa, respectively, determining a 
tax obligation in the amount of MXNl ,540 million (approximately $78 million) for Segeta and MXN3,749 
million (approximately $190 million) for Tamsa. On October 15, 2018 and March 8, 2019, Segeta and Tamsa 
filed revocation requests (recursos de revocaci6n exclusivos) against the August 2018 decision as to Segeta and 
the January 2019 decision as to Tamsa. On March 27, 2019, Segeta was notified that the Mexican tax authorities 
had reversed and left without effects their former tax determination. Tenaris believes, based on the advice of 
counsel and on the recent favorable resolution regarding Segeta, that it is unlikely that the ultimate resolution of 
either tax assessment will result in a material obligation. 

Putative class actions 

The Company is aware that, following its November 27, 2018 announcement that its Chairman and CEO Paolo 
Rocca was included in an Argentine court investigation known as the Notebooks Case, two putative class action 
complaints were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York purportedly on behalf of 
purchasers of Tenaris securities from May 1, 2014 through November 27, 2018. The individual defendants 
named in the complaint are Tenaris's Chairman and CEO and Tenaris's CFO. Each complaint alleges that 
during the class period (May 2014-November 2018), the Company and the individual defendants inflated the 
Tenaris share price by failing to disclose that sale proceeds received by Ternium (in which Tenaris held an 
11.46% stake) when Sidor was expropriated by Venezuela were received or expedited as a result of alleged 
improper payments made to Argentine officials. The complaint does not specify the damages that plaintiff is 
seeking. Management believes the Company has meritorious defenses to these claims, however, at this stage the 
Company cannot predict the outcome of the claim or the amount or range of loss in case of an unfavorable 
outcome. 

Investigation concerning alleged price overcharges in Brazil 

In 2018, two Brazilian subsidiaries of the Company were notified of formal charges arising from a review by the 
Tribunal de Contas da Uniao (TCU) for alleged price overcharges on goods supplied to Petrobras under a supply 
contract. Both companies have already filed their defenses. The estimated amount of this claim is BRL27 
million (approximately $7 million). Tenaris believes, based on the advice of counsel and external consultants, 
that the prices charged under the Petrobras contract do not result in overprices and that it is unlikely that the 
ultimate resolution of this matter will result in a material obligation. 
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Recent Developments 

Acquisition of Saudi Steel Pipe Company 

a) Acquisition

On January 21, 2019, Tenaris acquired 47.79% of the shares of SSP, a welded steel pipes producer listed on the 
Saudi Stock Exchange, for a total amount of SAR529.8 million (approximately $141 million). The amount was 
paid with Tenaris cash in hand. SSP's facilities are located in the Eastern Province of the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia and have a manufacturing capacity of 360,000 tons per year. SSP started its operations in 1980 and 
serves energy industrial and commercial segments, is qualified to supply products to major national oil 
companies in the region. Upon closing of the acquisition, four Tenaris's nominees were appointed as new 
members of the SSP's board of directors and a senior executive with Tenaris was appointed as managing 
director and Chief Executive Officer of SSP. 

The Company has begun consolidating SSP's balances and results of operations since January 21, 2019. 

b) Fair value of net assets acquired

The application of the purchase method requires certain estimates and assumptions especially concerning the 
determination of the fair values of the acquired intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as well as 
the liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition. The fair values determined at the acquisition date are based 
mainly on discounted cash flows and other valuation techniques. 

The preliminary allocation of the fair values determined for the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition 
is as follows: 

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities: 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Intangible assets 
Investment in associated 
Working capital 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Other Receivables 
Borrowings 
Employees end of service benefits 

Net assets acquired 

SAR million $ million 

675 180 
278 74 
77 21 

168 45 

32 8 
11 3 

(304) (81)
(59) (16)

878 234 

Tenaris acquired 47.79% of the total assets and liabilities shown above, approximately $112 million of net 
assets. 

The preliminary purchase price allocation disclosed above is currently under analysis with the assistance of a 
third party expert. Following IFRS 3, the Company will continue reviewing the allocation and make any 
necessary adjustments (mainly over Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Provisions) during the 
twelve months following the acquisition date. 

Agreement to build welded pipe plant in West Siberia 

On February 5, 2019 Tenaris entered into an agreement with PAO Severstal to build a welded pipe plant to 
produce OCTG products in the Surgut area, West Siberia, Russian Federation. Tenaris will hold a 49% interest 
in the company, while PAO Severstal will own the remaining 51 %. The commencement of the project is subject 
to regulatory approvals and other customary conditions. The plant, which is estimated to require an investment 
of $240 million and a two-year construction period, is planned to have an annual production capacity of 300,000 
tons. 

Techgen refinancing 

On February 13, 2019, Techgen entered into a $640 million loan agreement with several banks to refinance its 
obligations under the 2014 syndicated loan. Techgen's obligations under the new facility, which is "non­
recourse" on the sponsors, wil 1 be guaranteed by a Mexican security trust covering Techgen' shares, assets and 
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accounts as well as Techgen's affiliates rights under certain contracts. In addition, Techgen's collection and 
payment accounts not subject to the trust have been pledged in favor of the lenders under the new loan 
agreement, and certain direct agreements -customary for these type of transactions- have been entered into with 
third parties and affiliates, including in connection with the agreements for the sale of energy produced by the 
project and the agreements for the provision of gas and long-term maintenance services to Techgen. The 
commercial terms and conditions governing the purchase, by the Company's Mexican subsidiary Tamsa, of 
22% of the energy generated by the project remain unchanged. 

Under the loan agreement, Techgen is committed to maintain a debt service reserve account covering debt 
service becoming due during two consecutive quarters; such account is funded by stand-by letters of credit 
issued for the account of Techgen's sponsors in proportion to their respective participations in Techgen. 
Accordingly, the Company and its Swiss subsidiary Tenaris Investments Switzerland AG applied for stand-by 
letters of credit covering 22% of the debt service coverage ratio, which as of the date hereof amounts to $9.8 
million. 

The proceeds of the new loan, drawn on February 26, 2019, have been used to repay all loans outstanding under 
the 2014 syndicated facility. Following repayment of such loans, Tenaris's corporate guarantee thereunder has 
been automatically released. 

Annual Dividend Proposal 

On February 20, 2019 the Company's board of directors proposed, for the approval of the Annual General 
Shareholders' meeting to be held on May 6, 2019, the payment of an annual dividend of $0.41 per share ($0.82 
per ADS), or approximately $484 million, which includes the interim dividend of $0. I 3 per share ($0.26 per 
ADS) or approximately $153 million, paid on November 21, 2018. lfthe annual dividend is approved by the 
shareholders, a dividend of $0.28 per share ($0.56 per ADS), or approximately $331 million will be paid on 
May 22, 2019, with an ex-dividend date of May 20, 2019. The consolidated financial statements included in this 
annual report do not reflect this dividend payable. 

Tenaris to Acquire IPSCO Tubulars from TMK 

On March 22, 2019, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire from TMK, a Russian company and 
manufacturer of steel pipes, I 00% of the shares of its wholly owned U.S. subsidiary IPSCO, for $1,209 million. 
The transaction is subject to regulatory approvals, including approval by the U.S. antitrust authorities, and other 
customary conditions. IPSCO is a U.S. domestic producer of seamless and welded OCTG and line pipe 
products, with an annual production capacity of 450,000 metric tons of steel bars, 400,000 metric tons of 
seamless pipes and 1,000,000 metric tons of welded pipes, and production facilities spread throughout the 
country. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 

The Company's corporate governance practices are governed by Luxembourg Law, which includes, among 
others, the Luxembourg Law of August IO, 1915 on commercial companies, or "Luxembourg Company Law", 
the law of January 11, 2008, implementing the European Union's transparency directive and the law of May 24, 
2011, implementing the European Union's directive on the exercise of certain shareholders' rights in general 
meetings of listed companies and the Luxembourg law of July 23, 2016, concerning the audit profession (the 
"Audit Reform Law") and the Company's articles of association. As a Luxembourg company listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange (the NYSE), the Bolsa Mexicana de Valores, S.A. de C.V. (the Mexican Stock 
Exchange), the Bolsa de Comercio de Buenos Aires (the Buenos Aires Stock Exchange) and Borsa ltaliana 
S.p.A. (the Italian Stock Exchange), the Company is required to comply with some, but not all, of the corporate
governance standards of these exchanges. The Company, however, believes that the Company's corporate
governance practices meet, in all material respects, the corporate governance standards that are generally
required for controlled companies by all of the exchanges on which the Company's securities trade.

For a summary of the significant ways in which the Company's corporate governance practices differ from the 
corporate governance standards required for controlled companies by the exchanges on which the Company's 
shares are traded, please visit our website at: www.tenaris.com/investors/ 

The Company has adopted a code of conduct incorporating guidelines and standards of integrity and 
transparency applicable to all of our directors, officers and employees. As far as the nature of each relation 
permits, principles detailed in the code of conduct also apply to relations with our contractors, subcontractors, 
suppliers and associated persons. In addition, we have adopted a supplementary code of ethics, which applies 
specifically to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or 
controller, or persons performing similar functions and is intended to supplement the Company's code of 
conduct. The text of our code of conduct and code of ethics is posted on our Internet website at: 
www.tenaris.com/en/aboutus/codeofconduct.aspx 

Shareholders' Meetings; Voting Rights; Election of Directors 

Each share entitles the holder thereof to one vote at the Company's general shareholders' meetings. Shareholder 
action by written consent is not permitted, but proxy voting is permitted. Notices of general shareholders' 
meetings are governed by the provisions of Luxembourg law. Pursuant to applicable Luxembourg law, the 
Company must give notice of the calling of any general shareholders' meeting at least 30 days prior to the date 
for which the meeting is being called, by publishing the relevant convening notice in the Recueil Electronique 
des Societes et Associations (Luxembourg's electronic official gazette) and in a leading newspaper having 
general circulation in Luxembourg and by issuing a press release informing of the calling of such meeting. In 
case shares are listed on a foreign regulated market, notices of general shareholders' meetings shall also comply 
with the requirements (including as to content and publicity) and follow the customary practices of such 
regulated market. 

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, for as long as the shares or other securities of the Company 
are listed on a regulated market within the European Union (as they currently are), and unless otherwise 
provided by applicable law, only shareholders holding shares as of midnight, central European time, on the day 
that is fourteen days prior to the day of any given general shareholders' meeting can attend and vote at such 
meeting. The board of directors may determine other conditions that must be satisfied by shareholders in order 
to participate in a general shareholders' meeting in person or by proxy, including with respect to deadlines for 
submitting supporting documentation to or for the Company. 

No attendance quorum is required at ordinary general shareholders' meetings, and resolutions may be adopted 
by a simple majority vote of the shares validly cast at the meeting. Unless otherwise provided by applicable law, 
an extraordinary general shareholders' meeting may not validly deliberate on proposed amendments to the 
Company's articles of association unless a quorum of at least half of the shares is represented at the meeting. If a 
quorum is not reached at the first extraordinary shareholders' meeting, a second extraordinary shareholders' 
meeting may be convened in accordance with the Company's articles of association and applicable law and such 
second extraordinary general shareholders' meeting shall validly deliberate regardless of the number of shares 
represented. In both cases, the Luxembourg Company Law and the Company's articles of association require 
that any resolution of an extraordinary general shareholders' meeting as to amendments to the Company's 
articles of association be adopted by a two-thirds majority of the votes validly cast at the meeting. If a proposed 
resolution consists of changing the Company's nationality or of increasing the shareholders' commitments, the 
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unanimous consent of all shareholders is required. Directors are elected at ordinary general shareholders' 
meetings. 

Cumulative voting is not permitted. The Company's articles of association do not provide for staggered terms 
and directors are elected for a maximum of one year but may be reappointed or removed at any time, with or 
without cause, by the general shareholders' meeting, by resolution passed by a simple majority vote of the 
shares validly cast at the meeting. In the case of a vacancy occurring in the board of directors, the remaining 
directors may temporarily fill such vacancy with a temporary director appointed by resolution adopted with the 
affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors; provided that the next general shareholder's meeting 
shall be called upon to ratify such appointment. The term of any such temporary director shall expire at the end 
of the term of office of the replaced director. 

The next Company's annual general shareholders' meeting, that will consider, among other things our 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Annual Accounts included in this report, will take place in the 
Company's registered office in Luxembourg, on Monday May 6, 2019, at 9:30 A.M., Luxembourg time. The 
current articles of association provide that the annual ordinary general shareholder's meetings must take place in 
Luxembourg within six months from the end of the previous financial year at the date, place and hour indicated 
in the convenience notice. The rights of the shareholders attending the meetings are governed by the 
Luxembourg law of 24 May 2011 on the exercise of certain rights of shareholders in general meetings of listed 
companies. 

Holders of shares deposited in fungible securities accounts have the same rights and obligations as holders of 
shares recorded in the Company's share register. However, in order to be able to participate in and vote at 
shareholders' meetings of the Company, the former must submit, prior to the relevant meeting, reasonably 
satisfactory evidence to the Company as to the number of shares held on the applicable record date for such 
meeting. 

The notice to the annual general shareholders meeting to be held on May, 20 I 9, and the Shareholder Meeting 
Brochure and Proxy Statement for the meeting, describing the procedures for attending and voting at the 
meeting applicable to shareholders is available at the Company's website at www.tenaris.com/investors, and 
will be timely filed by the Company with the applicable authorities. 

Access to Corporate Records 

Luxembourg law and the Company's articles of association do not generally provide for shareholder access to 
corporate records. Shareholders may inspect the annual accounts and auditors' reports at our registered office 
during the fifteen-day period prior to a general shareholders' meeting. 

Appraisal Rights 

In the event the Company's shareholders approve: 

• the delisting of the shares from all stock exchanges where the shares are listed at that time,

• a merger in which the Company is not the surviving entity (unless the shares or other equity securities
of such entity are listed on the New York or London stock exchanges),

• a sale, lease, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company's assets,

• an amendment of our articles of association that has the effect of materially changing the Company's
corporate purpose,

• the relocation of the Company's domicile outside of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, or 

• amendments to the Company's articles of association that restrict the rights of the Company's
shareholders;

dissenting or absent shareholders have the right to have their shares repurchased by the Company at (i) the 
average market value of the shares over the 90 calendar days preceding the applicable shareholders' meeting or 
(ii) in the event that the shares are not traded on a regulated market, the amount that results from applying the 
proportion of the Company's equity that the shares being sold represent over the Company's net worth as of the 
date of the applicable shareholders' meeting.
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Dissenting or absent shareholders must present their claim within one month following the date of the 
shareholders' meeting and supply the Company with evidence of their shareholding at the time of such meeting. 
The Company must (to the extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations and in compliance therewith) 
repurchase its shares within six months following the date of the shareholders' meeting. 

If de listing from one or more, but not all, of the stock exchanges where the shares are listed is approved in the 
shareholders' meeting, only dissenting or absent shareholders with shares held through participants in the local 
clearing system for that market or markets can exercise this appraisal right if: 

• they held the shares as of the date of the announcement by the Company of its intention to deli st or as of

the date of publication of the first convening notice for the general shareholders' meeting that approved

the delisting; and

• they present their claim within one month following the date of the general shareholders' meeting and

supply evidence of their shareholding as of the date of the Company's announcement or the publication

of the first convening notice to the meeting.

In the event a shareholder exercises its appraisal rights, applicable Luxembourg law provisions shall apply. 

Distribution of Assets on Winding-Up 

In the event of the Company's liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the net assets remaining after allowing for 
the payment of all debts and expenses will be paid out to the holders of the shares in proportion to their 

respective holdings. 

Transferability and Form 

The Company's articles of association do not contain any redemption or sinking fund provisions, nor do they 
impose any restrictions on the transfer of shares. The shares are issuable in registered form only. 

The ownership of registered shares is evidenced by the inscription of the name of the shareholder, the number of 
shares held by him and the amount paid on each share in the Company's share register. In addition, the 
Company's shares may be held through fungible securities accounts with financial institutions or other 
professional depositaries. 

Shares held through fungible securities accounts may be transferred in accordance with customary procedures 
for the transfer of securities in book-entry form. Shares that are not held through fungible securities accounts 
may be transferred by a written statement of transfer signed by both the transferor and the transferee or their 
respective duly appointed attorney-in-fact and recorded in the Company's share register. The transfer of shares 
may also be made in accordance with the provisions of Article 1690 of the Luxembourg Civil Code. As 
evidence of the transfer of registered shares, the Company may accept any correspondence or other documents 
evidencing the agreement between transferor and transferee as to the transfer of registered shares. 

Repurchase of Company shares 

The Company may repurchase its own shares in the cases and subject to the conditions set by the Luxembourg 
Company Law and, in the case of acquisitions of shares or ADSs made through a stock exchange in which 
shares or ADSs are traded, with any applicable laws and regulations of such market. 

Limitation on Securities Ownership 

There are no limitations currently imposed by Luxembourg law or the articles of association on the rights of the 
Company's non-resident or foreign shareholders to hold or vote their shares. 

Board of Directors 

Management of the Company is vested in a board of directors with the broadest power to act on behalf of the 

Company and accomplish or authorize all acts and transactions of management and disposal that are within its 
corporate purpose and not specifically reserved in the articles of association or by applicable law to the general 
shareholders' meeting. The Company's articles of association provide for a board of directors consisting of a 
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minimum of three and a maximum of fifteen directors; however, for as long as the Company's shares are listed 
on at least one regulated market, the minimum number of directors must be five. The Company's current board 

of directors is composed of eleven directors. 

The board of directors is required to meet as often as required by the interests of the Company and at least four 
times per year. A majority of the members of the board of directors in office present or represented at the board 

of directors' meeting constitutes a quorum, and resolutions may be adopted by the vote of a majority of the 
directors present or represented. In the case of a tie, the Chairman is entitled to cast the deciding vote. 

Directors are elected at the annual ordinary general shareholders' meeting to serve one-year renewable terms, as 

determined by the general shareholders' meeting. The general shareholders' meeting also determines the 

number of directors that will constitute the board and their compensation. The general shareholders' meeting 
may dismiss all or any one member of the board of directors at any time, with or without cause, by resolution 
passed by a simple majority vote, irrespective of the number of shares represented at the meeting. 

Under the Company's articles of association the board of directors is authorized until 2020 to increase the issued 

share capital in whole or in part from time to time, through issues of shares within the limits of the authorized 
share capital against compensation in cash, compensation in kind at a price or if shares are issued by way of 
incorporation of reserves, at an amount, which shall not be less than the par value and may include such issue 
premium as the board of directors shall decide. Under the Company's articles of association, however, the 
Company's existing shareholders shall have a preferential right to subscribe for any new shares issued pursuant 

to the authorization granted to its board of directors, except in the following cases (in which cases no 

preferential subscription rights shall apply): 

any issuance of shares (including, without limitation, the direct issuance of shares or upon the exercise of 
options, rights convertible into shares, or similar instruments convertible or exchangeable into shares) 
against a contribution other than in cash; 

any issuance of shares (including by way of free shares or at discount), up to an amount of 1.5% of the 
issued share capital of the Company, to directors, officers, agents, employees of the Company, its direct 
or indirect subsidiaries, or its affiliates (collectively "the Beneficiaries"), including, without limitation, 

the direct issuance of shares or upon the exercise of options, rights convertible into shares, or similar 
instruments convertible or exchangeable into shares, issued for the purpose of compensation or incentive 
of the Beneficiaries or in relation thereto (which the board of directors shall be authorized to issue upon 
such terms and conditions as it deems fit). 

The following table sets forth the name of the Company's current directors, their respective positions on the 
board, their principal occupation, their years of service as board members and their age. 

Years as 
Name Position Princieat Occueation Director 

Mr. Roberto Bonatti (I) Director President of San Faustin 
Mr. Carlos Condorelli Director Director of Tenaris and Ternium 

Director and Vice Chaimrnn of the Board of 
Mr. German Cura Director Tenaris 
Mr. Roberto Monti Director Member of the board of directors of YPF S.A 
Mr. Gianfelice Mario Rocca (I) Director Chairman of the board of directors of San Faus tin 
Mr. Paolo Rocca <1) Director Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Tenaris 
Mr. Jain1e Serra Puche Director Chairman of SAl Consultores 
Mr. Yves Speeckaert Director Director of Tenaris 
Ms. Monica Tiuba Director Director of Tenaris 
Mr. Amadeo Vazquez y 
Vazquez Director Director of Tenaris 

Director and Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Mr. Guillermo Vogel Director Tenaris 

< 1l Paolo Rocca and Gianfelice Rocca are brothers, and Roberto Bonatti is Paolo and Gianfelice Rocca's first cousin. 

16 

12 

14 

16 

17 

16 

2 

I 

16 

16 

Age at 
December 
31,2018 

69 

67 

56 

79 

70 

66 

67 

58 

40 

76 

68 

Roberto Bonatti. Mr. Bonatti is a member of the Company's board of directors. He is a grandson of Agostino 
Rocca, founder of the Techint Group, a group of companies controlled by San Faustin. Throughout his career in 
the Techint Group he has been involved specifically in the engineering and construction and corporate sectors. 
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He was first employed by the Techint Group in 1976, as deputy resident engineer in Venezuela. In 1984, he 
became a director of San Faustin, and since 2001 he has served as its president. In addition, Mr. Bonatti 

currently serves as president of Techint Financial Corporation N.V. He is also a member of the board of 
directors of Ternium. Mr. Bonatti is an Italian citizen. 

Carlos Condorelli. Mr. Condorelli is a member of the Company's board of directors. He served as the 
Company's Chief Financial Officer from October 2002 until September 2007. He is also a board member of 
Ternium. He has held several positions within Tenaris, including also the Chief Financial Officer position in 
some of the principal Tenaris Group companies and member of the Company's audit committee between 

November 1, 2017 and May 2, 2018. He also served as president of the board of directors of Empresa 
Distribuidora La Plata S.A. ("Edelap"), an Argentine utilities company. Mr. Condorelli is an Argentine citizen. 

German Cura. Mr. Cura is a member of the Company's board of directors and also holds the position of Vice 
Chairman of the Board. He served as president of our operations in North America until May 2, 2018, a position 
held since 2006. He was first employed by Siderca in 1988. Previously, he served as Siderca's exports director, 
Tamsa's exports director and commercial director, sales and marketing manager of our Middle East subsidiary, 

president of Algoma Tubes, president and Chief Executive Officer of Maverick Tubulars and president and 
Chief Executive Officer ofHydril, director of our Oilfield Services global business unit and Tenaris commercial 
director. He was also a member of the board of directors of API and currently serves as a member of the board 
of directors of the American Iron and Steel Institute (AISI) and of Deep Ocean AS. He is a marine engineer 
from the Instituto Tecno16gico de Buenos Aires and an MBA graduated from the Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology. Mr. Cura is an U.S. citizen. 

Roberto Monti. Mr. Monti is a member of the Company's board of directors and of its audit committee. He is a 
member of the board of directors of YPF S.A ("YPF). He has served as vice president of exploration and 

production of Repsol YPF and as chairman and Chief Executive Officer of YPF. He was also the president of 
Dowell, a subsidiary of Schlumberger and the president of Schlumberger wire & testing division for East 

Hemisphere Latin America. Mr. Monti is an Argentine citizen. 

Gianfelice Mario Rocca. Mr. Rocca is a member of the Company's board of directors. He is a grandson of 
Agostino Rocca. He is Chairman of the board of directors of San Faustin, member of the board of directors of 
Ternium, president of the Humanitas Group and president of the board of directors of Tenova S.p.A. Moreover, 
in Italy, he is member of the board of Bocconi University, of the advisory board of Politecnico di Milano. At 
international level, he is member of the Harvard Business School Advisory Board. Mr. Rocca is an Italian 
citizen. 

Paolo Rocca. Mr. Rocca is the Chairman of the Company's board of directors and our Chief Executive Officer. 
He is a grandson of Agostino Rocca. He is also the chairman of the board of directors of Ternium, a director and 
vice president of San Faustin, and a director of Tech int Financial Corporation. He is a member of the executive 
committee of the World Steel Association. Mr. Rocca is an Italian citizen. 

Jaime Serra Puche. Mr. Serra Puche is a member of the Company's board of directors and of its audit 
committee. He is the chairman of SAI Consultores, a Mexican consulting firm, and a member of the board of 
directors of the Mexico Fund, Grupo Vitro, and chairman of the board of BBVA Bancomer. Mr. Serra Puche 
served as Mexico's Undersecretary of Revenue, Secretary of Trade and Industry, and Secretary of Finance. He 
led the negotiation and implementation ofNAFTA. Mr. Serra Puche is a Mexican citizen. 

Yves Speeckaert. Mr. Speeckaert is a member of the Company's board of directors. He served as director of 
KPMG Consulting in London, United Kingdom and Sao Paulo, Brazil, where he led various high-profile 
engagements in the telecom, energy and agri-business industries. He was also director of structured finance of 
Banca Intesa-Sanpaolo (London). Since 20 IO he is a Luxembourg-based independent director of regulated 
investment funds (mostly private equity, RE, and UCITS funds, as well as impact funds) and he is a member of 
the board of directors of several industrial holdings. He is also active in carbon offsetting and climate change 
mitigation strategies with funds, governments and corporations particularly as related to Corporate 
Environmental and Social Responsibility (ESR). He is a member of the Luxembourg Institute of Administrators 
(ILA). He holds an MBA from the University of California at Berkeley. Mr. Speeckaert is a Belgian citizen. 

Monica Tiuba. Ms. Tiuba is a member of the Company's board of directors and of its audit committee. She is a 
Brazilian qualified lawyer and accountant with over 17 years of professional experience in Brazil and 
Luxembourg. She started her career at Barbosa, Mussnich & Aragao law firm in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, where 
she practiced corporate law, M&A and tax litigation. She worked in EY and PwC, in the Brazil and 
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Luxembourg offices, advising multinational clients, private equity houses and family offices. She gained 
banking experience working as international senior wealth planner at Banque Edmond de Rothschild, in 

Luxembourg. She holds a specialization in EU tax law from Leiden University and a Master of Laws in 
international taxation from Vienna University of Economics. Ms. Tiuba is a Brazilian citizen. 

Amadeo Vazquez y Vazquez. Mr. Vazquez y Vazquez is a member of the Company's board of directors and the 
chairman of its audit committee. He is an independent alternate director of Gas Natural BAN, S.A, of Grupo 
Gas Natural Fenosa. He is a member of the advisory board of the Fundaci6n de Investigaciones Econ6micas 
Latinoamericanas and member of the Asociaci6n Empresaria Argentina. He is a business consultant and 
previously served as Chief Executive Officer of Banco Rio de la Plata S.A. until August 1997, independent 
director and chairman of the audit committee of BBV A Banco Frances S.A. until 2003, and Chairman of the 
board of directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. until April 2007. Mr. Vazquez y Vazquez is a Spanish and 
Argentine citizen. 

Guillermo Vogel. Mr. Vogel is a member of the Company's board of directors and also holds the position of 
Vice Chairman of the Board. He is the chairman of Grupo Collado and Exportaciones IM Promoci6n, and 
served as president of Canacero until April 16, 2018. Mr. Vogel is also a member of the board of directors of 
each of Techint, S.A. de C.V., Corporaci6n Alfa, Banco Santander (Mexico) S.A, the Universidad Panamericana 
- IP ADE, Rassini, Corporaci6n Mexicana de Inversiones de Capital, Innovare, Grupo Assa and the American
Iron and Steel Institute. In addition, he is a member of The Trilateral Commission and member of the
International Board of The Manhattan School of Music. Mr. Vogel is a Mexican citizen.

Board members Monti, Serra Puche, Speeckaert, Tiuba, Vazquez y Vazquez qualify as independent directors for 
purposes of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act Rule I 0A-3(b )( 1 ), and board members Messrs. Monti, Serra 
Puche, Speeckaert and Vazquez y Vazquez also qualify as independent directors under the Company's articles 
of association. 

Director Liability 

Each director must act in the interest of the Company, and in accordance with applicable laws, regulations, and 

the Company's articles of association. Directors are also bound by a general duty of care owed to the Company. 

Under the Luxembourg Company Law, a director may be liable to the Company for any damage caused by 
management errors, such as wrongful acts committed during the execution of his or her mandate, and to the 
Company, its shareholders and third parties in the event that the Company, its shareholders or third parties suffer 

a loss due to an infringement of either the Luxembourg Company Law on commercial companies or the 
Company's articles of association. 

Under Luxembourg law, unless the decision of the board of directors relates to ordinary business entered into 
under normal conditions, any director having a direct or indirect financial interest conflicting with that of the 
Company in a transaction which has to be considered by the board of directors, must advise the board thereof 
and cause a record of his statement to be included in the minutes of the meeting, and may not take part in these 
deliberations. At the next following general meeting, before any other resolution is put to vote, a special report 
must be made on any transactions in which any of the directors may have had an interest conflicting with that of 
the Company. 

Causes of action against directors for damages may be initiated by the Company upon a resolution of the general 
shareholders' meeting passed by a simple majority vote, irrespective of the number of shares represented at the 
meeting. Causes of action against directors who misappropriate corporate assets or commit a breach of trust may 
be brought by any shareholder for personal losses different from those of the Company. 

An action may also be brought against the directors on behalf of the Company by shareholders who, at the 
general meeting which decided upon discharge of such directors or members, owned securities with the right to 
vote at such meeting representing at least ten per cent of the votes attaching to all securities. 

It is customary in Luxembourg that the shareholders expressly discharge the members of the board of directors 
from any liability arising out of or in connection with the exercise of their mandate when approving the annual 
accounts of the Company at the annual general shareholders meeting. However, any such discharge will not 
release the directors from liability for any damage caused by unrevealed acts of mismanagement or unrevealed 
breaches of the Luxembourg Company Law or the Company's articles of association, nor will it release the 
directors from liability for any personal loss of the shareholders independent and separate from the losses 

61 

NON-CONFIDENTIAL

00207



Tenaris S.A. Annual Report 2018 

suffered by the Company due to a breach either revealed and unrevealed of either the Luxembourg Company 
Law or the Company's articles of association. 

Audit Committee 

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, as supplemented by the audit committee's charter, for as long 
as the Company's shares are listed on at least one regulated market, the Company must have an audit committee 
composed of at least three members, the majority of whom must qualify as independent directors under the 
Company's articles of association. 

Under the Company's articles of association, an independent director is a director who: 

• is not and has not been employed by us or our subsidiaries in an executive capacity for the preceding
five years;

• is not a person that controls us, directly or indirectly, and is not a member of the board of directors of a
company controlling us, directly or indirectly;

• does not have (and is not affiliated with a company or a firm that has) a significant business
relationship with us, our subsidiaries or our controlling shareholder;

• is not and has not been affiliated with or employed by a present or former auditor of us, our
subsidiaries or our controlling shareholder for the preceding five years; and

• is not a spouse, parent, sibling or relative up to the third degree of any of the above persons.

The audit committee of the Company's board of directors currently consists of four members: Roberto Monti, 
Jaime Serra Puche, Monica Tiuba and Amadeo Vazquez y Vazquez, who were appointed to the audit committee 
on May 2, 2018. All of them qualify as independent directors for purposes of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act 
Rule IOA-3(b)(I), and Messrs. Monti, Serra Puche and Vazquez y Vazquez also qualify as independent 
directors under the Company's articles of association. The board of directors of the Company has determined 
that Ms. Tiuba is competent in accounting or auditing matters. In addition, the membership of the audit 
committee as a whole has sufficient relevant knowledge of the business and financial experience to properly 
discharge its functions. 

The audit committee operates under a charter which has been amended and restated by the board of directors on 
October 3 I, 20 I 8, to implement adequate procedures to discharge the audit committee's duties and 
responsibilities under applicable law, including the Audit Reform Law. The audit committee assists the board of 
directors in its oversight responsibilities relating to (i) the integrity of the Company's financial statements; (ii) 
the effectiveness of the Company's systems of internal control, risk management and internal audit over 
financial reporting; and (iii) the independence and performance of the Company's external auditors. The audit 
committee also performs other duties entrusted to it by the Company's board of directors or required to be 
performed by it under applicable laws and regulations. 

In addition, the audit committee is required by the Company's articles of association to review "material 
transactions", as such term is defined under the Company's articles of association, to be entered into by the 
Company or its subsidiaries with "related parties", as such term is defined in the Company's articles of 
association, in order to determine whether their terms are consistent with market conditions or are otherwise fair 
to the Company and/or its subsidiaries. In the case of material transactions entered into by the Company's 
subsidiaries with related parties, the Company's audit committee will review those transactions entered into by 
those subsidiaries whose boards of directors do not have independent members. 

Under the Company's articles of association, as supplemented by the audit committee's charter, a material 
transaction is: 

any transaction between the Company or its subsidiaries with related parties (i) with an individual value 
equal to or greater than $IO million, or (ii) with an individual value lower than $IO million, when the 
aggregate sum - as reflected in the financial statements of the four fiscal quarters of the Company 
preceding the date of determination- of any series of transactions for such lower value that can be 
deemed to be parts of a unique or single transaction (but excluding any transactions that were reviewed 
and approved by Company's audit committee or board of directors, as applicable, or the independent 
members of the board of directors of any of its subsidiaries) exceeds 1.5% of the Company's 
consolidated net sales made in the fiscal year preceding the year on which the determination is made; 
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any corporate reorganization transaction (including a merger, spin-off or bulk transfer of a business) 
affecting the Company for the benefit of, or involving, a related party; and

any corporate reorganization transaction (including a merger, spin-off or bulk transfer of a business) not 
reviewed and approved by the independent members of the board of directors of any of the Company's 
direct or indirect subsidiaries, affecting any of the Company's direct or indirect subsidiaries for the 
benefit of, or involving, a related party. 

The audit committee has the power (to the maximum extent permitted by applicable laws) to request that the 
Company or relevant subsidiary promptly provide all information necessary for the audit committee to assess 
the material transactions with related parties that it is required to review. A material related party transaction 
shall not be entered into without prior review by the Company's audit committee and subsequent approval by 
the board of directors unless (i) the circumstances underlying the proposed transaction justify that it be entered 
into before the time it can actually be reviewed by the Company's audit committee or approved by the board of 
directors and (ii) the related party agrees to unwind the transaction if the Company's board of directors does not 
approve it. 

The audit committee has the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to the fulfillment of its 
responsibilities and has direct access to the Company's external auditors as well as anyone in the Company and, 
subject to applicable laws and regulations, its subsidiaries. In addition, the audit committee may engage, at the 
Company's expense, independent counsel and other internal or external advisors to review, investigate or 
otherwise advise on, any matter as the committee may determine to be necessary to carry out its purposes and 
responsibilities. 

In addition, the Company has established at management-level a critical risk committee that assists the 
Company's board of directors, the audit committee and the Chief Executive Officer with the oversight of risks 
to which Tenaris is exposed and in the monitoring and review of the risk management framework and processes, 
with a focus on those risks deemed to be critical. In the performance of its functions, the critical risk committee 
facilitates the identification and assessment of critical risks (including cybersecurity, environmental, health and 
safety, product liability, intellectual property, financial reporting and regulatory risks), the development of 
mitigating actions, and the monitoring of action plans. The critical risk committee periodically reports to the 
board of directors, the audit committee and the Chief Executive Officer on its activities. 

Senior Management 

Our current senior management as of the date of this annual report consists of: 

Name 

Mr. Paolo Rocca 
Mr. Edgardo Carlos 
Mr. Antonio Caprera 
Mr. Gabriel Casanova 
Mr. Alejandro Lammertyn 
Ms. Paola Mazzoleni 
Mr. Marcelo Ramos 
Mr. Guillermo Gabriel Moreno <11 
Mr. Luca Zanotti O l

Mr. Sergio de la Maza <1l
Mr. Ricardo Prosperi OJ 
Mr. Renato Catallini 
Mr. Javier Martinez Alvarez 
Mr. Gabriel Podskubka 
Mr. Michele Della Briotta 

Position 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
Chief Financial Officer 
Chief Industrial Officer 
Chief Supply Chain Officer 
Chief Digital and Planning Officer 
Chief Human Resources Officer 
Chief Technology Officer 
President, Canada 
President, United States 
President, Mexico 
President, Andean 
President, Brazil 
President, Southern Cone 
President, Eastern Hemisphere 
President, Europe 

Age at 

December 31, 2018 

66 
52 
58 
60 
53 
42 
55 
54 
51 
62 
56 
52 
52 
45 
46 

(I) Effective as of May 2, 20 I 8, Gennan Cura ceased to act as president of our North American operations and was appointed as member
of the board of directors. His position was dissolved and Luca Zanotti continued to act as the president of our U.S. operations and 
Guillenno Gabriel Moreno continued to act as the president of our Canadian operations. Effective October I, 2018, the position 
President, Central America, under Sergio de la Maza was dissolved, replaced by President, Mexico, under Sergio de la Maza, and 
President, Andean, under Ricardo Prosperi.

Paolo Rocca. Mr. Rocca is the chairman of the Company's board of directors and our Chief Executive Officer. 
He is a grandson of Agostino Rocca. He is also the chairman of the board of directors of Ternium, a director and 
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vice president of San Faustin, and a director of Techint Financial Corporation. He is a member of the Executive 
Committee of the World Steel Association. Mr. Rocca is an Italian citizen. 

Edgardo Carlos. Mr. Carlos currently serves as our Chief Financial Officer, a position he has held since 2013. 
He joined the Techint Group in 1987 in the accounting department of Siderar. After serving as financial 
manager for Sidor, in Venezuela, in 2001 he joined Tenaris as our financial director. In 2005 he was appointed 
administration and financial manager for North America and in 2007 he became administration and financial 
director for Central America. In 2009 he was appointed economic and financial planning director, until he 
assumed his current position. Mr. Carlos is an Argentine citizen. 

Antonio Caprera. Mr. Caprera currently serves as our Chief Industrial Officer, a position he assumed in April 
2017. He joined the company in 1990. From 2000 to 2006 he served as quality director at Dalmine in Italy, 

where he later assumed responsibilities as production director until 2012. From that year and until 2015 he 
served as production director at Siderca in Argentina, after which he assumed responsibilities as global 
industrial coordinator based in Mexico until March 2017. Mr. Caprera is an Italian citizen. 

Gabriel Casanova. Mr. Casanova currently serves as our Chief Supply Chain Officer, with responsibility for the 

execution of all contractual deliveries to customers. After graduating as a marine and mechanical engineer, he 
joined Siderca's export department in 1987. In 1995 he became Siderca's Chief Representative in China and 
from I 997 to 2009 he held several positions in the commercial area in Dalmine. In 2009 he became the head of 
our supply chain network and in October 20 I 2 he assumed his current position. Mr. Casanova is an Argentine 
citizen. 

Alejandro Lammertyn. Mr. Lammertyn currently serves as our Chief Digital and Planning Officer. He has 
served as our Chief Planning and Commercial Coordination Officer since 2013 and assumed additional 
responsibility for digital strategy and implementation in January 2019. Mr. Lammertyn began his career with 
Tenaris in I 990. Previously, he served as assistant to the chief executive officer for marketing, organization and 
mill allocation, supply chain director, commercial director and Eastern Hemisphere area manager. Mr. 
Lammertyn is an Argentine citizen. 

Paola Mazzoleni. Ms. Mazzoleni currently serves as our Chief Human Resources Officer, a position she 
assumed on January I, 2016. After receiving a degree in Philosophy, she started her career in Dalmine in 2001 

in the human resources department, working in recruitment and selection. She next coordinated the company's 
Global Trainee Program and then served as the regional head in Italy of Tenaris University. Ms. Mazzoleni was 
appointed as human resources director in Romania in 2008, in Italy in 2012 and in the United States in 2014. 
Ms. Mazzoleni is an Italian citizen. 

Marcelo Ramos. Mr. Ramos currently serves as our Chief Technology Officer, with responsibility over 
technology and quality. Previously he served as corporate quality director and managing director ofNKKTubes. 
He joined the Techint Group in 1987 and has held various positions within Tenaris. He assumed his current 

position in April 2010, when the quality and technology departments were combined. Mr. Ramos is an 
Argentine citizen. 

Guillermo Gabriel Moreno. Mr. Moreno currently serves as our president of our operations in Canada. He first 
joined Siderca in 1987 and gained progressive responsibilities in finance and marketing positions until I 993. 
From 1993 to 1996, he became responsible for sales in Latin America. In I 996 he became Tamsa's exports sales 
director. In 1999 he became the director of the Pipeline Services business unit and eventually took over the 
position of director of Oilfield Services business unit in 2004. He served as planning director from 2010 to 
2012, when he assumed his current position. Mr. Moreno is an Argentine citizen. 

Luca Zanotti. Mr. Zanotti currently serves as president of our operations in the United States. In 2002, he joined 
Exiros, the procurement company for the Techint Group, as planning and administration director. He was later 
promoted to raw materials director and in July 2007 became managing director of Exiros, a position he held 
until 2010. He served as regional manager Europe, and managing director of Dalmine from 2011 to 2015, when 

he assumed his current position. Before joining the Techint Group, he was a senior manager at A.T. Kearney in 
Milan, where he worked from 1998 to 2002, and prior to that he held various business development positions in 
the Far East for Lovato Electric. Mr. Zanotti is an Italian citizen. 
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Sergio de la Maza. Mr. de la Maza currently serves as our president, Mexico and also serves as managing 
director and executive vice-president of Tamsa. He first joined Tamsa in 1980. From 1983 to 1988, Mr. de la 
Maza worked in several positions in Tamsa. He then became manager of Tamsa's new pipe factory and later 
served as manufacturing manager and quality director of Tamsa. Subsequently, he was named manufacturing 
director of Siderca. He assumed his current position in 2003. Mr. de la Maza is a Mexican citizen. 

Ricardo Prosperi. Mr. Prosperi currently serves as president of our operations in the Andean Region, Central 
America and the Caribbean, based in Colombia. He joined the Techint Group in 1985, working in the Siderar 
planning department. From 1985 to 1998, Mr. Prosperi worked in several positions in Siderar before becoming 
the exports general manager of Sidor. He later went on to be the commercial director in Siderar. After a period 
as president of Ternium Sidor in Venezuela and then International Area Manager for Ternium, he joined Tenaris 
in 2010, assuming his current position. Mr. Prosperi is an Argentine citizen. 

Renato Catallini. Mr. Catallini currently serves as president of our operations in Brazil, a position that he 
assumed in October 2012, after having served as our supply chain director since August 2007. He joined Tenaris 
in 2001 in the supply management area, as a general manager of Exiros Argentina. In July 2002, he was 
appointed operations director and subsequently, in January 2005, became managing director of Exiros. Before 
joining Tenaris, he worked for ten years in the energy sector, working for TGN, Nova Gas Internacional, 
TransCanada Pipelines and TotaIFinaElf, among others. Mr. Catallini is an Argentine and Italian citizen. 

Javier Martinez Alvarez. Mr. Martinez Alvarez currently serves as president of our operations in the Southern 
Cone, a position he assumed in June 2010, having previously served as our Andean area manager. He began his 
career in the Tech int Group in 1990, holding several positions including planning manager of Siderar and 
commercial director of Ternium-Sidor. In 2006, he joined Tenaris as our Venezuela area manager. Mr. Martinez 
Alvarez is an Argentine citizen. 

Gabriel Podskubka. Mr. Podskubka currently serves as president of our operations in the Eastern Hemisphere, 
based in Dubai. He assumed his current position in April 2013 after serving as the head of our operations in 
Eastern Europe for four years. After graduating as an industrial engineer Mr. Podskubka joined the Techint 
Group in 1995 in the marketing department of Siderca. He held various positions in the marketing, commercial, 
and industrial areas until he was appointed as oil & gas sales director in the United States in 2006. Mr. 
Podskubka is an Argentine citizen. 

Michele Della Briotta. Mr. Della Briotta currently serves as president of our operations in Europe, a position he 
assumed in July 2016. He first joined Tenaris in 1997 and has worked in areas such as industrial planning, 
operations, supply chain and commercial in Italy, Mexico, Argentina and the United States. Most recently he 
served as Tenaris's area manager for Romania. Mr. Della Briotta is an Italian citizen. 

Directors' and senior management compensation 

The compensation of the members of the Company's board of directors is determined at the annual ordinary 
general shareholders' meeting. Each member of the board of directors received as compensation for their 
services for the year 2018 a fee of $115,000. The chairman of the audit committee received as additional 
compensation a fee of $65,000, while the other members of the audit committee received an additional fee of 
$55,000. Under the Company's articles of association, the members of the audit committee are not eligible to 
participate in any incentive compensation plan for employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the cash compensation of directors and senior 
managers amounted to $33.7 million, $45.8 million and $38.6 million, respectively. These amounts include cash 
benefits paid to certain senior managers in connection with pre-existing retirement plans. In addition, directors 
and senior managers received 558, 484 and 500 thousand units for a total amount of $5.6 million, $4.7 million 
and $4.8 million, respectively, in connection with the Employee retention and long-term incentive program 
described in note O (3) "Employee benefits - Other long term benefits" to our audited consolidated financial 
statements included in this annual report. 

There are no service contracts between any director and Tenaris that provide for material benefits upon 
termination of employment. 
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Auditors 

The Company's articles of association require the appointment of an external audit firm in accordance with 

applicable law. The primary responsibility of the auditor is to audit the Company's annual accounts and 
consolidated financial statements and to submit a report on the accounts to shareholders at the annual 
shareholders' meeting. In accordance with applicable law, auditors are chosen from among the members of the 
Luxembourg Institute of Independent Auditors (Jnstitut des reviseurs d 'entreprises ). 

Auditors are appointed by the general shareholders' meeting upon recommendation from the Company's audit 
committee through a resolution passed by a simple majority vote, irrespective of the number of shares 
represented at the meeting, to serve one-year renewable terms. Auditors may be dismissed by the general 
shareholders' meeting at any time, with or without cause. Luxembourg law does not allow directors to serve 
concurrently as external auditors. As part of their duties, the auditors report directly to the audit committee. 

Pursuant to its charter, the Company's audit committee is responsible for, among other things, the oversight of 
the independence and performance of the Company's external auditors. The audit committee is also responsible 
to consider and make recommendations to the board of directors, to be put to shareholders for approval at the 
annual general meeting of shareholders, regarding the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the 
Company's external auditors. In addition, the audit committee is responsible to review the appropriateness and 
provision of permitted non-audit fees and to review and approve any fees (whether for audit, audit-related and 
non-audit services) payable to the Company's external auditors. On a yearly basis, in the performance of its 
functions, the audit committee considers the appointment of the Company's external auditors and reviews, 
together with management and the external auditor, the audit plan, audit related services and other non-audit 
services. The audit committee eventually requests the board of diretors to submit the audit committee's 
recommendation for the appointment of the Company's external auditor for each fiscal year and the payment of 
applicable fees, for final approval by the general shareholders' meeting. The general shareholders' meeting 
regularly approves such audit fees and authorizes the audit committee to approve any increase or reallocation of 
such audit fees as may be necessary, appropriate or desirable under the circumstances. No services outside the 
scope of the audit committee's approval can be undertaken by the external auditor. 

Our independent approved statutory auditor for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, appointed by the 
shareholders' meeting held on May 2, 2018, was PwC Luxembourg, in connection with the Company's annual 
accounts and our consolidated financial statements. At the next annual general shareholders' meeting, it will be 
proposed that PwC Luxembourg be re-appointed as the Company's independent approved statutory auditors for 
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, to be engaged until the next annual general meeting of shareholders 
that will be convened to decide on the Company's 2019 annual accounts. 

Fees Paid to the Company's External Auditor 

In 2018 and 2017, PwC served as the principal external auditor for the Company. Fees for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 are detailed below. 

Thousands of U.S. dollars 

Audit Fees 
Audit-Related Fees 
Tax Fees 
All Other Fees 

Total 

Audit Fees 

For the year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

3,841 3,995 
43 88 

23 
7 30 

3,891 4,136 

Audit fees were paid for professional services rendered by the auditors for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and internal control over financial reporting of the Company, the statutory financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, and any other audit services required for the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission or other regulatory filings. 
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Audit-Related Fees 

Audit-related fees are typically services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of 

the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the statutory financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiaries and are not reported under the audit fee item above. This item includes fees for attestation 

services on financial information of the Company and its subsidiaries included in their annual reports that are 
filed with their respective regulators. 

Tax Fees 

Fees paid for tax compliance professional services. 

All Other Fees 

Fees paid for the support in the development of training courses. 

Audit Committee's Pre-approval Policies and Procedures 

The Company's audit committee is responsible for, among other things, the oversight of the Company's external 
auditors. The audit committee has adopted in its charter a policy of pre-approval of audit and permissible non­

audit services provided by its external auditors. 

Under the policy, the audit committee makes its recommendations to the shareholders' meeting concerning the 
continuing appointment or termination of the Company's external auditors. On a yearly basis, the audit 

committee reviews together with management and the external auditor, the audit plan, audit related services and 
other non-audit services and approves, ad-referendum of the general shareholders' meeting, the related fees. The 

general shareholders' meeting normally approves such audit fees and authorizes the audit committee to approve 
any increase or reallocation of such audit fees as may be necessary, appropriate or desirable under the 
circumstances. The audit committee delegates to its Chairman the authority to consider and approve, on behalf 
of the audit committee, additional non-audit services that were not recognized at the time of engagement, which 

must be reported to the other members of the audit committee at its next meeting. No services outside the scope 
of the audit committee's approval can be undertaken by the external auditor. 

Share Ownership 

To our knowledge, the total number of shares (in the form of ordinary shares or ADSs) beneficially owned by 

our directors and senior management as of the date of this annual report was 933,817, which represents 0.08% 
of our outstanding shares. 

The following table provides information regarding share ownership by our directors and senior management: 

Director or Officer 

Guillermo Vogel 
Carlos Condorelli 
Guillermo G. Moreno 

Edgardo Carlos 
Gabriel Podskubka 

Total 

Major Shareholders 

Number of Shares 

Held 

850,446 
67,211 

8,214 

4,000 
3,946 

933,817 

The following table shows the beneficial ownership of the shares by (1) the Company's major shareholders 
(persons or entities that have notified the Company of holdings in excess of 5% of the Company's share capital), 
non-affiliated public shareholders, and (2) the Company's directors and senior management as a group. The 
information below is based on the most recent information provided to the Company. 
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Identity of Person or Group 

San Faustin <1>
Directors and senior management as a group 
Public 
Total 

Number Percent 

713,605,187 60.45% 
933,817 0.08% 

465,997,826 39.47% 
1,180,536,830 100.00% 

Cll San Faustin owns all of its shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary Techint Holdings S.a r.1. The Dutch 
private foundation RP STAK holds voting rights in San Faustin sufficient to control San Faustin. No person or group of persons controls RP 
STAK. 

The voting rights of the Company's major shareholders do not differ from the voting rights of other 
shareholders. None of its outstanding shares have any special control rights. There are no restrictions on voting 
rights, nor are there, to the Company's knowledge, any agreements among shareholders of the Company that 
might result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or the exercise of voting rights. 

The Company does not know of any significant agreements or other arrangements to which the Company is a 
party and which take effect, alter or terminate in the event of a change of control of the Company. The Company 
does not know of any arrangements, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of 
control of the Company. 

Information required under the Luxembourg Law on takeovers of May 19, 2006 

The Company is a public limited liability company (societe anonyme) organized under the laws of Luxembourg. 
Its object and purpose, as set forth in Article 2 of its articles of association, is the taking of interests, in any 
form, in corporations or other business entities, and the administration, management, control and development 
thereof. The Company is registered under the number B85 203 in the Luxembourg Registre de Commerce et des 
Societes. 

The Company's authorized share capital is fixed by the Company's articles of association as amended from time 
to time with the approval of shareholders at an extraordinary general shareholder's meeting. The Company has 
an authorized share capital of a single class of 2,500,000,000 shares with a par value of $1.00 per share. There 
were 1,180,536,830 shares issued as of December 31, 2018. All issued shares are fully paid. 

The Company's articles of association authorize the board of directors, or any delegate(s) duly appointed by the 
board of directors, to issue shares within the limits of the authorized share capital against contributions in cash, 
contributions in kind or by way of incorporation of reserves, at such time and on such terms and conditions, 
including the issue price, as the board of directors, or its delegate(s), may in its or in their discretion resolve. The 
validity period of such authorization will expire (unless renewed) on June 5, 2020. 

The Company's shareholders have authorized the board of directors to waive, suppress or limit any pre-emptive 
subscription rights of the shareholders provided for by law to the extent it deems such waiver, suppression or 
limitation advisable for any issue or issues of shares within the authorized share capital; and have waived any 
pre-emptive subscription rights provided for by law and related procedures. The validity period of such 
authorization will expire (unless renewed) on June 5, 2020. However, under the Company's articles of 
association, the Company's existing shareholders shall have a preferential right to subscribe for any new shares 
issued pursuant to the authorization granted to its board of directors, except in the following cases (in which 
cases no preferential subscription rights shall apply): 

• any issuance of shares (including, without limitation, the direct issuance of shares or upon the exercise of
options, rights convertible into shares, or similar instruments convertible or exchangeable into shares)
against a contribution other than in cash; and

• any issuance of shares (including by way of free shares or at discount), up to an amount of 1.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company, to directors, officers, agents or employees of the Company, its 
direct or indirect subsidiaries, or its affiliates, including, without limitation, the direct issuance of shares 
or upon the exercise of options, rights convertible into shares, or similar instruments convertible or
exchangeable into shares, issued for the purpose of compensation or incentive for any such persons or in 
relation thereto (which the board of directors shall be authorized to issue upon such terms and conditions
as it deems fit).
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The Company's articles of association do not contain any redemption or sinking fund provisions, nor do they 

impose any restrictions on the transfer of the Company's shares. 

Amendment of the Company's articles of association requires the approval of shareholders at an extraordinary 
shareholders' meeting with a two-thirds majority vote of the shares represented at the meeting. 

The Company is controlled by San Faustin, which owns 60.45% of the Company's outstanding shares, through 
its wholly owned subsidiary Techint Holdings S.a r.l. The Dutch private foundation (Stichting) RP ST AK holds 

voting rights in San Faustin sufficient to control San Faustin. No person or group of persons controls RP ST AK. 

Our directors and senior management as a group own 0.08% of the Company's outstanding shares, while the 
remaining 39.47% are publicly traded. The Company's shares trade on the Italian Stock Exchange, the Buenos 
Aires Stock Exchange and the Mexican Stock Exchange; in addition, the Company's ADSs trade on the New 

York Stock Exchange. See "Corporate Governance - Major Shareholders". 

None of the Company's outstanding securities has any special control rights. The Company's articles of 
association do not contain any provision that would have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change 

in control of the Company and that would operate only with respect to a merger, acquisition or corporate 
restructuring involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries. ln addition, the Company does not know of any 
significant agreements or other arrangements to which the Company is a party which take effect, alter or 

terminate in the event of a change of control of the Company. There are no agreements between the Company 
and members of its board of directors or employees providing for compensation if they resign or are made 

redundant without reason, or if their employment ceases following a change in control of the Company. 

Management is vested in a board of directors. Directors are elected at the annual ordinary shareholders' meeting 
to serve one-year renewable terms. See "Corporate Governance - Board of Directors". 
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Related Party Transactions 

Tenaris is a party to several related party transactions as described below. Material related party transactions are 
subject to the review of the audit committee of the Company's board of directors and the requirements of 
Luxembourg law. For further details on the approval process for related party transactions, see "Corporate 
Governance -Audit Committee". 

Purchases of Steel Products and Raw Materials 

In the ordinary course of business, we purchase round steel bars, flat steel products and other raw materials from 
Ternium or its subsidiaries. These purchases are made on similar terms and conditions as sales made by these 
companies to unrelated third parties. These transactions include: 

Purchases of round steel bars made under a long-term agreement, for use in our seamless steel pipe 
operations in Mexico, which amounted to $102 million in 2018, $120 million in 2017 and $9 million in 
2016. 

Purchases of flat steel products for use in the production of welded pipes and accessories, which 
amounted to $38 million in 2018, $43 million in 2017 and $18 million in 2016. 

Purchases of scrap and other raw materials for use in the production of seamless pipes, which amounted 
to $2 million in 2018. 

In the ordinary course of business, we purchase flat steel products for use in our welded steel pipe operations, 
from Usiminas. These purchases, which are made on similar terms and conditions as sales made by this 
company to unrelated third parties, amounted to $68 million in 2018, $43 million in 2017 and $34 million in 
2016. 

Sales of Raw Materials 

In the ordinary course of business, we sell raw materials and other production inputs to Ternium or its 
subsidiaries. These sales are made on similar terms and conditions as purchases made by these companies from 
unrelated third parties. These transactions include: 

Sales of ferrous scrap, and other raw materials, which amounted to $1 I million in 2018, $26 million in 
2017 and $14 million in 2016. 

Sales of steam and operational services from our Argentine electric power generating facility in San 
Nicolas. These sales amounted to $13 million in 2018, $11 million in 2017 and $12 million in 2016. On 
January 29th 2019, the electric power generation facility was shut down. 

Purchase Agency Services and Sales of Materials 

Exiros B.V. ("Exiros"), in which we have 50% share ownership and Ternium has the remaining 50% share 
ownership, provides to Tecpetrol and other companies controlled by San Faustin with purchase agency services 
and sales of raw materials and other products. Under the Exiros shareholder arrangements, Tenaris recognizes 
Exiros' assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in relation to its interest in the joint operation. Exiros' sales to 
companies controlled by San Faustin totaled $16 million in 2018. 

Supply of Electric Energy 

Techgen is an electric power plant in Mexico, which is currently owned 48% by Ternium, 30% by Tecpetrol and 
22% by Tenaris. Techgen became fully operational on December 1, 2016. Ternium and Tenaris currently 
contract 78% and 22%, respectively, of Techgen's power capacity. Sales to Tenaris amounted to $36 million in 
2018, $29 million in 2017 and $4 million in 2016. 

Supply of Natural Gas 

We are party to contracts with Tecpetrol, Transportadora de Gas Norte S.A. ("TGN"), Litoral Gas and Energy 
Consulting Services relating to the supply of natural gas to our operations in Argentina. Tecpetrol, a company 
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controlled by San Faustin, is engaged in oil and gas exploration and production and has rights to various oil and 
gas fields in Argentina and elsewhere in America. TGN operates two major pipelines in Argentina connecting 
the major gas basins of Neuquen and Noroeste-Bolivia to the major consumption centers in Argentina, while 
Litoral Gas distributes gas in the Province of Santa Fe and in the northeastern section of the Province of Buenos 
Aires. Energy Consulting Services is a company engaged in energy and management consulting, representing 
one of the major natural gas traders in Argentina. San Faustin holds significant but non-controlling interests in 
TGN, Litoral Gas and Energy Consulting Services. 

Tecpetrol supplies Siderca with natural gas requirements under market conditions and according to local 
regulations. Tecpetrol's sales to Tenaris amounted to $95 million in 2018 and $7 million in 2017. 

TGN charges Siderca a price to transport its natural gas supplies that is equivalent on a comparable basis to 
prices paid by other industrial users. The Argentine government regulates the general framework under which 
TGN operates and prices its services. TGN's sales to Tenaris amounted to $8 million in 2018, $3 million in 
2017 and $2 million in 2016. 

Litoral Gas's sales to Tenaris totaled $3 million in 2018, $5 million in 2017 and $3 million in 2016. 

Energy Consulting Services's sales to Tenaris totaled $2 million in 2018, $7 million in 2017 and $5 million in 
2016. 

Provision of Engineering and Labor Services 

We contract with certain companies controlled by San Faustin engineering and non-specialist manual labor 
services, such as industrial cleaning, general maintenance, handling of by-products and construction services. 
Fees accrued for these services in the aggregate amounted to $33 million in 2018, $40 million in 2017 and $45 
million in 2016. 

Sales of Steel Pipes and Sucker Rods 

In the ordinary course of business, we sell steel pipes, sucker rods and related services to other companies 
controlled or under the significant influence of San Faustin. These sales, which are made principally to 
companies involved in the construction of gas pipelines and to Tecpetrol and joint ventures in which Tecpetrol 
participates, for its oil and gas drilling operations, are made on similar terms and conditions as sales to unrelated 
third parties. Our sales of steel pipes and sucker rods as well as logistical and certain other services to other 
companies controlled or under significant influence of San Faustin amounted to $129 million in 2018, $95 
million in 2017 and $34 million in 2016. 

Sales of Other Products and Services 

We provide information technology services to companies controlled by San Faustin. Sales of these services 
amounted to $2 million in 2018, $2 million in 2017 and $2 million in 2016. 

Administrative, Legal and Other Support Services 

Finma S.A., Arhsa S.A (merged with Finma on January 1, 2018) and Tech inst S.A. a group of companies 
controlled by San Faustin in which we have a 33% share ownership and other affiliates of San Faustin have the 
remaining share ownership, provide administrative, legal and other support services to San Faustin's affiliates in 
Argentina, including Tenaris. Fees accrued for these services amounted to$ 10 million in 2018, $12 million in 
2017 and $11 million in 2016. 

Loans to Related Parties 

We financed Techgen's Pesqueria project primarily in the fonn of subordinated loans to Techgen. Outstanding 
loans to Techgen as of December 31, 2018, amounted to $99 million, as of December 31, 2017 to $93 million, 
and as of December 31, 2016 to $86 million. These loans generated interest gains in favor of Tenaris in an 
amount of$5 million in 2018, $4 million in 2017 and $2 million in 2016. 
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Other Transactions 

We entered into various contracts with Tenova (and subsidiaries), a company controlled by San Faustin, for the 
provision of furnaces, spare parts, accessories and related services for our facilities. Supplies received amounted 
to $9 million in 2018, $3 million in 2017 and $11 million in 2016. 

We purchased industrial cleaning equipment from companies controlled by San Faustin for an amount of $3 
million in 2016. 

In addition, in the ordinary course of business, from time to time, we carry out other transactions and enter into 
other arrangements with other related parties, none of which are believed to be material. 
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Dividends 

Subject to applicable law, all shares (including shares underlying ADSs) are entitled to participate equally in 
dividends when, as and if declared by the shareholders at the annual general shareholders' meeting, out offunds 
legally available for such purposes. 

The Company does not have, and has no current plans to establish, a formal dividend policy governing the 
amount and payment of dividends or other distributions. Dividends may be lawfully declared and paid if the 
Company's profits and distributable reserves are sufficient under Luxembourg law. The amount and payment of 
dividends must be determined by a majority vote at a general shareholders' meeting, generally, but not 
necessarily, based on the recommendation of the Company's board of directors. Under Article 21 of the 
Company's articles of association, the board of directors has the power to distribute interim dividends out of 
profits, share premium or any other available reserves, in accordance with applicable law, but payment of such 
dividends must be finally approved by the Company's general shareholders' meeting. 

As provided by Article 21 of the Company's articles of association, dividends or other distributions declared by 
the general meeting as well as interim dividends or other distributions declared by the board of directors will be 
distributed at the times and places determined by the board of directors. The Company will make any and all 
dividend payments and any other distributions in respect of shares registered in the name of any securities 
settlement system or operator of such a system or in the name of any financial institution or other professional 
depositary of securities or any other depositary, whether in cash, shares or other assets, only to such registered 
holder, or otherwise in accordance with such registered holder's instructions, and, as provided by Article 21 of 
the Company's articles of association, that payment shall release the Company from any and all obligations for 
such payment. 

The Company conducts and will continue to conduct its operations through subsidiaries and, accordingly, its 
main source of cash to pay dividends, among other possible sources, will be the dividends received from its 
subsidiaries. See "Principal Risks and Uncertainties - Risks Relating to the Structure of the Company -As a 
holding company, the Company's ability to pay cash dividends depends on the results of operations and 
financial condition of its subsidiaries and could be restricted by legal, contractual or other limitations". 

Under Luxembourg law, claims for dividends will lapse in favor of the Company five years after the date such 
dividends are declared. However, the Company may elect to pay a declared dividend after such period. Declared 
and unpaid dividends held by the Company for the account of its shareholders do not bear interest. 

Pursuant to Luxembourg law, at least 5% of the Company's net profits per year must be allocated to the creation 
of a legal reserve until such reserve has reached an amount equal to 10% of our share capital. If the legal reserve 
later falls below the 10% threshold, at least 5% ( or such lower amount required to reach the 10% threshold) of 
net profits again must be allocated toward the reserve. As of December 31, 2018, the Company's legal reserve 
represented 10% of its share capital. The legal reserve is not available for distribution. 

The following table shows the dividends approved by the Company's shareholders in the last five years: 

Sha re holders' 
meeting date 

May 7, 2014 
May 6, 2015 

May 4, 2016 

May3,2017 
May 2, 2018 

Amount 
Approved dividend 

Per share 
(USD million) (USD) 

508 0.43 

531 0.45 
531 0.45 

484 0.41 
484 0.41 

Dividend payment date 
Per ADS 

Interim Dividend 
Dividend 

(USD) Balance 
0.86 November 2013 May 2014 
0.90 November 2014 May 2015 
0.90 November 2015 May 2016 

0.82 November 2016 May 2017 
0.82 November 2017 May 2018 

On February 20, 2019 the Company's board of directors proposed, for the approval of the annual general 
shareholders' meeting to be held on May 6, 2019, the payment of an annual dividend of $0.41 per share ($0.82 
per ADS), or approximately $484 million, which includes the interim dividend of $0.13 per share ($0.26 per 
ADS) or approximately $153 million, paid on November 21, 2018. If the annual dividend is approved by the 
shareholders, a dividend of $0.28 per share ($0.56 per ADS), or approximately $331 million will be paid on 
May 22, 2019, with an ex-dividend date of May 20, 2019. 
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Employees 

The following table shows the number of persons employed by Tenaris as of December 31: 

2018 2017 2016 

Mexico 5,728 5,139 4,968 
Argentina 5,569 5,221 4,755 
USA 2,410 1,953 1,636 
Italy 2,173 2,088 1,979 
Romania 1,877 1,870 1,631 
Brazil 1,374 1,382 1,166 
Colombia 1,106 1,003 750 
Canada 1,034 919 473 
Indonesia 554 506 509 
Japan 399 410 458 
Other Countries 1,248 1,114 1,074 

23,472 21,605 19,399 

EmQlo�ees in discontinued OQerations (323} 
Total emelol'.ees in continuing oeerations 23,472 21,605 19,076 

The number of our employees increased 9% during 2018 as we continued to adjust our operations to face the 
increase in drilling activity and demand of pipes. Our labor costs worldwide related to continuing operations 
also increased 9%. 

The acquisition of SSP in January 2019 resulted in the incorporation of approximately 850 new employees. 

Approximately 63% of our employees are unionized. In all the countries we have presence, we operate in the 
fully respect of the institutional rules and local norms, generating recognized agreements among all the parties 
involved. Nevertheless, as forging the relationship with the unions imply negotiations, the complexity of the 
conversations is high. Concerning the punctual situation in Mexico that developed during 20 I 7 and that goes 
beyond our company, the leader was confirmed in the position and although the Union is facing internal 
differences, our activities in the plant remain normal. 

Diversity 

Tenaris embraces diversity in all its forms, on the understanding that diverse points of view and perspectives 
contribute to the rational solution of problems and the effective accomplishment of goals. Diversity based on 
ethnicity, gender, creed, race and nationality is part of Tenaris's DNA and constitutes an important 
differentiation aspect of our uniqueness as a global enterprise. Tenaris, as a global organization that draws its 
workforce from diverse cultures and backgrounds, values cultural and geographic adaptability among its 
employees. 

The Company's Code of Conduct prohibits unlawful discrimination in employment relationship and grants all 
persons the right to apply for a position in Tenaris or to be considered for a new position in accordance with 
opening requirements and merit criteria, without any arbitrary discrimination. All employees, at every level, 
must cooperate to maintain a respectful environment should there be personal differences. 
Similarly, the Company's Human Resources Policy promotes equal opportunity and provides that hiring, 
promotion, transfer and other employment decisions will be adopted without regard to race, color, religion, 
gender, age, disability, national origin or sexual orientation. Compensation in Tenaris is strictly based on each 
employee's duties and personal performance, competencies and behavior. In addition, Tenaris conducts periodic 
employees' opinion surveys to have updated information on how our employees perceive the equal 
opportunities culture and management's commitment with diversity and respect for the value of human, cultural 
and lifestyle differences. Finally, Tenaris has organized local diversity committees in all regions working on 
specific regional objectives on diversity. 
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Tenaris S.A. Annual Report 2018 

Non-financial Information 

Tenaris is committed to building a culture of transparency and integrity, based on ethical behavior and 
compliance with the law. We believe this is essential for the sustainability of our activities. 

As of 2016 we formalized an integrated risk-based methodology to better identify, evaluate and prioritize the 
sustainability challenges that can impact our ability to achieve our goals and our relationship with our 
stakeholders. 

The non-financial information required by article 1730-1 of the Luxembourg Company Law and articles 68 and 
68bis of the Luxembourg law of December I 9, 2002 on the commercial and companies register and on the 
accounting records and annual accounts and undertakings, as amended, has been published under the name of 
"Sustainability Report" as of the date of this annual report and is available on www.tenaris.com 
(http ://i r. tenari s. com/reports. cfm). 
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Tenaris SA. Annual Report 2018 

MANAGEMENT CERTIFICATION 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge, that: 

1. the consolidated financial statements prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the European Union, included in this annual report, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of Tenaris S.A. and its consolidated subsidiaries,
taken as a whole;

2. the annual accounts prepared in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements,
included in this annual report, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
profit or loss of Tenaris S.A.; and

3. the consolidated management report on the consolidated financial statements included in this annual
report, which has been combined with the management report on the annual accounts included in this
annual report, gives a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of
Tenaris S.A., or Tenaris S.A. and its consolidated subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as applicable, together
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties they face.

Chief Executive Officer 

Paolo Rocca 

April 1,2019 

Isl Edgardo Carlos 

Chief Financial Officer 

Edgardo Carlos 

April 1,2019 
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
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AudH report 

Tc the Sharetioldere of 
Tentm,SA 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our opinion 

In our opmiOn. the 91(X0fflpanying consollcMecl financiel 51atements gilte a twe and fair wiw ol lhe 
00r\'$01ida'ted fin�I position ofTea,aris SA (ttte "Compa!W) end Its subsktlaries (the "Group") as 8t 
31 Deoamber 2018, and of b consolilk!tea financial perlormat1CC1 ancs Its c,::,nsolldated easl'l flows for 
DI& year �IM ended bi acconlance. with ITTternaliQnal Financial Repon,ng S9'n�rds {IFRSs) H f§ued 
by the lntematlon Accounting Standards Board (IASB'} ar:,d in 900Crdancli with JFRS 11$. edopted by 
tbe EutOipean Union 

Our eplnion Is can1imnt with 0\Jt addllJl'lnaJ 111p0rt to the Audit Committee of the Company'"$ Board of 
Directors (the "A»d Cl)Mmittee"). 

W11e! ..-e ha� eudllstJ 

The Group's oonaolldatlld financial !i18ternenti ccmprlr.a-: 

• Iha eonr.olldated swement er fin� paSition as at �1 Oec8mber 2018; 
• the eonsotldated income statemer>t fQr the yeat then truled, 
• the C(msplid:ated statement of comprehe� ncome fodhe year then ended; 
• � ¢Qi'l�idi1�d statement of changes in equity for the y�r thMI ended. 
• the cooisolid.afed stat-ement of cash fl(1tl$ tor the � ttwin end.eds; and-
• the notes-to the cciuolldamd financial IUl1ement$, which inelude a aummary or slgnbnt accounting 

po1icil/::i, 

1Basls for opinion 

We conduore<I our $Ud.t tn accordance with the EU Regutation No 537/2014, lhB Lft' of 2:3 J1.1ly 2O1fl 
ori the avrjit ptoftr.-sion (Law of 23 Ju1y 2016) arid with lnttimational Standards 0n Autliiting (ISAti} as 
issued by the lnternatlonal Auditing end A$$u�nce Standards Board (IMSB) and as adoJ)fed for 
Lux-embOUrg r,y the "Commllaitln de SLJM1illance au Sec r Financier" (CSSF). O!.:Jr respon ltles 
under 1h&. EU � ulatkm Ho 53712014, ttte Law of 23 July 2�16 end ISA's • adgpted for Ldl(embourg 
by �e CSSF are funt,er d�beCI ir1 tha "Respc,Mll:llimes of the "R�ur d'enlrepr:isn agree" rgir fhe 
audit of' the consoHdaktd fir!l;lnc:iaf &tatements" section of our report 

Wa berieve lhat � sudl evidenc& wo hawe Cltltalned is sufooienl and appro�IMft to provide II basiS ror 
our ophlion, 

We are tnde:.oen�nt or the Group In sccoroanc:e with th& lntematlon Ethics 5tanoard5 aoard for 
Aoc:ountents' Code of Ethics fer �nsl A()OOunt,ants (1ESBA Cod�) as ad¢pted for Luxemtoul'g 
by the CSSF 10gattu1r with the ethical requiramants that are ,elev.ant to our audit of th& eonso1ideted 
finarw;.;�11 $1alE!men'IS. We have fulfilled our other ethical ,asponsibilities unve-r t110J.e ethlcal requlreme,,ts. 

�� Socl�COOJ)l1'Gt
i

lll!, It l'llVGff-bcu,:J Mel'tlltDr', 8.P, 1443,L-1014,�bnrug 
f ! "352 -4�8.fB l, F, +aszt '94848�, WWUJ.pucl,i 

<llbrnst mr�II! r:tg�Eq,erl-oom_ptaf>l'erinlroriSGdcin g,oul!UIXWtfflfare: n•.!0028�) 
J1.J:.S. P.�r-g.D65t117-Il'loLU2S,f82SJ8 
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To the best of our l<nowledg,e ariu:t bmief, W«i ,�cl� Chat we hEWe hOt � non-eudil 51;!J'Yioes Ihm 
are prohibited tiooer AJ1icle 5(1) of RAgutalfon (EU) No 537/2014. 

The non-aucflt &el'\ICeS 11'\al we have � tQ the Compan)' and rts comrolleO t.1nclertakmgs, rt 
appliCElble., far 1h! yaa.r ended 31 December 2018. all or which 11ave been �pp�d by lhe Audit 
Comm�. al\e digclo.secj In Note 31 lo Jhe oonfididat-ed financial li!C�tementa. 

Key aulfit matt.I'S 

�Y audft mal:\itrs am those msttera tlu1 in cur prnress'IOCUlt judgment, were Of rra:iM. sign l'icance In our 
audit or the consc11dated financial statements of th& cu.mrit per'1cd, � il'JdtJde lhe most mgnfficam 
� risks of mB\elfaJ mi5Sta�nt {wtillher or not due to fraucf}. 11hosa ma� Wefe atldres-sed 
11'1 lhe context of t>Ur c1udit of the-oonsolid:aled nanci&I ,� e!i a �- and in terming DUr opirnon 
1hereon, and we do nt11: pmvid& a :sepaf:818 opinion on lhe5ll mattan. 

Key audit m:afttr How our audit addrHead ffi•Key audn 
matter 

We cl'lalleng,t,d Ins lmpalrffle"1� indicetors 
analysis memorandum and the Cast! lbw 
;projed.ion& lnch:1�it'J In the ijmpajrment IMI. 
�repail8d by Management our aud 
proc:edt.lrn Included, 1m1ong 01h the 
1n\i0Wflmen!0fsn iltemal v�an specl istto 
assl.st us Ji, e\lal1.1�ting the assumptions and the 
v Jualfon mettled� Lmd by the Grt>1lp, 

The G«Jup'g balance sheet ini1;lu� gpadwill IOSD 
1,288:3 milion) aoo 04her long wed� (USC 
6,063!9 milBon Pr0pef1)', Plant & Equipment. 'USO 
90�9 rNllion finite lite intanglb'la assets and 'USO 
8EU' mlli0fl otner iMefinlts ll mta�lble i35Set&}. 
The Group iS. required to test- the SIT'l(IIJllt of 
gOl0(M'III and othet Indefinite life inwngible 1iS$em 
tor snpa1rmem at least annually. Other kltJ,Q-livod 
a� are lestt!d in mse at imp'aitment �gars. 

We fwthe«ru:i-a aaened lhe BPJ!ropnatenug; 
Owing the year, Management has tesred fof of 01Mr 1121a used by: 
lmpBtflllent 1hose cash generating un\ts ("CG-U$-"t 
COfltalnlng gooc:twlll and indefinlte life intangibles 
anct 1l'IOMt where Impairment indicators were 
�d. 

We foel.lsed our sucffl effort on the U. S. seamless 
and v.-elder::I tubes business� (Bay City B11d 
Ma\•eirit:I( OGtlt.) aue 10 Its sl;nlficance, lhe small 
heildroorn cmse,ved In prior periods between tb& 
recove�bk! amount and the <.BOYine vawe (at the 
level of Maverick CGU, 1nclu�119 efA Impairment 
charge or USD 400 m n reCOl'ded In 2016) and 
the lack of pS$t h�� 0\!9f the recently 
lnaugl.milled U.S mill (8sy Cl�) "Mforman.ee and il5 
lmpsct t>V'er tt,e other us mills' operauom. 

• comparing U!em lo nxte!'Nll and 
hfsloocal dshl, \l'hien avaliable. sut:h as
anatyat re,po,-1:$ and evolullon of tig 
�.ar'ladby 

• analp:ing SM'!Sltl11lll� In the valuallor, 
model. ewJIUSfiqg whether a 
reasonably pos:sibk! ctutnge ln
·assumption5 oould cause the carrying
amount to �d b recoverable 
amount.

We als0 compared actual cash flow reeult5 wi!h 
pr-MUlii fOtecas'ts. 

The impalrmeM l9s1. was lmporumt to our audit as In adffllion, we 4Mlti.rated and te&ted controls
it involves $IQ:nlflcarit judgemer:ib and assumptions. pl� over tne ana1ysle of imptmmMl tndlcatora
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in lhe as.seeement 01 the �la amoums of on long lived assets. revievt of ass.\lmptione 
the CGIJ$. used and discOunted cash flow cafeulationG. 

Due to the c:onelltlons d&saill:led abave. We finally assessed ltl8 eoequacy of the 
Milnagt�nt prepared 3 scenarios for both discbsures in the con$0li(la.ted finanei.1I 
MavMick and Bay City to determlne Chefr values in statemenlt;. 
use. 

The disclosures related lo thi6 matter are lnctuelad 
In Notes 11.0 lillld 10 w the 0:1nsQJidated financ.ial 
statements. 

Ongoing irrvestigaliOn 

I ian .and SWiss .euthl)rltiE!s at@ lnvMtlgating 
whe1hercertain payrne!lt$ w.are madfl from accounts 
of entitieG pte$Um;!bfy i1$1$0Clated with afflllates of 
the Company to accounts controlled by an indlvltt.ua1 
elk!gedly rela'l$d to officers of Petroleo Bnisileiro 
SA c·F>etmt,ras•) and whether such alleged 
payments were Intended "to ultimate!� bellefil Confat> 
1ncsuslrial S.A., a Brmlan subSietiary or ll'le 
Company. 

The Audit Commmee &n9!ged an edemal ccunsel 
in ort;ler ti;, ptoceed 'will'I an Internal ln\ltlSl!gall011 
1ntellded to determine \flhether lhe alleged pa.ymenti 
were 11\ltiated from Group's offlcia1s. In adtfiticn, lhe 
Company has i,,ofuntariy no4lfled the U.S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC} end the U.S. 
Department ol Ju-s.tice (COJ) abOut the cumint 
judlal action inmated by tie ltetian and the Sws 
aulhofitjes ar1d lhaa inftm'ned them the results or lhe 
Internal in�Erlion trf the external counsel. The 
SEC hn re<p,JM1&d additional doeumenta1i0n and 
prooedUn:i!lii, 

Ttle c,nQ)Oi� inves1igation was conmeted ee El key 
el.Klit matter due to lh.e petva!iive finanr:;ial effects 
that the leged charges may have on the Company 
in caY Ibey proved by the authorities and th 
nature and exient of communicatlons about lhls 
matter with those charged Witn governance. 

Thefe is no final conciur.lon over the ongoing 
Investigation from the authorities. 

The d"iscloaums related to lhls matter are incwded in 
Note 24 (i) to lhe consood&ted financial $Ultement&. 
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Our audit .approach Included the follollling 
audit procedures: 

► We inqu· ed � about 1tie
Com.penv'& main inwistlgatlve 
actions. 

► We had per1odk: meetings with the
Business Conduct Compliance 
Officer (8CCO) and periodic with 
the external counsel ro unool'$krM 
the aea.tlJ5 Of the· i�grilion. 

► We C!i&CUS$$d the invfflJgations wtth 
the Audit Committee and the 
Company's -a, adVISOfS and 
evaluated whether 1he dlsciosure.i- in 
the notes to the comiotidated maneial 
statement, ere COr1$iitElnt with the 
results.°' thO'Se im.+e$1i�liOM. 

► We O'btamed from the Compafly's 
Legal Counset a lefter related to this 
matter. 
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Other infOnnatjon 

The Bo.-rd or Oi'8d:cn is reaponsible- fo, I.he other lnfonnation. The dlh infom'la.'lkm comprltes 1he 
inf0tmat10n stated in ilhe unnl.ral repon incl�l,.g the coneofidc1ted manqSffleflt repot1 and the Corporate 
GOW!manoe Siat'ement but does not .tnc1ucse the co1150li�� ,nanclal st.atementl> ancl our audrt report 

on 

10ur Cf)inion on lhe consolidated finaneia1 �ms does no( cover the Olbec Information and we do 
not e�J)f'ess any otm ol' assurance conclu&iOn 'lttMeOri 

ln oonnection wtlh our audit of the contioCida'l.ed financial at9ternents, our responsi!::Jiity is to fttad th.e 
om Information ldentifieo abO\le and, In oolng so, c:orn.ldet whel!her lhe other info1T!1ation 11!. tetially 
IMOnststent wffh Ille 00n50fidatad financial q1emenli or our Imo.wt.edge- o'btsmi!itl In 1he al.ldit, or 
otherwise appesre to be rnatfflialty misstated. �f, ba5ed on lho work we heve performed, we conciucle 
tt\at !here i!i a miUetlat misslal8ment of 1hi5 other Information, we ere requited to report that rect. We 
l,B.'1/e ,nothing tQ wpOtt; i:n this regaJd 

Respo,mbiCiti$ili of tho Board of Directors and 1hoae cttafged wHh govem1:nce IDr th• 
eomalidated financjal statem9'!tsi 

The Board of Olr&etors � responwt>1e ftir the �reparation Slld fair pmsonlabon of the COMOtklated 
finanCiBI statements In aooo� w11h IFRS$ as Issued by lhe lA.SB d In accordance with IFRSs a5 
adopted by the e�n Union. and for such lnterne4 o0n1t0t as lhe Board of ffitet:1ori; c11nermines �5 
necessary io ,enable ttie preparaUon ·of co:nsolidalerd llnandal lla.tement5 that aN! free from meteriat 
mlsnnernent,. whe1het' due to fraud er error. 

lrl fl(Bparing th! consolidated financial �rt!!. fhe Board of Oired0rt is responsible fQd" assessing 
the. �pis ability to ,cominue as a gomg concem, d�lng. as applicable, matten; retalM to go· g. 
oonoem and using the going ooncem '*is of IIJOCOurvting unless the Board of Directors either interids 
to liquidate the Gfou_p (If to cease operations, or ha5 1'10 ,el;lllstlc alhlmme but to do so. 

Tho$e chirged � govarnance are re$ponsitm fur ovtmeetng lhe <3rct,rp's f;nancial reporting pn;,oess. 

RNpo,uibllities of tht uft6vM1Jr d'enlreprlsas ag-�111- for the 1t.Kfiit ot tba consoHdated ffn•nclll 
·Slatemen.bi 

The objedive5 of our audit are to ob'lain ��le assuranoe about whether lhe c::onsolidaled flnandal 
�rnents a& a whole are free from l'nclteria'I mlss11a1Ement whether aue t-o fraud or error, and to Issue 
an audit report lhat lncl!Jdes our opinion. Reasonable ai,sfJllinoe Is a h.\g trwe1 of �ce, bul is ,not 
ti' guararue �31: an audit condlJCl8d In acc:oroance with tt.& EU ftf!9Utafuln No 53712&14. the Law of 
23 JUI)' 2016 ana with ISAs cl6 Issued � the IAASe, end as attop.red for LIJl<embOurg b)' lhe CSSF 
ameys detect a maten 1mlss1a1:ament when tt exiSts. Mlr.staternent5 'CS-f.1 arise fmm fraLrd or error ar,d 
�e c00$ldered n,at,erial If, lncfMdulillly Dr ln th� aggregate, they could reasonably be expeetad to 
lnfiuence tbe economic decisions of Us.et$ taktr'I on tne ba$1s of th&$e oonsmidated financial �ments 

81 

NON-CONFIDENTIAL

00227



A,;, part ·of at1 audlt 1n ac:eordanoe with the EU Regulation No S37f2,014, the Lew of 2.3 J1,:1ty 201'6 end 
wilh ISAs a& issued by the IMSB and as adopted for l.t.ool.lmbO\Jl'g b)' lhe CSSF, we e:xel'Ci$e 
professional judgment and maintain �r,;al 9Ceptioism throogllout the audit We also: 

• ld&.ntlfy and assess the risb of matena1 mi�ment of the conSQlldnd nnanclal S!alement'&, 
wtiethar due to fraud or fflOt, design etid petftlt'm audit �rooedures respon:slwl ID those rrlsks, and 
obtain audit evidence that i&, sufficient end eppropnata to pw.,lda a basts for our opinion. The risk of
notdetec:ling a mateTial mieststementte$1.11tin9 from fraud I& higher lhan ror one resulting from error, 
as fraud may invo'lve oollusian, forgery, inlentlonal omissions. mlsrepresantallcns, or the override of 
iltemal (:OfflfQ4; 

• obt\lin en u der&landing of •n1ernal � retevant to 1he audit in order to tle!iilign eLSdil prooedUle$ 
tfW are appro.p,iale In the clramstances, but not for the fPUl'p0$e of �resslng iln opinion on lhe 
effecli� of the Group's Internal oontJOt 

• �aluate th& approprialeness or aC00Unling polkiei I.J5ed alld the reasonable�$$ of acoountlng 
eslitnalK and related cflsclasures made by lhe 8oa«I of Director&-; 

• c:x,nclud8 on lhe ap,proprla!enes.s of the Board of Oireclnr$' use of the 9C)ing ccricem basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidenoe obtained. whethe a material uncer1BJnty exists related 
to events or oondltion5l fl1st rna1 east significant doubt on the Group's abllty to mntlrwe as e ;icing 
ooncem. If we conclude that e mattirial uneertarty ex.Isis, we are required to draw attention io 0u, 
auctlt report to the rel� di$d0sl.Jfes in tt'le conso41dated Financial statements or, · such disclc&ures 
,ai inscJequate, to m()(Jdy our oph,lon. Our conclusions ara based on the audit evidence obteined up 
to tti,e elate- or our aUd N!pon. However, fuwre rwents or conditions may cause the Gtoup to ,cease 
to continve a& a �olng oonoem; 

• iw.alume tne overall p,esentallon, structure .s,orj content Ol the QOrt$iOli;la.1ed financial statements, 
ioctud· g Iha dlscl0$Ures, and whether the consolideted finahc:ial �lalement:s rep reseat 1he undcrlyir,g 
tran.saetions aMI evenls in a rnienner lhat achieves fair pressnlatiOn: 

• obtain wffiolcnt appropriate aud'it evidence tegal'dlng the linancla1 information of the entitiee and 
busmess activities within lhe Gioup It> ex_pre$$ al'l opinion on the consolidated financial statement$. 
We ,are �111sib1e for the direetion, eupe,vlslon and performance of the GT0Up a11tffl. we remain 
solely responslb1e ·fol QUr audit opinion. 

We oommunicete 'irilli tnose charged with 90¥Bmance rega�ng, :among other matters, the pfanned 
500pe and liming of lhe auelit and slgnl1icant audit finding$, inclU<iing any significant deficiencies in 
in emal control that we ldentey dumg 01,1r audit. 

we also provid lhose chqe<l wfth gove-rriancs with a &tatemem dta.t we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements �rding independence, and ,to communicate with them ell re�iOnehi� and O'lher 
imat'l8rs that may reaeona'bly be thou9ht to bear en our lndependenc.e, �ntJ whet& applie:able, related 
safegus,ds. 
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f� the mattars- oommuracate<I wltn mose cha,ged with 9�manc:e. we de.1ermine- thoS& ma.ten INt 
were of n'l(lst slgnlfJcanc:e in ttie audit ot the consolidated firu:il'lei.al staloolents aftne current period end 
are therefore the key audit mailers, Wf1 describe these ma'l18R ln our audit report unJess &aw or 
regula'li.on. precludes P',lbtic dtsciosure � the m�t 

Report on othe-r legal and ·regulatory requirements 

The oonsoltctated management report fg consistent wittJ tli� �olielaled financiaJ $\atemonb .and has 
been p� In acooroanoe wllh applicable •I requir-M\Bn1s.. 

Ttie Corporate Go¥emSnt:e Statement Is lndiu:Eed tn NJ eonsofKteteci m�egement report. The 
ln!ormatlon reQtJired by Article 6B1er Pars.graph (1) Latten; c) anii d) ljf tM Law of 19 December 200.2 
on the -comrnercml anel companies register anti on the accovntiflg records and annu� SOOOtlt'IAS of 
under-wt.in�. as amended, f5 -Q0f'l5i6\ent Wi1h lhn oonsclidated finan.Cial statetne'r-.15 and nas 1b&en 
prepared in :a(X()rdarice wllh app!icable legal requlremenw 

We h� been appomled BS "R�Jscwr d'Entreprlvn Ag�' ol lM Group by the Genataf Meeting of the 
Sha-n=holde� on :2 Mal" 201S ilnd the cfuraoon of our uninterrupted engagement. including previouis 
renewats and roappolntmenta, n. 17 years. 

other matt« 

The COtl)Orate �emance Sta�l!int includes, when appltcab&e, the lnJormation required by 
.Ar&01a 68 Paragra-µfl (1) letter& a), b), e), t) �nd -g) ot the Lew of 19 December 2002 on the 
oommtltda1 and c:ompanma regfi!!ter and on the aooounting records: and annuat accounts or 
undenateings, as .amendel1. 

Prlcewatertic�Coor,ets, Soelete coopera1ive l.JD<embolll"9, 1 Aptll 2019 

� 
FabmeGoffin 
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Tenaris SA. Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME ST A TEMENT 

(all amounts in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise stated) 

Continuing operations 
Net sales 
Cost of sales 
Gross profit 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 
Other operating income 
Other operating expenses 
Operating income (loss) 
Finance income 
Finance cost 
Other financial results 
Income (loss) before equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies and 
income tax 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 
Income before income tax 
Income tax 
Income for continuing operations 

Discontinued operations 
Result for discontinued operations 
Income for the year 

Attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 
Non-controlling interests 

Earnings per share attributable to the owners of the parent during the year: 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (thousands) 
Continuing operations 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (U.S. dollars per share) 
Basic and diluted earnings per ADS (U.S. dollars per ADS)(*) 
Continuing and discontinued operations 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (U.S. dollars per share) 
Basic and diluted earnings per ADS (U.S. dollars per ADS)(*) 

(*) Each ADS equals two shares. 

Notes 

1 
2 

3 
5 
5 

6 

6 

6 

II 

7 

27 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

(all amounts in thousands ofU.S. dollars) 

Income for the year 
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss: 
Currency translation adjustment 
Change in value of cash flow hedges and instruments at fair value 
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 
From participation in non consolidated companies: 
- Currency translation adjustment(*) 
- Changes in the fair value of derivatives held as cash flow hedges and others 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations 
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified 
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations of non-consolidated companies 

Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year, net of tax 
Total comprehensive income for the year 
Attributable to: 
Owners of the parent 
Non-controlling interests 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable to Owners of the parent arises from 
Continuing operations 
Discontinued operations 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

7,658,588 5,288,504 4,293,592 
(5,279,300) (3,685,057) (3,165,684) 

2,379,288 1,603,447 1,127,908 
(1,509,976) (1,270,016) (I, 196,929) 

15,059 10,516 21,127 
(12,558) (9,359) (11,163) 
871,813 334,588 (59,057) 
39,856 47,605 66,204 

(36,942) (27,072) (22,329) 
34,386 (43,550) (21,921) 

909,113 311,571 (37,103) 
193,994 116,140 71,533 

1,103,107 427,711 34,430 
(229,207) 17,136 (17,102) 

873,900 444,847 17,328 

91,542 41,411 
873,900 536,389 58,739 

876,063 544,737 55,298 
(2,163) (8,348) 3,441 

873,900 536,389 58,739 

1,180,537 I, 180,537 I, 180,537 

0.74 0.38 0.01 
1.48 0.77 0.02 

0.74 0.46 0.05 
1.48 0.92 0.09 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

873,900 536,389 58,739 

(96,916) 151,762 37,187 
(6,701) 4,502 (7,525) 

34 23 (23) 

1,848 (9,548) 3,473 
(132) 512 421 

(101,867) 147,251 33,533 

7,963 (8,635) (230) 
(1,932) 1,338 (1,760) 
(3,855) (376) (5,475) 

2,176 (7,673) (7,465) 
(99,691) 139,578 26,068 
774,209 675,967 84,807 

776,713 683,531 81,702 
(2,504) (7,564) 3,105 
774,209 675,967 84,807 

776,713 591,989 40,291 
91,542 41,411 

776,713 683,531 81,702 

(*) Tenaris recognized its share over the effects on the adoption of IAS 29, "Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies" by Ternium ($49.3 
million) in other comprehensive income as a currency translation adjustment. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) At December 31, 2018 At December 31, 2017 

Notes 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment, net 9 6,063,908 6,229,143 

Intangible assets, net 10 1,465,965 1,660,859 

Investments in non-consolidated companies 11 805,568 640,294 

Other equity investments 30 21,572 

Other investments 17 118,155 128,335 

Def erred tax assets 19 181,606 153,532 

Receivables, net 12 151,905 8,787,107 183,329 9,017,064 

Current assets 

Inventories, net 13 2,524,341 2,368,304 

Receivables and prepayments, net 14 155,885 135,699 

Current tax assets 15 121,332 132,334 

Trade receivables, net 16 1,737,366 1,214,060 

Derivative financial instruments 23 9,173 8,230 

Other investments 17 487,734 1,192,306 

Cash and cash equivalents 17 428,361 5,464,192 330,221 5,381,154 

Total assets 14,251,299 14,398,218 

EQUITY 
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent I 1,782,882 11,482,185 

Non-controlling interests 92,610 98,785 

Total equity 11,875,492 11,580,970 

LIABILITIES 
Non-current liabilities 

Borrowings 18 29,187 34,645 

Deferred tax liabilities 19 379,039 457,970 

Other liabilities 20 (i) 213,129 217,296 

Provisions 21 (ii) 36,089 657,444 36,438 746,349 

Current liabilities 

Borrowings 18 509,820 931,214 

Derivative financial instruments 23 11,978 39,799 

Current tax liabilities 15 250,233 102,405 

Other liabilities 20 (ii) 165,693 157,705 

Provisions 22 (ii) 24,283 32,330 

Customer advances 62,683 56,707 

Trade payables 693,673 1,718,363 750,739 2,070,899 

Total liabilities 2,375,807 2,817,248 

Total equity and liabilities 14,251,299 14,398,218 

Contingencies, commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits are disclosed in Note 24. 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Attributable to owners of the ea rent 
Currency 

Share Legal Share Translation Other Retained Non-controlling 
Caeital !)) Reserves Premium Adjustment Reserves {2) Earnings {3) Total interests Total 

Balance at December 31, 2017 1,180,537 118,054 609,733 (824,423) (320,569) 10,718,853 11,482,185 98,785 11,580,970 
Changes in accounting policies (Section II AP) 2,786 5,220 8,006 12 8,018 
Balance at December 31, 2017 restated 1,180,537 118,054 609,733 (824,423) p17,783) 10,724_!073 _ 11,490,191 98,797 11,588_!988 

Income (loss) for the year 876,063 876,063 {2,163) 873,900 
Currency translation adjustment (96,673) (96,673) (243) (96,916) 
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations, net of 
taxes 6,135 6,135 (104) 6,031 
Change in value of instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income and cash flow hedges, net of taxes (6,673) (6,673) 6 (6,667) 
From other comprehensive income of non-consolidated 
companies 1,848 {3,9872 {2,139) {2,139) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year {94,825} {4,525) {99,350} {341} {99,691} 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year (94,825) (4,525) 876,063 776,713 (2,504) 774,209 
Acquisition and other changes in non-controlling interests (2) (2) (22) (24) 
Dividends paid in cash �484,020) !484,020) �3,661) !487,681) 
Balance at December 31, 2018 1,180,537 118,054 609,733 !919,248) p22,310) _111116,11_6 11,782,882 92,610 11,875,492 

(I ) The Company has an authorized share capital of a single class of2.5 billion shares having a nominal value of $1.00 per share. As of December 31, 2018 there were 1,180,536,830 shares issued. All issued shares are 
fully paid. 

(2) Other reserves include mainly the result of transactions with non-controlling interest that do not result in a loss of control, the remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations, the changes in value of cash flow 
hedges and in financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

(3) The Distributable Reserve and Retained Earnings calculated according to Luxembourg Law are disclosed in Note 24. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONT.) 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) Attributable to owners of the ea rent 
Currency Non-

Share Legal Share Translation Other Retained controlling 
Caeital !1} Reserves Premium Adjustment Reserves !2! Earnings Total interests Total 

Balance at December 31, 2016 1,180,537 118,054 609,733 {965,955} {313,088} 10,658,136 11,287,417 125,655 11,413,072 

Income (loss) for the year 544,737 544,737 {8,348} 536,389 
Currency translation adjustment 151,080 151,080 682 151,762 
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations, net 
of taxes (7,423) (7,423) 126 (7,297) 
Change in value of available for sale financial instruments and 
cash flow hedges net of tax 4,549 4,549 (24) 4,525 
From other comprehensive income of non-consolidated 
companies {9,548) 136 {9,412} {9,412} 

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 141,532 {2,738} 138,794 784 139,578 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 141,532 (2,738) 544,737 683,531 (7,564) 675,967 
Acquisition and other changes in non-controlling interests (4,743) (4,743) 4,694 (49) 
Dividends paid in cash �484,0202 {484,020} (24,000) {508,020} 
Balance at December 31, 2017 1,180,537 118,054 609,733 (824,423) (320,569) 10,718,853 11,482,185 98,785 11,580,970 

Attributable to owners of the l!arent 
Currency Non-

Share Legal Share Translation Other Retained controlling 
Caeital !I} Reserves Premium Adjustment Reserves {2! Earnings Total interests Total 

Balance at December 31, 2015 1,180,537 118,054 609,733 {1,006,767} {298,682} 11,1101469 11,713,344 152,'[!2 11
1
866,056 

Income for the year 55,298 55,298 3,441 58,739 
Currency translation adjustment 37,339 37,339 (152) 37,187 
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations, net 
of taxes (1,781) (1,781) (209) (1,990) 
Change in value of available for sale financial instruments 
and cash flow hedges net of tax (7,573) (7,573) 25 (7,548) 
From other comprehensive income of non-consolidated 
companies 3,473 {5,054) {1,581} {1,581} 

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 40,812 {14,408} 26,404 {336} 26,068 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 40,812 (14,408) 55,298 81,702 3,105 84,807 
Acquisition and other changes in non-controlling interests 2 2 (1,073) (1,071) 
Dividends paid in cash �507,6311 �507,631} {29,0892 {536,720) 
Balance at December 31, 2016 1,180,537 118,054 609,733 !965,955} {313,088} 10,658,136 11,287,417 125,655 11,413,072 

(I) The Company has an authorized share capital of a single class of 2.5 billion shares having a nominal value of $1.00 per share. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016 there were I, 180,536,830 shares issued. All issued shares are fully paid 

(2) Other reserves include mainly the result of transactions with non-controlling interest that do not result in a loss of control, the remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations and the changes in value of cash flow hedges and in available for 

sale financial instruments. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) Year ended December 31, 
Notes 2018 2017 2016 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Income for the year 873,900 536,389 58,739 
Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortization 9& 10 664,357 608,640 662,412 
Income tax accruals less payments 26(ii) 58,494 (193,989) (128,079) 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 11 (193,994) (116,140) (71,533) 
Interest accruals less payments, net 26(iii) 6,151 11,550 (2,567) 
Changes in provisions (8,396) (17,245) 15,597 
Income from the sale of Conduit business 27 (89,694) 
Changes in working capital 26(i) (737,952) (853,184) 330,964 
Derivatives, currency translation adjustment and others (51,758) 91,648 (1,968) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 610,802 {22,025} 863,565 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Capital expenditures 9& 10 (349,473) (558,236) (786,873) 
Changes in advance to suppliers of property, plant and 
equipment 4,851 7,077 50,989 
Proceeds from disposal of Conduit business 27 327,631 
Investment in non-consolidated companies 11 (17,108) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries 25 (10,418) 
Investment in companies under cost method (3,681) 
Loan to non-consolidated companies 11 C (14,740) (10,956) (116,616) 
Repayment of loan by non-consolidated companies 11 C 9,370 3,900 74,222 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 6,010 5,443 23,609 
Dividends received from non-consolidated companies 11 25,722 22,971 20,674 
Changes in investments in securities 717,368 565,387 652,755 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 399,108 349,118 {98,348} 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Dividends paid 8 (484,020) (484,020) (507,631) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest in subsidiaries (3,498) (24,000) (29,089) 
Changes in non-controlling interests (24) (49) (1,071) 
Proceeds from borrowings 1,019,302 1,196,781 1,180,727 
Repayments of borrowings (1,432,202) (1,090,129) (1,295,560) 

Net cash used in financing activities {900,442} {401,417} (652,624} 

Increase !decrease} in cash and cash eguivalents 109,468 {74,324} 112,593 
Movement in cash and cash equivalents 
At the beginning of the year 330,090 398,580 286,198 
Effect of exchange rate changes (12,841) 5,834 (211) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 109,468 (74,324) 112,593 

At December 31, 26(iv) 426,717 330,090 398,580 

At December 31, 
Cash and cash equivalents 2018 2017 2016 
Cash and bank deposits 428,361 330,221 399,900 
Bank overdrafts 18 (1,644) (131) (1,320)

426,717 330,090 398,580

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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INDEX TO THE NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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I. GENERAL INFORMATION

Tenaris S.A. (the "Company") was established as a public limited liability company (societe anonyme) under the 
laws of the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg on December 17, 2001. The Company holds, either directly or indirectly, 
controlling interests in various subsidiaries in the steel pipe manufacturing and distribution businesses. References 
in these Consolidated Financial Statements to "Tenaris" refer to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. A 
list of the principal Company's subsidiaries is included in Note 29 to these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The Company's shares trade on the Buenos Aires Stock Exchange, the Italian Stock Exchange and the Mexican 
Stock Exchange; the Company's American Depositary Securities ("ADS") trade on the New York Stock Exchange. 

These Consolidated Financial Statements were approved for issuance by the Company's Board of Directors on 
February 20, 2019. 

II. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

A Basis of presentation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Tenaris have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) and plan assets at fair value. 
The Consolidated Financial Statements are, unless otherwise noted, presented in thousands of U.S. dollars("$"). 

Whenever necessary, certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in 
the current year. 

Following the sale of the steel electric conduit business in North America, known as Republic Conduit, in January 
2017, the results of the mentioned business are presented as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5, 
"Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations". Consequently, all comparative amounts related 
to discontinued operations within each line item of the Consolidated Income Statement are reclassified into 
discontinued operations. The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows includes the cash flows for continuing and 
discontinued operations, cash flows from discontinued operations and earnings per share are disclosed separately 
in Note 27, as well as additional information detailing net assets of disposal group classified as held for sale and 
discontinued operations. 

The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

certain accounting estimates and assumptions that might affect among others, the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, contingent assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

(1) Accounting pronouncements applicable as from January 1, 2018 and relevant for Tenaris

IFRS 9, "Financial instruments" 

Tenaris has adopted IFRS 9, "Financial instruments'' from I January 2018 which resulted in changes in accounting 
policies and adjustments to the amounts recognized in the financial statements. In accordance with the transition 
provisions in IFRS 9, Tenaris has adopted the new rules using the retrospective approach, meaning that the 
cumulative impact of the adoption was recognized in the opening retained earnings and other reserves of the current 
period as of January I, 2018 and that comparatives were not restated. 

The new impairment model requires recognition of impairment provisions based on expected credit losses rather 
than on incurred credit losses. The impact of this change was a decrease of $6.4 million in the allowance for 

doubtful accounts. 
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A Basis of presentation (Cont.) 

(I) Accounting pronouncements applicable as from January 1, 2018 and relevant for Tenaris (Cont.)

IFRS 9, "Financial instruments" (Cont.) 

The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 
and IFRS 9 at January 1, 2018 are compared as follows: 

Financial Assets 

Closing balance December 31, 2017 - IAS 39 
Reclassified bonds and other fixed income from HTM to FVOCI 
Reclassified fixed income from FVPL to amortized cost 
Reclassified bonds and other fixed income from FVPL to FVOCI 
Opening balance January I, 2018 - IFRS 9 

Financial Liabilities 
Closing balance December 31, 2017 - IAS 39 
Opening balance January I, 2018 

Opening balance January 1, 2018 - IAS 39 
Reclassify investments from HTM to FVOCI 
Reclassify investments from FVPL to FVOCI 
Opening balance January I, 2018 - IFRS 9 

IFRS 15, "Revenue from contracts with customers" 

FVPL 

I, 163,808 

(550,646) 
(153,702) 

459,460 

39,799 
39,799 

Held to 
maturity 

344,336 
(344,336) 

Effect on other reserves 

(320,569) 
3,126 
(352) 

(317,795) 

1,541,724 21,572 

550,646 

2,092,370 

1,716,598 
1,716,598 

344,336 

153,702 
519,610 

Effect on retained earnings 

10,718,853 

352 
10,719,205 

The Company has adopted IFRS 15, "Revenue from contracts with customers" from January 1 2018, which resulted 
in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognized in the financial statements. The policy 
sets out the requirements in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and is based on the 
principle that revenue is recognized when control of a good or service is transferred to the customer. In accordance 
with the transition provisions in IFRS 15, the group has adopted the new rules using the modified retrospective 
approach, meaning that the cumulative impact of the adoption was recognized in retained earnings as of January 1, 
2018 and that comparatives were not restated. 

The impact of the adoption as of January I, 2018 on the aggregate of revenues, cost of sales and selling expenses 
was a decrease of $0.7 million net. 

(2) New and amended standards not yet adopted and relevant for Tenaris

IFRS 16, "Leases" 

In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, "Leases". The new standard will result in almost all leases recognized 

on the balance sheet (except for short term and low value leases), as the distinction between operating and finance 

leases is removed. IFRS 16 must be applied on annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 

The Company has assessed the effects of applying the new standard and the main area affected will be the 
accounting for operating leasing. 

The Company expects to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately $260 million on 
January 1, 2019. 

The Company intends to adopt this standard using the simplified transition approach and will not restate 
comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption. 

Other accounting pronouncements that became effective during 2018 have no material effect on the Company's 
financial condition or results of operations. 
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B Group accounting 

(1) Subsidiaries and transactions with non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are all entities over which Tenaris has control. Tenaris controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is exercised by the 
Company and are no longer consolidated from the date control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by Tenaris. The cost of 
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets 
acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date. Any non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured either at fair value or at the 
non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's net assets. The excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or as a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising 
from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss. 

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted as transactions with 
equity owners of the Company. For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any 
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded 
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. 

When the Company ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured 
to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that 
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Material intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains (losses) on transactions between Tenaris 
subsidiaries have been eliminated in consolidation. However, since the functional currency of some subsidiaries is 
its respective local currency, some financial gains (losses) arising from intercompany transactions are generated. 
These are included in the Consolidated Income Statement under Other financial results. 

(2) Non-consolidated companies

Non-consolidated companies are all entities in which Tenaris has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in non-consolidated 
companies (associated and joint ventures) are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially 
recognized at cost. The Company's investment in non-consolidated companies includes goodwill identified in 
acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss. 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognize Tenaris's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and Tenaris's 
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends 
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of 
the investment. 

If material, unrealized results on transactions between Tenaris and its non-consolidated companies are eliminated 
to the extent of Tenaris's interest in the non-consolidated companies. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Financial statements of non­
consolidated companies have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with IFRS. 

The Company's pro-rata share of earnings in non-consolidated companies is recorded in the Consolidated Income 
Statement under Equity in earnings (losses) of non-consolidated companies. The Company's pro-rata share of 
changes in other reserves is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity under Other Reserves. 
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B Group accounting (Cont.) 

(2) Non-consolidated companies (Cont.)

Ternium 

At December 31, 2018, Tenaris holds 11.46% of Ternium S.A ("Ternium")'s common stock. The following factors 
and circumstances evidence that Tenaris has significant influence (as defined by IAS 28, "lnvestments in associates 
companies and Joint Ventures") over Ternium, and as a result the Company's investment in Ternium has been 
accounted for under the equity method: 

• Both the Company and Ternium are under the indirect common control of San Faustin S.A.;
• Four out of eight members ofTernium's Board of Directors (including Ternium's Chairman) are also members

of the Company's Board of Directors;
• Under the shareholders' agreement by and between the Company and Techint Holdings S.a r.l, a wholly owned

subsidiary of San Faustin S.A. and Ternium's main shareholder, dated January 9, 2006, Techint Holdings
S.a.r.1, is required to take actions within its power to cause (a) one of the members ofTernium's Board of
Directors to be nominated by the Company and (b) any director nominated by the Company to be only removed
from Ternium's Board of Directors pursuant to previous written instructions of the Company.

Usiminas 

At December 31, 2018, Tenaris holds through its Brazilian subsidiary Confab Industrial S.A. (" Confab"), 5.2% of 
the shares with voting rights and 3.07% of Usinas Siderurgicas de Minas Gerais S.A. ("Usiminas") total share 
capital. 

The acquisition of Usiminas shares was part of a larger transaction performed on January 16, 2012, pursuant to 
which Ternium, certain of its subsidiaries and Confab joined Usiminas' existing control group through the 
acquisition of ordinary shares representing 27.7% of Usiminas' total voting capital and 13.8% of Usiminas' total 
share capital. A shareholders' agreement governed the rights and obligations of the several control group members. 

In April and May 2016 Tenaris's subsidiary Confab subscribed, in the aggregate, to 1.3 million preferred shares 
(BRLI.28 per share) for a total amount of BRLI.6 million (approximately $0.5 million) and 11.5 million ordinary 
shares (BRL5.00 per share) for a total amount of BRL57.5 million (approximately $16.6 million). The preferred 
and ordinary shares were issued on June 3, 2016 and July 19, 2016, respectively. Consequently as of December 31, 
2018 Tenaris owns 36.5 million ordinary shares and 1.3 million preferred shares of Usiminas. 

In 2014, a conflict arose between the TIT Group (comprising Confab and Ternium's subsidiaries Ternium 
Investments, Ternium Argentina and Prosid Investments) and Nippon Steel & Sumitomo Metal Corporation 
("NS SMC") with respect to the governance of Usiminas. 

On February 8, 2018, Ternium Investments resolved the dispute with NSSMC, and on April 10, 2018, the TIT 

Group entities (including Confab), NSSMC and Previdencia Usiminas entered into a new shareholders' agreement 
for Usiminas, amending and restating the previously existing shareholders agreement (the "New SHA"). Usiminas' 
control group now holds, in the aggregate, 483.6 million ordinary shares bound to the New SHA, representing 
approximately 68.6% of Usiminas' voting capital, with the TIT Group holding approximately 47.1 % of the total 
shares held by the control group (39.5% corresponding to the Ternium entities and the other 7.6% corresponding 
to Confab); NSSMC holding approximately 45.9% of the total shares held by the control group; and Previdencia 
Usiminas holding the remaining 7% of the total shares held by the control group. 

The New SHA reflects the agreed-upon corporate governance rules for Usiminas, including, among others, an 
alternation mechanism for the nomination of each of the chief executive officer and the Chairman of the board of 
directors, as well as a mechanism for the nomination of other members of Usiminas' executive board. The New 
SHA also incorporates an exit mechanism consisting of a buy-and-sell procedure, exercisable at any time during 
the term of the New SHA after the fourth-and-a-half-year anniversary from the May 2018 election of Usiminas' 
executive board. Such exit mechanism shall apply with respect to shares held by NSSMC and the TIT Group, and 
would allow either Ternium or NSSMC to purchase all or a majority of the Usiminas shares held by the other 
shareholder. 
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B Group accounting (Cont.) 

(2) Non-consolidated companies (Cont.) 

Usiminas (Cont.) 

In connection with the execution of the New SHA, Confab and the Ternium entities amended and restated their 

separate shareholders' agreement governing their respective rights and obligations as members of the TIT Group 
to include provisions relating to the exit mechanism and generally to conform such separate shareholders' 

agreement to the other provisions of the New SHA. The rights of Confab and Ternium and its subsidiaries within 
the Ternium - Tenaris Group are governed under such amended and restated separate shareholders agreement. 

Those circumstances evidence that Tenaris has significant influence over Usiminas, and consequently, accounted 
it for under the equity method (as defined by IAS 28). 

Techgen 

Techgen S.A. de C.V. ("Techgen") is a Mexican joint venture company owned 48% by Ternium, 30% by Tecpetrol 
International S.A. and 22% by Tenaris. Techgen operates a natural gas-fired combined electric power plant in the 

Pesqueria area of the State ofNuevo Leon, Mexico. Tenaris, Ternium and Tecpetrol International S.A. are parties 

to a shareholders' agreement relating to the governance of Techgen, In addition, the Company, Ternium and 
Tecpetrol International S.A. are under the indirect common control of San Faustin S.A. Those circumstances 
evidence that Tenaris has significant influence over Techgen, and consequently, accounted it for under the equity 

method (as defined by IAS 28). 

Tenaris carries its investment in Ternium, Usiminas and Techgen under the equity method, with no additional 
goodwill or intangible assets recognized. Tenaris reviews investments in non-consolidated companies for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset's carrying amount may not be 

recoverable, such as a significant or prolonged decline in fair value below the carrying value. At December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016, no impairment provisions were recorded on Tenaris's investment in Ternium and Usiminas. 

See Note 11. 

C Segment information 

The Company is organized in one major business segment, Tubes, which is also the reportable operating segment. 

The Tubes segment includes the production and sale of both seamless and welded steel tubular products and related 
services mainly for the oil and gas industry, particularly oil country tubular goods (OCTG) used in drilling 
operations, and for other industrial applications with production processes that consist in the transformation of steel 
into tubular products. Business activities included in this segment are mainly dependent on the oil and gas industry 

worldwide, as this industry is a major consumer of steel pipe products, particularly OCTG used in drilling activities. 
Demand for steel pipe products from the oil and gas industry has historically been volatile and depends primarily 

upon the number of oil and natural gas wells being drilled, completed and reworked, and the depth and drilling 
conditions of these wells. Sales are generally made to end users, with exports being done through a centrally 
managed global distribution network and domestic sales are made through local subsidiaries. Corporate general 

and administrative expenses have been allocated to the Tubes segment. 

Others includes all other business activities and operating segments that are not required to be separately reported, 
including the production and selling of sucker rods, industrial equipment, coiled tubing, utility conduits for 
buildings, energy and raw materials that exceed internal requirements. 

Tenaris's Chief Operating Decision Maker (CEO) holds monthly meetings with senior management, in which 
operating and financial performance information is reviewed, including financial information that differs from 
IFRS principally as follows: 

• The use of direct cost methodology to calculate the inventories, while under IFRS it is at full cost, including
absorption of production overheads and depreciations;

• The use of costs based on previously internally defined cost estimates, while, under IFRS, costs are calculated
at historical cost;

• Other timing differences, if any.

Tenaris presents its geographical information in five areas: North America, South America, Europe, Middle East 

and Africa and Asia Pacific. For purposes of reporting geographical information, net sales are allocated to 
geographical areas based on the customer's location; allocation of assets, capital expenditures and associated 

depreciations and amortizations are based on the geographical location of the assets. 
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D Foreign currency translation 

(I) Functional and presentation currency

IAS 2 I (revised), "The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates" defines the functional currency as the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which an entity operates. 

The functional and presentation currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The U.S. dollar is the currency that 
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to Tenaris's global 
operations. 

Except for the Brazilian and Italian subsidiaries whose functional currencies are their local currencies, Tenaris 

determined that the functional currency of its other subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar, based on the following principal 
considerations: 

• Sales are mainly negotiated, denominated and settled in U.S. dollars. If priced in a currency other than the U.S.

dollar, the sales price may consider exposure to fluctuation in the exchange rate versus the U.S. dollar;
• Prices of their critical raw materials and inputs are priced and settled in U.S. dollars;
• Transaction and operational environment and the cash flow of these operations have the U.S. dollar as

reference currency;
• Significant level of integration of the local operations within Tenaris's international global distribution

network;
Net financial assets and liabilities are mainly received and maintained in U.S. dollars;

• The exchange rate of certain legal currencies has long-been affected by recurring and severe economic crises.

(2) Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are translated into the functional currency using the 
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. 

At the end of each reporting period: (i) monetary items denominated in currencies other than the functional currency 
are translated using the closing rates; (ii) non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
currency other than the functional currency are translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transactions; and (iii) non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a currency other than the functional 
currency are translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional 

currency are recorded as gains and losses from foreign exchange and included in Other financial results in the 
Consolidated Income Statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net 
investment hedges. 

(3) Translation of financial information in currencies other than the functional currency

Results of operations for subsidiaries whose functional currencies are not the U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. 
dollars at the average exchange rates for each quarter of the year. Financial statement positions are translated at the 
year-end exchange rates. Translation differences are recognized in a separate component of equity as currency 

translation adjustments. In the case of a sale or other disposal of any of such subsidiaries, any accumulated 
translation difference would be recognized in income as a gain or loss from the sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. 
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E Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are recognized at historical acquisition or construction cost less accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. Property, plant and equipment acquired through acquisitions accounted for as business 
combinations have been valued initially at the fair market value of the assets acquired. 

Major overhaul and rebuilding expenditures are capitalized as property, plant and equipment only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the investment 
enhances the condition of assets beyond its original condition. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognized. Maintenance expenses on manufacturing properties are recorded as cost of products sold in the year 
in which they are incurred. 

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign 

currency purchases of property, plant and equipment. 

Borrowing costs that are attributable to the acquisition or construction of certain capital assets are capitalized as 
part of the cost of the asset, in accordance with IAS 23(R), "Borrowing Costs". Assets for which borrowing costs 

are capitalized are those that require a substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use. 

Depreciation method is reviewed at each year end. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to 
depreciate the cost of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life, as follows: 

Land 

Buildings and improvements 

Plant and production equipment 

Vehicles, furniture and fixtures, and other equipment 

No Depreciation 

30-50 years

10-40 years

4-10 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives of significant plant and production equipment are reviewed and 
adjusted, if appropriate, at each year-end date. An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its 

recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Management's re-estimation of assets useful lives, performed in accordance with IAS 16, "Property, Plant and 
Equipment", did not materially affect depreciation expenses for 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

Tenaris depreciates each significant part of an item of property, plant and equipment for its different production 
facilities that (i) can be properly identified as an independent component with a cost that is significant in relation 
to the total cost of the item, and (ii) has a useful operating life that is different from another significant part of that 
same item of property, plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of assets and 

are recognized under Other operating income or Other operating expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

F Intangible assets 

(1) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the acquisition cost over the fair value ofTenaris's share of net identifiable assets 

acquired as part of business combinations determined mainly by independent valuations. Goodwill is tested at least 
annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill 
are not reversed. Goodwill is included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position under Intangible assets, 
net. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to a subsidiary or group of subsidiaries that are 

expected to benefit from the business combination which generated the goodwill being tested. 
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(2) information systems projects

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are generally recognized as an expense as incurred. 
However, costs directly related to the development, acquisition and implementation of information systems are 
recognized as intangible assets if it is probable that they have economic benefits exceeding one year and comply 
with the recognition criteria of lAS 38, "Intangible Assets". 

Information systems projects recognized as assets are amortized using the straight-line method over their useful 
lives, generally not exceeding a period of 3 years. Amortization charges are mainly classified as Selling, general 
and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

Management's re-estimation of assets useful lives, performed in accordance with IAS 38, did not materially affect 
amortization expenses for 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

(3) Licenses, patents, trademarks and proprieta,y technology

Licenses, patents, trademarks, and proprietary technology acquired in a business combination are initially 
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Licenses, patents, proprietary technology and those trademarks that 
have a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives, and does not exceed a period of IO years. 
Amortization charges are mainly classified as Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated 
Income Statement. 

The balance of acquired trademarks that have indefinite useful lives according to external appraisal amounts to 
$86.7 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and are included in Hydril CGU. Main factors considered in the 
determination of the indefinite useful lives include the years that they have been in service and their recognition 

among customers in the industry. 

Management's re-estimation of assets useful lives, performed in accordance with IAS 38, did not materially affect 
amortization expenses for 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

(4) Research and development

Research expenditures as well as development costs that do not fulfill the criteria for capitalization are recorded as 
Cost of sales in the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred. Research and development expenditures included 
in Cost of sales for the years 2018, 2017 and 2016 totaled $63.4 million, $63.7 million and $68.6 million, 
respectively. 

(5) Customer relationships

In accordance with IFRS 3, "Business Combinations" and lAS 38, Tenaris has recognized the value of customer 
relationships separately from goodwill attributable to the acquisition of Maverick and Hydril groups. 

Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date, have a 
finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated using the straight 
line method over the initial expected useful life of approximately I 4 years for Maverick and IO years for Hydril. 

Maverick's Tubes business, has experienced a significant change in its customers portfolio. While initially Maverick 
was selling OCTG products mostly to distributors, today it is selling mostly through Rig Direct® to end users. By the 
end of 2018, Maverick supplied the majority of its customers of OCTG products with Rig Direct® services. 
Additionally, line pipe products while still being sold largely to distributors due to the different nature of this market, 
are now focused on large pipeline projects through a completely different set of distributors. Based on these 
circumstances, the Company has reviewed the useful life of Maverick's Tubes customer relationships and decided to 
reduce the remaining useful life from 2 years to zero, consequently a higher amortization charge of approximately 

$ I 09 million was recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement under Selling, general and administrative expenses 
for the year ended December 31, 2018. 

As of December 31, 2018 the residual value of Maverick's coiled tubing customer relationships amounts to$ I 9.9 
million and the residual useful life is 2 years, while Hydril's customer relationships is fully amortized. 
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G Impairment of non-financial assets 

Long-lived assets including identifiable intangible assets are reviewed for impainnent at the lowest level for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units, or CGU). Most of the Company's principal 

subsidiaries that constitute a CGU have a single main production facility and, accordingly, each of such subsidiary 
represents the lowest level of asset aggregation that generates largely independent cash inflows. 

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, including 
goodwill, are subject to at least an annual impainnent test. 

In assessing whether there is any indication that a CGU may be impaired, external and internal sources of 
information are analyzed. Material facts and circumstances specifically considered in the analysis usually include 
the discount rate used in Tenaris's cash flow projections and the business condition in terms of competitive and 
economic factors, such as the cost of raw materials, oil and gas prices, capital expenditure programs for Tenaris's 
customers and the evolution of the rig count. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher between the asset's value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. 

Any impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the CGU in the following order: 

(a) first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU; and
(b) then, to the other assets of the unit (group of units) pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset

in the unit (group of units), considering not to reduce the carrying amount of the asset below the highest of
its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use or zero.

The value in use of each CGU is detennined on the basis of the present value of net future cash flows which would 

be generated by such CGU. Tenaris uses cash flow projections for a five year period with a tenninal value calculated 
based on perpetuity and appropriate discount rates. 

For purposes of calculating the fair value less costs of disposal, Tenaris uses the estimated value of future cash 

flows that a market participant could generate from the corresponding CGU. 

Management judgment is required to estimate discounted future cash flows. Actual cash flows and values could 
vary significantly from the forecasted future cash flows and related values derived using discounting techniques. 

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impainnent are reviewed for possible reversal at each 
reporting date. 

Tenaris regularly conducts assessments of the carrying values of its assets. The value-in-use was used to determine 
the recoverable value. Value-in-use is calculated by discounting the estimated cash flows over a five-year period 
based on forecasts approved by management. For the subsequent years beyond the five-year period, a terminal 
value is calculated based on perpetuity considering a nominal growth rate of 2%. 

Tenaris's main source of revenue is the sale of products and services to the oil and gas industry and the level of 
such sales is sensitive to international oil and gas prices and their impact on drilling activities. 

For purposes of assessing key assumptions, Tenaris uses external sources of information and management 
judgment based on past experience. 

The main key assumptions used in estimating the value in use are discount rate, growth rate and competitive and 
economic factors applied to detennine Tenaris's cash flow projections, such as oil and gas prices, average number 

of active oil and gas drilling rigs (rig count), capital expenditure programs for Tenaris's customers, and raw material 
costs. 

Management has detennined the value of each of the key assumptions as follows: 

- Discount rate: based on the applicable weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which is considered to be a
good indicator of capital cost, taking into account the industry, country and size of the business. For each CGU
where assets are allocated, a specific WACC was detennined taking into account the industry, country and size of
the business. In 2018, the main discount rates used were in a range between 8. 7% and 11. 7%.
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- Growth rate: considers the long-term average growth rate for the oil and gas industry, the inflation impact on
prices and costs, the higher demand to offset depletion of existing fields and the Company's expected market
penetration.

- Oil and gas prices and customer's capital expenditures: based on industry analysts' reports and management's
expectations of market development respectively.

- Rig count: based on information published by Baker Hughes and management's expectations.

- Raw material costs: based on industry analysts' reports and management's expectations.

The main factors that could result in additional impairment charges in future periods would be an increase in the 

discount rate or a decrease in growth rate used in the Company's cash flow projections, a deterioration of the 
business, competitive and economic factors, such as a decrease in oil and gas prices, and the evolution of the rig 
count. 

As of December 31, 2018, for all CGUs, a reasonably possible change in key assumptions would not cause the 
carrying amount to exceed recoverable amount. 

No impairment charge was recorded in 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

H Other investments 

Other investments consist primarily of investments in financial instruments and time deposits with a maturity of 
more than three months at the date of purchase. 

Certain non-derivative financial assets that the Company held not for trading have been categorized as financial 
assets "at fair value through other comprehensive income" (FVTOCI). They are carried at fair value and interest 
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Unrealized 
gains or losses are recorded as a fair value adjustment in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and transferred to the Consolidated Income Statement when the financial asset is sold. Exchange gains and losses 
and impairments related to the financial assets are immediately recognized in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

FVTOCI instruments with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date are included in non-current 
assets. 

Other investments in financial instruments and time deposits are categorized as financial assets "at fair value 
through profit or loss" because such investments are held for trading and their performance is evaluated on a fair 
value basis. The results of these investments are recognized in Financial Results in the Consolidated Income 
Statement. 

Purchases and sales of financial investments are recognized as of their settlement date. 

The fair values of quoted investments are generally based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial investment 
is not active or the securities are not listed, Tenaris estimates the fair value by using standard valuation techniques 
(see Section III Financial Risk Management). 

Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower between cost and net realizable value. The cost of finished goods and goods in 
process is comprised of raw materials, direct labor, utilities, freights and other direct costs and related production 
overhead costs, and it excludes borrowing costs. The allocation of fixed production costs is based on the normal 
level of production capacity. Supplies and raw material cost is mainly based on the FIFO method while goods in 
progress and finished goods cost are mainly based on specific historical production costs for each production order. 
Tenaris estimates net realizable value of inventories by grouping, where applicable, similar or related items. Net 
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less any estimated costs of 
completion and selling expenses. Goods in transit as of year-end are valued based on the supplier's invoice cost. 

Tenaris establishes an allowance for obsolete or slow-moving inventories related to finished goods, goods in 
process, supplies and spare parts. For slow moving or obsolete finished products, an allowance is established based 
on management's analysis of product aging. An allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory of supplies and 
spare parts is established based on management's analysis of such items to be used as intended and the consideration 
of potential obsolescence due to technological changes, aging and consumption patterns. 
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Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value that corresponds to the amount of consideration that 
is unconditional unless they contain significant financing components. The Company holds trade receivables with the 
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Due to the short-term nature, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair 
value. 

Tenaris applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles 
of sales over a period of three years and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The 
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors 
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. 

K Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash at banks, liquidity funds and short-term investments with a maturity 
of less than three months at the date of purchase which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. Assets 
recorded in cash and cash equivalents are carried at fair market value or at historical cost which approximates fair 
market value. 

In the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, bank overdrafts are included in Borrowings in current liabilities. 

For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes overdrafts. 

L Equity 

(1) Equity components

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity includes: 

• The value of share capital, legal reserve, share premium and other distributable reserves calculated in
accordance with Luxembourg law;

• The currency translation adjustment, other reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interest calculated
in accordance with IFRS.

(2) Share capital

The Company has an authorized share capital of a single class of 2.5 billion shares having a nominal value of$ I. 00 
per share. Total ordinary shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 are 1,180,536,830 
with a par value of $1.00 per share with one vote each. All issued shares are fully paid. 

(3) Dividends distribution by the Company to shareholders

Dividends distributions are recorded in the Company's financial statements when Company's shareholders have 
the right to receive the payment, or when interim dividends are approved by the Board of Directors in accordance 
with the by-laws of the Company. 

Dividends may be paid by the Company to the extent that it has distributable retained earnings, calculated in 
accordance with Luxembourg law (see Note 24 (iii)). 

M Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred and subsequently measured at 
amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
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The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on 
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. Tax is recognized in the Consolidated Income 
Statement, except for tax items recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income. 

The curre'nt income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date in the countries where the Company's subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions when appropriate. 

Deferred income tax is recognized applying the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax 
basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. The principal temporary 
differences arise from fair value adjustments of assets acquired in business combinations, the effect of currency 
translation on depreciable fixed assets and inventories, depreciation on property, plant and equipment, valuation of 
inventories and provisions for pension plans. Deferred tax assets are also recognized for net operating loss carry­
forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the time 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period, Tenaris reassesses 
unrecognized deferred tax assets. Tenaris recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax basis of investments in foreign operations where the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are re-measured if tax rates change. These amounts are charged or credited to the 
Consolidated Income Statement or to the item other comprehensive income for the year in the Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, depending on the account to which the original amount was charged or 
credited. 

0 Employee benefits 

(I) Short-term obligations 

Liabilities for wages and salaries are recognized in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting 
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are 
presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet. 

(2) Post employment benefits 

The Company has defined benefit and defined contribution plans. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that 
defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or 

more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. 

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets, if 
any. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually (at year end) by independent actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in 
which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 
obligation. 
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0 Employee benefits (Cont.) 

(2) Post employment benefits (Cont.)

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to equity in Other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Past-service costs 
are recognized immediately in the Income Statement. 

For defined benefit plans, net interest income/expense is calculated based on the surplus or deficit derived by the 
difference between the defined benefit obligations less fair value of plan assets. For defined contribution plans, the 
Company pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a mandatory, 
contractual or voluntary basis. The Company has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 
paid. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are 
recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. 

Tenaris sponsors funded and unfunded defined benefit pension plans in certain subsidiaries. The most significant 
are: 

• An unfunded defined benefit employee retirement plan for certain senior officers. The plan is designed to
provide certain benefits to those officers (additional to those contemplated under applicable labor laws) in case
of termination of the employment relationship due to certain specified events, including retirement. This
unfunded plan provides defined benefits based on years of service and final average salary. As of December
31, 2018 the outstanding liability for this plan amounts to $41.2 million.

• Employees' service rescission indemnity: the cost of this obligation is charged to the Consolidated Income
Statement over the expected service lives of employees. This provision is primarily related to the liability
accrued for employees at Tenaris's Italian subsidiary. As from January I, 2007 as a consequence of a change
in an Italian law, employees were entitled to make contributions to external funds, thus, Tenaris's Italian
subsidiary pays every year the required contribution to the funds with no further obligation. As a result, the
plan changed from a defined benefit plan to a defined contribution plan effective from that date, but only
limited to the contributions of 2007 onwards. As of December 31, 2018 the outstanding liability for this plan
amounts to $17.3 million.

• Funded retirement benefit plans held in Canada for salary and hourly employees hired prior a certain date
based on years of service and, in the case of salaried employees, final average salary. Plan assets consist
primarily of investments in equities and money market funds. Both plans were replaced for defined
contribution plans. Effective June 2016 the salary plan was frozen for the purposes of credited service as well
as determination of final average pay. As of December 31, 2018 the outstanding liability for this plan amounts
to $8.2 million.

• Funded retirement benefit plan held in the US for the benefit of some employees hired prior a certain date,
frozen for the purposes of credited service as well as determination of final average pay for the retirement
benefit calculation. Plan assets consist primarily of investments in equities and money market funds.
Additionally, an unfunded postretirement health and life plan is present that offers limited medical and life
insurance benefits to the retirees, hired before a certain date. As of December 31, 2018 the outstanding liability
for these plans amounts to $13.7 million.

(3) Other long term benefits

During 2007, Tenaris launched an employee retention and long term incentive program (the "Program") applicable 
to certain senior officers and employees of the Company, who will be granted a number of Units throughout the 
duration of the Program. The value of each of these Units is based on Tenaris's shareholders' equity ( excluding 
non-controlling interest). Also, the beneficiaries of the Program are entitled to receive cash amounts based on (i) 
the amount of dividend payments made by Tenaris to its shareholders, and (ii) the number of Units held by each 
beneficiary to the Program. Until 2017 units were vest ratably over a period of four years and will be mandatorily 
redeemed by the Company ten years after grant date, with the option of an early redemption at seven years after 
the grant date. From 2018 units were vest ratably over the same period and will be mandatorily redeemed by the 
Company seven years after grant date. As the cash payment of the benefit is tied to the book value of the shares, 
and not to their market value, Tenaris valued this long-term incentive program as a long term benefit plan as 
classified in IAS 19, "Employee Benefits". 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the outstanding liability corresponding to the Program amounts to $91.2 
million and $79.2 million, respectively. The total value of the units granted (vested and unvested) to date under the 
program, considering the number of units and the book value per share as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, is $ I 06 
million and $94.8 million, respectively. 
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0 Employee benefits (Cont.) 

(4) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by Tenaris before the normal retirement date, or 
when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Tenaris recognizes termination 
benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when it can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) 
when the costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of terminations 
benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured 
based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. 

(5) Other compensation obligations

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long-service leave are accrued as earned. 

Compensation to employees in the event of dismissal is charged to income in the year in which it becomes payable. 

P Provisions 

Tenaris is subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings, including customer claims, in which a 
third party is seeking payment for alleged damages, reimbursement for losses or indemnity. Tenaris's potential 
liability with respect to such claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings cannot be estimated with certainty. 
Management periodically reviews the status of each significant matter and assesses potential financial exposure. 
If, as a result of past events, a potential loss from a claim or proceeding is considered probable and the amount can 
be reliably estimated, a provision is recorded. Accruals for loss contingencies reflect a reasonable estimate of the 
losses to be incurred based on information available to management as of the date of preparation of the financial 
statements, and take into consideration Tenaris's litigation and settlement strategies. These estimates are primarily 
constructed with the assistance of legal counsel. As the scope of liabilities become better defined, there may be 
changes in the estimates of future costs which could have a material adverse effect on its results of operations, 
financial condition and cash flows. 

If Tenaris expects to be reimbursed for an accrued expense, as would be the case for an expense or loss covered 
under an insurance contract, and reimbursement is considered virtually certain, the expected reimbursement is 
recognized as a receivable. 

This note should be read in conjunction with Note 24. 

Q Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value, generally the nominal invoice amount and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost. They are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 
twelve months after the reporting period. Due to the short-term nature their carrying amounts are considered to be 
the same as their fair value. 

R Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in 
the ordinary course of Tenaris's activities. The revenue recognized by the Company is measured at the transaction 
price of the consideration received or receivable to which the Company is entitled to, reduced by estimated returns 
and other customer credits, such as discounts and volume rebates, based on the expected value to be realized and 
after eliminating sales within the group. 

Revenue is recognized at a point in time or over time from sales when control has been transferred and there is no 
unfulfilled performance obligation that could affect the acceptance of the product by the customer. Delivery occurs 
when the products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been 
transferred and either the customer has accepted the product in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance 
provisions have lapsed or the Company has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied, 
including all performance obligations. For bill and hold transactions revenue is recognized only to the extent that 
(a) the reason for the bill and hold arrangement must be substantive (for example, the customer has requested the
arrangement); (b) the products have been specifically identified and are ready for delivery; (c) the Company cannot
have the ability to use the product or to direct it to another customer; (d) the usual payment terms apply. 

In addition, some contracts include a right of return. Therefore, a provision and a right to the returned goods are 
recognized for the products expected to be returned. Accumulated experience is used to estimate such returns. 
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Where the contracts include multiple performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each 

performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, they are 

estimated based on the expected cost plus margin. 

Other revenues earned by Tenaris are recognized on the following basis: 

• Interest income: on the effective yield basis.
• Dividend income from investments in other companies: when Tenaris's right to receive payment is established.

Construction contracts revenues is recognized in accordance with the stage of the project completion.

The Company does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods 

or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Company does 

not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money. 

S Cost of sales and other selling expenses 

Cost of sales and other selling expenses are recognized in the Consolidated Income Statement on the accrual basis 

of accounting. 

Commissions, freights and other selling expenses, including shipping and handling costs, are recorded in Selling, 

general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

T Earnings per share 

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the income attributable to owners of the parent by the daily weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 

There are no dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

U Financial instruments 

Non derivative financial instruments comprise investments in financial debt instruments and equity, time deposits, 
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and trade and other payables. 

Since January I, 2018 the Company classifies its financial instruments according to the following measurement 
categories: 

Amortized Cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income 
using the effective interest rate method. 

Exchange gains and losses and impairments related to the financial assets are immediately recognized in the 
Consolidated Income Statement. 

Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"): Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash 
flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate 

method. Unrealized gains or losses are recorded as a fair value adjustment in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and transferred to the Consolidated Income Statement when the financial asset is sold. 

Fair value through profit and loss ("FVPL"): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI. 
Changes in fair value of financial instruments at FVPL are immediately recognized in the Consolidated Income 
Statement. 

The classification depends on the Company's business model for managing the financial assets and contractual 
terms of the cash flows. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized and derecognized on their settlement date. 

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities is included within the Section IIl, Financial 
Risk Management. 
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Until December 2017, Tenaris's non derivative financial instruments were classified according to the following 

categories: 

• Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss: comprised mainly Other Investments current,

investments in certain financial debt instruments and time deposits held for trading expiring in less than ninety
days from the measurement date (included within cash and cash equivalents).

Loans and receivables: comprised cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables and were
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less any impairment.

• Available for sale assets: comprised the Company's interest in the Venezuelan Companies.
• Held to maturity: comprised financial assets that the Company had both the ability and the intention to hold to

maturity. They were measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
• Other financial liabilities: comprise borrowings, trade and other payables and were measured at amortized cost

using the effective interest rate method.

The classification depended on the nature and purpose that the Company set to the financial instrument. 

Financial assets and liabilities were recognized and derecognized on their settlement date. 

Financial assets were initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, except for those financial assets 

classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, were initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognized on 

an effective yield basis. 

V Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. 

They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such as 
deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits and financial assets that are carried at fair value. 

An impairment loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset ( or disposal group) to fair 
value less costs to sell. A gain is recognized for any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell of an asset 
(or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognized. 

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortized while they 
are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified 

as held for sale continue to be recognized. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are 

presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held 

for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and 
that represents a separate line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan to 
dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. 

The results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the Consolidated Income Statement. See Note 
27. 
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III. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The multinational nature of Tenaris's operations and customer base exposes the Company to a variety of risks, 
mainly related to market risks (including the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates), credit risk and capital market risk. In order to manage the volatility related to these exposures, management 
evaluates exposures on a consolidated basis, taking advantage of exposure netting. The Company or its subsidiaries 
may then enter into various derivative transactions in order to prevent potential adverse impacts on Tenaris's 
financial performance. Such derivative transactions are executed in accordance with internal policies and hedging 
practices. 

A. Financial Risk Factors

(i) Capital Risk Management

Tenaris seeks to maintain a low debt to total equity ratio considering the industry and the markets where it operates. 
The year-end ratio of debt to total equity (where "debt" comprises financial borrowings and "total equity" is the 
sum of financial borrowings and equity) is 0.04 as of December 31, 2018 and 0.08 as of December 31, 2017. The 
Company does not have to comply with regulatory capital adequacy requirements. 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk

Tenaris manufactures and sells its products in a number of countries throughout the world and consequently is 
exposed to foreign exchange rate risk. Since the Company's functional currency is the U.S. dollar the purpose of 
Tenaris's foreign currency hedging program is mainly to reduce the risk caused by changes in the exchange rates 
of other currencies against the U.S. dollar. 

Tenaris's exposure to currency fluctuations is reviewed on a periodic consolidated basis. A number of derivative 
transactions are performed in order to achieve an efficient coverage in the absence of operative or natural hedges. 
Almost all of these transactions are forward exchange rates contracts (see Note 23 Derivative financial 
instruments). 

Tenaris does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes, other than 
non-material investments in structured products. 

In the case of subsidiaries with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the results of hedging activities, 
reported in accordance with IFRS, may not reflect entirely the management's assessment of its foreign exchange 
risk hedging program. Intercompany balances between Tenaris's subsidiaries may generate financial gains (losses) 
to the extent that functional currencies differ. 

The value of Tenaris's financial assets and liabilities is subject to changes arising from the variation of foreign 
currency exchange rates. The following table provides a breakdown of Tenaris's main financial assets and liabilities 
(including foreign exchange derivative contracts) which impact the Company's profit and loss as of December 31, 
2018 and 2017: 

All amounts Long I (Short) in thousands of U.S. dollars 
Currency Exposure I Functional currency 
Argentine Peso/ U.S. Dollar 
Euro I U.S. Dollar 

The main relevant exposures correspond to: 

• Argentine Peso/ U.S. dollar

As of December 31, 

2018 2017 

(186,867) (64,482) 
(175,419) (365,926) 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisting primarily of Argentine Peso-denominated financial, trade, social
and fiscal payables at certain Argentine subsidiaries whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. A change of
l % in the ARS/USD exchange rate would have generated a pre-tax gain/ loss of $1.9 million and $0.6 million
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 respectively.

• Euro I U.S. dollar

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, consisting primarily of Euro-denominated intercompany liabilities at
certain subsidiaries whose functional currency is the U.S. dollar. A change of l % in the EUR/USO exchange
rate would have generated a pre-tax gain/ loss of$1.3 million and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively, which would have been to a large extent offset by changes in currency translation
adjustment included in Tenaris's net equity position.
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A. Financial Risk Factors (Cont.)

(ii) Foreign exchange risk (Cont.)

Considering the balances held as of December 31, 2018 on financial assets and liabilities exposed to foreign 
exchange rate fluctuations, Tenaris estimates that the impact of a simultaneous 1 % appreciation / depreciation 
movement in the levels of foreign currencies exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar, would be a pre-tax gain/ 
loss of $3.6 million (including a loss/ gain of $2.3 million due to foreign exchange derivative contracts), which 
would be partially offset by changes to Tenaris's net equity position of $1.9 million. For balances held as of 
December 3 1, 20 I 7, a simultaneous I% favorable/ unfavorable movement in the foreign currencies exchange rates 
relative to the U.S. dollar, would have generated a pre-tax gain/ loss of $5.3 million (including a loss/ gain of$6.7 
million due to foreign exchange derivative contracts), which would have been partially offset by changes to 

Tenaris's net equity position of $3.4 million. 

The Company entered into foreign exchange derivative contracts to mitigate the exposure to fluctuations in 
exchange rates. 

(iii) interest rate risk

Tenaris is subject to interest rate risk on its investment portfolio and its debt. The Company uses a mix of variable 
and fixed rate debt in combination with its investment portfolio strategy. The Company may choose to enter into 
interest rate swaps to mitigate the exposure to changes in the interest rates. 

The following table summarizes the proportions of variable-rate and fixed-rate debt as of each year end. 

As of December 31, 

2018 2017 

Amount in thousands % Amount in thousands % 
of U.S. dollars of U.S. dollars 

Fixed rate(*) 520,471 97% 946,215 98% 
Variable rate 18,536 3% 19,644 2% 

Total 539,007 965,859 

(*) Out of the $520 million fixed rate borrowings $493 million are short-term. 

The Company estimates that, if market interest rates applicable to Tenaris's borrowings had been 100 basis points 
higher, then the additional pre-tax loss would have been $8.2 million in 2018 and $8.0 million in 2017. 

(iv) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 
exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The Company also actively 
monitors the creditworthiness of its treasury, derivative and insurance counterparties in order to minimize its credit 
risk. 

There is no significant concentration of credit risk from customers. No single customer comprised more than 10% 
ofTenaris's net sales in 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

Tenaris's credit policies related to sales of products and services are designed to identify customers with acceptable 
credit history and to allow Tenaris to require the use of credit insurance, letters of credit and other instruments 
designed to minimize credit risks whenever deemed necessary. Tenaris maintains allowances for impairment for 
potential credit losses (See Section II J). 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 trade receivables amount to $1,737.4 million and$1,214. 1 million respectively. 
Trade receivables have guarantees under credit insurance of $181 .7 million and $190.7 million, letter of credit and 
other bank guarantees of$62.3 million and $42.2 million, and other guarantees of$42.2 million and $14.1 million 
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 respectively. 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 past due trade receivables amounted to $368.4 million and $230.9 million, 
respectively. The amount of past due trade receivables up to 15 days amounted to $139 million and $50 million 
respectively. Consequently the past due trade receivables over 15 days amounted to $229.4 million and $180.9 
million. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, guaranteed trade receivables amounted to $31.5 million and $27.3 
million while $66.5 million and $78.4 million are included in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Both the 
allowance for doubtful accounts and the existing guarantees are sufficient to cover doubtful trade receivables. 
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(v) Counterparty risk

Tenaris has investment guidelines with specific parameters to limit issuer risk on marketable secunt1es. 

Counterparties for derivatives and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions, normally 
investment grade. 

Approximately 83% of Tenaris's liquid financial assets correspond to Investment Grade-rated instruments as of 

December 31, 2018, in comparison with approximately 71% as of December 31, 2017. 

(vi) Liquidity risk

Tenaris financing strategy aims to maintain adequate financial resources and access to additional liquidity. During 

2018, Tenaris has counted on cash flows from operations as well as additional bank financing to fund its 
transactions. 

Management maintains sufficient cash and marketable securities to finance normal operations and believes that 
Tenaris also has appropriate access to market for short-term working capital needs. 

Liquid financial assets as a whole (comprising cash and cash equivalents and other investments) were 7% of total 
assets at the end of 2018 compared to 11 % at the end of 2017. 

Tenaris has a conservative approach to the management of its liquidity, which consists of i) cash and cash 

equivalents (cash in banks, liquidity funds and investments with a maturity of less than three months at the date of 
purchase), and ii) Other Investments (fixed income securities, time deposits, and fund investments). 

Tenaris holds primarily investments in money market funds and variable or fixed-rate securities from investment 

grade issuers. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, Tenaris does not have direct exposure to financial instruments 

issued by European sovereign counterparties. 

Tenaris holds its investments primarily in U.S. dollars. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, U.S. dollar 
denominated liquid assets represented approximately 95% and 93% of total liquid financial assets respectively. 

(vii) Commodity price risk

In the ordinary course of its operations, Tenaris purchases commodities and raw materials that are subject to price 

volatility caused by supply conditions, political and economic variables and other factors. As a consequence, 
Tenaris is exposed to risk resulting from fluctuations in the prices of these commodities and raw materials. Tenaris 

fixes the prices of such raw materials and commodities for short-term periods, typically not in excess of one year, 
in general Tenaris does not hedge this risk. 

B. Category of financial instruments and classification within the fair value hierarchy

As mentioned in note II.A, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following measurement 

categories: amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") and fair value through profit 
and loss ("FVPL").For financial instruments that are measured in the statement of financial position at fair value, 
IFRS 13, "Fair value measurement" requires a disclosure of fair value measurements by level according to the 
following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

Level I - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). 
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The following tables present the financial instruments by category and levels as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

Carrying 
Measurement Cat!:8ories At Fair Value 

December 31, 2018 
amount 

Amortized 
FVOCI FVPL Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Cost 
Assets 
Casi, and ca.flt equi1•alents 428,361 268,163 160,198 160,198 
Otlter investments 487,734 300,410 166,094 21,230 168,165 19,159 
Fixed income (lime-deposil, zero coupon bonds, commercial pae.ers) 300,-110 300,-110 

Certificates of deposits 198,912 198,912 
Commercial papers 9,932 9,932 
Other notes 91,566 91,566 

Bond� and 01her fixed income 187,32-1 166,09-1 21,230 168,165 19,159 
U.S. government securities 1,077 1,077 1,077 
Non - U.S. government securities 24,912 24,912 24,912 
Corporates securities l-12,176 140,105 2,071 142,176 
Structured notes 19,159 19,159 19,159 

Derfratfre financial instruments 9,173 9,173 9,173 
Otlter lflvestments Non...:urrent 118,155 113,830 4,326 113,830 4,326 
Bonds and other fixed income 113,830 113,830 113,830 
Other investments -1,326 -1,326 4,326 
Trade recefrables 1,737,366 1, 737,.I66 
Recefrables C and NC("') 307,790 H9,474 48,711 52 48,659 
Other receivables 188,185 139,-17-1 48,711 52 48,659 
Other receivables (non-financial) IJ9,605 

Total 2,445,413 328,635 194,927 442,193 28,384 52,985 

Liabilities 
Borrowings C and NC 539,007 539,007 
Trade payables 693,673 693,673 
Derivative financial instruments 11,978 11,978 11,978 
Total 1,232,680 11,978 11,978 

(*) Includes balances related to interest in our Venezuelan companies, see Note 30. 

Measurement Categories At Fair Value 
December31, 2017 Carrying 

Loans & Held to Available 
Fair value 

Amount 
Receivables Maturity for sale 

through profit Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
and loss 

Assets 
Casi, and caslt equivalents 330,221 150,948 179,273 179,273 
Cash at banks 150,9-18 150,948 
Liquidity funds 66,033 66,033 66,033 
Short - term investments ll3,2-I0 113,240 I 13,240 
Otlter investments 1,192,306 220,838 971,468 459,476 511,992 
Fixed income (lime-deposil, zero coupon bonds, 
commercial e.apers) -137,-106 -137,-106 9,9-13 -127,-163 

Certificates of deposits 297,788 297,788 297,788 
Commercial papers 9,943 9,943 9,943 
Other notes 129,675 129,675 129,675 

Bonds and 01her fixed income 75-1,800 220,838 533,962 -1-19,533 8-1,-129 

U.S. government securities 130,477 130,477 130,477 
Non - U.S government securities 161,063 36,283 124,780 124,780 
Corporates securities 378,831 184,555 194,276 194,276 
Structured notes 68,0-1-1 68,044 68,044 
Mort0a0e and asset-backed securities 16,385 16,385 16,385 

O1hers /00 /00 JOO 
Otlter Investments Non- current 128,335 123,498 4,837 4,837 
Bonds and other fixed income 123,-198 123,498 
Other investments 4,837 4,837 4,837 
Trade recefrables 1,214,060 1,214,06() 
Recei1•ables C and NC 327,258 176,716 8,230 8,230 
Foreign exchange derivatives contracts 8,230 8,230 8,230 
Other receivables 176,716 176,716 
Other receivables (non-financial) 1-12,312 
Available (!!r sale assets 21,572 21,572 21,572 
Total 1,541,724 344,336 21,572 1,163,808 638,749 520,222 26,409 

Liabilities 
Borrowings C and NC 965,859 965,859 
Trade payables 750,739 750,739 
Otlter liabilities 197,504 39,799 39,799 
Foreign exchange derivatives contracts 39,799 39,799 39,799 
Other liabilities �non-financial1 157,705 

Total 1,716,598 39,799 39,799 

There were no transfers between levels during the year. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting 

date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, 
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 

occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
Tenaris is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1 and comprise primarily corporate and 

sovereign debt securities. 
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B. Category of financial instruments and classification within the fair value hierarchy (Cont.)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (such as certain debt securities, 
certificates of deposits with original maturity of more than three months, forward and interest rate derivative 

instruments) is determined by using valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable market data when 

available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to value an 
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2. Tenaris values its assets and liabilities included 
in this level using bid prices, interest rate curves, broker quotations, current exchange rates, forward rates and 
implied volatilities obtained from market contributors as of the valuation date. 

If one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instruments are included in 
Level 3. Tenaris values its assets and liabilities in this level using observable market inputs and management 

assumptions which reflect the Company's best estimate on how market participants would price the asset or liability 
at measurement date. Main balances included in this level correspond to the Company interest in Venezuelan 

companies (see Note 30). 

The following table presents the changes in Level 3 assets and liabilities: 

Year ended December 31, 

At the beginning of the year 

Addition I (Decrease) 
Currency translation adjustment and others 

At the end of the year 

C. Fair value estimation

2018 2017 

Assets I Liabilities 

26,409 

26,768 

(192) 

52,985 

23,242 

3,117 

50 

26,409 

Financial assets or liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss are measured under the framework 

established by the IASB accounting guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures. 

The fair values of quoted investments are generally based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset 

is not active or no market is available, fair values are established using standard valuation techniques. 

The fair value of all outstanding derivatives is determined using specific pricing models that include inputs that are 

observable in the market or can be derived from or corroborated by observable data. The fair value of forward 

foreign exchange contracts is calculated as the net present value of the estimated future cash flows in each currency, 

based on observable yield curves, converted into U.S. dollars at the spot rate of the valuation date. 

Borrowings are comprised primarily of fixed rate debt and variable rate debt with a short term portion where interest 

has already been fixed. They are classified under other financial liabilities and measured at their amortized cost. 

Tenaris estimates that the fair value of its main financial liabilities is approximately 99.3% of its carrying amount 

including interests accrued in 2018 as compared with 99.4% in 2017. Fair values were calculated using standard 

valuation techniques for floating rate instruments and comparable market rates for discounting flows. 

The carrying amount of investments valuated at amortized cost approximates its fair value. 

D. Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognized in the statement of financial position at fair value through 

profit and loss on each date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. 

Specific tools are used for calculation of each instrument's fair value and these tools are tested for consistency on 

a monthly basis. Market rates are used for all pricing operations. These include exchange rates, deposit rates and 

other discount rates matching the nature of each underlying risk. 

As a general rule, Tenaris recognizes the full amount related to the change in fair value of derivative financial 

instruments in Financial Results in the Consolidated Income Statement. 
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D. Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (Cont.)

Tenaris designates certain derivatives as hedges of particular risks associated with recognized assets or liabilities 

or highly probable forecast transactions. These transactions (mainly currency forward contracts on highly probable 

forecast transactions) are classified as cash flow hedges. The effective portion of the fair value of derivatives that 

are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognized in equity. Amounts accumulated in equity are then 

recognized in the income statement in the same period as the offsetting losses and gains on the hedged item. The 

gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement. The fair value of 

Tenaris's derivative financial instruments (assets or liabilities) continues to be reflected in the statement of financial 

position. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a current or non-current asset or liability 

according to its expiry date. 

For transactions designated and qualifying for hedge accounting, Tenaris documents at the inception of the 

transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management 

objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Tenaris also documents its assessment on an 

ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting 

changes in the fair value or cash flow of hedged items. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the effective portion of 

designated cash flow hedges which is included in Other Reserves in equity amounts to $0.9 million and $0.2 million 

debit respectively (see Note 23 Derivative financial instruments). 

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes and the movements of the hedging 

reserve included within Other Reserves in equity are disclosed in Note 23. 
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IV. OTHER NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In the notes all amounts are shown in thousands of U.S. dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1 Segment information 

As mentioned in section IL AP - C, the Segment Information is disclosed as follows: 

Reportable operating segments 
(All amounts in millions of U.S. dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2018 
IFRS - Net Sales 
Management view - operating income 
Difference in cost of sales 

Direct cost and others 
Absorption 

Differences in depreciation and amortization 
Differences in selling, general and administrative expenses 
Differences in other operating income (expenses), net 
IFRS - operating income 
Financial income (expense), net 
Income before equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 
and income tax 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 
Income before income tax 
Capital expenditures 
Depreciation and amorti:::alion 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
IFRS - Net Sales 
Management view - operating income 
Difference in cost of sales 

Direct cost and others 
Absorption 

Differences in depreciation and amortization 
Differences in selling, general and administrative expenses 
Differences in other operating income (expenses), net 
IFRS - operating income 
Financial income (expense), net 
Income before equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies and 
income tax 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 
Income before income tax 
Capital expenditures 
Depreciation and amorti:::ation 

Year Ended December 31, 2016 
IFRS - Net Sales 
Management view - operating income 
Difference in cost of sales 

Direct cost and others 
Absorption 

Differences in depreciation and amortization 
Differences in selling, general and administrative expenses 
Differences in other operating income (expenses), net 
IFRS - operating (loss) income 
Financial income (expense), net 
(Loss) income before equity in earnings of non-consolidated 
companies and income tax 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 
Income before income tax 
Capital expenditures 
Depreciation and amorli:::alion 

Tubes 

7,233 
702 
112 
127 

(15) 
(34) 

(2) 

777 

3-16 
6-15 

Tubes 

4,966 
115 

164 
115 
-19 

(3) 
14 
2 

292 

550 
59-1 

Tubes 

4,015 
19 

(108) 
(II-I) 

6 
28 
(5) 
(5) 

(71) 

752 
6-13 

Other 

426 
81 
7 
6 
1 
0 
6 

95 

3 
19 

Other 

323 
48 

(6) 

43 

8 
15 

Other 

278 
19 
(8) 
(8) 

12 

33 
1-1 

Continuing 
operations 

7,659 
783 
119 
133 
(14) 
(34) 

4 

872 
37 

909 
194 

1,103 
349 

664 

Continuing 
operations 

5,289 
163 
165 
115 

50 
(3) 

8 
2 

335 
(23) 

312 
116 
428 
558 

609 

Continuing 
operations 

4,294 
38 

(116) 
(122) 

6 
28 
(4) 
(5) 

(59) 
22 

(37) 
71 
34 

785 

657 

Discontinued 
operations 

Discontinued 
operations 

12 
3 

( 1) 
(1) 

Discontinued 
operations 

2 

2 

2 

235 
62 
4 

-I 

66 

66 

66 
2 

5 

Transactions between segments, which were eliminated in consolidation, are mainly related to sales of scrap, 
energy, surplus raw materials and others from the Other segment to the Tubes segment for $52, $53 and $47 million 
in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

In addition to the amounts reconciled above, the main differences in net income arise from the impact of functional 
currencies on financial result, deferred income taxes as well as the result of investment in non-consolidated 
companies and changes on the valuation of inventories according to cost estimation internally defined. 
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Segment information (Cont.) 

Geographical information 

(all amounts in thousands ofU.S. 
dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2018 
Net sales 
Total assets 
Trade receivables 
Property, plant and equipment, net 
Capital expenditures 
Depreciation and amortization 

Year ended December 31, 2017 
Net sales 
Total assets 
Trade receivables 
Property, plant and equipment, net 
Capital expenditures 
Depreciation and amortization 

Year ended December 31, 2016 
Net sales 
Total assets 
Trade receivables 
Property, plant and equipment, net 
Capital expenditures 
Depreciation and amortization 

North 
America 

3,611,509 
7,971,311 

791,190 
3,859,060 

196,220 
441,705 

2,451,357 
7,925,520 

582,204 
3,914,229 

430,142 
354,091 

1,320,297 
7,467,842 

229,390 
3,652,032 

646,545 
381,81 I 

South 
America 

1,462,044 
2,489,522 

280,801 
1,133,113 

68,603 
108,558 

1,142,142 
2,975,599 

234,877 
1,190,145 

58,949 
126,273 

1,210,527 
2,803,848 

204,746 
1,237,391 

59,780 
128,458 

E 
Middle East 

urope 
& Africa 

724,733 
1,913,589 

215,202 
848,178 
77,467 
82,769 

545,777 
2,002,658 

214,944 
878,788 
57,285 
93,900 

565,173 
1,925,784 

161,291 
847,318 
35,270 

113,875 

1,559,988 
588,746 
383,358 
94,040 
2,047 

10,389 

937,439 
391,029 
135,524 
102,481 

7,562 
12,094 

1,055,994 
593,649 
308,919 
106,941 
24,166 
11,053 

Asia 
Pacific 

300,314 
482,563 
66,815 

129,517 
5,136 

20,936 

211,789 
441,546 
46,511 

143,500 
4,153 

22,282 

141,601 
482,132 
50,339 

158,257 
19,201 
21,912 

Unallocated 
Total Total 

(
*
) 

continuing discontinued 
operations operations 

7,658,588 
805,568 14,251,299 

1,737,366 
6,063,908 

349,473 
664,357 

661,866 

578,603 

5,288,504 
14,398,218 
1,214,060 
6,229,143 

558,091 
608,640 

4,293,592 
13,851,858 

954,685 
6,001,939 

784,962 
657,109 

11,899 

145 

234,911 
151,417 
33,620 
41,470 
1,911 
5,303 

There are no revenues from external customers attributable to the Company's country of incorporation 
(Luxembourg). For geographical information purposes, "North America" comprises Canada, Mexico and the USA 
(33%); "South America" comprises principally Argentina (13%), Brazil and Colombia; "Europe" comprises 
principally Italy and Romania; "Middle East and Africa" comprises principally Egypt, Kazakhstan, Nigeria and 
Saudi Arabia and; "Asia Pacific" comprises principally China, Japan, Indonesia and Thailand. 

(*) For 2018 includes Investments in non-consolidated companies, for 2017 and 2016 includes Investments in non­
consolidated companies and Other equity investments for $21.6 million (see Note 11 and 30). 

Revenue is mainly recognized at a point in time to direct customers, when control has been transferred and there 
is no unfulfilled performance obligation that could affect the acceptance of the product by the customer. Tenaris's 
revenues related to governmental institutions represents aproximately 14% and 16% in 2018 and 2017 
respectively. At December 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized contract liabilities related to customer 
advances in the amount of$ 62.7, 56.7 and 39.7 million, respectively. These amounts related to years 2017 and 
2016 were reclassified to revenues during the subsequent year. In these periods, no significant adjustment in 
revenues were performed related to performance obligations previously satisfied. 

2 Cost of sales 

Year ended December 31, 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 2018 2017 

Inventories at the beginning of the year 2,368,304 1,563,889 

Plus: Charges of the year 
Raw materials, energy, consumables and other 3,400,396 2,794,503 
Services and fees 275,130 244,035 
Labor cost 855,040 778,408 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 432,497 383,490 
Amortization of intangible assets 8,220 18,621 
Maintenance expenses 185,782 183,370 
Allowance for obsolescence 25,457 (12,917) 
Taxes 133,308 18,542 
Other 119,507 88,823 

5,435,337 4,496,875 
Less: Inventories at the end of the year(*) (2,524,341) (2,368,304) 
From discontinued operations (7,403) 

5,279,300 3,685,057 

(*) Inventories as of December 31, 2016 include$ 29.8 million related to discontinued operations. 
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2016 

1,843,467 

1,528,532 
199,210 
658,975 
376,965 
27,244 

122,553 
32,765 
16,693 
89,575 

3,052,512 
(1,593,708) 

(136,587) 

3,165,684 
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3 Selling, general and administrative expenses 

Year ended December 31, 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 2018 2017 2016 

Services and fees 128,090 132,301 123,653 
Labor cost 470,928 443,338 441,355 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 16,968 17,979 16,965 
Amortization of intangible assets 206,672 188,550 241,238 
Commissions, freight and other selling expenses 491,555 339,759 243,401 
Provisions for contingencies 23,498 17,664 30,841 
Allowances for doubtful accounts 1,751 {5,421) (12,573) 
Taxes 71,110 56,826 67,724 

Other 99,404 81,061 76,563 

1,509,976 1,272,057 1,229,167 
From discontinued operations (2,041) (32,238) 

1,509,976 1,270,016 1,196,929 

4 Labor costs (included in Cost of sales and in Selling, general and administrative expenses) 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Wages, salaries and social security costs 
Severance indemnities 
Defined contribution plans 
Pension benefits - defined benefit plans 
Employee retention and long term incentive program 

From discontinued operations 

The following table shows the geographical distribution of the employees: 

Mexico 
Argentina 
USA 
Italy 
Romania 
Brazil 
Colombia 
Canada 
Indonesia 
Japan 
Other 

From discontinued operations 

Country 

114 

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 2016 

1,250,783 
25,225 
13,217 
15,390 
21,353 

1,325,968 

1,325,968 

2018 
5,728 
5,569 
2,410 
2,173 
1,877 
1,374 
1,106 
1,034 

554 
399 

1,248 

23,472 

23,472 

1,144,341 
34,497 
12,401 
15,066 
15,441 

1,221,746 
(853) 

1,220,893 

2017 
5,139 
5,221 
1,953 
2,088 
1,870 
1,382 
1,003 

919 
506 
410 

1,114 

21,605 

21,605 

988,794 
73,741 
10,758 
10,563 
16,474 

1,100,330 
(28,306) 

1,072,024 

2016 
4,968 
4,755 
1,636 
1,979 
1,631 
1,166 

750 
473 
509 
458 

1,074 

19,399 

(323) 

19,076 
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5 Other operating income and expenses 

Year ended December 31, 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 2018 2017 2016 

Other operating income 

Net income from other sales 

Net rents 

Other 

Other operating expenses 

Contributions to welfare projects and non-profits organizations 

Loss on fixed assets and material supplies disposed/ scrapped 

Allowance for doubtful receivables 

Other 

From discontinued operations 

6 Financial results 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Interest Income 
Net result on changes in FY of financial assets at FVTPL 

Finance income (*) 

Finance cost 
Net foreign exchange transactions results(**) 
Foreign exchange derivatives contracts results(***) 

Other 

Other financial results 
Net financial results 
From discontinued operations 

(*) In 2018 includes $3.6 million of interest related to instruments carried at FVTPL. 

3,604 4,395 16,275 

4,909 4,325 4,852 

6,546 1,796 

15,059 10,516 21,127 

11,379 9,158 9,534 

118 57 

1,179 84 432 

1,388 

12,558 9,360 11,411 
(1) (248)

12,558 9,359 11,163 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

42,244 

(2,388) 

39,856 
(36,942) 

28,845 
6,576 

(1,035) 

34,386 
37,300 

37,300 

51,525 
(3,920) 

47,605 
(27,072) 

(48,955) 
(8,996) 

14,392 

(43,559) 
(23,026) 

9 

(23,017) 

60,405 
5,799 

66,204 
(22,329) 
(2,146) 

(31,310) 
11,447 

(22,009) 
21,866 

88 

21,954 

(**) In 2018 includes the result from the Argentine peso depreciation against the U.S. dollar on Peso denominated financial, 
trade, social and fiscal payables and receivables at Argentine subsidiaries with functional currency U.S. dollar, together with 
the positive impact from Euro depreciation against the U.S. dollar on Euro denominated intercompany liabilities in subsidiaries 
with functional currency U.S. Dollar, largely offset by an increase in currency translation adjustment reserve from our Italian 
subsidiary. 

In 2017 includes the negative impact from Euro appreciation against the U.S. dollar on Euro denominated intercompany 
liabilities in subsidiaries with functional currency U.S. Dollar, largely offset by an increase in currency translation adjustment 
reserve from our Italian subsidiary. 

(** *) In 2016 includes the negative impact from Brazilian Real appreciation against the U.S. dollar on hedging instruments and 
of Cash and cash equivalent and other investments denominated in U.S. dollar in subsidiaries with functional currency Brazilian 
Real, partially offset by an increase in currency translation adjustment reserve from the Brazilian subsidiaries. 
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7 Income tax 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Current tax 
Deferred tax 

From discontinued operations 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

343,104 
(113,897) 

229,207 

229,207 

184,016 
(100,432) 

83,584 
(100,720) 

(17,136) 

174,410 
(132,969) 

41,441 
(24,339) 

17,102 

The tax on Tenaris's income before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate in 
each country as follows: 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Income before income tax 

Tax calculated at the tax rate in each country 
Non taxable income/ Non deductible expenses, net 
Changes in the tax rates 
Effect of currency translation on tax base(*) 
Accrual / Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses 
Tax charge 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

1,103,107 

207,422 
(57,591) 

1,824 
77,552 

229,207 

427,711 

6,456 
40,298 

(62,968) 
(922) 

(17,136) 

34,430 

(91,628) 
51,062 

4,720 
105,758 

(52,810) 

17,102 

(*)Tenaris applies the liability method to recognize deferred income tax on temporary differences between the tax bases of 
assets and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. By application of this method, Tenaris recognizes gains and 
losses on deferred income tax due to the effect of the change in the value on the tax basis in subsidiaries (mainly Argentina 
and Mexico), which have a functional currency different than their local currency. These gains and losses are required by 
IFRS even though the revalued/ devalued tax bases of the relevant assets will not result in any deduction/ obligation for tax 
purposes in future periods 

Non Taxable income/ Non deductible expenses, net, includes a net tax charge of approximately $59 million booked 
in the last quarter of 20 l 8 related to impact resulting from the special tax revaluation regime of fixed assets in 
Argentina (option granted by Law to Argentinian Tax payers). 

Changes in the tax rates, in 2017 it includes mainly the effect of the changes in tax rate in Argentine and US 
subsidiaries for approximately $46 million and $15.2 million respectively. 

Accrual/ Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses, includes a deferred tax income of approximately $45 
million booked in the last quarter of 2016 related to capital losses. The amount was carried forward in line with US 
Regulation in force and offset in 2017 capital gains. 

8 Dividends distribution 

On October 31, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors approved the payment of an interim dividend of $0. I 3 
per share ($0.26 per ADS), or approximately $153 million, paid on November 21, 2018, with an ex-dividend date 
ofNovember 19, 2018. 

On May 2, 2018, the Company's Shareholders approved an annual dividend in the amount of$0.4 l per share ($0.82 

per ADS). The amount approved included the interim dividend previously paid in November 22, 2017 in the amount 

of $0.13 per share ($0.26 per ADS). The balance, amounting to $0.28 per share ($0.56 per ADS), was paid on May 

23, 2018. In the aggregate, the interim dividend paid in November 2017 and the balance paid in May 2018 amounted 
to approximately $484.0 million. 

On May 3, 2017, the Company's Shareholders approved an annual dividend in the amount of $0.41 per share ($0.82 
per ADS). The amount approved included the interim dividend previously paid in November 23, 2016 in the amount 
of $0.13 per share ($0.26 per ADS). The balance, amounting to $0.28 per share ($0.56 per ADS), was paid on May 
24, 2017. In the aggregate, the interim dividend paid in November 2016 and the balance paid in May 2017 amounted 
to approximately $484.0 million 

On May 4, 2016 the Company's Shareholders approved an annual dividend in the amount of $0.45 per share ($0.90 
per ADS). The amount approved included the interim dividend previously paid in November 25, 2015 in the amount 
of $0.15 per share ($0.30 per ADS). The balance, amounting to $0.30 per share ($0.60 per ADS), was paid on May 
25, 2016. In the aggregate, the interim dividend paid in November 2015 and the balance paid in May 2016 amounted 
to approximately $531.2 million. 
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9 Property, plant and equipment, net 
Industrial 

Land and buildings, plant Vehicles, Spare parts 
civil and production furniture Work in and 

Year ended December 31, 2018 buildings eguiement and fixtures erogress eguiement Total 

Cost 
Values at the beginning of the year 712,061 I 1,954,585 370,542 167,079 42,413 13,246,680 
Translation differences (5,628) (117,977) (5,458) (2,269) (424) (131,756) 
Additions 723 681 1,245 294,163 20,756 317,568 
Disposals / Consumptions (221) (21,836) (10,269) (42) (3,541) (35,909) 
Transfers I Reclassifications 25,643 306,116 21,200 (331,553) 3,993 25,399 
Values at the end of the year 732,578 12,121,569 377,260 127,378 63,197 13,421,982 
Depreciation 
Accumulated at the beginning of the year 101,197 6,612,871 303,469 7,017,537 
Translation differences (1,383) (72,141) (4,939) (78,463) 
Depreciation charge 11,153 417,229 21,083 449,465 
Transfers I Reclassifications 173 (671) (498) 
Disposals I Consumptions (53) (21,232) (8,682} (29,967) 
Accumulated at the end of the year 110,914 6,936,900 310,260 7,358,074 
At December 31, 2018 621,664 5,184,669 67,000 127,378 63,197 6,063,908 

Industrial 
Land and buildings, plant Vehicles, Spare 

civil and production furniture Work in parts and 
Year ended December 31, 2017 buildings eguiement and fixtures erogress eguiement Total 

Cost 
Values at the beginning of the year 599,710 10,034,500 346,486 1,492,572 25,404 12,498,672 
Translation differences 5,493 178,598 5,518 284 331 190,224 
Additions 63 7,423 1,252 497,423 18,490 524,651 
Disposals / Consumptions (1,293) (3,966) (7,319) (94) (1,812) (14,484) 
Increase due to business combinations(*) 2,187 5,654 2,444 10,285 
Transfers I Reclassifications 105,901 1,732,376 22,161 (1,823,106) 37,332 
Values at the end of the year 712,061 11,954,585 370,542 167,079 42,413 13,246,680 
Depreciation 
Accumulated at the beginning of the year 89,274 6,125,552 281,907 6,496,733 
Translation differences 1,204 114,675 4,959 120,838 
Depreciation charge 9,406 368,850 23,213 401,469 
Transfers/ Reclassifications 1,699 7,575 (405) 8,869 
Disposals / Consumptions (386) (3,781) (6,205) (10,372} 
Accumulated at the end of the year 101,197 6,612,871 303,469 7,017,537 
At December 31, 2017 610,864 5,341,714 67,073 167,079 42,413 6,229,143 

Property, plant and equipment include capitalized interests for net amounts at December 31, 2018 and 2017 of $37.4 million 
and $39.5 million, respectively. The average capitalization interest rate applied during 2017 was 1.97%. 

(*) Related to Garrett LLC acquisition, see Note 25. 
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10 Intangible assets, net 

Information Licenses, 
system patents and Customer 

Year ended December 31, 2018 E!rojects trademarks(*} Goodwill relationshi(!S Total 

Cost 
Values at the beginning of the year 560,692 465,963 2,090,073 2,058,859 5,175,587 
Translation differences (6,153) (183) (4,137) (10,473) 
Additions 31,632 273 31,905 
Transfers I Reclassifications (5,493) (5,493) 
Disposals (56} (1,482) (1,538) 
Values at the end of the year 580,622 464,571 2,085,936 2,058,859 5,189,988 

Amortization 
Accumulated at the beginning of the year 478,946 372,746 797,592 1,865,444 3,514,728 
Translation differences (5,551) (5,551) 
Amortization charge 40,635 720 173,537 214,892 
Disposals (46} (46} 
Accumulated at the end of the year 513,984 373,466 797,592 2,038,981 3,724,023 
At December 31, 2018 66,638 91,105 1,288,344 19,878 1,465,965 

Information Licenses, 
system patents and Customer 

Year ended December 31, 2017 [!rojects trademarks (*} Goodwill relationshi(!S Total 
Cost 
Values at the beginning of the year 554,330 461,619 2,090,257 2,058,946 5,165,152 
Translation differences 6,265 483 (184) (87) 6,477 
Additions 28,335 5,105 33,440 
Transfers / Reclassifications (28,371) (92) (28,463) 
Increase due to business combinations(**) 133 133 
Disposals (1,152) (], 152) 
Values at the end of the year 560,692 465,963 2,090,073 2,058,859 5,175,587 
Amortization 
Accumulated at the beginning of the year 408,373 362,292 797,592 1,734,068 3,302,325 
Translation differences 5,232 5,232 
Amortization charge 65,249 10,546 131,376 207,171 
Transfers I Reclassifications 92 (92 
Accumulated at the end of the year 478,946 372,746 797,592 1,865,444 3,514,728 
At December 31, 2017 81,746 93,217 1,292,481 193,415 1,660,859 

(*) Includes Proprietary Technology. 

(**) Related to Garrett LLC acquisition. 

The geographical allocation of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $1,168.5 million for North 
America, $117.1 million for South America, $1.9 million for Europe and $0.7 million for Middle East & Africa. 

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated by CGU, as of December 31, 2018, was as follows: 

(All amounts in million US dollar) 
As of December 31, 2018 Tubes Se ment Other Se m ent 

CGU 
Maverick Hydril Other 

Maverick 
Total 

Ac Ac uisition Ac uisition 
OCTG (USA) 225 225 
Tamsa (Hydril and other) 346 19 365 
Siderca (Hydril and other) 265 93 358 
Hydril 309 309 
Coiled Tubing 4 4 
Confab 24 24 
Other 3 3 
Total 225 920 139 4 1,288 
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11 Investments in non-consolidated companies 

At the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 
Equity in earnings of non-consolidated companies 
Dividends and distributions received (*) 
Decrease / increase in equity reserves and others 

At the end of the year 

(*)Related to Ternium and Usiminas of which 25.7 were collected during the year. 

The principal non-consolidated companies are: 

Company 
a) Ternium(*)
b) Usiminas(**)

Others

(*) Including treasury shares. 

Country of incorporation 
Luxembourg 
Brazil 

(**)At December 31,2018 and 2017 the voting rights were 5.2%. 

a) Ternium

% ownership at 
December 31, 

2018 2017 
11.46% 
3.07% 

11.46% 
3.08% 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

640,294 
1,848 

193,994 
(26,581) 
(3,987) 

805,568 

557,031 
(9,548) 
116,140 

(22,971) 

(358) 

640,294 

Value at December 31, 

2018 
725,548 

72,988 
7,032 

805,568 

2017 
563,735 

70,642 
5,917 

640,294 

Ternium, is a steel producer with production facilities in Mexico, Argentina, Brazil, Colombia, United States and 
Guatemala and is one ofTenaris's main suppliers of round steel bars and flat steel products for its pipes business. 

At December 31, 2018, the closing price of Ternium's ADSs as quoted on the New York Stock Exchange was 
$27.1 per ADS, giving Tenaris's ownership stake a market value of approximately $622.5 million. At December 
31, 2018, the carrying value of Tenaris's ownership stake in Ternium, based on Ternium's IFRS Financial 
Statements, was approximately $725.5 million. 

As of December 31, 2018 the Company concluded that the carrying amount does not exceed the recoverable value 
of the investment. 

Summarized selected financial information of Ternium, including the aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and profit or loss is as follows: 

Non-current assets 
Current assets 
Total assets 

Non-current liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Non-controlling interests 

Revenues 
Gross profit 
Net income for the year attributable to owners of the parent 
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax, attributable to owners of the parent 
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Ternium 

2018 

8,121,824 
4,426,038 

12,547,862 

3,236,756 
1,826,530 
5,063,286 

1,091,321 

11,454,807 
2,971,479 
1,506,647 
1,176,964 

2017 

7,727,283 
4,395,283 

12,122,566 

3,442,521 
2,827,275 
6,269,796 

842,347 

9,700,296 
2,297,271 

886,219 
815,434 
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11 Investments in non-consolidated companies (Cont.) 

b) Usiminas

Usiminas is a Brazilian producer of high quality flat steel products used in the energy, automotive and other 
industries. 

As of December 31, 2018, the closing price of the Usiminas' ordinary and preferred shares, as quoted on the B3 -
Brasil Bolsa Balcao S.A, was BRLI 1.44 ($2.95) and BRL9.22 ($2.38), respectively, giving Tenaris's ownership 
stake a market value of approximately $110.8 million. As that date, the carrying value ofTenaris's ownership stake 
in Usiminas was approximately $73 million. 

Summarized selected financial information of Usiminas, including the aggregated amounts of assets, liabilities, 
revenues and profit or loss is as follows: 

Non-current assets 
Current assets 

Total assets 

Non-current liabilities 
Current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Non-controlling interests 

Revenues 
Gross profit 
Net income for the year attributable to owners of the parent 

c) Techgen

Usiminas 

2018 

4,696,896 
2,148,322 

6,845,218 

1,933,207 
860,862 

2,794,069 

369,333 

3,766,241 

612,156 
194,381 

2017 

5,661,947 
2,193,096 

7,855,043 

2,344,042 
920,924 

3,264,966 

425,988 

3,367,937 

513,712 
74,019 

Techgen is a Mexican company that operates a natural gas-fired combined cycle electric power plant in the 
Pesqueria area of the State ofNuevo Leon, Mexico. The company started producing energy on December 1, 2016 
and has a power capacity of 900 megawatts. As of December 31, 2018, Tenaris held 22% of Tech gen' s share 
capital, and its affiliates, Ternium and Tecpetrol International S.A. ( a  wholly-owned subsidiary of San Faustin S.A., 
the controlling shareholder of both Tenaris and Ternium), held 48% and 30% respectively. 

Techgen is a party to transportation capacity agreements for a purchasing capacity of 150,000 MMBtu/Gas per day 
starting on August 1, 2016 and ending on July 31, 2036, and a party to a contract for the purchase of power 
generation equipment and other services related to the equipment. As of December 31, 2018, Tenaris' s exposure 

under these agreements amounted to $55. I million and$ I .8 million respectively. Furthermore, during the quarter, 
Techgen entered a contract for the purchase of clean energy certificates. As of December 31, 2018 Tenaris's 
exposure under this agreement amounted to $ I 7.1 million. 

Tenaris issued a corporate guarantee covering 22% of the obligations of Techgen under a syndicated loan 
agreement between Techgen and several banks, which was used in the construction of the facility. The main 
covenants under the corporate guarantee are Tenaris's commitment to maintain its participation in Techgen or the 
right to purchase at least 22% ofTechgen's firm energy, and compliance with a maximum permitted leverage ratio. 
As of December 3 I, 20 I 8, the amount outstanding under the loan agreement was $600 million and, as a result, the 
amount guaranteed by Tenaris was approximately $132 million. For a description of the recently agreed-upon 
refinancing of the syndicated loan agreement and the release of Tenaris's corporate guarantee, see "Subsequent 
events -Techgen refinancing." 

During 2018 the shareholders ofTechgen made additional investments, in Techgen, in form of subordinated loans, 
which in case of Tenaris amounted to $14. 7 million. In the same period, there were repayments of these loans for 

$9.4 million. As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate outstanding principal amount under these loans was $98.6 
million. 
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12 Receivables - non current 

Receivables from related parties 
Receivable Venezuelan subsidiaries 
Tax credits 
Legal deposits 
Employee advances and loans 
Advances to suppliers and other advances 
Others 
Derivative financial instruments 
Government entities 

Allowances for doubtful accounts (see Note 21 (i)) 

13 Inventories 

Finished goods 
Goods in process 
Raw materials 
Supplies 
Goods in transit 

Allowance for obsolescence (see Note 22 (i)) 

14 Receivables and prepayments 

Prepaid expenses and other receivables 
Government entities 
Employee advances and loans 
Advances to suppliers and other advances 
Government tax refunds on exports 
Receivables from related parties 
Miscellaneous 

Allowance for other doubtful accounts (see Note 22 (i)) 

15 Current tax assets and liabilities 

Current tax assets 

V.A.T. credits
Prepaid taxes

Current tax liabilities 

Income tax liabilities 
V.A.T. liabilities
Other taxes
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Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

58,128 88,595 

48,659 27,075 
16,025 29,404 

12,446 13,568 

3,740 5,891 
7,592 12,443 
5,263 6,353 

52 
641 

151,905 183,970 
(641) 

151,905 183,329 

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

1,025,999 923,316 
709,497 619,796 
256,816 281,083 
504,286 486,002 
237,539 274,175 

2,734,137 2,584,372 

(209,796) (216,068) 

2,524,341 2,368,304 

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

31,599 36,587 
2,182 2,085 
6,521 12,205 

23,467 25,205 
4,896 17,353 

63,321 28,397 
30,683 20,122 

162,669 141,954 
(6,784) (6,255) 

155,885 135,699 

Year ended Decem her 31, 

2018 2017 

67,322 76,714 
54,010 55,620 

121,332 132,334 

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

182,711 35,210 
18,091 14,313 
49,431 52,882 

250,233 l 02,405
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16 Trade receivables, net 

Current accounts 
Receivables from related parties 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (see Note 22 (i)) 

The following table sets forth details of the aging of trade receivables: 

Trade Receivables 

At December 31, 2018 
Guaranteed 286,250 

Not guaranteed 1,517,651 

Guaranteed and not guaranteed 1,803,901 

Expected loss rate 0.07% 
Allowances for doubtful accounts (1,396) 
Nominative allowances for doubtful accounts (65,139) 

Net Value 1,737,366 

Trade Receivables 

At January l, 2018 
Guaranteed 247,079 
Not guaranteed 1,045,366 

Guaranteed and not guaranteed 1,292,445 

Expected loss rate 0.08% 
Allowances for doubtful accounts (1,075) 
Nominative allowances for doubtful accounts (77,310) 

Net Value 1,214,060 

Effect of adoption of new standard (6,423) 

Net Value after adoption of new standard 1,207,637 

Trade receivables are mainly denominated in U.S. dollars. 

17 Cash and cash equivalents and Other investments 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash at banks 
Liquidity funds 
Short - term investments 

Other investments - current 
Fixed Income (time-deposit, zero coupon bonds, commercial papers) 
Bonds and other fixed Income 
Others 

Other investments - Non-current 
Bonds and other fixed Income 
Others 
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Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

Not Due 

254,743 

1,180,788 

1,435,531 

0.04% 
(564) 

1,434,967 

Not Due 

219,764 
841,737 

1,061,501 
0.04% 
(447) 

1,061,054 

1,061,054 

1,778,796 1,240,769 
25,105 51,676 

1,803,901 1,292,445 
(66,535) (78,385) 

1,737,366 1,214,060 

30,884 623 
260,675 76,188 

291,559 76,811 
0.17% 0.43% 
(510) (322)

(1,436) (63,703)

289,613 12,786 

Past due 

l - 180 da s > 180 da s

22,978 4,337 
115,245 88,384 

138,223 92,721 
0.17% 0.43% 
(252) (376)

(77,310)

137,971 15,035 

(6,423) 

137,971 8,612 

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

81,211 
160,198 
186,952 

428,361 

300,410 
187,324 

487,734 

113,829 

4,326 

118,155 

150,948 
66,033 

113,240 

330,221 

437,406 
754,800 

100 

1,192,306 

123,498 
4,837 

128,335 
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18 Borrowings 

Non-current 
Bank borrowings 

Finance lease liabilities 
Costs of issue of debt 

Current 
Bank borrowings 
Bank overdrafts 
Finance lease liabilities 

Costs of issue of debt 

Total Borrowings 

The maturity of borrowings is as follows: 

At December 31, 2018 
Financial lease 
Other borrowings 

Total borrowings 

Interest to be accrued (*) 

Total 

At December 31, 2017 
Financial lease 
Other borrowings 

Total borrowings 

Interest to be accrued (*) 

Total 

1 year or 
less 

44 

509,776 

509,820 

8,182 

518,002 

l year or 
less

138 

931,076 

931,214 

14,512 

945,726 

(*) Includes the effect of hedge accounting. 

Significant borrowings include: 

1 -2 
years 

4,271 

4,271 

1,175 

5,446 

1-2
years 

59 

4,876 

4,935 

1,212 

6,147 

2-3
years

4,771 

4,771 

1,166 

5,937 

2-3
years

4,484 

4,484 

1,203 

5,687 

3-4
years 

20,145 

20,145 

169 

20,314 

3-4
years 

4,978 

4,978 

1,190 

6,168 

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 

29,214 

(27) 

29,187 

508,143 
1,644 

44 

(11) 

509,820 

539,007 

4-5 Over 5 
years years 

4-5 Over 5 
years years 

20,248 

20,248 

174 

20,422 

34,626 
59 

(40) 

34,645 

930,957 
131 
138 

(12) 

931,214 

965,859 

Total 

44 

538,963 

539,007 

10,692 

549,699 

Total 

197 

965,662 

965,859 

18,290 

984,149 

In million of USD 
Disbursement date Borrower Type Original & Outstanding Final maturity 

2018 

2018 
2018 

Tamsa 

Siderca 
TuboCaribe 

Bank loans 
Bank loans 
Bank loan 

As of December 31, 2018, Tenaris was in compliance with all of its covenants. 

347 
66 
50 

2019 

2019 
May 2019 

The weighted average interest rates before tax shown below were calculated using the rates set for each instrument 

in its corresponding currency as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, considering hedge accounting where applicable. 

2018 2017 
Total borrowings 3.98% 3.73% 

Breakdown of long-term borrowings by currency and rate is as follows: 
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18 Borrowings (Cont.) 

Non-current borrowings 

Currency 
USD 
EUR 
EUR 
Others 

Total non-current borrowings 

Fixed 
Fixed 
Variable 
Variable 

Interest rates 

Breakdown of short-term borrowings by currency and rate is as follows: 

Current borrowings 

Currency 
USD 
USD 
EUR 
EUR 
MXN 
ARS 

Others 
Others 

Total current borrowings 

Borrowings evolution 

At the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 
Proceeds and repayments, net 
Interests accrued less payments 
Reclassifications 
Overdrafts variation 

At the end of the year 

19 Deferred income tax 

Variable 
Fixed 

Variable 
Fixed 
Fixed 
Fixed 

Variable 
Fixed 

Interest rates 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

18,762 19,120 

9,023 13,828 

1,402 1,638 

59 

29,187 34,645 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

16,847 17,640 

138,303 187,872 

198 169 

4,178 839 

301,047 412,719 

49,125 311,829 

89 138 

33 8 

509,820 931,214 

Year ended December 31, 2018 
Non current 

34,645 

(623) 

(1,330) 

(5) 

(3,500) 

29,187 

Current 
931,214 

(8,191) 

(411,570) 

(6,646) 

3,500 

1,513 

509,820 

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the tax rate 
of each country. 

The evolution of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows: 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Fixed 
Inventories 

Intangible and 
Total 

assets {*} Other 
At the beginning of the year 744,926 34,934 55,585 835,445 

Effect of adoption of new standards 35 35 

Translation differences (876) 92 (784) 

Charged directly to other comprehensive income 288 288 

Income statement charge (33,055) (9,886) (9,468) (52,409) 

At December 31, 2018 710,995 25,048 46,532 782,575 
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19 Deferred income tax (Cont.) 

Deferred tax liabilities (Cont.) 
Fixed 

Inventories 
Intangible and 

Total 
assets{*} Other 

At the beginning of the year 625,488 36,891 152,281 814,660 
Translation differences 2,241 (2) 23 2,262 
Charged directly to other comprehensive income (583) (583)
Income statement credit (charge) 117,197 (1,955) (96,136) 19,106
At December 31, 2017 744,926 34,934 55,585 835,445 

(*) lncludes the effect of currency translation on tax base (See Note 7). 

Deferred tax assets 
Provisions 

Tax 
and Inventories Other Total 

allowances 
losses(*) 

At the beginning of the year (26,475) (89,555) (354,944) (60,033) (531,007) 
Effect of adoption of new standards 952 (164) 788
Translation differences 2,532 1,447 1,014 (38) 4,955
Charged directly to other comprehensive income 23 1,587 1,610
Income statement charge/ ( credit) 6,852 1,523 (42,327) (27,536} (61,488) 
At December 31, 2018 {16,116} {86,585} {396,257} {86,184} {585,142} 

(*) As of December 31, 2018, the net unrecognized deferred tax assets amount to $127.3 million. 

Provisions 
Tax 

and Inventories 
losses 

Other Total 
allowances 

At the beginning of the year (33,276) (94,176) (199,326) (81,838) (408,616) 
Translation differences (223) (972) 322 (606) (1,479)
Charged directly to other comprehensive income (778) (778)
Income statement charge/ (credit) 7,024 5,593 (155,940} 23,189 (120,134) 
At December 31, 2017 (26,475) (89,555) (354,944) (60,033) (531,007) 

The estimated recovery analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after 12 months 
Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered after 12 months 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 
(452,330) (405,416) 

739,670 808,108 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when ( l )  there is a legally enforceable right to set-off cutTent 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and (2) when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority 
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a 
net basis. The following amounts, determined after appropriate set-off, are shown in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position: 

Def erred tax assets 
Deferred tax liabilities 

The movement in the net deferred income tax liability account is as follows: 

At the beginning of the year 
Effect of adoption of new standards 
Translation differences 
Charged directly to Other Comprehensive Income 
Income statement credit 
At the end of the year 
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Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 
(181,606) (153,532) 

379,039 457,970 
197,433 304,438 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

304,438 406,044 
823 

4,171 
1,898 

(113,897) 
197,433 

783 
(1,361) 

(101,028) 
304,438 
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20 Other liabilities 

(i) Other liabilities - Non current

Post-employment benefits 
Other-long term benefits 
Miscellaneous 

Post-employment benefits 

• Unfunded

Values at the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Curtailments and settlements 
Remeasurements (*) 
Benefits paid from the plan 
Other 

At the end of the year 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

115,087 
78,492 
19,550 

213,129 

125,012 
68,244 
24,040 

217,296 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

101,889 96,229 
(3,849) 2,893 

7,400 7,851 
5,070 5,462 

(3,946) 
(9,719) 

473 

97,318 

21 
10,907 

(22,107) 
633 

101,889 (*) For 2018 a gain of $0.2 million is attributable to demographic assumptions and a gain of $3. 7 million to financial 

assumptions. For 2017 a loss of$0.09 million is attributable to demographic assumptions and a loss of$10.8 million to financial 

assumptions. 

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: 

Discount rate 
Rate of compensation increase 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 
2%-7% 
0%-3% 

1%-7% 
0%-3% 

As of December 31, 2018, an increase / (decrease) of 1 % in the discount rate assumption of the main plans would 
have generated a (decrease) I increase on the defined benefit obligation of $7 million and $6.2 million respectively, 
and an increase/ (decrease) of 1% in the rate of compensation assumption of the main plans would have generated 
an increase/ (decrease) impact on the defined benefit obligation of $3.4 million and $3.0 million respectively. The 
above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in discount rate and rate of compensation while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 

correlated. 

• Funded

The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position for the current annual period and the previous annual 
period are as follows: 

Present value of funded obligations 
Fair value of plan assets 

Liability (*) 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

146,885 
(132,438) 

14,447 

165,486 
(145,692) 

19,794 (*) In 2018 and 2017, $3.3 million corresponding to an overfunded plan were reclassified within other non-current assets, 
respectively. 
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20 Other liabilities (Cont.) 

Post-employment benefits (Cont.) 

• Funded (Cont.)

The movement in the present value of funded obligations is as follows: 

At the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 
Current service cost 
Interest cost 
Remeasurements (*) 
Benefits paid 

At the end of the year 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

165,485 159,612 
(8,182) 7,300 

1,328 592 
5,691 6,034 

{7,984) 3,602 
{9,453) {11,654) 

146,885 165,486 

(*) For 20 I 8 a loss of $0.4 million is attributable to demographic assumptions and a gain of $8.4 million to financial 
assumptions. For 2017 a gain of $0.4 million is attributable to demographic assumptions and a loss of $4.1 million to financial 
assumptions. respectively. 

The movement in the fair value of plan assets is as follows: 

At the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 
Return on plan assets 
Remeasurements 
Contributions paid to the plan 
Benefits paid from the plan 
Other 

At the end of the year 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows: 

Equity instruments 
Debt instruments 
Others 

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: 

Discount rate 
Rate of compensation increase 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 
(145,692) 

7,514 
{4,936) 

3,967 
(3,108) 

9,453 
364 

(132,438) 

2017 
(132,913) 

{6,802) 
(5,849) 
(5,874) 
(6,230) 
11,654 

323 

(145,692) 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

53.5% 
42.8% 

3.7% 

53.4% 
42.9% 

3.7% 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

4 %-5 % 
0 %-3 % 

4% 
0 %-3 % 

The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets 
underlying the current investment policy. Expected return on plan assets is determined based on long-term, 
prospective rates of return as of the end of the reporting period. 

As of December 31, 2018, an increase/ (decrease) of 1% in the discount rate assumption of the main plans would 
have generated a (decrease)/ increase on the defined benefit obligation of $17.2 million and $14.1 million 
respectively, and an increase/ (decrease) of 1% in the compensation rate assumption of the main plans would have 
generated an increase/ (decrease) on the defined benefit obligation of $1.6 million and $1.5 million respectively. 
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in discount rate and rate of compensation while holding all 
other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be 
correlated. 

The employer contributions expected to be paid for the year 2019 amount approximately to $3.3 million. 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the 
previous period. 
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20 Other liabilities (Cont.) 

(ii) Other liabilities - current

Payroll and social security payable 
Miscellaneous 

21 Non-current allowances and provisions 

(i) Deducted/ram non-current receivables

Values at the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 
Used 
Values at the end of the year 

(ii) Liabilities

Values at the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 
Additional provisions 
Reclassifications 
Used 
Values at the end of the year 

22 Current allowances and provisions 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

148,069 141,886 
17,624 15,819 

165,693 157,705 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

(641) 
110 
531 

(913) 
106 
166 

(641) 

Year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 

36,438 63,257 
(5,261) 366 
14,397 3,994 
(2,406) (7,591) 
(7,079) (23,588) 

36,089 36,438 

(i) Deducted from assets

Allowance for doubtful Allowance for other Allowance for 
Year ended December 31, 2018 accounts - Trade doubtful accounts - inventory 

receivables Other receivables obsolescence 

Values at the beginning of the year (78,385) (6,255) (216,068) 
Effect of adoption of new standards 6,423 
Translation differences 329 359 3,575 
Additional allowances (1,751) (I, 179) (25,457) 
Used 6,849 291 28,154 

At December 31, 2018 (66,535) (6,784) (209,796) 

Allowance for doubtful Allowance for other Allowance for 
Year ended December 31, 2017 accounts - Trade doubtful accounts - inventory 

receivables Other receivables obsolescence 

Values at the beginning of the year (85,724) (6,332) (240,242) 
Translation differences (345) (220) (3,575) 
Reversals/ (additional) allowances 5,421 (84) 12,917 
Used 2,263 381 14,832 

At December 31, 2017 (78,385) (6,255) (216,068) 
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22 Current allowances and provisions (Cont.) 

(ii) Liabilities

Year ended December 31, 2018 

Values at the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 

Sales risks 
Other claims and 

contingencies 

Additional provisions 
Reclassifications 
Used 

At December 31, 2018 

11,396 
(103) 
2,638 

(7,117) 
6,814 

20,934 
(2,205) 

6,463 
2,406 

(10,129) 

17,469 

Year ended December 31, 2017 

Values at the beginning of the year 
Translation differences 

Sales risks 
Other claims and 

contingencies 

Additional provisions 
Reclassifications 
Used 

At December 31, 2017 

23 Derivative financial instruments 

Net fair values of derivative financial instruments 

13,885 
247 

4,238 

(6,974) 

11,396 

8,871 
227 

9,432 
7,591 

(5,187) 

20,934 

The net fair values of derivative financial instruments, in accordance with IFRS 13, are: 

Total 

32,330 
(2,308) 

9,101 
2,406 

(I 7,246) 

24,283 

Total 

22,756 
474 

13,670 
7,591 

(12,161) 

32,330 

Year ended December 31, 

Derivatives hedging borrowings and investments 
Other Derivatives 

Contracts with positive fair values (*) 

Derivatives hedging borrowings and investments 
Other Derivatives 

Contracts with negative fair values 
Total 

(*) Includes $52 thousand of non-current derivatives. 

Foreign exchange derivative contracts and hedge accounting 

2018 
5,604 
3,621 
9,225 

(11,667) 
(31 I) 

(11,978) 
(2,753) 

2017 
2,036 
6,194 

8,230 
(34,770) 

(5,029) 
(39,799) 
(31,569) 

Tenaris applies hedge accounting to certain cash flow hedges of highly probable forecast transactions. The net fair 
values of exchange rate derivatives and those derivatives that were designated for hedge accounting as of December 
2018 and 2017, were as follows: 

Fair Value Hedge Accounting Reserve 
Purchase currenc� Sell currenc� Term 2018 2017 2018 2017 
ARS USD 2019 (6,542) (13,715) (895) (1,067)
USO ARS 2018 22 
USO BRL 2019 (131) (17)
EUR USD 2019 203 5,660 1,881 
USO EUR 2018 (367) 
MXN USD 2019 888 (20,447) (411) (534)
USO MXN 2018 490 
JPY USD 2019 271 (IOI) 

USO KWD 2019 522 (630) 390 (520) 
USD CAD 2019 2,089 (2,072) 
Others (53) (392)

Total (2,753) (31,569) (916) (240)
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23 Derivative financial instruments (Cont.) 

Following is a summary of the hedge reserve evolution: 

Equity Reserve Movements Equity Reserve Movements Equity Reserve 
Dec-16 2017 Dec-17 2018 Dec-18 

Foreign Exchange (4,742) 4,502 (240) (676) (916) 
Total Cash flow Hedge _____ (4 ........ ,7_4 _2 ...... ) ____ 4 ....... ,5_0_2 ______ ( 2_4_0 ..... ) _____ (_67_6..._) ________ ( ..... 91_6....._)

Tenaris estimates that the cash flow hedge reserve at December 31, 2018 will be recycled to the Consolidated Income 
Statement during 2019. 

24 Contingencies, commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits 

(i) Contingencies

Tenaris is from time to time subject to various claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings, including customer, 
employee, tax and environmental-related claims, in which third parties are seeking payment for alleged damages, 
reimbursement for losses, or indemnity. Management with the assistance of legal counsel periodically reviews the 
status of each significant matter and assesses potential financial exposure. 

Some of these claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings involve hjghly complex issues, and often these issues are 

subject to substantial uncertainties and, therefore, the probability of loss and an estimation of damages are difficult to 
ascertain. Accordingly, with respect to a large portion of such claims, lawsuits and other legal proceedings, Tenaris is 

unable to make a reliable estimate of the expected financial effect that will result from ultimate resolution of the 

proceeding. In those cases, Tenaris has not accrued a provision for the potential outcome of these cases. 

If a potential loss from a claim, lawsuit or other proceeding is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably 

estimated, a provision is recorded. Accruals for loss contingencies reflect a reasonable estimate of the losses to be 
incurred based on information available to management as of the date of preparation of the financial statements and 

take into consideration litigation and settlement strategies. In a limited number of ongoing cases, Tenaris was able to 

make a reliable estimate of the expected loss or range of probable loss and has accrued a provision for such loss but 

believes that publication of this information on a case-by-case basis would seriously prejudice Tenaris's position in 

the ongoing legal proceedings or in any related settlement discussions. Accordingly, in these cases, the Company has 

disclosed information with respect to the nature of the contingency but has not disclosed its estimate of the range of 

potential loss. 

The Company believes that the aggregate provisions recorded for potential losses in these Consolidated Financial 
Statements are adequate based upon currently available information. However, if management's estimates prove 
incorrect, current reserves could be inadequate and Tenaris could incur a charge to earnings which could have a 

material adverse effect on Tenaris's results of operations, financial condition, net worth and cash flows. 

Below is a summary description of Tenaris's material legal proceedings which are outstanding as of the date of these 

Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, Tenaris is subject to other legal proceedings, none of which is believed 

to be material. 

• CSN claims relating to the January 2012 acquisition of Usiminas shares

Confab Industrial S.A. ("Confab''), a Brazilian subsidiary of the Company, is one of the defendants in a lawsuit 
filed in Brazil by Companhia Siderurgica Nacional (CSN) and various entities affiliated with CSN against 
Confab and several Ternium subsdiaries that acquired a participation in Usiminas' control group in January 
2012. 

The CSN lawsuit alleges that, under applicable Brazilian laws and rules, the acquirers were required to launch a 
tag-along tender offer to all non-controlling holders of Usiminas' ordinary shares for a price per share equal to 
80% of the price per share paid in such acquisition, or BRL28.8, and seeks an order to compel the acquirers to 
launch an offer at that price plus interest. If so ordered, the offer would need to be made to 182,609,851 
ordinary shares of Usiminas not belonging to Usiminas' control group, and Confab would have a 17.9% share 
in that offer. 
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24 Contingencies, commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits (Cont.) 

(i) Contingencies (Cont.)

• CSN claims relating to the January 2012 acquisition of Usiminas shares (Cont.)

On September 23, 2013, the first instance court dismissed the CSN lawsuit, and on February 8, 2017, the court 

of appeals maintained the understanding of the first instance court. On March 6, 2017, CSN filed a motion for 
clarification against the decision of the Court of Appeals of Sao Paulo, which was rejected on July 19, 2017. On 

August 18, 2017, CSN filed an appeal to the Superior Court of Justice seeking the review and reversal of the 

decision issued by the Court of Appeals. On March 5, 2018, the court of appeals ruled that CSN's appeal did not 

meet the requirements for submission to the Superior Court of Justice and rejected the appeal. On May 8, 2018, 

CSN appealed against such ruling and on January 22, 2019, the court of appeals rejected it and ordered that the 
case be submitted to the Superior Court of Justice. The Superior Court of Justice will review admissibility of 

CSN's appeal, and, if declares it admissible, will then render a decision on the merits. The Superior Court of 

Justice is restricted to the analysis of alleged violations to federal laws and cannot assess matters of fact. 

Tenaris continues to believe that all of CSN's claims and allegations are groundless and without merit, as 
confirmed by several opinions of Brazilian legal counsel, two decisions issued by the Brazilian securities 
regulator (CVM) in February 20 I 2 and December 20 I 6, and the first and second instance court decisions referred 
to above. 

• Veracel celulose accident litigation

On September 2 I, 2007, an accident occurred in the premises of Veracel Celulose S.A. ("Veracel") in connection 
with a rupture in one of the tanks used in an evaporation system manufactured by Confab. The Veracel accident 
allegedly resulted in material damages to Veracel. Itau Seguros S.A. ("Itau"), Veracel' s insurer at the time of the 
Veracel accident and currently replaced by Chubb Seguros Brasil S/ A ("Chubb"), initiated a lawsuit against 
Confab seeking reimbursement of damages paid to Veracel in connection with the Veracel accident. Veracel 
initiated a second lawsuit against Confab seeking reimbursement of the amount paid as insurance deductible with 
respect to the Veracel accident and other amounts not covered by insurance. ltau and Veracel claimed that the 
Veracel accident was caused by failures and defects attributable to the evaporation system manufactured by 
Confab. Confab believes that the Veracel accident was caused by the improper handling by Veracel's personnel 
of the equipment supplied by Confab in violation of Confab's instructions. The two lawsuits were consolidated 
and are considered by the 6th Civil Court of Sao Caetano do Sul; however, each lawsuit will be adjudicated 
separately. 

On September 28, 2018 Confab and Chubb, entered into a settlement agreement pursuant to which on October 9, 
2018, Confab paid an amount of approximately $3.5 million to Chubb, without assuming any liability for the 
accident or the claim. 

On October l 0, 2018, Confab was notified that the court had issued rulings for both lawsuits. Both decisions were 
unfavorable to Confab: 

With respect to Chubb's claim, Confab was ordered to pay an amount of approximately BRL89.8 million 
(approximately $23.2 million) (including interest, fees and expenses). On October 15, 2018, Confab filed a 

request for homologation of the settlement agreement mentioned above, as such settlement agreement 
remains valid and binding between the parties. On November 8, 2018, the settlement agreement was 

homologated by the court. 

With respect to Veracel's claim, Confab was ordered to pay the insurance deductible and other concepts 

not covered by insurance, currently estimated to amount to BRL57.8 million (approximately US$ 14.9 

million) (including interest, fees and expenses). Both parties filed motions for clarification against the 
court's decision, which were partially granted. Although the contract between Confab and Veracel 

expressly provided that Confab would not be liable for damages arising from lost profits, the court award 

would appear to include BRL49.5 million (approximately $12.8 million) of damages arising therefrom; 
Confab has additional defense arguments in respect of a claim for lost profits. On December 18, 2018, 
Confab filed an appeal against the first instance court decision. At this stage the Company cannot predict 

the outcome of the claim or the amount or range of loss in case of an unfavorable outcome. 
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24 Contingencies, commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits (Cont.) 

(i) Contingencies (Cont.)

• Ongoing investigation

The Company has learned that Italian and Swiss authorities are investigating whether certain payments were made 
from accounts of entities presumably associated with affiliates of the Company to accounts controlled by an 
individual allegedly related with officers of Petr61eo Brasileiro S.A. and whether any such payments were 
intended to benefit Confab. Any such payments could violate certain applicable laws, including the U.S. Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act. The Company had previously reviewed certain of these matters in connection with an 
investigation by the Brazilian authorities related to "Operation Lava Jato" and the Audit Committee of the 
Company's Board of Directors has engaged external counsel in connection with a review of the alleged payments 
and related matters. In addition, the Company has voluntarily notified the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice. The Company continues to review these matters and to respond 
to requests from and otherwise cooperate with the appropriate authorities. At this time, the Company cannot 
predict the outcome of these matters or estimate the range of potential loss or extent of risk, if any, to the 
Company's business that may result from resolution of these matters. 

• Petroamazonas penalties

On January 22, 2016, Petroamazonas ("PAM"), an Ecuadorian state-owned oil company, imposed penalties to 
the Company's Uruguayan subsidiary, Tenaris Global Services S.A. ("TGS"), for its alleged failure to comply 
with delivery terms under a pipe supply agreement. The penalties amount to approximately $22.5 million as of 
the date hereof. On June 27, 2018, TGS initiated arbitration proceedings against PAM before the Quito Chamber 
of Commerce Arbitration Center, seeking the annulment of the penalties. In September 2018, PAM filed its 
response to the arbitration claim. The claim is currently in evidentiary stage before the arbitration panel. Tenaris 
believes, based on the advice of counsel, that PAM had no legal basis to impose the penalties and that TGS has 
meritorious defenses against PAM. However, the Company cannot predict the outcome of a claim against a state­
owned company. 

• Contractor claim for additional costs

Tenaris Bay City Inc. ("Tenaris Bay City"), a U.S. subsidiary of the Company, received claims from a contractor 
for alleged additional costs in the construction of a project located in the Bay City area for an amount initially 
stated to be in excess of $90 million; however, subsequently the contractor amended the amount of the claim to 
$48 million plus attorneys' fees and arbitration costs. On June 30, 2017, the contractor filed a demand for 
arbitration of these claims. An arbitral panel was selected and a scheduling order issued. The parties have already 

submitted statements of claim and responses to the other party's claim. The final trial hearings on this matter have 
begun in February 2019. At this stage the Company cannot predict the outcome of the claim or the amount or 
range of loss in case of an unfavorable outcome. 

• Claim for differences on gas supply prices

On July 7, 2016, Siderca was notified of a claim initiated by an Argentine state-owned company for an amount 

of $25.4 million, allegedly owed as a result of differences in the price paid for gas supplied to Siderca during 

three months in 2013. In November 2018, Siderca was notified of a decision issued by the competent 

administrative agency confirming that Siderca paid the correct price for its gas purchases. As the decision was 

not appealed, it became final and, accordingly, the claim was finalized in favor of Siderca. 

• Tax assessment in Mexico regarding tax deductions on purchases of scrap

In 2017, Tamsa and Servicios Generales Tenaris Tamsa S.A ("Segeta"), two Mexican subsidiaries of the 
Company, were informed that the Mexican tax authorities had determined that the tax deductions associated 
with certain purchases of scrap made by the companies during 2013 failed to comply with applicable 
requirements and, accordingly, should be rejected. Tamsa and Segeta filed their respective responses and 
complaints against the determination and provided additional information evidencing compliance with 
applicable requirements for the challenged tax deductions. On August 30, 2018 and January 24, 2019, 
administrative decisions were issued in the proceedings against Segeta and Tamsa, respectively, determining 
a tax obligation in the amount of MXN 1,540 million (approximately $78 million) for Segeta and MXN3, 749 
million (approximately $190 million) for Tamsa. On October 15, 2018 and March 8, 2019, Segeta and 
Tamsa filed revocation requests (recursos de revocaci6 n exclusivos) against the August 20 I 8 decision as to 
Segeta and the January 20 I 9 decision as to Tamsa. On March 27, 20 I 9, Segeta was notified that the Mexican 
tax authorities had reversed and left without effects their former tax determination. Tenaris believes, based 
on the advice of counsel and on the recent favorable resolution regarding Segeta, that it is unlikely that the 
ultimate resolution of either tax assessment will result in a material obligation. 
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(i) Contingencies (Cont.)

• Putative class actions

The Company is aware that, following its November 27, 2018 announcement that its Chairman and CEO Paolo 
Rocca was included in an Argentine court investigation known as the Notebooks Case, two putative class action 
complaints were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York purportedly on behalf of 
purchasers of Tenaris securities from May 1, 2014 through November 27, 2018. The individual defendants named 
in the complaint are Tenaris's Chairman and CEO and Tenaris's CFO. Neither the Company nor any of the 
individual defendants have been served. Each complaint alleges that during the class period (May 2014-
November 2018), the Company and the individual defendants inflated the Tenaris share price by failing to 
disclose that sale proceeds received by Ternium (in which Tenaris held an 11.46% stake) when Sidor was 
expropriated by Venezuela were received or expedited as a result of alleged improper payments made to 
Argentine officials. The complaint does not specify the damages that plaintiff is seeking. 

• Investigation concerning alleged price overcharges in Brazil

ln 2018, two Brazilian subsidiaries of the Company were notified of formal charges arising from a review by the 
Tribunal de Cont.as da Uniao (TCU) for alleged price overcharges on goods supplied to Petr61eo Brasileiro S.A­
Petrobras under a supply contract. Both companies have already filed their defenses. The estimated amount of 
this claim is BRL27 million (approximately $7 million). Tenaris believes, based on the advice of counsel and 
external consultants, that the prices charged under the Petrobras contract do not result in overprices and that it is 
unlikely that the ultimate resolution of this matter will result in a material obligation. 

(ii) Commitments and other purchase orders

Set forth is a description of Tenaris's main outstanding commitments: 

• A Tenaris company entered into a contract with Transportadora de Gas del Norte S.A. for the service of natural

gas transportation to the facilities of Siderca, an Argentine subsidiary of Tenaris. As of December 31, 2018,

the aggregate commitment to take or pay the committed volumes for a 9-year term totalled approximately
$40.1 million.

• Several Tenaris companies entered into a contract with Praxair S.A. for the service of oxygen and nitrogen

supply. As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate commitment to take or pay the committed volumes for a 14-
year term totalled approximately $57.7 million.

• Several Tenaris companies entered into a contract with Graftech for the supply of graphite electrodes. As of
December 31, 2018, the aggregate commitment to take or pay the committed volumes totalled approximately

$55 million.

• A Tenaris company entered into a 25-year contract (effective as of December I, 2016, through December I,
2041) with Techgen for the supply of 197 MW (which represents 22% of Techgen's capacity). Monthly
payments are determined on the basis of capacity charges, operation costs, back-up power charges, and
transmission charges. As of the seventh contract year (as long as Techgen's existing or replacing bank facility
has been repaid in full), the Tenaris company has the right to suspend or early terminate the contract if the rate
payable under the agreement is higher than the rate charged by the Comisi6n Federal de Electricidad ("CFE'')
or its successors. The Tenaris company may instruct Techgen to sell to any affiliate, to CFE, or to any other
third party all or any part of unused contracted energy under the agreement and the Tenaris company will
benefit from the proceeds of such sale.

• A Tenaris company entered into a contract with Vale International S.A. for the supply of iron ore, for which it 

is committed to purchase at least 70% of its annual iron ore needs, up to 770 thousand tons of pellets annually.
The contract expires on December 31, 2020. The aggregate commitment amounts to approximately $136. 9
million.

A Tenaris company entered into a contract with Canadian National Railway for the service of rail
transportation from its raw material supplier to its Canadian production center. The total commitment ending

June 30, 2020 is $22.8 million.

• A Tenaris company entered into a contract with Air Liquide Mexico, S. de R.L de C.V. for the supply of argon

gas. As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate commitment totalled approximately $20.8 million.

Additionally the Company issued performance guarantees mainly related to long term commercial contracts with 
several customers and parent companies guarantees for approximately $2.1 billion. 
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24 Contingencies, commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits (Cont.) 

(iii) Restrictions to the distribution of profits and payment of dividends

As of December 31, 2018, equity as defined under Luxembourg law and regulations consisted of: 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 
Share capital 
Legal reserve 
Share premium 

Retained earnings including net income for the year ended December 31, 2018 

Total equity in accordance with Luxembourg law 

1,180,537 
118,054 
609,733 

16,439,438 

18,347,762 

At least 5% of the Company's net income per year, as calculated in accordance with Luxembourg law and 
regulations, must be allocated to the creation of a legal reserve equivalent to 10% of the Company's share capital. 

As of December 31, 2018, this reserve is fully allocated and additional allocations to the reserve are not required 
under Luxembourg law. Dividends may not be paid out of the legal reserve. 

The Company may pay dividends to the extent, among other conditions, that it has distributable retained earnings 
calculated in accordance with Luxembourg law and regulations. 

At December 31, 2018, distributable amount under Luxembourg law totals $17.0 billion, as detailed below: 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 
Retained earnings at December 31, 2017 under Luxembourg law 
Other income and expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 
Dividends approved 

Retained earnings at December 31, 2018 under Luxembourg law 

Share premium 

Distributable amount at December 31, 2018 under Luxembourg law 

25 Acquisition of subsidiaries 

16,956,761 
(33,303) 

(484,020) 

16,439,438 

609,733 

17,049,171 

In September 2017, Tenaris acquired I 00% of Garrett (a pipe services and trucking business) through the payment 
of a price of$10.4 million. 

If the acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2017, Tenaris's unaudited proforma net sales and net income from 
continuing operations would not have changed materially. 

26 Cash flow disclosures 
Year ended December 31, 

(i) Changes in working capital 2018 2017 2016 
Inventories (176,443) (804,415) 244,720 
Receivables and prepayments and Current tax assets 30,144 (4,564) 53,639 
Trade receivables (517,579) (259,375) 146,824 
Other liabilities (22,984) 4,226 (79,046) 
Customer advances 5,976 17,039 (95,112) 
Trade payables (57,066) 193,905 59,939 

{737,952} {853,184} 330,964 
(ii) Income tax accruals less payments

Tax accrued 229,207 (17,136) 41,441 
Taxes paid (170,713) (176,853) (169,520) 

58,494 {193,989} {128,079} 
(iii) Interest accruals less payments, net

Interest accrued (2,914) (20,534) (43,872) 
Interest received 40,613 50,001 60,163 
Interest paid (31,548) (17,917) (18,858) 

6,151 11,550 {2,567} 
(iv) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at banks, liquidity funds and short - term investments 428,361 330,221 399,900 
Bank overdrafts (1,644) (131) (1,320)

426,717 330,090 398,580 
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27 Discontinued Operations 

On December 15, 2016, Tenaris entered into an agreement with Nucor Corporation (NC) pursuant to which it has 
sold to NC the steel electric conduit business in North America, known as Republic Conduit for an amount of$328 
million (net of transaction costs). The sale was completed on January 19, 2017, with effect from January 20,2017. 
The result of this transaction was an after-tax gain of $89. 7 million, calculated as the net proceeds of the sale less 
the book value of net assets held for sale, the corresponding tax effect and related expenses. 

Income from discontinued operations 
After tax gain on the sale of Conduit 
Net Income for discontinued operations 

Details of Conduit sale 

Cash received 
Transaction and other costs 
Carrying amount of net assets sold 
Gain on sale before income tax 
Income tax expense on gain 
Gain on sale after income tax 

Year ended December 31, 
2017 2016 

1,848 
89,694 
91,542 

41,411 

41,411 

331,295 
(3,663) 

(137,814) 
189,817 

(100,123) 
89,694 

The financial performances presented are relative to the 19 days of January 2017 and for the years ended 
December 31 and 2016. 

Analysis of the result of discontinued operations: 

Year ended December 31, 

Revenues 
Gross profit 
Net income 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (U.S. dollars per share) 
Basic and diluted earnings per ADS (U.S. dollars per ADS) 

Summarized cash flow information is as follows: 

Cash at the beginning 
Cash at the end 
(Decrease) Increase in cash 
(Used in) provided by operating activities 
Provided by (used in) investing activities 
Used in financing activities 

2017 

2017 

11,899 
4,496 
l,848 

18,820 
206 

(18,614) 
(3,046) 

32 
(15,600) 

2016 
234,911 
98,324 
41,411 

0.04 
0.07 

2016 

15,343 
18,820 

3,477 
24,535 
(1,058) 

(20,000) 

These amounts were estimated only for disclosure purposes, as cash flows from discontinued operations were not 
managed separately from other cash flows. 

The following table shows the current and non-current assets and liabilities of disposal group as at 31 December 
2016, and the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of sale. 

Current and non-current assets and liabilities of disposal group 

Non-current assets 
Current assets 
Total assets of disposal group classified as held for sale 
Non-current liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Total liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale 
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At January 19, 2017 
87,332 
69,332 

156,664 
5,294 

13,556 
18,850 

At December 31, 2016 
87,364 
64,053 

151,417 
5,376 

12,718 
18,094 
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28 Related party transactions 

As of December 31, 2018: 

• San Faustin S.A., a Luxembourg societe anonyme ("San Faustin"), owned 713,605,187 shares in the Company,

representing 60.45% of the Company's capital and voting rights.

• San Faustin owned all of its shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary Techint Holdings

S.a.r.l., a Luxembourg societe a responsabilite limitee ("Techint"), who is the holder of record of the above­

mentioned Tenaris shares.

• Rocca & Partners Stichting Administratiekantoor Aandelen San Faustin, a Dutch private foundation (Stichting)

("RP ST AK") held voting shares in San Faustin sufficient in number to control San Faustin.

• No person or group of persons controls RP ST AK.

Based on the information most recently available to the Company, Tenaris's directors and senior management as 

a group owned 0.08% of the Company's outstanding shares. 

Transactions and balances disclosed as with "non-consolidated parties" are those with companies over which 
Tenaris exerts significant influence or joint control in accordance with IFRS, but does not have control. All other 
transactions and balances with related parties which are not non-consolidated parties and which are not consolidated 
are disclosed as "Other". The following transactions were carried out with related parties: 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(i) Transactions
(a) Sales of goods and services

Sales of goods to non-consolidated parties
Sales of goods to other related parties
Sales of services to non-consolidated parties
Sales of services to other related parties

(b) Purchases of goods and services
Purchases of goods to non-consolidated parties
Purchases of goods to other related parties
Purchases of services to non-consolidated parties
Purchases of services to other related parties

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

(ii) Period-end balances
(a) Arising from sales/ purchases of goods / services 
Receivables from non-consolidated parties
Receivables from other related parties

Payables to non-consolidated parties
Payables to other related parties

Directors' and senior management compensation 

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 2016 

23,709 
131,548 

7,641 
5,647 

168,545 

245,186 
106,624 

9,556 
46,179 

407,545 

32,362 
94,624 
11,637 

3,751 

142,374 

234,361 
17,711 
12,077 

50,794 

314,943 

21,174 
32,613 
9,542 
2,948 

66,277 

67,048 
20,150 
11,528 

53,530 

152,256 

At December 31, 

2018 2017 

122,135 
24,419 

(33,197) 
(17,595) 

95,762 

117,853 
50,815 

(49,354) 

(14,475) 

104,839 

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the cash compensation of Directors and Senior 
managers amounted to $33. 7 million, $45.8 million and $38.6 million respectively. These amounts include cash 
benefits paid to certain senior managers in connection with the pre-existing retirement plans. In addition, Directors 
and Senior managers received 558, 484 and 500 thousand units for a total amount of $5.6 million, $4.7 million and 
$4.8 million respectively in connection with the Employee retention and long term incentive program mentioned 
in Note O Employee benefits - Other long term benefits. 
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Tenaris SA. Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 

29 Principal subsidiaries 

The following is a list of Tenaris's principal subsidiaries and its direct and indirect percentage of ownership of each 
controlled company at December 31, 2018. 

Country of Percentage of ownership 
Company Incorporation Main activity at December 31, (•) 

2018 2017 2016 

ALGOMA TUBES INC Canada Manufacturing of seamless steel pipes 100% 100% 100% 

CONFAB INDUSTRIAL S.A. and subsidiaries Brazil Manufacturing of welded steel pipes and capital 
100% 100% 100% _goods 

KAZAKH ST AN PIPE THREADERS LIMITED Kazakhstan Threading of premium products 100% 100% 100% LIABILITY PARTNERSHIP 

HYDRIL COMPANY and subsidiaries (except detailed) (a) USA Manufacture and marketing of premium 
100% 100% 100% connections 

DALMINE S.p.A Italy Manufacturing of seamless steel pipes 100% 100% 100% 

MAVERICK TUBE CORPORATION and subsidiaries USA Manufacturing of welded steel pipes 100% 100% 100% 

S.C. SILCOTUB S.A. Romania Manufacturing of seamless steel pipes 100% 100% 100% 

NKKTUBES Japan Manufacturing of seamless steel piPes 51% 51% 51% 

SIAT SOCIEDAD ANONIMA Argentina Manufacturing of welded and seamless steel 
100% 100% 100% _ _pipes 

PRUDENTIAL STEEL LTD. Canada Manufacturing of welded steel pipes 100% 100% 100% 

SIDERCA SOCIEDAD ANONIMA INDUSTRIAL Y Argentina Manufacturing of seamless steel pipes 100% 100% 100% COMERCIAL and subsidiaries 
PT SEAMLESS PIPE INDONESIA JAY A Indonesia Manufacturing of seamless steel products 89% 89% 77% 

TUBOS DE ACERO DE MEXICO, S.A Mexico Manufacturing of seamless steel _ipes 100% 100% 100% 

TENARIS GLOBAL SERVICES (USA.) CORPORATION USA Marketing of steel products 100% 100% 100% 

TENARIS BAY CITY, INC. USA Manufacturing of seam less steel pipes 100% 100% 100% 

TENARIS GLOBAL SERVICES (UK) LTD United Holding company and marketing of steel 
100% 100% 100% Kingdom _Products 

TENARIS INVESTMENTS SWITZERLAND AG and Switzerland Holding company 100% 100% 100% subsidiaries 
TENARIS HNANCIAL SERVICES S.A. Uruguay Financial company 100% 100% 100% 

TENARIS GLOBAL SERVICES (CANADA) INC. Canada Marketing of steel products 100% 100% 100% 

TENARIS INVESTMENTS S.ar.l. Luxembourg Holding company 100% 100% 100% 

TENARIS CONNECTIONS BY Netherlands Development, ·�anagement and licensing of 
100% 100% 100% intellectual o_��,oertv 

TENARIS GLOBAL SERVICES S.A. and subsidiaries Uruguay Holding company and marketing of steel 
100% 100% 100% (except detailed) (b) _products 

TALTA-TRADING E MARKETING SOCIEDADE Portugal Holding Company 100% 100% 100% UNIPESSOAL LDA. 

(*) All percentages rounded. 

(a) Tenaris Investments S.a.r.1. holds 100% ofHydril's subsidiaries shares except for Technical Drilling & Production Services Nigeria. Ltd where it 
holds 80%. 
(b) Tenaris Investments S.a.r.l. holds 97.5% of Tenaris Supply Chain S.A, 60% ofGepnaris S.A. and 40% of Tubular Technical Services and Pipe
Coaters, and 49% of Amaja Tubular Services Limited and Tubular Services Angola Ltd.
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Tenaris SA. Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 

30 Nationalization of Venezuelan Subsidiaries 

In May 2009, within the framework of Decree Law 6058, Venezuela's President announced the nationalization of, 
among other companies, the Company's majority-owned subsidiaries TA VSA - Tubos de Acero de Venezuela S.A. 
("Tavsa") and, Matesi Materiales Siderurgicos S.A ("Matesi"), and Complejo Siderurgico de Guayana, C.A 
("Comsigua"), in which the Company has a non-controlling interest (collectively, the "Venezuelan Companies"). 
Tenaris and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Talta - Trading e Marketing Sociedad Unipessoal Lda ("Talta"), initiated 
arbitration proceedings against Venezuela before the ICSID in Washington D.C. in connection with these 
nationalizations. 

Matesi 

On January 29, 2016, the tribunal released its award on the arbitration proceeding concerning the nationalization 
of Matesi. The award upheld Tenaris's and Talta's claim that Venezuela had expropriated their investments in 
Matesi in violation of Venezuelan law as well as the bilateral investment treaties entered into by Venezuela with 
the Belgium-Luxembourg Economic Union and Portugal. The award granted compensation in the amount of $87.3 
million for the breaches and ordered Venezuela to pay an additional amount of $85.5 million in pre-award interest, 
aggregating to a total award of $ 172.8 million, payable in full and net of any applicable Venezuelan tax, duty or 
charge. The tribunal granted Venezuela a grace period of six months from the date of the award to make payment 
in full of the amount due without incurring post-award interest, and resolved that if no, or no full, payment is made 
by then, post-award interest will apply at the rate of 9% per annum. As of December 3 1, 2018, post-award interest 
amounted to approximately $50 million. 

On March 14, 2016, Venezuela requested the rectification of the award pursuant to article 49(2) of the I CSID 
Convention and ICSID Arbitration Rule 49. The tribunal denied Venezuela's request on June 24, 2016, ordering 
Venezuela to reimburse Tenaris and Talta for their costs. On September 2 1, 2016, Venezuela submitted a request 
for annulment of the award as well as the stay of enforcement of the award in accordance with the ICSID 

Convention and Arbitration Rules. On March 24, 2017, an ad hoc committee constituted to decide on Venezuela's 
requests rendered its decision to lift the stay of enforcement of the award. On August 8, 2018, the ad hoc committee 
rejected Venezuela's application to annul the award. 

On June 8, 2018, Tenaris and Talta filed an action in federal court in the District of Columbia to recognize and 
enforce the awards. Tenaris and Talta are in the process of effecting service on Venezuela in accordance with US 
law. 

Tavsa and Comsigua 

On December 12, 2016, the tribunal issued its award upholding Tenaris's and Talta's claim that Venezuela had 
expropriated their investments in Tavsa and Comsigua in violation of the bilateral investment treaties entered into 
by Venezuela with the Belgium-Luxembourg Economic Union and Portugal. The award granted compensation in 
the amount of $ 137 million and ordered Venezuela to reimburse Tenaris and Talta $3.3 million in legal fees and 
ICSID administrative costs. In addition, Venezuela was ordered to pay interest from April 30, 2008 until the day 
of effective payment at a rate equivalent to LIBOR + 4% per annum, which as of December 3 1, 20 I 8 amounted to 
approximately$ I 02 million. 

On April 1 1, 2017, Venezuela submitted a request for annulment of the award as well as the stay of enforcement 
of the award in accordance with the IC SID Convention and Arbitration Rules. On February 23, 2018, an ad hoc 
committee constituted to decide on Venezuela's requests rendered its decision to lift the stay of enforcement of the 
award. On December 28, 2018, the ad hoc committee rejected Venezuela's application to annul the award. 

On June 8, 20 I 8, Tenaris and Talta filed an action in federal court in the District of Columbia to recognize and 
enforce the awards. Tenaris and Talta are in the process of effecting service on Venezuela in accordance with US 
law. 

As of December 3 1, 2018 the Company has receivables related to its interest in the Venezuelan Companies for a 
total amount of approximately $49 million (see Note 111.B). 
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Tenaris S.A. Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 

31 Fees paid to the Company's principal accountant 

Total fees accrued for professional services rendered by PwC Network firms to Tenaris S.A. and its subsidiaries 
are detailed as follows: 

(all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars) 

Audit fees 
Audit-related fees 
Tax fees 
All other fees 

Total 

32 Subsequent events 

Acquisition of Saudi Steel Pipe Company 

c) Acquisition

Year ended December 31, 

2018 2017 2016 

3,841 3,995 3,588 
43 88 64 

23 14 
7 30 3 

3,891 4,136 3,669 

On January 21, 2019, Tenaris acquired 47.79% of the shares of Saudi Steel Pipe Company ("SSP"), a welded steel 
pipes producer listed on the Saudi stock market, for a total amount of SAR529.8 million (approximately $ I 41 
million). The amount was paid with Tenaris cash in hand. SSP's facilities are located in the Eastern Province of 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and have a manufacturing capacity of 360,000 tons per year. SSP started its 
operations in I 980 and serves energy industrial and commercial segments, is qualified to supply products with 
major national oil companies in the region. Upon closing of the acquisition, four Tenaris's nominees were 
appointed as new members of the SSP's board of directors and a senior executive with Tenaris was appointed as 
managing director and chief executive officer of SSP. 

The Company has begun consolidating SSP's balances and results of operations as from January 21, 2019. 

d) Fair value of net assets acquired

The application of the purchase method requires certain estimates and assumptions specially concerning the 
determination of the fair values of the acquired intangible assets and property, plant and equipment as well as the 
liabilities assumed at the date of the acquisition. The fair values determined at the acquisition date are based mainly 
on discounted cash flows and other valuation techniques. 

The preliminary allocation of the fair values determined for the assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition is 
as follows: 

Fair value of acquired assets and liabilities: 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Intangible assets 
Investment in associated 
Working capital 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Other Receivables 
Borrowings 
Employees end of service benefits 

Net assets acquired 

SAR million 

675 
278 

77 
168 

32 
11 

(304) 
(59) 

878 

$ million 

180 
74 
21 
45 
8 
3 

(81) 
(16) 

234 

Tenaris acquired 47.79% of total assets and liabilities shown above, approximately $112 million. 

The preliminary purchase price allocation disclosed above is currently under analysis with the assistance of a third 
party expert. Following IFRS 3, the Company will continue reviewing the allocation and make any necessary 
adjustments (mainly over Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets and Provisions) during the twelve 
months following the acquisition date. 
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32 Subsequent events (Cont.) 

Agreement to build welded pipe plant in West Siberia 

On February 5, 2019 Tenaris entered into an agreement with PAO Severstal to build a welded pipe plant to produce 
OCTG products in the Surgut area, West Siberia, Russian Federation. Tenaris will hold a 49% interest in the 
company, while PAO Severstal will own the remaining 51 %. The commencement of the project is subject to 
regulatory approvals and other customary conditions. The plant, which is estimated to require an investment of 
$240 million and a two-year construction period, is planned to have an annual production capacity of 300,000 tons. 

Techgen refinancing 

On February 13, 2019, Techgen entered into a $640 million loan agreement with several banks to refinance its 
obligations under the existing syndicated loan. Techgen's obligations under the new facility, which is "non­
recourse" on the sponsors, will be guaranteed by a Mexican security trust covering Techgen' shares, assets and 
accounts as well as Techgen's affiliates rights under certain contracts. In addition, Techgen's collection and 
payment accounts not subject to the trust have been pledged in favor of the lenders under the new loan agreement, 
and certain direct agreements --customary for these type of transactions- have been entered into with third parties 
and affiliates, including in connection with the agreements for the sale of energy produced by the project and the 
agreements for the provision of gas and long-term maintenance services to Techgen. The commercial terms and 
conditions governing the purchase, by the Company's Mexican subsidiary Tamsa, of 22% of the energy generated 
by the project remain unchanged. 

Under the loan agreement, Techgen is committed to maintain a debt service reserve account covering debt service 
becoming due during two consecutive quarters; such account is funded by stand-by letters of credit issued for the 
account of Techgen's sponsors in proportion to their respective participations in Techgen. Accordingly, the 
Company and its Swiss subsidiary Tenaris Investments Switzerland AG applied for stand-by letters of credit 
covering 22% of the debt service coverage ratio, which as of the date hereof amounts to $9.8 million. 

The proceeds of the new loan, which is expected to be drawn on or about February 26, 2019, will be used to repay 
all loans outstanding under the existing facility. Upon repayment of such loans, Tenaris's corporate guarantee 
thereunder will be automatically released. 

Annual Dividend Proposal 

On February 20, 2019 the Company's Board of Directors proposed, for the approval of the Annual General 
Shareholders' meeting to be held on May 6, 2019, the payment of an annual dividend of $0.41 per share ($0.82 per 
ADS), or approximately $484 million, which includes the interim dividend of $0.13 per share ($0.26 per ADS) or 
approximately $153 million, paid on November 21, 2018. If the annual dividend is approved by the shareholders, 
a dividend of $0.28 per share ($0.56 per ADS), or approximately $331 million will be paid on May 22, 2019, with 
an ex-dividend date of May 20, 2019. These Consolidated Financial Statements do not reflect this dividend payable. 

33 Update as of April 1, 2019 1

On March 22, 2019, Tenaris entered into a definitive agreement to acquire from TMK, a Russian company and 
manufacturer of steel pipes, 100% of the shares of its wholly owned U.S. subsidiary IPSCO, for $1,209 million. 
The transaction is subject to regulatory approvals, including approval by the U.S. antitrust authorities, and other 
customary conditions. IPSCO is a U.S. domestic producer of seamless and welded OCTG and line pipe products, 

with an annual production capacity of 450,000 metric tons of steel bars, 400,000 metric tons of seamless pipes and 
1,000,000 metric tons of welded pipes, and production facilities spread throughout the country. 

Edgardo Carlos 
Chief Financial Officer 

1 This note was added subsequent to the approval of these Consolidated Financial Statements by the Company's
Board of Directors on February 20, 2019. 
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Annual Accounts (Luxembourg GAAP) 

As at December 31, 2018 
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Audit repor1 

To the Shareholders of 
Tenaris S.A. 

keport on the audit of the annual accounts 

Our opinion 

In our 0pinioo, the acootnp8Jllyin9 anrnial a.etel.in11i give a true anef fair view of the financial poslllon 01 
Tenaris S.A. (the 'Company") as at �1 oecem'bet 201 S. and of lhe results of Its operations for the yem 
theo eotJetl in aoomdan� with l:u�.mbourg legal and regulatory req1Jfremen!B relating ta the preparation 
eruj iP,esentatiOn ot lhfl annual accounts. 

Our opinion is consl!n«rt with our addiilonlirl report to the Audit Committee of the C0mpany'11 BoElrd er 
O.irectars (the � Audit Committee"). 

What we hew aud#ed 

TtJe Compen)"s anm.1a1 aecounb; c:omprtse: 

• the balanc& sheet as a:t 31 December 2018: 
• tllle profit and ,� aooount fo,t the �ar 'ltum �Med: al\d 
• t111e notes to tfle Sinm.ial GCCO\ll'lt$, Whlci\ inc:11.ide a summary D1 sl9nlflcant accouming pollc:les. 

Bull fo.r opinion 

We conduoted ou-r autfit in srx.t:lrd�ru;:e vroh the EU Regulation No 537i201 4., the Law of 23 July 2016 
an the fllJdit prcfes5-ioo (Law of 23 J:uly 2018) and will'l lntematlon:wl Standards on Auditing (ISAs} as 
IHued by the lntemetionru Auditing and Asguranoe Standards Board (IAASS) and as adopted fQr 
Luxembouf!! by the "Commission die Surveill oe du Secteu Financier" (CSSF), Our responi.ibilities 
ur,der the EU RegUlatlOn No 5:3.7/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and IS.As H "1do,pCed for Luxembourg 
by the CSSF � rurt!her de&crlbed In the •Responsll:!Glities of the- �¥i5e\lr d',et11tfepri5.ee .egMN' fo, th& 
audit of tlie annual accourrts• section of 01.1r report. 

We belle¥ that lhe audit evidence we have a'bti;m'!ed is sufficient an� apprCf)riate to provide a ba!ii$ for 
our op1nion. 

We are independent of the Compan;i in ao::x:,rdanoe 'M1h the lnremation Ethics standards Board for 
Actountarrts' Code of EtMiOS for PmfMslonal A00ountants (IESB.A. Code) .u adopted fiJf" LuQmbourg 
by ihe CSSF together wilft lhe 11hlcal requirements that are relevant to our audit of tile en:mml acoounts. 
We have fulfilled our 01het erhlca1 respansJ lties under th01e ethical requlremei.nts. 

To tne best of our knowledge and belief, we dedare that we have not provided non-aud serwoes that 
ate prohlbrted under Artlcle 6(1) of Regulat+on (EU) Na 53712014. 

The non-audn services that we hErVe provii:ted to tbe Company fer lhe year ended 31 December 2018. 
all of which have been �PPrt7'1ed by the Audit Commfflee, are disclosed in Note 9 to lhe annual 
aceou.nts. 

��Sod��� :true Ochord Mff'ffllar, AP. z.u3.L-1m4 �t,wtg 
T: +�494M' J, F ! ♦3$114!HBfBti900, WWllt,pu,cm 

Ca:bi,ist de rlwuln a!JllL �mpJl!b&-(t!llwruaaon f.lOWSl"IIIJll'Kl!n� 111"1�> 
R.c!i.. �1"9 865 477-1VA LU2$1#825JB 
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The oon-audllt seNices. rende� by PwC N twork films to Che Company ilffi1 its co:ntrolled underta.kiing� 
for thtt year emfed 31 December 2018. all of which have been pre.approved b� lhe Audit Comm�@. 
� disclosed in Nole 31 to the Compan,'s consoUaataCI llnancial statement&. 

Kay audit mlitleta 

t<oy audit rri:etler$ are ll'IO&& matters t-hat in ou.- p�I pdgmertt, were CJf most -.nmcamie - ()ur 
audit 0f ttle ennuat accoul'\ts oJ the 1CU1Ten\ petilXI, d Include the most �nifioant 8"e5ijed risks of 
ma-1.effia! m�ant {whether or not d� co fraud). These r:nattets were-addlessed Jn ttie context of 
our audit of ll1fl annual acco1.mt5 as a Whal!!, and In formifl-9 wr Of.llnlon thereon, and we (IO ntil pro't'ide 
ii !ieparate opinion on these A1t1119tt;. 

Koy audlt mlilter 

Rbcollflrablliry of In�m9Itl fn subsJdiary -
Ten-ans lrrvestroonls S.� t.l. 

How our audrt 11dd� the Key audtt 
matt.er 

�e 3 to tt1'! �nnual aooou11ts lndmee that aso1 our ,audit s,ppr,oach ncluded e5�ng the 
31 Oeoembel' .201a, Tenaris S.A. hotel$ a 100% recoverability of Tenaris lnve5trnen1s S.a r.l by 
i�rest In the unlisted company lenans OOITlpating Lili carrying value with its net nsels a5 
liWB!!bmlnts s . .ii ,.1 Thi5 inveS!menI represen§ tltltllined from Tenaris 1JWesttnems s.a r.l. 
SS.99% d the tal ss.sets of ffie Company. The auttited ilfll'N aoooun•s. 
<:arryl,i,g value of the in\rK'lfflant amoums lo USO 
18.377 millitJn. 

Wef:ocut.en our MJdtt on the- reooverabifify °' thlS 
ir,�nt gl'i,81) Its financie.l �gnificanoo over 
the tolsi assem. 

Other infonn.a1Jon 

The Board or Olreic1rx5 is reepoMibte for the other intormaJJon. The ether information comprises the 
lnformatlcm stated In the annual ffll)0rt lnd.ucr the i.on!Ollmited rnaOQgement report and the CQrporate 
Gcv�mance Statement but r:foos not lrdilde Ole annual aeceunw and! out audit report thereon. 

Our opinion a, Iha annual acoo1,.111ts does noa oover the other inloM"la'li0n and we do not axpr� .any 
form of assurance oondHion tttareort. 

In oorw,ecoon vmh our ERJitit a the annual 81X:0Unt&, our l'Nl)ORsiblllty is tD read the other lmormatiM 
idantlfled 11b!We end, in doing &0, consider whether tM other Information is mata,,lally lnoons.lliter.rt wlth 
the annual ecoounis or out knowledge obttcned In the �udlt, o.- otherwi&e appear5 to be rna!Mlally 
mlsitaiecl. tr, ba&ed on the WQrit. we '1ave performed, we conclude that thettl Is a metelli3l mkistaklment 
o this ofhet Information, we are requited lo report that fact. We �8'V1!1 nothing to repott in trills regard. 

Rn_ponlibitfitleB at the Boud of Dlteclots and those �h,rg...:1 with gO¥tmanee for the annual 
aeec,uola 

The- !Board of 0.ec!IlfS Is responsible for '!he preparation sni;t falt prHenl8'tion of the annual a.cx:ounts in 
aocordance wi1h Luxembou:-g !&gal and regulalary requirements r�lln,g to the ptt1pa1atlon and 
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p,eSMtlation of the annual acc:ounts, and f�r such internal control as- the BO&lrd ot Oirectors. determines 
Is neeeuary to enabfe the preparali011 of .sn:nual sc«iun.15 that e� free from m�I rniA�ment, 
wnetner d\Je to fraud or error. 

fn preparing the 8nlil1.1$1 aceour"5, lne Board Qf Olrectors. is Msponslhle flll .-sassing tt'lfl Company's 
ability to C011tinue es a gOing c:oncem, disdoslng, as applicable, ma11MS Mlalfld 10 going a:incem and 
w.l9 lt1(I going ooncem basis of .a.coo1.1ntimg unlns the Board of O rectors ellht,r Intends to liquidate lhtJ 
Company or to cease operations. or has no raallstic allBmative but to do so. 

Thclse charged w.t1h governance are responsl for overseei'lg the Company's finanaal reportillg 

process. 

Reeponsibiliti8S of tho •�RlvMour d'.entreprlsn agrfe11 for the audit of ihe annut1I accounts 

The objeetl\lM of our audll are co ot>1ain renonab'8 anurance about whether tile ann�I accounts as 
a Vhlole are free rrom ,materi misslatemen� whether due to f:raud or error, and to issue an audit report 
that Includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance Is a high level 0f asstuance, bvt Is nat a guarantee 
that an aud oonducted in aocordsnoe with lhe EU Regulation No 53712014, � Law of 23 July 2016 
and with ISAs as �ed by the IAASB snd as edo� tot Luxembourg by ttie CSSF wlll a1wavs del8Ct 
a msrerial mis&latement when it exi!itS. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are a:insiderndl 
msteri if, individually or in the aggregate, thay oould teasonabl,i be expected m influenoe lhe economic 
decisi0n61 of U&af'& ta�ri Ol'I IN! batils or mAH annual aocounts. 

As part of an .aucttt In accordance with lhe EU Regulafion No 537/2014, lhe L" of 23 July 201 S anti 
with !SAi U iS!Ued by tf.e 1AASB and 85 adopt� for LufflnbOU1'9 by the CSSF, we exerase 
professlonal judgment and mainmin !Professional scepticism tt,roughoul the a,1,1dit. W� aiso: 

• ildentlfy and assess ihe rim of matefia'I misstatement of lh.e ennual aocourrts, wnether due-10 fraudl 
or error, des.ign and perfonn audit prooe,ouree respon$ilre to thO!ie risks, and obtain aud ev� 
that ii sufficient ilnd �.ppropriilte to ,provide a bas;& faf our o,plnlon. The risk ol not detedlng a materia 
misslstement resulting from fraud Is higher 1han for one resulllng from error, as fra d may inw'lve 
collusion, torgery, intentional omiss1om, mlsrepresenta11ons. or the ovemde of Intern contJd; 

• �in sn u.tu:lerstancting of Internal control relevant to the audit in «der to aes,,gn audit prooedl.l1'eS 
that are apiprcpl'ia\B in the dJctJm:stanoes. but not for u,e purpose of e_xpreNU1g a Opinion on the 
effectiVene" of the Company's lnternat control; 

• ewli,1i:1t!- mer .ap;proptlaienen of a:x:ounttng policies used &rid the retlSOnablenM.ti o acoounting 
fftima.teis and retated disclosures made l>y u,e Boen:! or�; 

., ooncluda on tha- apprapriateness of lhe Board Of Directors· USJ8 of the going concern basis of 
aooountlng and, based on the audit evide110e obtained, whether a material onoertalrrty exists related 
to events or eo:ndffions that may east $igmf.car\t doubt on Iha Comp y's ability lo continue as :a 
going concern. trwe oonciude that a ma1etia.l unoertalnty eoos18, we are required to draw cattenlion in 
our B.Udit report to 1Jle related d:isdo$ures in the annuaJ aa:ounis or, if such 1'iiaCIOiut'8$ are 
inadequate, lo mo<lify our oplniQn.. Our conduslons are based en ihe a1.1dtt eYidenoe obtained up to 
the date of ()llr Etuclit report. Ho�r. futt.il'fl e\lMts or conditions may ca1Ase lhe Company to cease 
to continue as a 91)ing concern: 
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• evall,l(iit,e 1M OVOO!III presenb!tion, &tructure 80d a,nlent ,of lhe anmasl eocoun�. Including tne, 
tfi�lt15ures, and whelher lhe annual accounts represent '!tie unciartymg tranedons and eve ms in a 
manr'IE!t mat actueves - pfl!!ientiUon. 

we communicate with those fharged with gg.,.�r,i;e �rdlng, 8m0fl9 ottte-r malt.er'$, the J]!:armed 
$COp8 and 1'mlng of 1ne ;audit and significao eU(frt find'Jngs, ·nclud� any sagnlflcant delicieroeg in 
lntMnal control ttlet we ldenllfy during our audit 

We aJs.o provide those r:l\argedl 'M1h govemanoe vMh. a stat�menl lhat M have oompUed with re1e.vant 
ethic requirements regarding independeno6. and to ccmmunbte wilh lhem all re\alion:shlps and -other 
ffic!tter5 1:mJl ,nay rt!lasoosbly be lhougt\\ to bear on. our independaaoe.. and where applicable, relete(f 
eafeguaflltti. 

From the matlers cocnmunlca!ad wlth those charged wll;t, govermmc:e, � dellmrmne lhose rna1tetti ma, 
ware of most significan.oe in 1he au1f of the nuat &::c0unts of the current period and &� thetafars the 
k:ey l!ttld mattera. We dMaibe lhese matter$ In our audl report un�ss law or l\!91.Jleti"on p,«lucfes 
public diiciowre aboul tt:le matter 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

The coo!tt>fMiated management �port is cons�tetlt with lhe annual 8,1:COUnts and lhai t>een t,repal'Bd In 
accordance wi:h applieable legal requiremerrts.. 

The Corporate Gc:i\lemance stiltemenl Is lnciucled In the eonso&dated management report. Ttie 
1nforrnetion requ cd by Arlide 68-1er Paragraph (1) Letters c) and d) ot lhe l.i!W ot 19 Dec-ember 2002 
Qn tne convnet'cial and CQmpanie!i register and on the accountlna recorQs. and annual �unts ot 
1.1ooartaloogs, as amended, t& eon-sment 1111th 1he ann1Ja1 aa:ounts and has �en prepared iP so:ontanee 
wlll'I �lciib'le legal �uirements_ 

We nave been ap!XJlnted. u "�eur d'Ei,lrepmes: AfJrtd!J' Of tt.e com_par1y by tile Genll!lfat Meeting of 
lhe Stlareho1ders on 2 May 2-018 and the dura!Jon of our Lminterru_p ad engagement, Including, previous 
rcmew&15 and mappomimema, ii 17 )'8l!ltS. 

Othlrmabr 

The OOfpotate Govemanice satlternent includes, when SP1) cable, the infatma'lion required by 
Alticle 88t.Or Par-agrap-11 (1) Letters a), b), e), I) ;and g) or the Law of 19 Oeoember 2002 on lhe 
tommMcial and ccmpeni� register amJ on the aoooW'ltlng reoottts and annual aooounss of 
utJi:k!rb1W'I�, as. amencfei:t 

Pncewar.emouseCoopera, SOd,tti oooperatiw 
R ited 

. 

� 

Luxembou�. , Apn1 2019 
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Tenaris S.A. 

Balance Sheet as at December 31, 2018 
(expressed in United States Dollars) 

2018 

Note(s) USD 

ASSETS 

C. Fixed assets

III. Financial assets

1. Shares in affiliated ru1dertakings 3 18,377,497,729 

18,377,497,729 

D. Current assets 

II. Debtors

4. Other debtors

a) becoming due and payable within one year 29,424 

IV. Cash at bank and in hand 1,179,762 

1,209,186 

Total assets 18,378,706,915 

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES 

A. Capital and reserves

I. Subscribed capital 4 1,180,536,830 

II. Share premium account 4 609,732,757 

IV. Reserves

1. Legal reserve 4&5 1 I 8,053,683 

V. Profit brought forward 16,626,2 I 0,710 

VI. Loss for the financial year (33,303,298) 

VII. Interim dividends 4&7 (153,469,788) 

18,347,760,894 

C. Creditors

6. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings

a) becoming due and payable within one year 8 9,307,610 

b) becoming due and payable after more than one year 8 13,625,275 

8. Other creditors

c) Other creditors

i) becoming due and payable within one year 8,013,136 

30,946,021 

Total capital, reserves and liabilities 18,378,706,915 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these annual accounts 
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2017 

USD 

18,901,294,713 

18,901,294,713 

50,317 

2,604,919 

2,655,236 

18,903,949,949 

1,180,536,830 

609,732,757 

118,053,683 

17,162,462,624 

(52,231,813) 

(153,469,788) 

18,865,084,293 

12,994,846 

13,055,356 

12,815,454 

38,865,656 

18,903,949,949 
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Tenaris S.A. 

Profit and loss account for the year ended December 31, 2018 
(expressed in United States Dollars) 

8. Other operating expenses

11. Other interest receivable and similar income

a) derived from affiliated undertakings

b) other interest and similar income

14. Interest payable and similar expenses

a) concerning affiliated undertakings

b) other interest and similar expenses

16. Loss after taxation

17. Other taxes not shown under items 1 to 16 

18. Loss for the period 

Note 

9 

10 

2018 

USD 

(32,014,300) 

342,463 

(1,594,693) 

(31,194) 

(33,297,724) 

(5,574) 

(33,303,298) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these annual accounts 
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2017 

USD 

(50,919,271) 

1,584 

200,596 

(1,294,907) 

(212,265) 

(52,224,263) 

(7,550) 

(52,231,813) 
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Tenaris S.A. 

Notes to the audited annual accounts 

Note 1 - General information 

Tenaris S.A. (the "Company" or "Tenaris") was established on December 17, 2001 under the name of Tenaris 
Holding S.A. as a public limited liability company under Luxembourg's 1929 holding company regime (societe 

anonyme holding). On June 26, 2002, the Company changed its name to Tenaris S.A. On January 1, 2011, the 
Company became an ordinary public limited liability company (societe anonyme). 

Tenaris's object is to invest mainly in companies that manufacture and market steel tubes and other related 

businesses. 

The financial year starts on January 1 and ends on Decem her 31 of each year. 

Tenaris prepares and publishes consolidated financial statements which include further information on Tenaris and 
its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements are available at the registered office of the Company, 29, 
Avenue de la Porte-Neuve -L-2227-3rd Floor, Luxembourg. 

Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies 

2.1 Basis of presentation 

These annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements 
under the historical cost convention. 

Accounting policies and valuation rules are, besides the ones laid down by the law of 19 December 2002, 
determined and applied by the Board of Directors. 

The preparation of these annual accounts requires management to make certain accounting estimates and 
assumptions that might affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets 

and liabilities at the reporting dates, and the reported amounts of income and charges during the reporting years. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

2.2 Foreign currency translation 

Current and non-current assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the United States Dollar 
("USO") are translated into USD at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Non-current assets remain at the 

exchange rate on the day of incorporation. The resulting gains or losses are reflected in the Profit and loss account 
for the financial year. Income and expenses in currencies other than the U SD are translated into USD at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the date of each transaction. 

2.3 Financial assets 

Shares in affiliated undertakings are stated at purchase price, adding to the price paid the expenses incidental 
thereto. 

Whenever necessary, the Company conducts impairment tests on its financial assets in accordance with 

Luxembourg regulations. 

In case of other than a temporary decline in respect of the financial assets value, its carrying value will be reduced 

to recognize this decline. If there is a change in the reasons for which the value adjustments were made, these 
adjustments could be reversed, if appropriate. 

2.4 Debtors 

Debtors are valued at their nominal value. They are subject to value adjustments where their recovery is 
compromised. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value adjustments were made 
have ceased to apply. 
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Tenaris S.A. 

Notes to the audited annual accounts 

Note 2 - Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont.) 

2.5 Cash at bank and in hand 

Cash at bank and in hand mainly comprise cash at bank and liquidity funds. Assets recorded in cash at bank and in 
hand are carried at fair market value or at historical cost which approximates fair market value. 

2.6 Creditors 

Creditors are stated at nominal value. 

Note 3 - Financial assets 

Shares in affiliated undertakings 

Tenaris holds I 00% of the shares of Tenaris Investments S.a r.1. ('Tenaris Investments") with registered office in 
Luxembourg and holds, indirectly through this wholly-owned subsidiary, I 00% of the shares of Confab Industrial 
S.A., Inversiones Lucerna Limitada, Maverick Tube Corporation, Siderca S.A.I.C., Talta - Trading e Marketing,
Sociedade Unipessoal Lda., Tenaris Investments Switzerland AG, Tubos de Acero de Mexico S.A., Algoma Tubes 

Inc., Siderca International ApS, S.C. Silcotub S.A. and Tenaris Connections BY, 50% of the shares ofExiros B.V 
and 11.5% of the shares of Ternium S.A.

Movements during the financial year are as follows: 

Gross book value - opening balance 

Decreases for the financial year (a) 

Gross book value - closing balance 

Accumulated value adjustments - opening balance 

Allocations for the fmancial year 

Accumulated value adjustments - closing balance 

Net book value - opening balance 

Net book value - closing balance 

USD 

21,840,586,057 

(523,796,984) 

21,316,789,073 

(2,939,291,344) 

(2,939,291,344) 

18,901,294,713 

18,377,497,729 

( a) On December 7, 2010, Tenaris entered into a master credit agreement with Tenaris Investments pursuant to which,
upon request from Tenaris, Tenaris Investments may, but shall not be required to, from time to time make loans to
Tenaris. Any loan under the master credit agreement may be repaid or prepaid from time to time through a reduction 
of the capital of Tenaris Investments by an amount equivalent to the amount of the loan then outstanding (including 
accrued interest). As a result of reductions in the capital of Tenaris Investments made during the financial year ended 
December 31, 2018, in connection with cancellations of loans to Tenaris, the value of the participation of Tenaris in 
Tenaris Investments decreased by USO 523.8 million.

As of December 31, 2018 Tenaris Investments reported an equity of USO 20.5 billion and a profit for the financial 
year of USO 0.8 billion. 
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Tenaris S.A. 

Notes to the audited annual accounts 

Note 4 -Capital and reserves 

Item 

Balance at the beginning of 
the financial year 

Loss for the financial year 

Dividend paid <1) 

Interim Dividend <2l 

Balance at the end of the 
financial �ear 

Subscribed 
capital 

I, 180,536,830 

1, 1 80,536,830 

Share 
premium 

609,732,757 

609,732,757 

Legal Retained 
reserve earnings 

USD 

118,053,683 17,110,230,811 

(33,303,298) 

(484,020, I 01) 

118,053,683 16,592,907,412 

(I) As approved by the ordinary shareholders' meeting held on May 2, 2018.
(2) As approved by the board of directors' meeting held on October 31, 2018.

Interim Capital and 
dividend reserves 

(153,469,788) 18,865,084,293 

(33,303,298) 

153,469,788 (330,550,313) 

(I 53,469,788} (153,469,788} 

psJ,469,788� 18,347,760,894 

The authorized capital of the Company amounts to USD 2.5 billion. The total authorized share capital of the 
Company is represented by 2,500,000,000 shares with a par value of USD I per share. The total capital issued and 
fully paid-up at December 31, 2018 was 1,180,536,830 shares with a par value of USO I per share. 

The board of directors is authorized until June 5, 2020, to increase the issued share capital, through issues of shares 
within the limits of the authorized capital. 

Note 5 -Legal reserve 

In accordance with Luxembourg law, the Company is required to set aside a minimum of 5% of its annual net profit 
for each financial year to a legal reserve. This requirement ceases to be necessary once the balance on the legal 
reserve has reached 10% of the issued share capital. The Company's reserve has already reached this 10%. If the 
legal reserve later falls below the 10% threshold, at least 5% of net profits must be allocated again toward the 
reserve. The legal reserve is not available for distribution to the shareholders. 

Note 6 -Distributable amounts 

Dividends may be paid by Tenaris upon the ordinary shareholders' meeting approval to the extent distributable 
retained earnings exist. 

At December 31, 2018, profit brought forward after deduction of the loss and the interim dividend for the financial 
year of Tenaris under Luxembourg law totaled approximately USO 16.4 billion. 

The share premium amounting to USO 0.6 billion can also be reimbursed. 

Note 7 - Interim dividend paid 

In November 2018, the Company paid an interim dividend of USO 153.5 million based on the board of directors' 
decision of October 31, 2018 and in compliance with the conditions set out in the "Amended law of August 10, 
1915 on commercial companies" regarding the payment of interim dividends. 
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Tenaris S.A. 

Notes to the audited annual accounts 

Note 8 - Balances with affiliated undertakings 

Creditors becoming due and payable 

Siderca Sociedad An6nima Industrial y Comercial 

Tenaris Investments S.a r.l. 

Tenaris Solutions Uruguay S.A. 

Maverick Tube Corporation 

Tubos de Acero de Mexico, S.A. 

Dalmine S.p.A. 

Others 

Total 

Note 9 - Other operating charges 

Services and fees (*) (**) 

Board of directors' accrued fees 

Others 

Within a 
year 

USD 

3,840,212 

2,302,948 

1,357,479 

623,103 

175,082 

1,004,677 

4,109 

9,307,610 

After more 
than one year 
and within five 

years 

USD 

4,361,289 

217,918 

4,579,207 

After more Total at Total at 
than five years December December 

31, 2018 31, 2017 

USD USD USD 

3,270,209 11,471,710 10,124,090 

2,302,948 7,505,239 

3,195,509 4,552,988 3,622,332 

2,269,819 2,892,922 3,189,854 

310,531 703,531 864,435 

1,004,677 734,576 

4,109 9,676 

9,046,068 22,932,885 26,050,202 

2018 

USD 

29,719,526 

1,456,664 

838,110 

2017 

USO 

48,795,557 

1,295,833 

827,881 

32,014,300 50,919,271 

(*) Includes compensations of senior management (USD 20.6 million in 2018 versus USD 35.0 million in 2017), 
and other services and fees (USD 9.1 million in 2018 versus USD 13.8 million in 2017). 

(**) In addition to the audit fees, during the financial year the Company received from the statutory auditor audit­
related services for a total amount of USD 22 thousand. No tax-related fees or other fees for services rendered by 
the statutory auditor were accrued during the financial year. 
Total fees accrued for professional services rendered by PwC Network firms to Tenaris S.A. and its subsidiaries 
are disclosed in note 31 to the Company's consolidated financial statements. 

Note JO - Taxes 

For the financial year ended December 3 I, 20 I 8 the Company did not realize any profits subject to tax in 
Luxembourg. The Company is liable to the minimum Net Wealth Tax. 
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Tenaris S.A. 

Notes to the audited annual accounts 

Note 11 - Parent Company 

Tenaris's controlling shareholders as of December 31,2018 were as follows: 

• San Faustin S.A., a Luxembourg societe anonyrne ("San Faustin"), owned 713,605,187 shares in the Company,

representing 60.45% of the Company's capital and voting rights.

• San Faustin owned all of its shares in the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiary Techint Holdings S.a

r.l., a Luxembourg societe a responsabilite limitee, who is the holder of record of the above-mentioned Tenaris

shares.

• Rocca & Partners Stichting Administratiekantoor Aandelen San Faustin, a Dutch private foundation (Stichting)

("RP STAK") held shares in San Faustin sufficient in number to control San Faustin.

• No person or group of persons controls RP ST AK.

Based on the information most recently available to the Company, Tenaris's directors and senior management as a 
group owned 0.08% of the Company's outstanding shares. 

Note 12 - Putative class actions 

The Company is aware that, following its November 27, 2018 announcement that its chairman and CEO Paolo 

Rocca was included in an Argentine court investigation known as the Notebooks Case, two putative class action 
complaints were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of New York purportedly on behalf of 

purchasers of Tenaris securities from May 1, 2014 through November 27, 2018. The individual defendants named 
in the complaint are Tenaris's Chairman and CEO and Tenaris's CFO. Neither the Company nor any of the 
individual defendants have been served. Each complaint alleges that during the class period (May 2014-November 
2018), the Company and the individual defendants inflated the Tenaris share price by failing to disclose that sale 

proceeds received by Ternium (in which Tenaris indirectly held an 11.5% stake) when Sidor was expropriated by 
Venezuela were received or expedited as a result of alleged improper payments made to Argentine officials. The 
complaint does not specify the damages that plaintiff is seeking. 

Note 13 - Off balance sheet commitments 

The Company issued a guarantee covering the 22% of the obligation of Techgen S.A. de C.V. ("Techgen"), a 
Mexican natural gas-fired combined cycle electric power plant in the Pesquerf a area of the State of N uevo Leon, 
Mexico, under a syndicated loan agreement between Techgen and several banks. As of December 3 l, 20 l 8 the 
amount guaranteed was approximately USD 132 million. 

Note 14 - Subsequent event 

Annual Dividend Proposal 

On February 20, 20 l 9 the Company's board of directors proposed, for the approval of the annual general 

shareholders' meeting to be held on May 6, 2019, the payment of an annual dividend of U SD 0.41 per share (USD 
0.82 per ADS) or approximately USD 484 million, which includes the interim dividend of USD 0.13 per share 
(USD 0.26 per ADS), or approximately USD 153 million, paid in November 2018. If the annual dividend is 
approved by the shareholders, a dividend of USD 0.28 per share (USD 0.56 per ADS), or approximately USO 331 

million will be paid on May 22, 2019, with an ex-dividend date on May 20, 2019. These annual accounts do not 

reflect this dividend payable. 

Isl Edgardo Carlos 

Chief Financial Officer 

Edgardo Carlos 
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Tenaris S.A. Annual Report 2018 

EXHIBIT I-ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

EBITDA, Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization. 

EBITDA provides an analysis of the operating results excluding depreciation and amortization and impairments, 
as they are non-cash variables which can vary substantially from company to company depending on accounting 
policies and the accounting value of the assets. EBITDA is an approximation to pre-tax operating cash flow and 
reflects cash generation before working capital variation. EBITDA is widely used by investors when evaluating 
businesses (multiples valuation), as well as by rating agencies and creditors to evaluate the level of debt, 
comparing EBITDA with net debt. EBITDA is calculated in the following manner: 

EBITDA = Operating results+ Depreciation and amortization+ Impairment charges/(reversals). 

Millions of U.S. dollars 

Operating income (loss) 
Depreciation and amortization 
Depreciation and amortization from discontinued operations 
Impairment 

EBITDA 

Net cash/(debt) position 

For the year ended December 31, 
2018 2017 2016 

872 
664 

1,536 

335 
609 

943 

This is the net balance of cash and cash equivalents, other current investments and fixed income investments 
held to maturity less total borrowings. It provides a summary of the financial solvency and liquidity of the 
company. Net cash / (debt) is widely used by investors and rating agencies and creditors to assess the company's 
leverage, financial strength, flexibility and risks. 

Net cash/ debt is calculated in the following manner: 

Net cash= Cash and cash equivalents+ Other investments (Current and Non-Current)+/- Derivatives hedging 
borrowings and investments - Borrowings (Current and Non-Current). 

Millions of U.S. dollars 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Other current investments 
Non-current Investments 
Derivatives hedging borrowings and investments 
Borrowings - current and non-current 

Net cash position 

Free Cash Flow 

2018 
428 
488 
114 
(6) 

(539) 

485 

At December 31, 
2017 

330 
1,192 

123 
(33) 

(966) 

647 

Free cash flow is a measure of financial performance, calculated as operating cash flow less capital 
expenditures. FCF represents the cash that a company is able to generate after spending the money required to 
maintain or expand its asset base. Free cash flow is calculated in the following manner: 

Free cash flow = Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities - Capital expenditures. 

For the year ended December 31, 

2016 

Millions of U.S. dollars 2018 2017 2016 

(59) 
662 

(5) 

598 

400 
1,633 

248 
(35) 

(840) 

1,406 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
Capital expenditures 

611 (22) 

(349) (558) 
864 

(787) 

Free cash flow 
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INVESTOR INFORMATION 

Investor Relations Director 
Giovanni Sardagna 

Luxembourg Office 

29 Avenue de la Porte-Neuve 
3rd Floor 
L-2227 Luxembourg
(352) 26 47 89 78 tel
(352) 26 47 89 79 fax

Phones 
USA I 888 300 5432 
Argentina ( 54) I I 4018 2100 
Italy (39) 02 9925 0954 
Mexico (52) 55 5282 9900 

Stock Information 
New York Stock Exchange (TS) 
Mercato Telematico Azionario (TEN) 
Mercado de Valores de Buenos Aires (TS) 
Bolsa Mexicana de Valores, S.A.B. de C.V. (TS) 

Internet 
www.tenaris.com 
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General Inquiries 
investors@tenaris.com 

ADS Depositary Bank 
Deutsche Bank 
CUSIP No. 8803 IMI09 
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